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Chapter One



	Peter Ramsay stood at the window and gazed out at the glorious dry-season climate of Laos.  The Mekong River’s unruffled surface mirrored a line of poplars on the opposite bank and made him think of the southern Rhone outside his childhood home of so many decades ago.   He heard a pair of students talking excitedly behind him as they removed a sample of bacteria from the centrifuge.  Ramsay had shown them how to separate it from a complicated test specimen and it had been a difficult job, one that required absolute precision.  He had deliberately used a specimen that his research team was studying in order to give the young medical students a feeling of reality, of doing authentic research rather than made-up “pretend” work.  Most of the Laotian curriculum was translated word-for-word from European exercise books and it generated about as much excitement as a bus schedule.

	He asked them “think” questions about what they saw under the microscope and gestured to three other students in the doorway that they might join the inspection of the specimen.  They all had a turn with the scope by the time the chimes rang for lunch.

	Four other students joined them in the hallway and Ramsay once again savored their astonishment at how well he spoke the language.  Not Lao, of course, he knew barely a dozen words in the national tongue, but most of the students and all of the faculty spoke French, and they expected an American scientist to walk around with one of those electronic interpreters dangling from his lapel, translating his English into hollow metallic speech that came out sounding like Chinese.

  	They had good questions and, since Ramsay was well aware of the fast-approaching examination period, he stayed with them for the entire lunch hour, anticipating for them what was important and what was minor and, more important yet, what would be crucial when they were out in the world practicing medicine with real patients who had real illnesses.  No one left without receiving an answer.

  	They adored Ramsay.  He alone among the senior faculty seemed to know just what their stumbling, disjointed questions meant.  He, more than any of the others, knew the anxiety of facing modern medicine’s battery of sensors, computers and genetically engineered pharmaceuticals at the age of 22 or 23.  He was the oldest member of the teaching/research staff, but his viewpoint was always young, always contemporary with the eager students of Paksane Medical Institute in Laos’ beautiful Mekong River countryside.  When the electronic gongs sounded for afternoon classes the students melted away with great reluctance.  Many of them realized that they were learning far more in the hallway than they were about to in someone else’s classroom.

	As for Peter Ramsay, he was already late for an appointment on the other side of the city.  It didn’t bother him much, he had a farsighted view of worldly matters, but he wanted to ensure that his group’s research project was adequately funded, so he quickened his pace through the emptied halls.  He pushed through the polished teak doors of the Institute and down between the luxurious flowering almonds that formed an honor guard to the street.

	Any other day there would have been a stream of staff and students going in both directions.   But this was the quiet time, the deserted time, and the stage was set for a tragic accident.  Unthinkingly, Ramsay hurried out of the flowered walkway to reach his car in the parking lot across the street.  The speeding sports car that rounded the curve at that moment made no sound at all until it struck the scientist squarely and hurled him along the side of the road into a large shade tree.  What would have amounted only to a broken arm or leg was transformed into massive physical damage to Peter Ramsay’s brain as his hurtling body collided with the unyielding tree trunk.  He was not dead, but there was no chance of survival.  His body collapsed into a tangle of arms and legs as the speeding car completed the curve and went on its way toward the suburbs.

	On the other side of the street a horrified witness saw the accident and took riveted notice of the vehicle involved.  She rushed to Ramsay’s side and felt for a pulse.  Finding one, she sped into the Institute to get help.  It came immediately.

  	When Ramsay’s condition was finally established, a wave of distress swept first of all through the Institute and then out into the entire city.  Most of the immediate attendants refused to believe the situation was hopeless and they initiated a heroic set of measures designed to breathe life back into the broken body.  Ramsay was rushed into an experimental treatment room and prepared for surgery.  Lab technicians sampled and measured and tested everything they had ever studied.   A molecular biologist from Ramsay’s own group seized control of the central computer and began a desperate search for magic answers to her hero’s calamity.

	It was not until evening that word was quietly passed to his would-be saviors that Peter Ramsay had died.  Most of them stopped everything they were doing and sat staring into space, but his colleague at the computer could not bear that kind of inactivity.  She continued running analyses of everything the lab technicians had given her and stayed at it throughout that night and into the next morning..

	Hers was not the only computer filled with anguish that night.  The Internet was permeated with news about the tragedy in Paksane.  And within the first hour someone entered the net with word that the Prime Minister’s son had just driven his sports car up the family’s driveway with a broken headlight and visible damage to the hood.  When shown a fine-scan image of the auto, the accident witness identified it as the one that hit Peter Ramsay.  Within the second hour, Paksane police had measured the driver’s blood-alcohol level and found it almost double the legal limit.  To the distress of their nation’s loss, the citizens of Laos now added the shame of their nation’s guilt.

	The Prime Minister was not interested in either distress or guilt.  He called two of the best lawyers in Laos, who called two of their closest friends in the prosecutor’s office, who called two of the leading Internet newsletter writers, who put out the word that drunkenness was not the question from the driver’s side of the incident but there was much evidence to the effect that Peter Ramsay had been reeling and staggering when he drunkenly stumbled out into the street that afternoon.  Politicians who had much to lose if the Premier were toppled by the scandal began to write a protective record around the incident.  Police files miraculously sprang into existence — it seems the good doctor had a rather long record of alcohol abuse.  It seems several bureaucrats who normally worked in offices miles away in the city had just happened to be walking past the Institute at that particular moment and saw the whole thing, proving beyond the shadow of a doubt that the Minister’s son was as innocent as Noah’s dove.  It seems that everything being said by the Medical Institute’s staff and students was a tissue of lies, deliberately designed to embarrass the nation’s government and bring discredit on the nation itself   (That means YOU, Mr. and Mrs. Laos!).

	Ramsay’s distraught colleague at the Paksane Institute finally finished her all-night marathon with the central computer and called the members of Ramsay’s group to a meeting in the group office.  Two of them were too ill to come in to work (grief reaction, was the consensus) but the rest straggled in with cups of tea and hot lemonade and sat glumly around the untidy room without speaking to each other.  What was there to say?

	Rather a lot, they were soon to find.  Weary and frightened, their hard-working colleague told them what she had found out during the past 14 hours.  She started with a brief resumé, then expanded it to a complete report.  She was now going through it point by point, asking for questions and comments.

	“Why were you doing a complete DNA scan on Dr. Ramsay’s tissue samples when his brain was clearly damaged beyond repair?” asked a senior faculty member.

	“I didn’t know how badly hurt he was.  I didn’t stay in touch with the people in the examining room.  Since I was unaware of the extent of the physical damage, I was hurriedly running his genome to be in a position to request replacement biologicals on an urgent basis.”

	“Perhaps too hurriedly.”

	“You’re welcome to review any stage of my analysis,” she said defiantly.  “I have gone over it twice.”

	“Then perhaps the readout in the international register is in error.”

	“I called them early this morning and I got confirmation an hour ago that the DNA file in the register is absolutely correct.  That’s when I decided we ought to talk.”

	“Please, young lady.  Please stop for a moment and think what you’re telling us.  We all know Dr. Ramsay was an old man.  I happen to know he was 66 years old.  You cannot tell us that your machines here and some infernal computer in Geneva —”

	“I’ve used the International Register many times in the past, Sir, and I know that it is scrupulously accurate.”

	“Perhaps so, young lady, but it cannot tell us, in all seriousness, that Dr. Ramsay was already 69 years old back in 2040!  If you please!”

	“He was not Peter Ramsay then, Sir.  The Register has identified him as Henri Dassault, an eminent neurosurgeon, who died in France 44 years ago!”
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Chapter Two



	Many commentators on the Internet were amazed at the volume of traffic expressing grief over Doctor Ramsay’s death.  It turned out that he had opened departments of microbiology in several new medical schools in the world and had left a multitude of grateful students in his wake.

	The sudden traffic on the net triggered the news filter on a computer in Oliver Williams’ London apartment and informed him that the words  »Peter Ramsay«   »medical research«  and  »died (or) killed (or) missing«  had appeared in a newsletter within the past thirty seconds.  Williams, who was in the middle of lunch, called out for a vocal report.  When he heard the words put together he pushed back from the table and bellowed,  “Call Walter Locke at NIH!”  A minute later he heard Locke’s cheerful voice from Bethesda answering his computer’s call.    “Walter!” he interrupted.  “This is Oliver Williams.  Go to code.”

	Nothing about the sound of Locke’s voice changed perceptibly, but the content of his speech suddenly turned into a boring discussion of commodity prices in South America.  Williams heard it in the clear.

	“All right, Oliver.  What is it?”

	“This just came over the Internet.  (reading)  ‘Whole world regrets death today in Paksane of eminent biologist, Peter Ramsay.’”

	“Is that our Peter Ramsay?”

     	“Yes, I’m afraid it is.  I’ve checked through some of the other newsletters and the time of death seems to have been 19:00 hours, Paksane time”

	“What’s Paksane?”

	“It’s in Laos.”

	“What was he doing in Laos?”

  	“As near as I can recall, Peter was setting up a department in their medical school and he was running a research team on recombinant DNA countermeasures against some kind of bone cancer.”  

	“Okay.  The important thing is the body.  Where is it?”

	“I’m afraid the people at the university have it.”

	“The medical people?”

	“I would assume so.”

	“Critical!   Critical!”

	“I agree.”

	“Who’s closest?”

	“My records say it’s that physicist in Singapore,  Nu.”

	“Who?“ 

	“Nu Hai.  You met her a couple years ago at the San Francisco conference.“ 

	“Oh, yeah.”  There was a delay while Locke worked his own computer.  Then,  “Can she do this?” 

	“Well, she’s the best bet, I think.”  Williams pulled up another screen.  “Wait, Walter.  Hold on a bit.  There’s trouble.   She’s on vacation in Maine.”

	“You mean our Maine?  Over here?”

  	“Yes.  That makes me closer.”

	“How soon can you get there?”

	“I’ve been looking into that.  It’s not good.  It only takes five hours travel time, but it’s going to take me eleven hours to get there.  Look at CTM screen no. 89.  Nearest tube goes to Singapore.  Then I’ll have to wait for the local tube to Bangkok — and then I’ll have to wait for an airplane to fly up to Paksane from there.”

	“Ollie, the whole thing is critical!   If Peter was killed at 19:00, that’s two hours ago.  Now you’re talking about another eleven hours.  If they analyze the body . . .”

 	“That’s the picture, Walter.”

	“Critical!  Just plain critical! . . . Eleven hours! . . . You won’t get there until 08:00 tomorrow morning.”

	“I’ll have to run to make those connections.”

	“All right, Ollie, look, you go ahead.  I’ll send some kind of holding message from here . . . a message to the medical school . . .  a message from Peter’s family — — my records say they’re in Philadelphia — —  do you happen to know if they’re cognizant?”

	“I happen to know they are not.”

	“Critical!  . . . . All right, Ollie.  I’ll make the message sound as though it came from them.”

	“Saying what?”

	“Oh, I don’t know — something to the effect that they are anxious that Ramsay’s body not be transgressed upon or tampered with —  —  something like that.”

	“Lots of luck, Walter!  This is a research institute!”

•  •  •

	Walter Locke took Williams’ point and manufactured a message centered more on religious grounds than anything else.  It was a stretch, in view of Ramsay’s intense scientific background, but he guessed that religion would hold some weight in Laos and perhaps create enough discussion to cause a useful delay.  After he sent off his urgent message from the “family”, he tried to call the “family” in Philadelphia but got no response.  He left an e-mail note, giving his network address at the National Institutes of Health, and began arranging for the swift reception and seclusion of Ramsay’s body in Washington when Williams returned with it.

•  •  •

	The meeting of Ramsay’s research group had begun at 08:30 and was still in session.  At 09:30, it had made no progress concerning the proper way to deal with the Ramsay mystery.  The same cannot be said of Oliver Williams.  He had arrived in Paksane by air at 08:00, had reached the medical institute at 09:15 and was at this moment directing the removal of Peter Ramsay’s casketed body via the loading platform at the rear of the building.  The school’s business manager had received Locke’s message and responded perfectly — he wanted no part of religious sacrilege when it involved the body of a world-famous personage.

	Rather than wait for the scheduled airliner from Bangkok to Paksane, Williams had chartered a private plane in Bangkok and it was standing on the tarmac with its engines running when he returned with the casket.  By a stroke of luck, Williams decided to skip Bangkok and fly directly to Singapore, since the old jet transport had the range to get there.  From Singapore he caught a direct tube to New York, cutting altogether six hours off his journey.  He sent a note to Locke telling him that he was arriving in New York instead of Washington and giving him the time of arrival.  That done, he settled back for the first sleep he’d had in a day and a half.

•  •  •

	As Williams left the Paksane Institute via the back door, the state police of the Lao Republic were hurrying in the front.  It took them long enough to find the business manager, and then to reach the conclusion that Ramsay’s body was gone, to give Williams’ chartered plane an hour’s head start in its unscheduled flight.  The police halted all operations at the Paksane airport and notified the authorities in Bangkok to intercept Williams.  By that time Williams was arriving with the missing body in Singapore.  He was sound asleep on his way to New York when the international police put a search-and-seize order into effect on the Singapore-to-London tube.  In addition to impounding Ramsay’s body, the order called for the arrest of Williams himself.

•  •  •

	Locke, having rushed up to New York when he got Williams’ message, had made arrangements to receive the casket and take it to the Washington tube.  He was hardly prepared for the scene at the tube station when the New York police approached Williams, asked a few questions Locke couldn’t hear, then put a restraint belt on Williams and led him away!  It was clear that things had gone wildly wrong at some point.

	Fortunately, the people Locke had hired already had the casket on their truck and they were ready to go.  He had intended to transfer the casket over to the Washington tube and be on his way, but it didn’t seem like a good idea to show up on public transport with that particular casket after the police arrested the man who brought it to New York.   Anyway, it was 3:30 in the morning — everything is suspicious at 3:30 in the morning.  

	Locke promised the movers triple pay if they would drive him directly down to Washington on the highway system and they jumped at the offer.  They hit the Capital Beltway at 07:30 and Locke had them swing west into Virginia because he knew of a funeral home out in McLean off the Georgetown Pike that had cremation facilities.   Locke paid off the teamsters and stayed with the casket until it had been loaded into the furnace and completely consumed.  He sat there looking through the scorched Pyrex window musing about what his screen had told him last night.  It turned out that Ramsay was scheduled for reprocessing in four years.  It was a waste and it was sad.  He hadn’t known him very well personally, but his record spoke for itself.   Ramsay had already made an important contribution to spinal neurosurgery in the late 1990s.  In the following decades he had a lot to do with the stimulation of regrowth of cerebral neurons (now there’s enough irony to depress you), and he went on to perfect The Dassault Craniotomy that had saved so many lives in France and around the world.  “Dassault?  That’s odd.

  	“No, it isn’t.  He was Henri Dassault back then — I can never keep people straight.”

	The funeral director had trouble breaking through Locke’s somber mood but finally got his attention when the furnace had turned off and was cold enough to rake.  “How do you wish the ashes to be prepared, Doctor Locke?”

	“Oh, in a carrying case will be fine, thank you.  And do you have a network terminal I could use for a few minutes?”

	“Certainly, Doctor.  If you go straight through that door you’ll find it at the end of the hall.”

	Locke walked as casually as he could to the terminal and quickly scanned it for news — and then for police activity.  There was nothing in the civilian newsletters about Oliver Williams, but the police net had several notices concerning him.  Williams was wanted for stealing official evidence of the Republic of Laos, to wit a dead body wanted for chemical analysis by the Paksane police.   The culprit was reported to have eluded police in several Asian countries until the New York police put a notice on the net that they had picked him up and were holding him.  To urgent queries from Paksane they answered that there was no sign of a body or a casket or any luggage in Oliver Williams’ possession.

	“If the Lao police want to analyze Ramsay badly enough to ring international alarm bells,” Locke thought, “they must suspect the truth.  How did they get wind of this?  Ramsay must have let slip some information while he was over there.  Sounds unlikely, but how explain the manhunt otherwise?  In the meantime, what can I do to help Ollie?”  The last item in the police net was from a New York detective who reported that he had escorted Williams to the Singapore tube and received an official affidavit of delivery.  “So they’re taking him back to Laos.  This whole thing is getting serious.”

	Locke felt that the most important thing for him to do now was to clean up everything incriminating that he could think of.  First, Williams’ London computer — clean up whatever traffic it had on it concerning Ramsay’s death and Williams’ travel to Paksane.  Then he better close the loop with the Ramsay family.  He hurriedly transferred funds to the funeral director and picked up the ashes — the safely non-analyzable ashes.  He caught a cab down to Falls Church and got on the subway to Bethesda.  He had to get off at Medical Center and walk back down to South Drive, but the exercise and the familiar surroundings were lifting his spirits despite his melancholy under the somewhat ominous circumstances.

	He couldn’t raise the first Conference member he called in London, but the second answered promptly and agreed to go over to Williams’ apartment and “sanitize” his computer.  Then Locke contacted the appropriate members of The Conference in Shanghai and sent them speeding off on another very important errand.  He called the Ramsays in Philadelphia and again got no response.  “Well that means the police can’t reach them either.  Leave well enough alone.”
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Chapter Three



Well enough wasn’t being left alone in Paksane — the city was in an uproar.  

	•  The state police had arrested every member of Peter Ramsay’s research team and had taken them to the grim five-story prison north of the city where they were being intensively interrogated with the use of every modern apparatus available in Laos.  The disappearance of the “evidence” was clearly a conspiracy.  Their insistence that Ramsay never touched alcohol was obviously a cover-up.

	•  A protest strike of students and faculty raged at the Medical Institute and it currently threatened to become violent.  

	•  A mob surrounded the home of the unpopular prime minister and had tried to seize his son.  This was by no means the first time he had run over someone in a drunken stupor and breezed off as though nothing had happened — there were several grieving relatives at the prime minister’s gate.  National police were setting up high-voltage screens on his lawn, just in case.

	•  On the other edge of the political spectrum, there were nationalist mobs roaming the streets of downtown Paksane waving banners about the international conspiracy to bring discredit to the Lao Republic.  They demanded an apology from England, whose henchman had sneaked into Laos on his despicable mission.  They demanded an apology from the United States, whose New York police were obviously involved in a shameful cover-up.  They demanded an apology from the researchers at the Paksane Medical Institute for their tricks and lies.

• • •

	Oliver Williams didn’t feel much like a henchman at that particular moment, although the restraint belt and the police escort did lend a certain air to his arrival in Singapore’s Jurong Station.  The tube police had been impeccably courteous during the trip from New York;  they were obviously indifferent to the shabby political goings-on in Laos and were only interested in handing over their prisoner as soon as possible.  Not once did they grab his arm or push him in any direction, they simply walked on ahead and expected him to follow.  Williams had no alternative, after all.  The belt transmitted his location continuously;  it was impossible for him to get it off his body without a complicated cipher.  To run away or hide in a restroom was the height of futility.  Williams had considered every feasible alternative and rejected them all.  His daily life in the dignified world of London banking hadn’t prepared him in the slightest for this distressing experience, but he could see no way out of it at the moment, so he mutely accepted his status as a public prisoner.  To his feeling of resignation was added the shame of an outlaw, the shame of what he saw in the eyes of people hurrying by.

	He had trouble following his two-man escort through the crowded lower level of the station.   Departing passengers were pushing their way toward whatever tube was going to their part of the world while the international arrivals were stepping onto moving walkways to be whisked up to street level.  Here Singapore’s obsession with antiseptic surroundings was demonstrated by walls and ceilings and even statuary of gleaming stainless steel;   the street outside was as clean as a dinner table.  As Williams walked toward the automatic glass doors leading out of the station he saw an official Singapore detention van pull up and stop directly in the path of the tube police accompanying him.  Two smartly dressed policemen stepped out and introduced themselves.  Pieces of paper were exchanged.  The magnetic strips of various cards were drawn through hand-held computers.  The tube police happily handed over the receiver and decoder of Williams’ detention belt, shook hands with the van’s officials, saluted, and disappeared back into the station.

	Now to the heavy feelings of shame and dejection was added the sharper, more immediate agony of fear.  The new policemen were nothing like the courteous transport police who had brought him from New York.  The locals made a great show of seizing him and pushing him into the van, leaving the doors standing wide open as they roughly handcuffed him to the inside wall.  Passersby were given a fine spectacle of the apprehended criminal being brought to justice.  Williams dreaded what justice could mean under these circumstances.

	When the doors were slammed shut and the van left the curb, his two captors showed poker faces to the crowd in the station.  They sat opposite him and neither smiled nor scowled, just stared straight ahead as they drove off through the Industrial Estate in the direction of the International Airport on the opposite side of the city.  This menacing silence continued for several blocks as they left the Jurong district and entered the speeding traffic on the highway.  To Williams’ dismay the larger of the two policemen looked through the windows for a few moments until he had assessed the accompanying traffic and then firmly closed the shutters, plunging the interior into complete darkness.  The other officer turned on the lights and leaned toward Williams with the belt mechanism in his hand.

	“Let’s get this thing off of you, Oliver.  It looks very uncomfortable.”

	He was speaking in Conference code!

•  •  •

	Laotian official traffic had started coming into the tenth floor of the State Department Annex on E Street a day ago.  At first it was just a notification from Laos of Ramsay’s death and some pro forma messages, but now the leak in the dike had swelled to a flood of queries and demands.  Word had arrived in Laos of the appearance of Williams in New York, the disappearance of Ramsay’s body in New York and the disappearance of Williams in Singapore.  Anticipating war with Singapore, the Lao Army had been mobilized and was at that very moment assembling in a hanger at the International Airport in Laos’ capital city, Viangcha.  They lined up in two rows and waited for instructions.  They also waited for their rifles to be issued.  Rumors circulated in the capital city that all 36 of their rifles had been sold to hill bandits in China’s Kunming Province.  The officer responsible was being sought throughout Viangcha.

  	These and hundreds of other tidbits were streaming into the State Department’s Representations Section, which had replaced its 278 embassies all over the world in 2055.  The disappearance of the embassies had been brought about by an alert foreign service officer who had noticed, in 2015, that worldwide communications had existed for over a century, and that the ancient practice of dispatching ambassadors to foreign capitals to speak for the King might possibly no longer be necessary.  Foreign leaders, he wrote in a now famous report, need only glance at their television screens to see what the American government was saying on any subject at any time.   And, instead of sending wax-sealed parchments over to the bewigged ambassador for posting on the next packet boat, a foreign official could pick up the phone or slip his document into the nearest fax machine.  This startling revelation was discussed for the next forty years, then vigorously acted upon in 2055.  Embassies were closed.  The interminable round of diplomatic receptions ground to a halt.  The result was an enormous windfall to the US treasury from the sale of expensive real estate all over the world and a 40% drop in the sale of premium wines and liquors on the world market.

	It had been suggested that State’s reduced workload might open up some excess office space in the huge C-Street headquarters building, but some hard bargaining in Congress had forestalled such talk and State had been compensated for its loss of foreign mansions with the valuable parcel of land on which stood the Sherry Towers Hotel, among other things.  After fifth-generation members of the Loiseaux family brought down the Sherry Towers with one of their surgical-strike dynamite removals, a 22 story skyscraper rose on E-Street, providing offices for the 1600 new officials that had to be housed, fed and bedded down in Washington — to represent the United States abroad.

	All seventy-two of the officials manning the tenth floor Southeast Asia Representations Section were working frenziedly on that alarming January morning.  Most of them were downloading communications from Laos.  The rest of them were grimly distributing the “flood of queries and demands” from Viangcha to the President’s situation room, the National Security Agency, the Pentagon, the Security Council, the Department of Commerce and the Federal Bureau of Investigation.  The Republic of Laos was mobilizing for war.  Serious allegations were being made about American implication in a criminal affair involving the late Peter Ramsay.  American citizens had been mentioned in official charges brought against Singapore, England, America and China.  The tenth floor was alarmed.  The tenth floor wanted something done immediately.  The tenth floor wanted the problem to be eliminated before the Foreign Service Review Period in two months’ time.

• • •

	Walter Locke wanted the phone to stop ringing at the Ramsay residence in Philadelphia — he wanted someone to answer it.  He wanted to get some sleep.   And since his eyes began to close on their own, sleep won out.  He called his wife in Forest Glen and told her he was back from New York but too exhausted to come home.  At one o’clock in the afternoon he sprawled out on the ample sofa in his office and racked up less than four hours of fitful slumber while his brain sped around the world trying to solve all of the puzzling new problems created by Peter Ramsay’s death.

	And at five o’clock in the afternoon, a pair of unsmiling men in dark suits appeared in the main foyer downstairs and asked for directions to the office of Walter Locke.  Finding the lights out in his office but the door standing ajar, they decided to go in and wait for him.  Locke turned in his sleep and blinked in the sudden light to find his visitors sitting on wicker chairs next to the sofa.

	“Are you Doctor Walter Locke?”

	“Yes.  Wearing his name tag and occupying his office, that is a safe assumption,”  Locke said, indicating the large identification badge pinned to his breast pocket.

	His visitors ignored the sarcasm and pulled out their wallets.  “This is Arthur Gluzman and I am Theodore McGhee.  We are with the Federal Bureau of Investigation and we would appreciate it if you would answer a few questions about your activities of the past twenty-four hours.  Are you willing to do that, sir?”

	Locke pulled himself up into a sitting position and rubbed the sleep out of his eyes.  “Sure, Ted.  Fire away.”

	Both of his visitors pulled out recorders and set them on the coffee table in front of Locke.  “Did you take the Washington tube to New York at 02:15 hours this morning?”

	“Some time around then, yes.”

	“Did you transfer funds to the Sirokin Haulage Company at 07:48 hours this morning?”

	“Some time around then, yes.”

	“Did you transfer funds to the Bowmin Funeral Home in McLean, Virginia at 11:14 hours this morning?

	“Some time around then, yes.”

	“Would you mind telling us what those transfers paid for, Doctor?”

	“Isn’t that information in the same records you’re quoting from?”

	“We’d rather hear it from you, Doctor, if you wouldn’t mind.”

	“All right.  It was for the transfer of the body of an old friend from New York to be cremated in McLean.”

	“And the name of that ‘old friend’, Doctor?”

	“Peter Ramsay.”

	“Our instructions at this time are only to question you, Doctor Locke.  But I must tell you that your answers make you liable to arrest and prosecution.  Any further questioning must take place in the presence of a lawyer.  Do you understand these admonitions?”

	“Not in the slightest.  Prosecution for what?”

	“The specific indictment will be made at your preliminary hearing, Doctor Locke, but I can tell you that you are accused of willfully destroying crucial evidence in a criminal case currently before the federal courts of the Lao Republic.  The arrest warrant will be made on behalf of the United States Department of State, which will, I assume, handle the prosecution as well — in the federal court of Northern Virginia.  I earnestly advise you to hold yourself available until the U. S. Marshals make the formal arrest — any other action after this interview would result in additional prosecution for felonious flight.”

	“Evidence?  In Laos?  I haven’t the faintest idea what you’re talking about.  Can you explain any of this?”

	“That will be in the indictment, Doctor Locke, we have nothing further at this time.  Your next step would be to engage an attorney who should get in touch with the State Department’s Asian Representation Office.  And our next step is to report back to the Bureau.”  They stood up at a single instant and left the office.

	As the door closed behind them, Locke stepped quickly across to his computer.  Scanning quickly through the appropriate newsletters and the official nets he found out that Oliver Williams had been rescued by members of The Conference from Shanghai (one for our side!), and that there were riots in Paksane over the government’s handling of the death of Peter Ramsay.  The fact of Ramsay’s cremation was all over the nets — already.   “And why not?” Locke said to himself.  “I didn’t try to hide the fact.  It wouldn’t have made any sense to hide the fact.  Now that it was accomplished, there was no danger.   Was there?  What’s all this nonsense from Laos?  Why should they care?  What is Ramsay evidence of?  I don’t like it.  I don’t like it a bit.”

   	Walter Locke turned to his computer again and keyed it up to produce code.  He sent out a 12,000-byte report to The Conference giving all the data he had and outlining everything he had done during the past thirty-four hours.�

























Chapter Four





	Mrs. Peter Ramsay taxied onto the small apron in front of the family’s hanger and abruptly cut her engines.   There were no floodlights on, there had been no answer on the air-to-ground radio as she approached, and there was no one here to meet her and take charge of the plane.  As she sat at the controls and listened to the jets spool down to a stop, there was no sign of life in the operations room and no acknowledgment of her arrival over the radio.  Her irritation grew as she climbed down out of the cabin without external stairs.

	She was halfway to operations when the office lights came on and the front door opened.  “I’m terribly sorry, Mrs. Ramsay, we didn’t get your message until just a few minutes ago.”

	“I sent that fax before I left Palm Beach.  That’s been over two hours, Frank.  You weren’t monitoring your messages, that’s all.  I’ve spoken to you about that.  How many times is it going to take?”

	“I was monitoring, Mrs. . . . ,“  Frank Lamb looked at Ethel Ramsay’s face as she came into the light and gave up on that approach — she was clearly furious and not in the mood for conversation.  “I’ll get one of those pagers, Mrs. Ramsay.  It can relay messages to me wherever I am.”

	“You mean whatever bar you’re in.  Yes, I think that would be a good idea.  Now can you sign me out on this flight plan and tell me where my chauffeur is?”

	“Oh, Mrs. Ramsay, I haven’t had time to call him yet.  And I don’t know where he is.”

	“He will be at his home, Mr. Lamb.  Call him first, then shuffle your papers.”

	Having sat in the cramped office of Radnor’s little private airport on Philadelphia’s Main Line for forty-five minutes, Ethel Ramsay was finally rewarded with the sight of her long gray Ruffino sliding quietly around the corner and pulling to a stop at the curb.  “Mrs. Ramsay, I’m terribly sorry.  We didn’t expect you back until the seventeenth.  I’m afraid there won’t be any staff at the residence.  I didn’t have time to notify them.”

	“Yes, Avery, that’s par for the course today.  Get on the phone as soon as we get home and call them all back.  Florida bores me at this time of year, I couldn’t stand another week down there.”

	Her chauffeur took the curves along Matson’s Ford Road carefully to avoid jostling his passenger, then turned off,  after less than two miles, and drove up through the woods along the edge of Gulph Mill to the estate occupied by the Ramsays for over two hundred years.  Ethel Ramsay was home.

•  •  •

	Locke sat staring at his report, wondering if he had forgotten anything.  He tapped in a few minor additions and then hit the send button for the entire Conference.  It was scrolling up through the screen when a soft knock on the door announced a visitor.

	“Come on in, Mark!  It’s open.”

	“Is it all right if I’m not ‘Mark’?”  A gray little woman in her early 70s walked tentatively into his office.

	Locke laughed for the first time in two days.  “We could always change your name — but I guess ‘Mark’ would be a bit awkward.  What about ‘Marsha’?’

	“I’d rather keep Joan, if that’s permitted.”

	“Permitted?”

	“I’m looking for Doctor Weintraub.”

	“Oh!”  Locke leaned back genially and focused on the newcomer.  “That explains the ‘permitted’”.

	“Yes.  I don’t know everything about this yet.”

	“Well, then, please have a seat and I’ll track Hiram down for you.”

	“Hiram?”

	“Hiram Weintraub, the center’s welcome wagon.”

	“Oh, I forgot his first name.  He certainly put me at ease faster than anyone else I’ve ever met.”

	“That’s Hiram.”  Locke got a response on his pager.  “Hiram?  Hi.  It’s Walter Locke.  Your new candidate is here.  Joan . . . ”  He turned to her.  “Joan what?”

	“Marsden.  I’m Joan Marsden.  From Indianapolis.”

	“Joan Marsden.  . . .   Yes.  . . .   Okay.  Sure.  No, she can wait here — meet her in my office. . . .  Five minutes?  Fine.”

	Locke tapped the long report off of his computer screen and accessed the center’s biography file.   “Now, let’s see what you do, Ms Marsden — what racket are you in?”  The screen lit up with a photograph and two pages of text.  “Wow!  You’re a big shot!  It says here you’re a world expert in early childhood education, and you’ve started some of the best schools in the country.  And you were selected by The Conference with a vote of 7,470 to 1127!”  He turned his chair around and went over to her.  “I don’t remember ever seeing a vote that big!”  He held out his hand.  “I’m Walter Locke, Joan.  Allow me to start cravenly ingratiating myself before Hiram gets here.”

	“I sure hope everyone around here is as nice as you and Doctor Weintraub,” Marsden laughed.  “I think your computer exaggerates a bit.”

	“Quite the contrary!  That biog program is as tough as my first mother-in-law.  Maybe tougher!”

	“Oh!  You’re divorced?”

	“No . . . my second wife . . . ah . . . Edward Mott’s wife.”

	“Oh, of course.”  Joan Marsden shook her head.  “Doctor Locke, I don’t think I’ll ever get used to this whole thing.”

	“Probably not —  I haven’t.   And members call each other by their first names. I’m Walter.”

	“You Walter, me Joan.  Hello again.”

	“You’ll do just fine, ” Locke laughed.  “That sense of humor will be worth its weight in gold during all that you’ll be going through the next two months.”

	“Is it terrible?”

	“No, not at all.  It’s just terrifying and stressful, provokes fierce anxiety and doubt, completely destroys the illusion that you know anything about yourself . . . “  This time the knock was loud.  “Come on in, Hiram.”  As Weintraub crossed the room,  “I was just putting Joan at ease.”

	“I can imagine.  Thank heavens I got here in time to rescue her.”  He shook Marsden’s hand.  “Hello again, Joan.  This is a dreadful way to start your big day, I’m afraid.”

	“No, I assure you — it couldn’t have been better!  Hello, Doctor . . . Hello, Hiram.”

	“Ah!  Well at least Walter taught you something worthwhile.”  He crossed to Locke’s computer.  “Well, good.  As long as your biog is already up here, Joan, why don’t you check it and see if it’s accurate.”

	Locke and Weintraub chatted about the Ramsay affair while Joan Marsden pored over her life history on the screen.

	“Yes.  That’s me.  Terribly flattering, but recognizable.”

	“Good.  Let me remind you again:  you’ll need to minimize the intersections between Joan Marsden and whoever you’re going to be.  Particularly dangerous are similarities between your original early life and the early life you’re about to start on.   It’s important that no one who knew Joan Marsden at an early age can meet you or look at your photograph this coming April and say ‘Hey!  I know her!’  That’s why it’s a good idea for you to have your past fresh in your mind right now.”  Weintraub stood and shook hands with Locke.  “We’ll be on our way, Walter — we’ve got work to do.  I certainly hope this mess with Peter gets cleared up soon.”

	“You and me both!  Good-bye, Joan.  In a way I envy you the horrors of the next couple months.  You’ll never experience anything more exciting.”

	“Good-bye, Doct . . . Walter.  Thank you for your hospitality.  I’m completely reassured.”

	As soon as Marsden and Weintraub left, Locke closed down his computer and packed his briefcase for home.  When he got outside he found several go-carts parked along Lincoln Street and he threw his case into one of them. He took the route up toward Cedar Lane.  It was the back-roads way home and took longer, but he hated the beltway and preferred the scenery going through Rock Creek Hills.

	It was 8:00 by the time he got home and he realized he was hungry as a bear.  Renée saw him drive in and, as she opened the side door for him, he could hear Claudia and John laughing in the den.  All the tension and anxiety of the past two days drained out of him as he held Renée longer and more tightly than he had since their anniversary seven months ago.

	“Okay, Walter, I get the message — but you’re going to have to wait until Claudia’s date gets here.  John’s going out with them.”

	“I won’t wait — I refuse to wait!  I want what I want when I want it!”

	“Walter, how impetuous,”  she bantered.  “I’ve never seen you like this.”

	“That’s because I’ve never been so hungry in my life!”

	Her interpretation zigged one way while he zagged the other — toward the household control center.   “Food order — immediate,” he said as he brought up the current menu on the screen.  “Have you eaten?”  he asked, turning to Renée.

	“Yes, you clod, I’ve eaten.”  

	Locke chose a seafood terrine with all the trimmings and a heavy dessert.  He was about to order wine when he turned to Renée.  “Will you have some wine with me?”

	“Sure, as long as it’s Montrachet.”  Locke placed the order and started shuffling containers of various sizes around on the counter.  Renée intervened to safeguard her best dishes.  “Here, let me do that.  What are the solutions?”

	“The first one is 300 cc of number 27 in a half-liter flat sider,” Locke read from the screen.  “Then there’s 800 cc of number 12 in a one-liter, round.”  As he read the numbers off the screen, Renée filled crystal bowls with the standard amino-acid solutions stored in the kitchen’s refrigerated spaces, then arranged them in the microwave oven.  By the time they finished, a green light came on over the receiving bin and seven coded and addressed pellets plunked into it, one after the other, from the delivery tube.  Locke slipped each one out of its jacket and put it into the appropriate cooking bowl.  Just as he pushed the start button, another plunk in the bin announced the arrival of the wine.  Renée had the chilled container all ready for it — her favorite — to be combined with the standard number seventeen solution.  They got down their best glasses from the top shelf and sat at the kitchen table sipping.

	“I want to prepare you for a bureaucratic fuss that’s coming along soon.”

	“What kind of a fuss?”

	“Ohhhh . . . some business with a foreign government — Laos, actually — that, well, it’s probably all a misunderstanding, but you know how those things grow out of nothing.”

	“I didn’t know you had anything to do with Laos.”

	“I don’t.  Well, I don’t usually.  This had to do with a colleague, someone named Ramsay — I don’t think you ever met him.  He was killed in Laos.”

	“Killed!?”  Renée abruptly became concerned.

	“Well, yes.  It was a traffic accident in a place where he was doing some research . . . and I took care of the funeral arrangements.”

	“In Laos?”

	“No, here.  Over at Bowmin’s.  You know it.  It’s in McLean.”  Locke took the various dishes out of the microwave and arranged them on the table.

	“When was this?”

	“Today.”  He looked at one dish with a puzzled expression.  “What company is a diamond with a hole in the center, do you remember?”

	“When was he killed?”

	“Yesterday.”

	Renée half stood and sat back down again, heavily.  “Walter!  What . . . .?”

	John Locke was suddenly in the room  “Hey!  I thought I smelled something cooking,” he said.  “This stuff looks great!  Mom usually feeds us leftovers from next door.”

	“You liar!  What about that dinner last night?”

	“Yeah, true.  But that was a special celebration for my history report.” 

	“I thought so,”  Claudia said as she came through from the den.  “Whenever there is a big disturbance this late at night, you can be sure Dad has come home.”

	“Hi, Chloe,” John said,  “you’re just in time.  Who’s trademark is a diamond with a hole in the center?  Is that Pendleton?”

	“Heavens, no!  That’s the daddy of them all!  Parkway!  You’re just never going to get them straight.”

	“That was in last month’s history,”  John rejoiced as he tasted the dessert.  “I just finished it yesterday.  Edward Mott!  That was the guy’s name.  He started that place before he had even worked out the chemistry!  Can you believe it?  He must have been a genius!”

	Locke jumped a foot at hearing his old name spoken by his new son.

	“Well if he was a genius then he must have been a twisted, freaky head case out of Shaw-Hayden,”  Claudia said.  “So what did he do?” 

	“He was it.  He was Parkway.  He invented everything.  All the food we eat.  That was this guy Mott.”

	“Jerry’s here,” Claudia said as the house alarm announced a car approaching.  “Let’s go!”

	As the children trooped out, Walter Locke sat heavily on a kitchen stool.  It was the kind with arm rests or he might have fallen off.  “I guess you can never keep it all separate,”  he thought somberly as he watched Renée follow the kids out to say hello to Jerry.

•  •  •

 	“You’ll find it quite difficult, at first, to keep it all separate,”  Weintraub was saying to Joan Marsden as they went upstairs to his office.  “But everything sorts itself out in a few years.  You’ll get in the habit of thinking of yourself as . . . well, whoever you decide to be.  And, after all,  your entire life will be different — your work, your family.  And you’ll be a young squirt with few of the daily thoughts that you have now . . . .”

	“But I thought that was the whole point of this project!  Didn’t Erwin Medford write in that first paper that the continued success and safety of the human race depended on its being able to take a longer view of its life on this planet . . . to think in longer terms?”

	“Oh, sure.  Your various lifetimes won’t interfere with that.  What you’ve lived through, what you’ve witnessed, what you’ve figured out, what you finally understand — those will all still be with you.  But in six weeks you won’t be feeling like a 70-year old anymore — you’ll be feeling like a very young woman.  And that huge difference in physical sensation will help you keep in mind who you are.”   Weintraub opened the door for her.  “This is my bureaucracy office — my lab is the next door down the hall.  It’s too late to work through an entire session, but you can get signed in and answer the computer’s “identity” questions.  It has to know enough about you to handle your . . . disappearance.” 

	“You say I’ll go into a hospital and . . . I’ll die there?“

	“Well, it will be you going into the hospital, but it won’t be you dying.  We have several hospitals and hospices in each of the developed nations.  The one for you is . . . ”  he glanced up at the screen, “Norwood Memorial.  It’s right down here in Somerset.  You will enter as yourself and come back here to the dormitory off-the-record.   The stand-in for Joan Marsden will be a vagrant or one of the thousands of drug addicts who die in this region every week.  We will announce that she has contracted a virulent and incurable disease and must be cremated at once.  We usually claim that the disaster occurred in one of those bio labs that have sprung up everywhere, and we say that it was while she was being ‘modified’ by some quack that the horrible viral accident occurred.”  Weintraub smiled happily.  “Just doing our little bit to hold off this genetic-engineering craze.” 
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Chapter Five





	They sat, one on each side of the kitchen table, holding hands, both hands, and tried hard to reach across the chasm of absent explanations between them.  Renée was the center of Walter Locke’s life, the basic human meaning of his third passage through marriage, child raising and growing old again.  She was his anchor in the real world, in the world of creation and nurture, the emotional relationships that have made sense of human life for two hundred thousand years.  And Walter Locke?  He had been more than Renée had dreamed about in high school and college, more than she had ever expected a young man to offer her and the children in devotion and understanding.

	In most respects Locke’s role in Erwin Medford’s group of immortals was the same as going to work each day.  It was a profession in which he accumulated thought and experience over the centuries in a unique set of lifetimes, a set of collected understandings which he used in his communications with the other 10,271 members of The Conference.  And they, in turn, offered guidance and advice to thousands of organizations and governments that subscribed to The Conference service on the Internet.

	In that role, the only qualifications that made sense of Locke’s unprecedented lifetimes were dispassionate logic based on experience, a set of answers accumulated over many decades and the long-range viewpoint of a healthy 145-year-old.

	But in his role as human being, as husband and father, as a 45-year-old man whose emotions revolved around a woman he loved and admired, around two children they had fashioned out of the genetic endowment of 8,000 generations of ancestors, the cool dispassionate logic of The Conference was not nearly enough.  His human role depended fundamentally on the trust and honesty shared by the two people holding hands across a kitchen table in Forest Glen the morning after a night of clumsily fabricated answers to increasingly distressed questions.  The two of them hated this vacuum of explanation, the crucial facts and reasons withheld by Locke, the doubts and anxieties felt by Renée.  How could he make his actions seem reasonable to her?   How could he explain the frantic rush to destroy Peter Ramsay’s body with its telltale DNA?  It seemed so desperate, so criminal, that even convincing explanations would be inadequate.  But no explanation at all? — that was far more suspect!.

	Last night had been the worst they had ever experienced — an ordeal of transparent lies offered by Walter Locke to an anxiety-ridden Renée Locke whose tormented foreboding swung painfully back and forth between a mysteriously culpable husband and a psychotic stranger.  They had silently agreed to stop for the time being and let the wounds heal.  They counted on their 22 years of past trust to see them through however many days or weeks they would now have to bear without faith.   As soon as their wordless agreement was made, Locke quickly left for the Institutes.

•  •  •

	Joan Marsden surprised herself at how quickly she was getting used to her new surroundings.  When she woke up this morning in the special dormitory three floors above Medford Center #2 she tumbled out of bed and reached for the food station controls as though she had never left home.  She had been waking up alone in Indiana just as she had here — husband gone six years ago in a building-site accident, kids all over the world with grown kids of their own.  The routine of modern food was universal, at least in the developed world, and being hungry in the morning was a familiar state of affairs for Marsden.

  	Having devoured a half-dozen pancakes with maple syrup and good hot coffee, she put on the standard clothing Doctor Weintraub gave her the night before and headed for his office.

	“Ah!  I see you’re already in uniform, Joan.”  Weintraub left the screen and went over to sit with Marsden.  “Good. That nondescript outfit attracts less attention around the laboratories than people’s personal choice of street clothes would.  Now you look like any one of us going about our humdrum existence.”

	“Anything but humdrum, Hiram.  I have to agree with Doctor . . . with Walter about that.  I can’t conceive of a more exciting activity than what’s going on around here.” 

	Weintraub opened his laptop and started scrolling down the screen.  “Where did we quit last night?  Do you remember?”

	“Yes.  We were working out a new persona for me that wouldn’t have too many ‘intersections’ with Joan Marsden.”

	“Right.”  He scrolled ahead a bit.  “Aside from the professional things that we have to sort out today, there are several physical tactics available to us.  We can alter single-chromosome genes to change your eye color, hair color, height . . . ”

	“Height!?  Oh, great!  I want to be taller.  I’ve always wanted to be taller.”

	“Okay.  The height range is plus or minus eighteen centimeters.  So we can add that to your present height, which is one hundred sixty-five centimeters and you’ll be what we used to call in this country a six-footer.  Is that what you want?”

	“Oh, yes!  That will be marvelous.”

	“It’s good for the security of your new identity, too.  Makes you look very different.  Now what about colors?”

	“Green.”

	“Right.  Green hair and  . . .  what color eyes?”

	“Keep them blond, just as they are,” Marsden laughed

	“Right.  I just want you to know you’re dealing with a seasoned professional here.”

	“I can see that.”

	“Have you thought any more about nationality?  We prefer it to be one of the advanced nations.”

 	“Why?

	“Well, that’s been shuffled back and forth over the decades, but people are getting reasonably sure now that it’s psychologically important.  Remember, Joan, that you will automatically become part of The Conference once you are processed —  and The Conference is expected to answer the modern world’s questions.  We would like you to be preoccupied with and very familiar with those modern questions.  In addition to that, The Conference controls every aspect of immortality — who, when, where, how many, under what ground rules — everything.

	“Controls how?”

	“By vote.”  Weintraub nodded toward the main screen on the opposite wall.  “Whenever any question comes up, we meet on the net and discuss the pros and cons until we reach a consensus.  The meeting is monitored by The Conference Computer, which notifies us all whenever it considers a solid consensus has been arrived at.”

	”And if it hasn’t?”

	”No decision is made.”  He laughed.   “It happens!  Frustrating as the devil, but it happens.”  Brushing his unruly hair out of his eyes, Weintraub relaxed into a nostalgic mood.  “As a daily matter there are nominations of candidates, just like you, who are kept on the active list until removed for some specific reason — or until a vote of The Conference schedules them at some center for some specific time.”

	“Is that when you came out to Indianapolis to see me?”

	“Yes.  I’m in charge of re-programming and briefing here at Medford #2 and, since I have to help you choose your next persona and a lot of stuff connected with that, it has always seemed reasonable for me to make the initial contact and find out how the candidate feels about it.”

	“Have you every had anyone refuse?”

	“I haven’t, but others have.”

	“Why, in heaven’s name?!”

	“Very personal reasons.  Very subjective, introspective obstructions like not being able to face life without a particular spouse or family member or position in society.  I don’t pretend to understand any part of those things.  After all, I was a geologist.  Psychology is not my . . . ”

	“I thought you were a biologist!”

	“Yes, now.  All this talk of first decisions took me back to my own beginnings.”

	“And you were a geologist?”

	“Yes.  In Italy.  I made quite a splash at the beginning of this century with a complete explanation of . . . ”

	“But you haven’t a trace of an accent.”

	“Yes, well, actually, that’s one of the decisions you are about to make.  Along with a nationality, you must choose a native language.  One of my jobs is to program your language training during processing.  After all, you’ll be here for over 800 hours.  We could train you to do almost anything in that amount of time.”

	“The occipital plate.”

	“That’s the gizmo.  That’s why we will have to shave your hair off.”

	“I thought the occipital plate was a flop.  We never used it in education.”

	“That’s good, it would have made all kinds of trouble in your environment.  If the plate doesn’t keep a precise geometrical relationship with the structures in the occipital lobe of the brain, it creates serious levels of confusion that tend to be permanent.  During your processing you’ll be in a sort of coma, you’ll be absolutely still except for the stimulation we give the peripheral vascular system to keep you healthy.  During that time your brain will be scanned every 3 seconds.  The template holding the plate in position will be automatically adjusted after each measurement.  With it in place I can stimulate any audio/visual pattern in your brain that the center’s computer can generate.  Some of them will implant a native language, some will give you a family history and childhood experiences, some of them will give you all the detailed stuff you need to live in a particular country and in a particular region of that country.  .  .  .  Let’s see — you were born in Ashtabula, Ohio?”

	“Yes.”

	“And that was in . . . 2014.”

	“Yes.”  Marsden said.  “Hiram?  When were you born? —  Do you mind my asking questions like that?”

	“Goodness, no.  There are no questions an Immortal can’t ask another Immortal.  That’s one of the basic rules.  You’ll get a full set of those through the plate, too — along with the private code we use for secure communications.”  He leaned back again in the scandalously comfortable chair he had scrounged out of the center’s budget.  “I was born in Catania, Italy in 1979.  Mount Etna erupted just as I was born — by way of an announcement, I assume.   And having the volcano looming over my city all through my childhood gave me the fascination with our planet that turned me into a geologist.”

	“But they didn’t change the mountain’s name to Mount Hiram?”

	“Well, no!  And so much the better, I was Paolo then.  Paolo Bendi.  You mean you haven’t read all my old papers?  You didn’t teach your Indiana toddlers about the Bendi core-rotation effects on the earth’s orbit?”

	“I am a failure and a fraud!  I assume this annuls my chances of immortality?”

	“We’ll make an exception in your case.”

	“Thanks a bunch, Doctor Weintr . . . Doctor Bendi . . . “

	“No, I’m decidedly Hiram Weintraub now.  I have been him ever since Milan in 2049.”

	“Milan?”

	“I was processed in the Milan Center.  Actually, it was the third year of operation of that particular center.”

	“But really, Hiram.  Why suddenly an American — and a biologist?”

	“In response to very much the same considerations facing you at this moment.  First of all, it made the transition easier — no one in America was likely to remember the young Paolo Bendi from school or laboratory in Catania.  Any photos that appeared over here were of the old distinguished Italian that I would not resemble again until . . . well, until now, for example.  And now I am solidly established as someone entirely different who has lived his entire life in St. Louis, Cambridge, Baltimore and Bethesda — all in the United States.  The fact that such a man resembles some old newspaper photo of an Italian geologist is not a source of interest or comment.”  Weintraub swept his hair back in place again.  “As for geology, you might give that factor serious consideration.  There is a computer program available to you in your room, if you want help in choosing a profession.  The basic questions are:  have you given everything you had to give to your “birth” field?  Are there other fields that have begun to fascinate you more than your original?  Have you been stealing time from early childhood education to pore through anthropology books?  Books on primate behavior?  Books about massive toxic waste spills?  Earthquakes?  Other natural calamities?”

	“Oh, really, Hiram!  It’s hardly as bad as that!”

	“I wouldn’t know.  I’ve left the training of small humans up to my wives — both Italian and American.”

	“The European male to the end, eh?”

	“I confess my guilt  — to of all people — the famous Joan Marsden, who will wreak the vengeance of tens of thousands of squalling, pushing, biting toddlers on my poor head.”

	Marsden suddenly grew very serious.  “It is an enormous decision, isn’t it?”

	“Oh, it’s tough, sure, but you shouldn’t put too much weight on it.  Back in ‘49 I thought the choice of a profession was a crushing responsibility — but things have changed a lot since then.  Almost half of the people we’ve processed since those days have changed their careers at least once during their second persona.  If you’ve got half a brain — and you wouldn’t be here if you didn’t — you can finish a complete education in two years on the net and use hundreds of data bases to find your way through any conceivable field.  The world changes so fast you’ll probably want to be something else before you’re 70 again. “ 

	“I’ve been meaning to ask you about that.  Why 70?  The mean life expectancy in the United States is 92 . . . at least it was a couple years ago.  But we only go to 70 years of age before we start over.”

	“Oh, 70 seems about optimum — for most people.  It’s all a question of how many coding errors have accumulated in the body’s cells.”  He looked down at the screen of his laptop.  “You, for example, could have been held off for four or five more years if there had been any emergency, like a center’s equipment breaking down or something like that.  I know people who were processed as early as their late 60’s — and the very first subject, Paul Eichelroth, was done at the age of 75, back in 2006.  Boy, what a scene!  That must have been a pretty tense month for everybody!”

	“He was 75 in 2006?!”

	“Yep.  Born in 1931.  It’s well worth talking with him if you get a chance.  He’s a walking history book.  In fact he started out as a historian.”  Weintraub looked at the screen.  “Then he was a lawyer — that was from ‘09 to ‘56.  This time, of course, he’s an administrator, a businessman, I really don’t know what you’d call the head of Greenwalt Pharmaceuticals — ‘the source of modern medicine, instruments, technology’?”

	“But he isn’t a doctor himself?”

	“No, he’s someone who knows everything there is to know about getting things done and who wanted to apply it where it would do the most good.  I’ll bet he’s nauseated, though, about all these champion babies and . . . . now there is something you have to avoid.”

	“What?  Making genetically engineered babies?”

	“No.  What Eichelroth did.  He called his laboratory Greenwalt Pharmaceuticals — and his birth person’s name was Peter Greenwalt.  It was inevitable that someone would make the connection between his 20th century persona as Greenwalt and the name of his lab.  And someone did.  Which made it necessary to do a whole lot of scrambling around and covering tracks.  We carefully avoid that sort of thing today.”

	“So if I am never to use the name Marsden again, what’s going to be my name?”

	“That’s pretty much up to you.  Pick some favorites and we’ll scan them for past associations with you or your family.  But before you can choose a name, you’ll have to choose a country and a nationality.  Got any preferences?”

	“I want to be a psychiatrist!”  Marsden blurted it out as though making a confession in a medieval dungeon.  “I’ve felt it growing for years and years.  I want to be a psychiatrist!”

	“Seems very appropriate to me.  There isn’t any veto on your choice of profession.  We’ve long ago agreed that that decision has to be up to you — exclusively.  So you won’t get any ifs, ands or buts from the center.  You want to be a head shrinker, you’ll be a head shrinker.”

	Marsden laughed.   “Oh, I haven’t heard that silly slang for years and years.”

	“It was very popular back in my early days.  You’ll find that members of The Conference talk a lot of archaic slang.  Fortunately it hasn’t gotten us into any trouble yet.”

	“I can’t tell you how excited I am!  I haven’t told a soul what I wanted to be.  Not a soul!  And in half a minute it gets decided!  For how long?”

	“Oh, about 50 years.  You’ll come out of processing at around the age of 20 — most people do.  That’s completely under the control of the center’s computer.  When it decides that the aging of your DNA has been completely corrected — with the minor changes you’ve chosen — and when it decides that any further retrograde development might cause loss of memory or understanding, it calls a halt and begins winding down the processing.  And at the other end, reprocessing usually comes at about 70 — again at the judgment of the center’s computer.  You’ll receive regular physical exams, blood and tissue samples will be sent to this center and the results will be entered along with everything else about you.  When the computer says you have to be scheduled within six months, someone like me goes out and talks to you.”

	“I’ve wanted to ask you about that, I really have.  When you came out to Indianapolis and put this whole proposition to me, what would you have done if I had said no?”

	“I would have given you the antidote and taken the next tube back here.”

	“You mean I was drugged!?”

	“You should pay more attention when you drink tea with strangers.  The stuff I put in your first cup enabled me to get reasonably truthful answers to the questions I asked you.  But even if you had agreed enthusiastically, I would have had to cancel your candidacy if you had shown up with any one of a couple hundred indicators we’ve identified over the years.”

	“That must be a mind-boggling chore for you to carry out alone.”

	“No.  I have a laptop.”

	Joan Marsden couldn’t help laughing, “So do my toddlers, but they’d still find all that a chore.”  She thought about where to practice her new profession.    “Where do people go to find good psychiatrists?”

	“Just about anywhere — any country.  I don’t think that profession will push your decision one direction or another.  What about languages?  Did you qualify in any as a child?”

	“No.  I used computer translators — never anything else.”

	“Well, that indicates lack of interest in any language but your own.  You might start by insisting the native language be English.”

	“Well if I’m getting booted out of the States, that leaves England, Australia and New Zealand.  I assume Canada is too close.”

	“I wouldn’t vote against it, but some others probably would.”

	“I’d prefer England.”

	“Then you’ll get England.  I’ll have to program you in a specific accent.  I really think Oxbridge would be the most helpful.”

	“Oxbridge?”

	“Oxford and Cambridge.  There is a broad “a” and clipped consonants that people speak in those schools that gains you entry into the English professional classes.”

	“So be it.  Is that where I’ll go to school?”

	“You’ll decide on your own when you’re inserted.  You’ll find it a very unique experience to be 20 years old, with the vigor and quickness of a 20 year old mind, but with the knowledge and experience of a 70-year old mind.  Decisions about education will be far easier for you than they were the first time around.”

	“Do they have the same system we do?”

	“Yes, by and large.  You study at home, attend lectures over the net or off optical disks, ask professors questions over the net or through disks, do assignments and send in work from home.  But when you take final exams and any qualifying exams, you go to the institution granting you the degree and sit for tests under strict supervision.”

	“Well, I guess I’ll feel at home there.  And I assume they’re up to the mark in psychiatry.”

	“Oh, yes.  During the last 50 years or so, the English have made great strides in the field.  You’ll get a first-class foundation in reading other people’s minds.”

	“Dr. Weintraub, I have a shameful confession to make.”

	“Hiram.  Please.  We only talk to each other formally when there are non-Immortals present.  So what is this shameful confession?”

	“Well, it was during the interview in Indianapolis . . . after you explained that I would live forever . . .  I wondered what this was going to cost me . . . and I thought this whole thing was all a fraud because — you’re going to despise me for this — because  Beverly Abbott had died two years ago and, if anybody could afford your services, she could!”

	“Perfectly logical line of thought — if you start with the assumption that members pay for their processing.  Beverly Abbott certainly could slap a pile of cash on the barrel head.  You know, don’t you, that she advertised on the net that she would pay one billion dollars for each year of additional life a biology center could give her.”

	“No.  I didn’t!”

	“That set off a four-year feeding frenzy among the quacks  — after which she died.  There are dozens of lawsuits in the courts these days claiming that their goose-grease elbow rubs gave her those four years.”

	“She must have been miserable.”  Marsden shook her head.  “Here I am feeling sorry for the richest person the world has ever seen.”

	“She was also a crackerjack biologist — or genetic engineer, as the newsletters would have it.  Her hair blocker was a work of genius.  To block the transport of necessary enzymes in facial hair follicles without disturbing the rest of the body’s metabolism was an extremely challenging job.  She could have sold each jar of that “shaving cream” for ten thousand dollars rather than a thousand.  And then to turn it around and make a dormant follicle grow hair where you want it, on the top of your head — a real work of genius, make no mistake about it.” 

	“My hair was just starting to thin out.  I was in my late forties when she started selling that ‘Locks’ stuff.”

	Weintraub turned again to his computer.  “Her work was completed in 2061.  She had ‘Shaving Cream’ on the market that same year.  It was two years later that ‘Lavish Locks’ was approved for distribution.  You were 49.”

	“With all that money, why wasn’t she brought into The Conference?”

	Weintraub scrolled to a new screen.   “My gosh!  There seems to have been a lot of reasons.  Her only high scores were in technical expertise.  No interest in anything but herself, apparently.”

•  •  •

	As he sped down Route 30 toward southwestern Arkansas, Ralph Larrimer suddenly realized he hadn’t punched directions into his on-board computer to change highways at Caddo Valley.  It wasn’t the first time.  He hated the damned thing, had tried to buy a car without one, had been smooth-talked into it by a salesman in Little Rock, and got revenge by ignoring its presence on his dashboard.  But now he had to keep watching for a sign telling him Route 67 was crossing over from the right.  When it came, it was bent and missing half its letters — nobody used road signs anymore.

	Larrimer eased his brand new Sperry Cross-Country through the interchange and settled back for the 20-mile drive to Gurdon.  He was determined to push all these “January worries” out of his mind before he arrived at the meeting.  Today’s rally was going to be crucial and its outcome depended on morale.  What everyone needed most right now was cheerful confidence and a definite plan of action.  He hoped the governing board realized that.  But there were several old fuss-budgets sitting at the head table these days — they hadn’t made a personal decision since puberty.  And that wasn’t going to help things, under the circumstances.  He searched his imagination for promising strategies, but nothing imaginative and nothing very promising had turned up by the time the town’s ramshackle outskirts came into view.  He turned off on Walnut to avoid all the traffic on Route 53 and parked around behind the stores on 59thstreet.

	In the cavernous meeting hall fronting East Crayton, Larrimer made a poor seating choice and had the sun in his eyes most of the afternoon.  He couldn’t tell who was speaking up front, but he knew the important members by voice and sat there with his eyes closed, wishing someone would come up with a brilliant idea.  At least the Media Committee showed some understanding of the problem, but all they had to offer at this point was a list of possibles with no specific recommendation.  The Chairman was getting impatient.

	“You know damned well we can’t spread our efforts over twenty-eight people!  It’s not only too expensive, it’s lousy public relations.  We’ve got to target the one who’ll make the biggest media splash, the one who’ll get on the most nets, the one who’ll make the American people’s flesh crawl.  We’ve only got ten months, less than ten months, and we haven’t even chosen a target yet.  You see this list?!”  The Chairman waved it above his head.  “I don’t even recognize most of these names.  These people might be part of the janitorial help for all I know.  These might be just the people our members identify with, sympathize with.  They might be relatives of the other voters we hope to get on board.  I don’t want a John Doe.  I want someone with impact!  Gentlemen, you all know my illustrious ancestor joined a conspiracy in Nazi Germany to kill Adolf Hitler.  Well, he failed.  The whole conspiracy failed.  But they went after the right target, didn’t they?  If they had managed to assassinate someone named Siggie Wienersnitzel, the world would have yawned — but they went after the big shot, the one everybody knew, the one everybody could identify as the enemy.”

	He waved the list again.  “Who is the most fearsome enemy in this group?  Who is the Hitler of the National Institutes of Health?”
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Chapter Six





	Walter Locke drove down to Lincoln Street and parked the go-cart in its proper station, then walked back to the Molecular Biology labs on South Drive.  The day was as close to glorious as any day can get in January, but Locke didn’t see its bright sun nor feel its light breeze.   He strode through the front door of his lab and was almost to the elevator when the receptionist’s voice penetrated his preoccupation to tell him he had a visitor.

  	He went back to the reception area and saw Nu Hai bent over a desk terminal, scanning the nets.  It was turnabout time in the preoccupation world as Locke had to put his hand on the screen before Nu broke her concentration and looked up.

	“Hi, Walter,”  she said, “I was just reading about you.”

	“That used to fill me with delight.  It doesn’t anymore.”

	“Yes, I can see that.  It’s really awful, Walter.  And unfair.”

	“If we’re going to talk in the clear we better go up to my office.”

	“Right,” was all she said and they were both silent until Locke closed the door on his constantly swept sanctuary.  “This whole crazy thing is just what we talked about over the net two years ago,”  Nu said as she made herself at home in Locke’s famous chairs by the window.

	“And a couple other times over the years,” Locke added.  “The problem still won’t go away, even with The Conference trying to put a hex on it now and then.”

	“Well they’ve got to do better than ‘now and then’, Walter!  This thing is absurd and it has been absurd since the beginning.  What does anyone expect?  We keep the same DNA from one persona to the next and we live in a world that sequences people’s DNA as readily as it measures their blood pressure.  Now does that make sense to you?”

	“No.  Nobody likes that aspect of things, Hai.  But we tried to change the DNA during processing and . . .”

	“When?”

	“In 2015, here at the Medford Center.  We tried to modify it — at least enough to block the normal ChromaGel DNA match.”

	“That’d be enough.  We seldom run into the kind of biological laboratory problem you and Ollie confronted.” 

	Yes, it would be a great help if we could provide that degree of concealment but, well, when it comes to changing our DNA during processing, the results are not very hopeful.  In fact the 2015 results were disastrous.  An old friend of mine was part of the disaster.”

	 “I didn’t know that, Walter.  I didn’t know that.  I’m sorry if I was rude just now.

	“Rude?  No.  You are concerned.  And so are the rest of us.  There’s no denying it’s a time bomb under the whole project.  We really wanted the DNA modification to work but, when you modify the DNA during processing, you lose the subject’s memory.  You also lose conditioned intellect, understanding — what we call wisdom.  And when you lose those things, the whole point of the Immortals is lost.  You’re starting over with an entirely new human being.  You might as well do it the easy way, by normal reproduction.  The eugenics labs are turning out super babies at a great rate without any help from the Medford process.”

	“What happened to the one whose DNA you tried to modify during processing?”

	Locke took a deep, painful breath and called to mind the  unpleasant topic.  “There were two . . . ”  Locke cleared his throat,  “there were two test subjects in 2015.  When we finished processing them they turned out to be about 20 years old with the minds of infants.  We had to raise them both from scratch in seclusion and they never did turn out right.  We worked on them, tried everything we could think of — for years.”

	“And no success?”

	“They died.  Both of them.  One at twenty-eight, the other at thirty.  We never did figure out the cause.  The fact is:  we had changed their chemistry beyond our ability to understand it.  We still haven’t figured it out today.”

	“Well, so the DNA hurdle is a tough one.  But Walter!  We even keep the same fingerprints!  Can you imagine that?   I’ve heard about a dozen cases of very hazardous encounters with the law over the fact that our fingerprints are the same as our previous persona’s were.”

	“Yes.  Lepeletier at the Pasteur Center is pretty close to a solution to that one.  He has been able to change fingerprints without seriously affecting DNA.  He’s busy checking out the safety of the technique right now.  We should be able to include it in processing — perhaps, as early as next March.  That is, if he has it figured out correctly.  In a thing like this it’s sometimes hard to know”

	“In a way you’re lucky to be working in a field where there are things you can’t figure out,” Nu Hai said glumly.

	“What’s that mean?”

	“It means I find myself, at 43, in a science that’s all worked out.  It’s finished, Walter!   There’s nothing left in it.”

	“You’re saying that the CERN results in ‘81 and ‘83 . . . ”

	“. . . have completed the picture.  That’s right.  With a full set of fundamental particles, with a complete set of fundamental energy states and a complete set of interactions, physicists don’t have anything left to do.  Physics is nothing but a handbook science now.  You are doing science.  I’m reciting particle tables to students who’ve read it all in the books, who know as much as I do, who know as much as there is to know anymore.  Physics is finished!   And I’ve got more than a quarter of a century before I can be reprocessed.”

	“Well, there are plenty of things you can switch to.”

	“At 43?  I could apply for a job as night watchman at the Raffles Hotel.”

	“As bad as that?”

	“Sure, in Singapore.”

	“Want me to look around here in the States?”

	“Hold off until I get out of this depression.  When I see some kind of research I can do in this world, I’ll put it on The Conference net.”

	“It must be a terrible feeling, Hai.  I can understand what you’re saying, but I don’t have a shred of experience to help me appreciate what you’re going through.”

	“I wasn’t going through it ‘till I had a chance to think things over in Maine.  I just finished a month’s vacation in the back woods — I recommend it highly, incidentally, if you have something to mull over.”

	“Right now it sounds like sheer heaven, given my predicament.  Where is this hideaway in Maine?  And how did you know about my troubles when you were in such isolation?”

	“It’s not that isolated, there’s always the net.  But I deliberately ignored the outside world until yesterday — and when I checked my Singapore messages, I found a query from Ollie Williams saying he had to get in touch with me.  He sounded urgent.  Then I read your Conference report and it was obvious what Ollie had needed me for.  Too bad.  I could have made it up to Paksane at least six hours before Ollie.  It might have made a big difference.  What’s all this Laotian government stuff, anyway?”

	“I don’t know yet.  There are some flags on my machine, I see.  Maybe The Conference has sorted it out.  It can’t be as bad as it seems.  We must have someone with contacts inside the Lao government.”

	“That’s another quarrel I have with this whole Medford business, Walter.  We have so few people and we’re scattered all over the world.  How do we expect to make a difference with a quota set at . . . what is it, now?”

	“Eleven thousand.”

	“Yes.  Eleven thousand.  In a world population of 14.8 billion people, we have one of us for every one and a third million.  That’s not only a piddling number for what we’re supposed to do, but I can tell you from my own experience that we miss out on a lot of good people out there — new ones we should have in The Conference.  We lose them to old age before they can be fed into the system.  Why keep the quota so low?”

	“We don’t do it out of choice, Hai, believe me.  We’d much rather have a quota a hundred times bigger.  A thousand times bigger.  But we’re faced with practical limitations we haven’t been able to beat.”

	“What’s the matter?”

	“Two things, really.  We haven’t been able to speed up the process as much as we’d hoped . . .  and our fear of discovery has kept the number of centers rather low.”

	“I guess I should read more of The Conference Archives.  I feel rather ignorant about all this.”

	“It’s not you, it’s the amount of stuff out there.  We all suffer from information overload.  Phil Werner, here at the Medford Center, has calculated that we would have to read continuously for over seventy hours each day just to keep up.  And when it comes to going back through the archives, well just forget it.  Each of us has to pick and choose what we know and understand.  It’s a problem.  The Conference net is full of worries and suggestions on that topic, as you know.  But I can’t say as how I have a solution to it.”

	“I’m sorry, Walt, I interrupted you.  I really want to know what the obstacles are here.  You were saying . . . ”

	 “Yes, well, as far as speeding up the process is concerned, we keep trying new equipment and new programs, but without much success.  When Erwin Medford began processing humans at the turn of the century, it took 856 hours to analyze all our significant genes and design RNA molecules to repair them.  Well, we’ve cut down the analysis and design times with faster computers and broad-band lasers, but it still takes us 800 hours to process ourselves back from our 70s to our 20s.  There’s just no escaping it.”

	 “Unless you find faster computers.”

	“We’ve pushed our speed up to the end of the ultraviolet range already.  The new machines we are operating in Medford #1 and #2 run at 10 PetaHertz — ten million billion bits a second!  We can’t get registers any faster than that and we’ve been having trouble keeping optical fibers from deteriorating at that frequency.  You know yourself the X-ray computers aren’t even reliable enough for research use — we certainly couldn’t use them when people’s lives are at stake.  Müller at Frankfort has tried X-ray computers with lab animals and ended up with ridiculous mutations.  I remember one guinea pig that replaced its hind legs with fins — going backward down the evolutionary ladder.”  Locke put his glass down and looked at his empty hands.  “It’s easy to do, Hai — most people don’t realize how easy it is.  Over ninety percent of our DNA is junk left over from our own evolutionary stages.  Just activate one of those bundles and you’ve got a body with two stages of life in it a hundred million years apart, you and a distant evolutionary ancestor trying to operate in the same torso.”

	 “Well then we probably need more processing centers, Walter.”

	“Yes we do.”

	“How many are there these days?”

	“We’ve built 25 of them, as of last year.  The second Russian center in Akademgorodok opened last January.”

	“Twenty-five centers in 78 years, Walter!  There’s your bottleneck!  Sure, you can’t speed up the body’s molecular processes, but you should be able to do the processing at a lot more places.”

	“Well, you’ve got your finger on the right spot, Hai, but we can’t speed it up any more than we have, unfortunately.”

	“Why?”

	“Because it takes six of these optical supercomputers we’ve been talking about to do the calculations during a single processing.  Each of them costs more than the annual budget of this entire lab.  To conceal expenditures of that magnitude under normal circumstances is completely impossible — every unit of expense is tracked these days from authorization to final installation.  It’s pretty much the same in every country.  So we have to assemble a group of conspirators, placed in the right jobs with the right authority, who are themselves members of The Conference, to shift funds and equipment very carefully from one place to another until we have assembled a processing center.”  

	Locke smiled for the first time in the past 48 hours.  “We’ve had to go through that rigmarole on all of the centers — all except the first one here at NIH, this one —  Erwin Medford’s original workshop.  The people who put together old #1 didn’t need any conspirators at all, they had the whole Congress of the United States working for them.”

	Locke’s face relaxed.  His hands relaxed.  He hadn’t noticed that they had been clenched most of the time.  He pushed back into his chair and turned its temperature up a couple degrees.  “It sure would be nice if every country in the world had a Senate Commerce, Science and Transportation Committee.  We’d have 312 processing centers by now.”

	Nu Hai caught the mood and leaned forward to hear the gossip.  “So what did the committee do?”

	“It rubber stamped the chairman’s request for a crucial defense appropriation for twelve of the biggest supercomputers in existence in 2005.  Now I hope cynical people like you understand that the chairman would have bought such nation-saving equipment from any manufacturer in the world as long as it could stand out there and protect us from harm.  But the specifications were written, down to the color of the paint, to fit Gallium Industries’ latest machines which, it turned out, had cost more to develop than anyone was prepared to shell out to buy them.  And there was another amazing coincidence:  the CEO of Gallium was the chairman’s old friend and largest campaign contributor, Tex Hill — showing once again what a small world it is.  And I’m not referring to Graf’s Earth-cord tubes.”

	“You’re kidding, Walter!  Can you get away with stuff like that in the US?”

	“Ordinarily, no.  But back in those days, the chairman was not used to having his authorizations examined with any care.  And you have to remember that money was different then.  It was still thought of as pieces of shiny metal represented by pieces of paper represented by plastic oblongs represented by hand-written signatures represented by digital entries in any one of a thousand computers all over the country.  Central value accounts just didn’t exist.  Humans were in control of the economy.  Humans did things with economic value exchanges that were utterly impossible from any rational economic standpoint — and the chairman of the Senate Commerce, Science and Transportation Committee was a prime example of irrational value exchanges, bless his heart.  That’s how Erwin got enough computational power to set up Medford #1.”

	“How?”

	“Tex Hill.  Apparently a clever business deal in Texas is worthless unless people know about it.  And Tex made sure people knew.  He bragged in so many places and in such detail that even Washington found out about it.  I mean, they had to do something about it.

	“The question was what?  To drum the chairman off the committee or out of the Senate would create an intolerable precedent.  If corruption was enough to lose a seat in Congress, where would it all end?

	“The problem was evidence.  The political opposition was making charges, but the opposition was making charges all the time anyway.  Without evidence it was just more of the usual hot air.  And that thought gave birth to a perfect plan.  Remember, the committee was in charge of science and commerce and transportation.  Where are most things lost in this world?  In commerce and transportation.  How?  By penny pinchers trying to make use of those old fashioned moving vans of the high seas:  transport ships.  The game plan was to put the Gallium computers on one of those rust buckets and lose it at sea — giving a false location of the shipwreck.  By the time anyone found it and nosed around, the chairman and his committee cohorts would be retired on three million a year with statutes of limitation surrounding them on all sides.

	“It was the ‘science’ staff of the congressional committee that tipped off the Medford group.  They knew that Erwin was always beating the bushes for big fast computers and they guessed he would be delighted to get his hands on the chairman’s dirty little secrets.  How right they were!

	“Erwin had been scouring the world for enough computational power to keep track of a hundred thousand genes on a real-time basis while his amino-acid sequencers assembled two thousand RNA molecules to be injected into the body every ten seconds.  His group had been using electronic supercomputers at three hundred billion bits a second and creating monstrosities in the lab.  The Gallium machines were the first pure optical supercomputers in the world.  They were perfect.  And what beasts they were!  I sure would have liked to see those monsters — just once.”

	“You never saw them?!”

	“No.  You have to remember I was Daniel Patterson back then.  I was an agricultural chemist, teaching at Northwestern and completely unaware of all these goings on.”

	“Well if nobody knew you, how come you got into The Conference — and as head of Medford #1, no less?”

	Well I did a lot of work on the chemistry of food crops and wrote a lot of papers on the subject at the turn of the century.  Some of them were seen by Peter Greenwalt, who was a major entrepreneur in the food processing business at the time, and he kept paying me to consult on molecular processes and possible industrial conversions — things like that.  After 2006 I heard nothing more from him for a while until a young guy named George Collins showed up at my office one day in 2008 asking a lot of questions that reminded me of Greenwalt’s concerns.  The guy even looked a bit like Greenwalt, but he was twenty-two years old and I didn’t make any connection.  Naturally.”

	“Yes.  Naturally,” Nu smirked.

	“Well he satisfied himself that I was continuing my work full steam or, at least, as full of steam as we used to be at the age of seventy, and he put my resumé on The Conference net and somehow or other I got elected for 2009.”

	Nu whistled.  “You are an old geezer!”

	“Yes.  I feel it these days.”

	“When were you born?”

	“I was born the day World War Two broke out:  September first, 1939.  You?”

	“Fifty-two years after you.  In 1991.”

	“Why you’re still an adolescent!  And you’re worried about your career!  Good grief!”

	Nu laughed.  “Keep talking like that, Walter, it does me a world of good.  But I want to hear how the Gallium ‘beasts’ got into Erwin Medford’s hands.”

	“Well once the science staff director of the committee found out what was happening, things moved fast.  He arranged for duplicate crates to be shipped from Gallium Industries to New Orleans to be put on the boat.  He had the real crates delivered to a warehouse in Silver Spring, Maryland where Medford’s group took the machines apart and moved them down to NIH piecemeal.  Those machines processed Peter Greenwalt the following year and then did me three years later.  But, as I say, I never saw them.  The Licht•Pfeife machines we use now are about one tenth the size of the Galliums.”

	“And nobody ever found out?”

	“Oh, I can’t say that.  Any number of people could have found out that the machines had been stolen.  But what were they going to do about it?  Everyone on the committee would have gone to jail if the truth ever came out.  Anyone at Gallium would have been crazy to reveal that the company had sold computers to the government for seven times as much as anyone else would have paid for them.  It was a perfect crime.  And the 843 people who have been processed here are very grateful to the Senate Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation, I’m sure.”

	“Including the young/old George Collins, no doubt.”

	“Oh, he’s Paul Eichelroth now.”

	Nu was astonished.  “You mean the Paul Eichelroth of . . . Oh, my God!  Of Greenwalt Pharmaceuticals!  I can’t believe it!”

	“Kinda gets you, doesn’t it?”  Locke smiled.

	“Listen, I’d like to talk to you for about a hundred years, Walter, but I’ve got a reservation on the Singapore tube and I’m sure a big time international criminal like you has plenty of work to do.”

	“You’re a wonderful boost to my morale, Hai,” Locke groaned.  “Keep me informed about your hunt for a new career.  You know my net address.  Do it in code.  I meet lots of people pondering their next career.  Naturally.”

	“Oh, yes.  Naturally!”  Nu smiled as Locke opened the door for her — old fashioned style.
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Chapter Seven





	Nu’s morale boost lasted through lunch and into the afternoon as Locke went through his computer flags one by one.  The first flag was marked “Urgent” and he touched its number.  It was from Takeo Sato in the Arizona desert asking him to call back at once.  He gave the necessary instructions and heard Sato answer the phone, sounding depressed.

	Locke tried to cheer him up.  “It’s me, Tak.  You asked me to call.”

	“Walt.  Good to hear your voice.  What’s on your mind?”

	“Tak.  You put an urgent flag on my machine just twenty minutes ago.  What’s on your mind?”

	“That’s fine, Walt.  I really mean it.  That’s just fine.  When do you want to visit?  You know we’re always open for you.  I’ll give you the five-dollar tour myself!”

	Locke tried to piece things together.  Sato, who was not a member of The Conference, could obviously not speak in Conference code — and he apparently had a problem speaking in clear language right at this moment.  Could there be someone in his office?  Perhaps he didn’t want that someone to hear what we had to say.  Locke designed his conversation to give Sato the opportunity to inform him more specifically.  “When do I want to visit?”

	“Walter, I would be happy to meet the tube in Phoenix this very afternoon if you could get away from NIH that soon.  Whenever, Walt.  The sooner the better.”

	“Why do I want to visit?”

	“But that’s just the point, Walt.  We’re always so busy scurrying around the planet putting out fires we never get a chance to relax.  I think it’s a swell idea to visit this place without anything on the agenda — makes for a welcome change. We can knock around Wellton and scarf up some great Mexican food.  Hey!  Bring some old clothes and some hiking boots and we’ll go out to the sites.  Nostalgia, eh?  Good for the soul.”

	Locke had an idea.  “Can I call you again on this, Tak?”

	“Sure.  Sure.  Whenever you want.  But don’t take so long next time.”

	“I agree completely.  I’ll be getting back to you in less than twenty minutes — is that what you mean?”

	“Exactly.  Right.  That’ll be fine, Walt.”

	Locke told his computer to hang up and sat there staring at the rest of his flags.  Tak certainly didn’t sound like his normal light-hearted self.  Entirely aside from the fake conversation, every tone of his voice was false.  Locke punched in a call for twenty minutes from now and went back to work. 

	Most of the rest of his flags were from Conference members asking what they could do to help.   He found one coded file and opened it in the clear.  It turned out to be an official Conference summary written by the legal experts who had been “working the Ramsay problem”.  The legal summary was written in the usual stilted format that had developed over the years to embrace the varied modes of expression of an international membership.  It established that:



consensus # 1		A fatal accident had, indeed, occurred in front of the Paksane Medical Institute at 1404 hours Lao time on Tuesday, the eleventh of January, two thousand and eighty-four.



consensus # 2		The accident involved a pedestrian, crossing Vihan Street from south to north and a Manni fuel-cell automobile equipped with Fortuna soundless wheels traveling from west to east.



consensus # 3		The deceased was a research professor in the Institute named Peter Ramsay, an American national, male, aged 64 years [see note in appendix].



consensus # 4		The driver of the vehicle was Phoumi Sivongkham, a Lao national, aged 32 years.

consensus # 5		The injuries to Doctor Ramsay were irreversible by any biomedical techniques known to the authors of this summary.  Damage to the cerebral cortex was such that the current techniques of guided regrowth would have had an inadequate surviving biotemplate available to them to yield a viable result.



consensus # 6		The legal issues arising from this fatal accident converge on the state of sobriety of victim and driver.   The staff of the Institute insist that Ramsay was sober.   Lao government officials charge that Ramsay was intoxicated.  Rumors that there were witnesses who claimed that Phoumi Sivongkham, the driver, was heavily intoxicated have been encountered, but no such witnesses could be located.



consensus # 7		The central legal problem at this moment is that the forensic evidence, to wit, the body of Doctor Peter Ramsay, was seized without authorization, according to the school’s business manager, and removed from the scene by Oliver Williams, a banker residing in London, England.  Ramsay’s body was taken to the United States, where it was hastily cremated by Doctor Walter Locke, chief of the Molecular Biology laboratories at the National Institutes of Health in Bethesda, Maryland.  Both men are acquaintances of Doctor Peter Ramsay.



consensus # 8		The Prime Minister of the Lao Republic, Kaysone Sivongkham, father of the driver, contends that these actions confirm the government contention that Ramsay was heavily intoxicated and that the crucial evidence to that effect was destroyed by his friends Williams and Locke.



consensus # 9		Oliver Williams was arrested by American authorities in New York City at 0400 hours Wednesday 12 January, but escaped detention in Singapore  at 1300 hours (local time) the same day.  He is still at large.



consensus # 10		Papers were served on Walter Locke in Bethesda, Maryland on 12 January notifying him of the request for extradition filed by the Lao Republic.  A derivative action, filed on behalf of the Lao Republic by the Government of the United States, seeks criminal sanctions for the destruction of  “crucial evidence in a criminal case currently before the federal courts of the Lao Republic,”  the derivative to be tried in the federal court of Northern Virginia where the destruction of evidence took place, viz. in the city of McLean.   The preliminary hearing in the derivative action is scheduled for Friday, 14 January 2084 at 0930 hours.



consensus # 11		The Conference has chosen legal representation for Dr. Locke from outside the immortal community in order to avoid unnecessary public links between Conference members.   Several contingency plans are being worked on by Conference task groups to ensure favorable outcomes under the various circumstances that might arise from this incident.  Although some members have filed criticisms of the actions of Williams and Locke, primarily due to their oversight of options available to them, The Conference as a whole considers that their prompt decisions were appropriate to the emergency, even though ultimately unsuccessful.

	Locke read the last paragraph over again.  “Options available”?  — what’s that mean?  And what do they mean by “ultimately unsuccessful”?  

	His question about the latter phrase was immediately answered in the appendix.  In the midst of several lengthy explanations of each point in the report was a memo from a Conference member within the Swiss Ministry of Health which reported that  “a complete DNA sequencing was performed on Peter Ramsay during the late evening of January 11 in the Paksane Institute.  A query was sent to the International DNA Register in Geneva at 13:00 hours Swiss time (01:00 Paksane time) which matched the Paksane sequence to that of Henri Dassault, a French neurosurgeon, who died in Lyons in 2040.  [See Conference membership list L•2084•B]”  

	The Swiss minister’s memo went on to report that he had tried to abort any further inquiries about Dassault/Ramsay by drafting a sarcastic note to be sent to Paksane about the sloppiness of their sequencing techniques.  The full Conference, however, had overruled his idea on the grounds that a foreign taunt of incompetence would provoke the Institute team into pursuing the matter vigorously.  Under such a goad they might produce so much hard evidence the identity of Peter Ramsay would have become a worldwide issue.  If the Lao researchers’ DNA sequencing was left unchallenged, however, their own self-doubts could make any further actions on their part somewhat tentative.  In any event, it was the best they had to hope for, so leave it alone.

	And that’s why Walter Locke was sitting in the least comfortable chair in his office staring at his computer’s wall screen in open-mouthed shock, while the report scrolled down to a close.  In fact the ending was quite charitable to him and to Oliver Williams in pointing out that the existence of Ramsay’s intact body in the Institute’s laboratories would have made exhaustive tests possible, which tests would have left no room for self-doubts or scientific questions and therefor its prompt removal had been crucial to The Conference’s concealment requirements.

	Locke nevertheless felt a distressing tightness in his abdomen.  He wasn’t used to this sort of thing.  It was the exact kind of  “on the one hand” but “on the other hand” stuff that he avoided like poison.  Given the data needed to make a decision, Walter Locke made it.  All his life — and in every life — he had taken decisive action as soon as it was needed.  That’s why he had been able, as Edward Mott, to risk everything he owned — and everything that almost a hundred investors owned — when he built the first Parkway plant in the New Mexico desert even before the equipment to go into it had been designed.  He knew his process would depend upon photosynthesis.  He knew he needed sunlight, strong sunlight, for as many hours throughout the year as he could get it.  He knew the desert would provide it and he made the decision in February 2043 that Parkway belonged there.  That decision saved a year and a half of overhead expense and kept the company solvent.

	The decision to locate at the foot of the Guadeloupe Mountains gave Parkway clear fresh water and the purest starch and carbohydrates in the food-processing industry.  With the basic plant and protein material trucked in from Kansas and Texas (now transported by tube), Locke combined all the ingredients that had permitted him to construct any foodstuff and any taste the human imagination could devise.  Heated in a microwave oven with standard mixtures of amino acids in water, his Parkway biotics created five-star meals in less than three minutes in every kitchen in the modern world.

	But it had taken a dozen hard-driving years during the 2040s and 2050s to transfer molecular diagrams on a computer screen to real-world food coming off the production line in the Valley of Seven Rivers.  Even though the potential losses measured in the tens of millions, Locke had enjoyed the pressure.  Actually enjoyed it.   

	Those intellectual and tempermental characteristics were major factors in his being chosen, as Walter Locke, to head the Molecular Biology Laboratory of the National Institutes of Health at a time when that particular laboratory was counted on to solve the increasingly complicated problems of twenty-first century biology — to produce the “miracles” modern civilization took for granted.

	Locke’s mind was so deeply immersed in the past he was startled to hear the alert chime and see the notice flash on his screen that the computer was dialing Takeo Sato’s number.  The voice from Arizona still sounded depressed.

	“Tak.  It’s Walt again.  What’s wrong?

	“Things couldn’t be better, Walt.  They never have been better.  And I can tell you right now that the most important thing in the world is a visit from an old friend who enjoys this part of the country as much as I do myself.  Do you remember the old days when you showed me how you were getting the maximum possible solar flux through those plastic panels in New Mexico?”

	“Do I?  They were the worst . . . ”

	“Now don’t go blaming me for that lousy dinner, Walt.  That single day’s success made up for all the over-cooked goulash you could find on earth today.”

	Locke was silent for a long moment.  Tak was turning everything upside down and it was hard to see what message he was trying to communicate.  Those panels had been a catastrophe.  The food had been part of the best conventional meal he had ever eaten “in the old days”.

	“I’ll never be able to beat those panels of yours, Walt, but mine do just as well these days, and I’m not just bragging.  It’s the truth.”

	“He better be kidding” Locke thought,  “or this is a first-class disaster!”  Tak was the head of the most important hydrogen plant in the world.  Most of the fuel used in America’s transport vehicles came from the Wellton plants, spread all over the landscape, extending down from the Castle Dome Mountains above Yuma to the Granite Mountains in the south.  If his solar-pass panels were as bad as Locke’s had been in 2072, the country faced the collapse of its transportation system.  Locke made an instant decision.

	“Tak, I’ve got to be in court tomorrow morning or I’ll have the whole federal police force after me.  But I’ll clear things up after that and come right down.  My computer’ll inform you about arrival details.”

	Sato’s voice broke with emotion during his brief expression of gratitude.  He apparently hadn’t been kidding.

	Locke was already late for his appointment at Phil Werner’s lab as he finished telling his computer of the unscheduled travel plans.   He hurried outside and grabbed the first free go-cart he could find.  Fortunately the mid-afternoon traffic wasn’t as bad as usual and he made it down to the old Van Ness campus by three o’clock.  The University of the District of Columbia had become an anachronism, along with the rest of the world’s colleges, and its buildings had been purchased by the District’s largest “clearance” lab, one of the 

thousands of genetic prophylactic clinics that cleared newborn infants of the DNA “kinks” that could lead to disease when they were older.  Its biology director, Phillip Werner, was a close friend and a Conference member.  Conscientious to a fault, Werner would move heaven and earth if one of his babies was in danger of catching a head cold when s/he was fifty-five years old.  Phil Werner was the perfect choice to control the science practiced in a clearance center.  

	At these clinics, responsible parents gave birth to infants whose DNA had been sequenced early in their fetal life to determine what dangers to their future health might be lurking in their chromosomes. Here their problems were “cleared” by removing the dangerous pattern or by changing it to something harmless.  As far as Locke could make out from Werner’s message, something of that sort had cropped up in recent months and it was resisting all of his efforts to fix it.

	When Locke was called into a lab for consultations, he usually found the director sitting behind his desk saying important things over the telephone, but when he poked his head into Werner’s office he found it empty, which he expected, and he continued down the hallway looking for the active wards.  Here was Werner, a great hulk of a man, conversing with a two-day old infant whose wrinkled, serious little face was paying the strictest attention.  You could hardly see the newborn inside his great ham-sized hand, but you could hear Werner’s resonant voice throughout the ward, asking the little baby why it didn’t permit him to protect it properly.  He spotted Locke coming in and included him in a three-cornered conversation.

	“Walter!  Thanks for coming.  Elizabeth thanks you too,”  he said, indicating his tiny friend.  “It’s chromosome 11.  It’s that nasty arthritis that cripples almost three out of every hundred people in old age, Walt.  We make a routine addition to that bad old chromosome 11 in all newborns before they begin to digest their mother’s milk.”

	“Why so early?”  Locke asked.

	“Because digestive enzymes destroy our work, so we have to get bad old eleven cleared up before people like Elizabeth here start to scarf up their chow.  This is one of the first procedures in the clearance process.”

	“And so what’s the problem?  Do the digestive enzymes break it up anyway?”  Locke asked.

	“No.  The correction doesn’t take in the first place.  Our added genes simply refuse to enter the stem cells in the bone marrow where they belong.  Isn’t that right, Betty?”

	The baby’s expression took on an uncanny semblance of agreement with her giant friend.

 	“So she has developed no immunity to R36 advanced-age arthritis.”

	The ward supervisor had been hovering nearby long enough to wear out his patience and now swooped in to “rescue” Elizabeth Gomez from Werner.  As the “super” took the baby back to her crib, the two biologists walked through the connecting hall to the wide enclosed porch surrounding the building.

	“I’m at my wit’s end over this thing, Walt.  We’re getting a ‘resistant’ case like Betty in every two hundred children at risk, and so they leave here without being properly protected.  Can you imagine that?  People come to us to protect their children and we send them home as vulnerable as they arrived at birth.”  He raised his voice.  “That’s an outrage, Walter!”

	“Yes, Phil, but it’s also a violation of well-known biological principles,” Locke said, “and we can’t sit still for that.”

	Werner glanced quickly at Locke’s smiling face and saw that he was being brought gently out of his emotional attachment to the problem and relocated into the world of science.  Locke was preparing him for the cut-and-dried chemical drudgery that would help them work things out.

	“I’ve put together a complete package for you, Walt.  Every scrap of molecular information on normal and “resisting” infants.  I’ve arranged a data-base hookup in an empty office on this floor, every staff member knows you’re here and will answer whatever questions you have.  You can download any program you want from your NIH office and run it on either of the two machines here.”

  	They had walked the length of the ward and arrived at the space set aside for Locke.  After answering a series of questions about what they had done to make sure their data were accurate, Werner took his leave and Locke settled down to work.

	It was just the sort of thing Walter Locke, the wizard of NIH, was noted for —  his ability to juggle molecular bonds, to play chess with the carbon atom.  But it was not at all apparent to Locke what stage in the process was failing.  He went through his usual bag of tricks and asked the computer to run various trial genes into the “resisters”.  Everything worked just fine — on the screen.  Every gene settled into place and stayed where it belonged for ninety-nine years, which was as far as his program could carry out calculations.

	Locke put a note into his project folder to extend that program a decade or two in view of the steadily increasing life expectancies in the modern nations of the world.

	He ran a battery of diagnostics to see what made the “resister babies” different.

  	Nothing.  

	He threw in a variety of contaminants that might be in the newborn’s bloodstream or in the laboratory equipment.

  	Nothing.

	The processes in Werner’s lab had been carefully designed over the years to avoid such hazards.  The problem was not going to yield to his attacks in a few hours.

	Locke abandoned the brute force approach for the time being and tried a flank attack.  He set up a string of “other species” in his computer and looked at their reactions to the arthritis clearance.  Although biologists never forget it for a moment, the general public has a tendency to overlook the fact that humanity emerged seamlessly from the hundreds of thousands of other life forms that preceded us in earth’s biological history.  The same amino acids, the same enzymes, the same life processes that functioned in earthworms and frogs and mice have come down to us in our mutual evolution from bacteria in the stagnant pools of the ancient cooling earth.  During that evolution, new genes had been added to old, and old genes had become dormant.  Today those dormant genes of our ancestral species lay in tangled inoperative knots of DNA along the human genome.  Processes that had been vital to our survival as ocean creatures or amphibians had been put away “on mothballs” in the genome or, if they had been kept in the active DNA molecule, they had been modified almost beyond recognition.  Almost, but not completely.

	It was the bullfrog, in fact, that Locke’s computer was restructuring in his virtual laboratory at the moment.  The screen was filling up with the tinkertoy lines and letters of organic chemistry as his “other species” program zeroed in on an amino acid named isoleucine, shared by Werner’s vulnerable babies and the growing tadpoles of our deep-throated ancestors.

	Those tadpoles had found food in freshwater pools on land and had successfully morphed into adults millions of years ago when they were the “highest form of life on earth”.  They had repeatedly passed their genes down to later generations of tadpoles who were equally successful.  But once in a while the complicated dance of atoms, of carbon and nitrogen and hydrogen and oxygen, had tripped over its own feet and had given rise to a modification of the tiny little tadpoles — and had thus created, not bullfrogs, but small rodents and then larger mammals and then monkeys and then bipedal apes who had each in turn been given their chance to become the “highest form of life on earth”.

	Millions of years later, after  38 amino acid miscodings per 100 chemical bonds, our deep-throated ancestors had modified their bodies into two-legged humans and their voices into the complicated sounds of the 270 languages their human descendants utilized to convey somewhat more complicated messages than the repeated monotonous bassoon of a bullfrog on a moonlit night.

	But not isoleucine.  It was still the same amino acid we shared with the other living creatures on earth and, in particular, with that struggling little tadpole in our distant past.  It was being linked up in human cells in new ways, but it was still the same old molecule that sustained that long string of ancestors our species descended from.  

	Locke’s program zeroed in on a pair of oxygen atoms attached to a single carbon on the outskirts of isoleucine.  One of them remained negatively ionized to grab hold of other amino acids in the chain, while the second oxygen clung to the parent carbon with a double bond that looked deceptively passive — under ordinary circumstances.  What effect did that peaceful atom have on the biological activity of an enzyme when it was bundled up in a huge knot with its fellow molecules?

	Locke tried a wide variety of bundles, linking them in the order of Werner’s vulnerable babies and then backwards, step by step, toward the arrangement preferred by our ancestral tadpole.  He spent hours at the tedious game, traveling back and forth millions of years at each keystroke, until a faint pattern of prior-species memory began to emerge in the infants’ enzymes.

	“That could well be it,” Locke murmured into the empty room.  He started down the list of all enzymes that frogs and humans had in common.  He carefully examined each one in turn, concentrating on the fact that each one of those double-bound oxygen atoms should have far less influence on the ultimate enzyme’s activity than its ionized neighbor.

	By five thirty he had the entire series on his screen, scrolling all the way to the ceiling and halfway down the opposite wall of his borrowed office.  The thing was there, he could feel it.  It was primarily involved with the weak field that came just before each isoleucine folded to start back the other way.  He put in his field-search program and let it wend its way through the bundled up enzyme to its outermost layer.  Then he asked the finished molecule what would happen if that field influenced other layers than the one it was supposed to influence.  He painstakingly assembled the other layers and set up the suspect molecule’s surrounding field.  After two and a half  hours of careful work, he had the entire picture on his wall screen.

	And that’s when it all fell apart.

	The double bond in isoleucine had nothing whatever to do with Werner’s problem with the “resisting” babies.  It had nothing to do with that gene’s attachment to infant stem cells.  It had nothing to do with arthritis in ninety-year old humans.  It had, in fact, nothing to do with the improper folding of Werner’s misbehaving enzyme.

	Locke pulled back from the console and rubbed his sore eyes..  Typing in all those complicated molecular terms was a burden that added to his frustration, but he hated the tedious procedures involved in setting up a computer for spoken input.  Get the inflection wrong or say one word faster than the other and the entire equation turned into nonsense — frequently without his noticing it.

	The fact that he was still using the keyboard, and the collapse of his isoleucine theory, were part of those sore eyes and part of Locke’s depressed spirits at the moment.  But the disappointment of a theory gone sour was so much a part of his life, of his various lives, that it had only a temporary impact and he was ready to charge ahead again.

	A hundred years ago Locke would have been much more seriously affected by the failure of a hypothesis that seemed so promising.  In fact one hundred and twenty years ago, in 1964, he had been crushed by the failure of a thesis topic that had not only been promising, but had been promising a Nobel prize worth thousands of kroner.  He smiled at the memory and pushed back toward the console to try another approach to Werner’s problem.  Perhaps that hundred and twenty years of experience with stubborn chemical bonds had taught him a trick or two that would work under the present circumstances.

	                                            •   •   •

	Oliver Williams felt guilty for finding the Szechwan shredded beef so delicious.  It was made from natural meat and genuine peppers and cooked in the old way, making him a traitor to the dear friend who had arranged for these rescuers to dash over from Shanghai to save him from the grimy prisons of the Laotian dictator, Kaysone Sivongkham.  “Well,” Williams thought, “let’s hope Walter never hears about this.”

	“I know this homemade stuff isn’t up to your usual molecular food, Oliver, but we couldn’t order anything through the tube — this apartment is supposed to be empty.  They keep track of details like that here in Singapore.”

	Williams assured the “policeman” his home cooked meal was delectable and thanked him for the fifth time for his rescue.

	“It was a great opportunity to get even with that bastard,”  the man replied.  “You have no idea how much I enjoy seeing you here, safe and sound, while old Kaysone fumes and bellows in Viangcha.”

	“What I don’t understand,” Williams said, “is how he can do what he does.  Isn’t there any law in Laos?”

	“What happens in the real world is not so much what is written on paper, Oliver, as what the leader tells people he wants to happen.  When Kaysone says the nation needs to do this or that, most Laotians do this or that.  Some don’t, that is true.  At this moment there are angry people in the streets of Paksane, for example.  They are responding more to their personal experience with the Prime Minister’s son, Phoumi, than they are to the ancient imperative of obeying the leader.”

	“Ancient is right,” Williams snorted.  “How do these people ever expect to get anywhere with this Stone Age ‘obey the leader’ stuff?”

	“It kept them strong and alive for many centuries, Oliver.  A tightly-knit tribe defeated a more loosely bound one every time.  And not only in Asia.  You had a disastrous demonstration of that fact in Europe during the last century.  The tribe that ‘obeyed the leader’ most strongly conquered the entire continent before it made the mistake of attacking a bigger tribe that obeyed its leader even more fanatically.  What the Laotians are telling you is that habits die hard.”

	Williams put down his fork and pondered the dilemma.  “The world has been turned upside down since then.  I never really thought of it that way.  In these times, in the modern world, the country that follows a single leader is weaker than any of its neighbors.  Weaker because it has only one brain to rely on for answers to a thousand questions.  The country’s head comes to a point.  And pinheaded countries don’t last long today.  Not socially.  Not economically.  And not even militarily.”

	He picked up his fork again and started eating.  “Yet what you say has certainly been true in the past — all the way to the beginning.  And even as recently as Germany and the Soviet Union.  Amazing!  I never realized it.  The world has become too complicated for leadership.  It takes everybody’s mind to work things out today — in a modern country.  We wouldn’t last two weeks if we asked a few people to run things for us.  What a mess!  Man, I’m talking chaos!  And here I am worrying about a dictator who can’t afford an army any bigger than a boy-scout troop.”

	“Yes, Oliver.  There are much more serious problems than Kaysone Sivongkham in this world — in fact, in the world we bear responsibility for.”

	The other two “police officers” arrived back at the apartment at that moment and the four of them sat in urgent discussion for the rest of the afternoon.  What they had to say started out being alarming and it grew worse with every passing minute.  They kept looking at their wristwatches to make sure they were on time to pick up the important arrival coming in from Shanghai.  At last, time overtook the discussion and they had to leave for the tube station.

	Oliver Williams was embarrassed to realize that he was still seeking the shadows of Queenstown’s tall buildings, still peering around corners before walking into the open.  His friends from Shanghai had assured him that the disguise they had provided for him was absolutely foolproof, even against the very efficient police of Singapore — and they were beginning to notice his vote of  “no confidence”.

	After all they had done for him — keeping him out of a Laotian prison, finding a hiding place here right in the middle of a major residential district, taking chances with their own freedom — he was determined to show complete faith in their techniques.  Williams took a deep breath and walked straight out to the waiting sola-car.  He even stood holding the door for a second, a very short second, before ducking inside.  He hoped that was enough to cancel out this afternoon’s poor showing.

	As soon as the car pulled away from the curb, he leaned forward to his rescuer in the front passenger seat.  “Are you reasonably sure this thing with Fred Benson isn’t just an intellectual argument?   Maybe a heated one, but just an argument?”

	“Yes, Oliver, I’m sure.  I was there at the beginning and I returned to the room after Benson left.  It was not just a discussion or a disagreement.  This was important to him, it was emotionally important to him.”  His voice turned contrite.   “And I’m afraid our colleagues from Beijing were quite rude in their answers.”

	“Colleagues from Beijing!” snorted the driver.  “You should have heard our own Shanghai people!  They taunted Benson as if he were a backward schoolboy.”

	“Oh, my!  I didn’t know that,” said the front seat, “do you think that was a major factor in . . . ”

	“It doesn’t matter who said what,” Williams declared, “we’re not looking for somebody to blame.  This in itself is a severe problem and, from what I hear, it’s a problem created by Fred Benson, not by your associates.”

	“Yes, of course you’re right.  And this problem is as severe as they get,”  said the driver.  “We had hoped you knew Benson well enough to help us figure out what to do.”

	“It’s a shame I don’t.  But Walter Locke knows him very well.  They were close friends back when Benson was Barney Shaw.”

	“Yes,” said the driver, I understand he is the great Shaw of the Shaw-Hayden miracle workers.”

	“That’s him.  It was back in the fifties that he did his most spectacular work — and he collaborated closely with Locke.  Back in those days biologists had to ask chemists to explain what was going on.  So Barney Shaw depended on Locke to help him avoid pitfalls in those early human experiments.  I really think all that consulting is what made Walter Locke take up molecular biology this time around.  He was fascinated by the problems Shaw was running into.”

	“Walter Locke is our man, then,” said the front-seat passenger.  “But we can’t talk it over with him on the net.  Fred Benson knows code too, after all.  It will be up to you to tell Walter in person about this problem.”

	“But I can’t possibly talk to Walter.  If I tried to get into the States, they’d pick me up in an instant.”

	The occupants of the front seat looked at each other in surprise — then at Williams.  “Is it possible that you don’t know how to get into the United States without difficulty?”

	“No, I don’t.”

	“Well, that’s the easiest problem we have on our hands.  We’ll take care of that with a phone call this evening.”

	Williams was stunned.  He wanted to know what they were talking about, but he couldn’t find the words he needed to form the question.  He sat looking at the lights flashing by on his side of the car and got the words so jumbled up he finally abandoned the attempt.  There were, however, more important subjects to clear up at the moment.  “Do we know where Fred is today,” is what he finally asked.

	“As soon as we get to Jurong we can find out how things stand at the moment.  My friend will get off the tube in fifteen minutes.”

	“It makes me shudder to be going back to Jurong just thirty hours after you took me away from the police — and at that same tube station!”

	“Let me assure you, Oliver, you look fine.  Did you remember to smear the salve on your hands and face?”

	“Oh, yes, I’m used to that.  We have to use a DNA salve under ordinary circumstances in Europe — and for the same reason.  But we smear it inside our cheeks as well.  They like to take swabs from inside your mouth where I come from.”

	“So I hear,”  said the front-seat passenger.  “I guess that’s considered bad form in Asia;  I haven’t seen it done anywhere around here.  So if you did your face and hands you’ll pass any identification stop in this town.”

	“And we are coming to one at this moment,” said the driver.  He pulled up behind a big green transporter and waited for the police to come back to them.  He didn’t blink an eye.  Williams was impressed with his composure.

	A police officer stuck his head through the driver’s side and, even though there was still plenty of late-afternoon light to see everyone, he shined a powerful flashlight into each occupant’s face in turn.  The beam stayed on the non-Asiatic face of Oliver Williams for what seemed a long time, then snapped off.  The officer pulled back out of the window and cheerfully waved the driver on.  No swabs.  No ChromGel DNA test.  No request for passports.

	“Well, if you wanted to find out how good your facial disguise is, Oliver, you just did.”

	“Did I ever!”  Williams bellowed in relief.  “Wow!  Let’s go back and ask him who the hell he though he was dealing with back there.”

	The driver smiled.  “That might be a trifle injudicious,” he said quietly.   He had been just as scared as Williams, he just didn’t show it.

	As they approached the station area they saw an announcement that the Shanghai ram had not arrived yet.  People were streaming up the walkway from the Taipei ram and, on the other side, a few people were running into the station to catch the late Calcutta express.  Fortunately there was just enough space next to the curb to ease the little solar-recharge car into a legal position where they could wait a few minutes without attracting attention.

	When she got off the escalator they signaled her to wait to be picked up.  Williams opened the back door when they reached the station and the newcomer slid easily into the back seat next to him.  They were on their way back to Queenstown.

	“You must be Oliver Williams,” she said in an amused voice.  “I recognize these gangsters with you.”

	When the introductions were completed and the five of them had settled back in their seats, it was time to end the banter and get to work.  They spent the rest of the drive back to the apartment discussing Fred Benson and the threat he posed to The Conference.  The new arrival had a photographic memory and recited whole segments of the heated conversations she and her colleagues had carried on with Benson in Shanghai.  Not a word of it helped anyone’s morale.

	It was dark when they parked in the designated spot behind the apartment building.  They all got out of the car in a spasm of nervous energy and walked around the long way — talking.  When they had finally summed it up, Williams saw that his plans must change.  “If things are moving that fast, I can’t wait until Saturday to leave.  I’ve got to get to the States right away.  We’ve got to find a quicker way out of here, if we can.”

	“We can,”  said the newcomer.  “I’ve arranged for a jet boat out of Jakarta to pick you up out in the Malacca strait tomorrow morning.  Fortunately, we know a way to get you out into the strait undetected.  The jet will run you up the coast to a fair-sized tube station with scheduled rams that should put you in the States in less than fifteen hours.  What you do then,”  she added, “is anybody’s guess, but I sure hope you and Locke can figure something out before it’s too late.”   She stopped walking and turned to face Williams.  “I can tell you what most of us around here are thinking, and I want you to take this very seriously.  We think it’s time he was born again.”
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Chapter Eight





	To avoid waking Renée, Locke slipped out of bed quietly and went into the bathroom to dress.  He crept through the silent house like a thief and out the side door to the waiting go-cart, hunting through his pockets for his ID card and keys, forgetting to pin on his telephone.  He sat at the controls, staring into the back yard, mulling over the detestable circumstances that made him avoid the people he loved most in the world.  When was this going to be over and how “over” was it going to get?  Would people always think of him as the guy who did something shady about . . . “what was it?   Laos? . . .  someplace like that . . . little country that couldn’t protect itself against a US bigshot”?

	What were Claudia and John going through?  Were their clubmates taunting them?  Shunning them?  Whispering behind their backs?  Questions like that made his daily encounters with them more awkward than Locke could have believed possible.  For people who knew and understood each other as well as the Locke family of Forest Glen, it seemed impossible that an unease as intense as this could have come to plague them through no fault of their own.

	Having had enough of lonely silence, Locke chose to go to NIH via the Beltway.  The packed cars in lockstep in their assigned lanes afforded just the degree of crowded isolation Locke wanted at the moment.  When he reached the labs he dropped the go-cart off at the NIH station — he would take the subway over to the Arlington Court House later on.

	As he rounded the corner from Convent Drive the calm gray bulk of the Molecular Biology Laboratories loomed into view.  Most buildings in the National Institutes of Health complex were constructed of red brick, but the MBL had been Senator Pasnow’s pride and joy — and a major part of his campaign for better American health in 2068.  There was no way he was going to have photos of an old fashioned red brick building going back to the people of Colorado to reward them for their votes.  When the senator’s bill was passed it was discovered that he had specified Italian marble throughout, enough to bankrupt the construction budget for a year and a half. It had taken some frantic horse trading in the Senate to change the specifications to Pennsylvania fieldstone, but the Molecular Biology Laboratories had come into existence at long last — and had been spectacularly productive ever since.

	As soon as he opened his office door, Locke’s computer beeped at him and threw up a large “alert” screen on the wall.  He had programmed that feature into it years ago because of his habit of getting deeply involved in his work without asking it for recent messages.  Now it flashed the screen on and off until he pressed the query key to see what it had to say.

	Sato had called again.  No return call required.  Message:  “Hurry!”

	During the next few minutes Locke came very close to skipping out on the Federal District Court of Northern Virginia.  He scrolled through his legal status as of this morning, the new charges he would face if he didn’t show up, the penalties attached to the new charges — it was a dismaying prospect.  Apparently the law took this sort of thing very seriously.  Judges might not care if you massacred people or knocked them over the head and robbed them, but if you disobeyed a judge’s instructions he would cheerfully put you in jail and throw away the key.

	Locke finally gritted his teeth and decided to stay the legal course.  He would rush out to Wellton after his hearing.

	And there were still Phil Werner’s chromosome-11  babies.  Yesterday’s failure had defied the best data-handling equipment in the world, the daily outcome of the world’s biology laboratories pouring in through the Internet, a set of programs with the best track record in history grinding away at the problem — and he had nothing.  No progress.  No clues.  He didn’t even have a new method of approach this morning.  And he had to turn his back on the whole thing in forty minutes to go over to this crazy business in Arlington.

	He looked up the name and photograph of the non-Conference lawyer they had found for him.  Greg Larson.  Forty-five years old;  wins over eighty percent of his cases (Locke wondered if he might belong to the other twenty percent.)   He was supposed to meet Larson in witness room three on the second floor.

	But he was determined to figure out Werner’s babies first.  After all, they were human creatures with human chemistry — this thing just could not keep eluding him.  It didn’t make sense.  

	He was deeply immersed in chromosome-11 when his computer notified him he had to leave.  It told him that there was construction activity in the Metro Center station and he could be delayed eight minutes thirty-four seconds.  Locke smiled at the digital certainty of what was by no means certain in reality.

	And he froze.

	But of course.  That computer had been programmed to calculate delays caused by thousands of everyday contingencies.  It had ground through its years-old instructions and had spit out the results down to the last second.

	That same computer, using his organic chemistry programs, was being just as rigidly certain about the chemical reactions in those stem cells.  But what if something perturbed the “normal” situation?   What if something randomly disturbed the energy levels of the outside layers of those crucial molecules?   His programs would still be producing answers of great precision, but the real world wouldn’t be anywhere near that precise.   His programs would think they knew things that weren’t true.  

	What could disturb the reactions inside those babies enough to make rubbish out of his computations?  Locke called dozens of similar problems to mind as he searched through his twelve decades of laboratory experience for a parallel.  He needed a source of random energy.   Random energy.

	Heat!  Heat could do it.  What if these babies were born with a higher body temperature than “normal” babies?  Hey!  Let’s look at that.

	A quarter of an hour later his computer became exasperated and shut off the screen.  Out of the center came a flashing red notice that — according to its calculations — he was already late for his court appointment.

	Locke dashed.  The construction crew in the Metro Center station was on a coffee break and he was not delayed “eight minutes thirty-four seconds” but no minutes and no seconds.  The subway motorman was in a hurry and he gained several minutes.  There were no crowds in the corridors of the court house.  He was on time for his appointment.

  	Greg Larson was not.

	Twelve minutes later Larson stuck his head in the door and boomed, “Sorry, Wally!  Got caught in a whopper of a traffic jam coming over the Roosevelt Bridge.  Means we won’t be able to chat before the hearing.  Too bad.  But I’ll make us an opportunity during the festivities.  Right now, though, we gotta fly, boy!  This judge is hell on wheels if you keep her waiting.”

	Locke rushed up the stairs with Larson to the third floor courtroom where his preliminary hearing was about to start.  They settled themselves at the defense table and Larson drew a sheaf of papers from his briefcase which totally occupied him until the judge came in and the lawyers at the other table started talking.

	The monotonous drone from the other table sounded like Conference code to Locke, but it didn’t translate into anything intelligible.  He tried to remember the jargon his lawyers used in that litigation over water rights in New Mexico in 2047, but these State and Justice Department lawyers were talking too fast and their flat monotone defied analysis.  Larson didn’t utter a word.  He scribbled a note to himself once in a while, sometimes glared over at the other table, twice let out an audible gasp, possibly for effect, possibly sincerely intended.  He stood at last and launched into an impassioned resumé of Dr. Walter Locke’s life of public service, his long residence in Forest Glen, his ties to the community, in fact his ties to the United States Government.   He went on at length reviewing Locke’s modest financial means, the vagueness of the charges filed on behalf of the Republic of Laos, and the questionable standing of the State Department’s Asian Representation Office in a matter having to do with Professor Ramsay’s cremation in the State of Virginia.

	The judge cut him off in the middle of his planned oration and asked whether his client intended to oppose extradition.

	“He certainly does, Your Honor, and the fact that . . . .”

	She cut him off again and asked if his client intended to dispute the necessity of his wearing a detention belt within the territory of the United States.

	“He certainly does, Your Honor, and we are shocked . . . .”

	Again she cut him off and looked at her watch.  Larson quickly seized the initiative.

	“Your Honor, I have filed a motion in arrest of judgment that should be showing up on your screen just about now.  If it please the court, I ask that this preliminary hearing be recessed until you have had an opportunity to examine it and confirm its assertions.”

	“Very well, Mister Larson.  Court will be adjourned twenty minutes or until the parties are notified otherwise by the clerk.”

	Larson grabbed Locke by the sleeve and rushed him back down to the second floor witness room.

	Locke was deeply alarmed.  “Extradition!?  Detention belt!?  What’s going on here, Larson?”

	“That’s what my motion is intended to find out, Wally old boy.”

	“But this is crazy!!”

	“Yes.  It certainly is.  So it must be politics.”

	“This isn’t funny, Larson!”

	The lawyer looked fixedly at Locke.  “Not even a little bit, Wally, not even a little bit.   But it still must be politics.”  He sat on the edge of the table and worked his laptop for several minutes.  When Locke tried to talk, he raised his hand to ask for silence.  Then he scrolled the file back to the beginning and started to read from it.

	“Okay.  So this is what seems to be going on.  These two from the State Department are both members of a Faulkner group known as ‘Return to Morality’.  Their friends in Congress aren’t all that numerous, but . . . ”

	“Faulkner!  Faulkner?  That’s ancient history!”

	“Ancient history to you, perhaps, but not ancient at all to the people who remain committed to the Faulkner protest.”

	“There can’t be many of those still around, Larson.  That was back in the 50s.”

	“The exception was in . . . ”  Larson checked his computer.  “in  2051.   Congress wrote an exception to the Unified Health Insurance Law that let Faulkners opt out of genetic medicine altogether.  I haven’t studied up on that legislation, so I don’t know how it was written.  All I know is that over fifteen percent of American citizens were exempting themselves from ‘gene doctoring’ by the end of that year.”

	“Crazy!”

	Greg Larson had a way of suddenly transforming his expression from that of a gregarious used-car salesman into the face of a severe taskmaster.  He stared at Locke calmly for a few seconds, then spoke intently.  “Wally, let me tell you what’s crazy and what isn’t.  For you, Doctor Walter H. Locke, to tell Congress and the insurance companies and the medical profession that you don’t want to take advantage of human knowledge in the late twenty-first century to stay well and to function at your best would be crazy.  No question about it, just plain crazy.”

	Larson slid off the table and sat in a chair facing Locke.  “Now for the Faulkner types — at least as far as I know and understand them — they aren’t figuring out what’s good or bad for them by drawing pictures of those complicated molecules of yours.  They’ve never in their entire lives figured anything out by understanding the science involved.  It wouldn’t help them an infinitesimal amount to hear you say that the chemistry is well understood and they can be cured of something awful in ten minutes by changing the genes they got from their fathers and mothers and grandparents and all their ancestors going back into the distant past.”

	Larson shifted around in his chair and nodded toward a mural that ran around the opposite wall near the ceiling.  “Those are your Faulkner types, Locke.  Right along there.  Now, you don’t see anyone in that crowd of humanity fingering the Chemical Abstracts to find out what to think, do you?  Not a single one.  Do you see what they are looking at?  They are looking at each other, Wally.  At each other!”

	Larson abruptly stood up and walked over closer to the mural.  “The human species is a herd animal, Doctor Locke.  We aren’t like that mountain lion there or that hawk circling over the lake.  Here we are, down here, all packed together between the cliff and the shore, looking at each other to find out who we are and what we think and how we can avoid bad things happening to us.  We find that out from the herd, Locke.  From the tribe we belong to.  From the people we belong to.”  He turned back and leaned across the table.  “And we aren’t anybody unless the tribe tells us we’re somebody, that we belong, that we are one of them.”

	Larson turned back to the mural and stared at the painted throng of humanity assembled at the shore.  “Those people have a serious problem with the twenty-first century, Locke.  They’ve had a serious problem with the last three or four centuries.  An animal that had drawn its identity out of the tribe it belonged to for over four million years has suddenly been expected to draw its identity out of its own thoughts.  ‘I think, therefor I am.’  If you live in a Faulkner community or go to a Faulkner church, you better forget you ever heard of Descartes.  You have thoughts that are different from other people’s and they’ll turn their backs on you at once.  You are abruptly nobody.  You don’t exist as a member of anything.  You lose your identity.”  Larson pointed at a single individual in the middle of the crowd.   “You have no idea how dreadful that is to this guy.  For him to break with his tribe, to break with his ancestry, with the people who gave him life — over a thought — over something Walter Locke scribbles on the blackboard — that would be crazy.  That’s what crazy is, Wally — for a Faulkner type.

	“Now we need to put this vendetta into the proper perspective if we’re going to deal with it successfully.”  He turned the laptop around to face him and scrolled on to another section.  “So we’ve got the exception amendment in 2051 and something over fifteen percent of the US population stops going to clearance clinics.  And that same fifteen percent starts getting sicker than modern clinics can handle and insurance premiums can pay for.  

	Sooooo,”  more scrolling,  “most insurance companies have dropped ‘exception people’ from their rolls by 2054, starting with those who refused newborn clearance.  The rate of morbidity and disability has exceeded their actuarial tables by . . . let’s see . . . by forty-seven percent.”  

	More scrolling.  “Now, and this is in 2054, Senator Joseph Faulk,” Larson looked mockingly over the top of his glasses at Locke,  “. . . himself. . . introduced legislation that would force the surety companies to put all of the exception people back on the insurance rolls again — at the same premiums as before.  That was in October 2054.  The ‘exception people’ were seen marching with placards on every channel in the net.  Every heartthrob from the Atlantic to the Pacific took pity on the ‘sick and afflicted’ and wrote his or her member of congress demanding etc, etc, etc.  

	“So Faulk’s bill passed . . .”  more scrolling,  “soooo . . . by 2058, the insurance industry was facing bankruptcy.  It was not financially able to pay for modern medical coverage in face of all the infant and childhood problems that were cropping up.  It notified Congress that its funds would be exhausted at the end of 2060.”

	Larson scrolled on hurriedly. “Skipping over all the money details, it was apparent to everyone that the US Health Plan would collapse in less than two years. So Congress repealed, in 2059, the law forcing insurance companies to insure exception people.”  He turned from the screen and spoke directly to Locke.  “I don’t have to read the rest, Wally,  I remember this stuff from last year’s refresher course.  That flip-flop legislation — Faulk’s bill in 2054 and the repeal of Faulk’s bill in 2059, created a segment of the US population that was unalterably alienated from the rest of the country, from modern activity in this country.  They came to regard the whole catalog of twenty-first century science and technology as the work of Satan, as a conspiracy on behalf of a hostile tribe aimed directly at them, intended to destroy their inheritance and the sacred meaning of their lives.

	“One of the ironies of this whole thing is that the Faulkners, by and large, consider ‘dope fiends’ the most horrible lifeform on the planet.  But, by refusing to send their newborns to the clearance clinics, they leave them vulnerable to chemical dependencies — to addictions.  So, while the ‘offspring of Satan’ — the modern people of the modern world — are free of addictions of any kind, the offspring of the Faulkners fall victim to alcoholism and narcotic addictions at rates as high as those back in the twentieth century.”

	Larson looked at his watch.  “Well, the old girl is going to finish wading through that ‘motion in arrest’ of mine pretty soon.  The long and the short of it, Wally, is that these people are implacably opposed to you and everything you stand for.  They have been able to collect a group of congressmen and senators that need their votes, need them a lot more than they need yours.  In fact, that’s one of the problems.  The non-Faulkner majority, the preponderance of Americans who glory in the marvels of the modern age, don’t pay the slightest attention to the politics of regression.  It would never occur to them to vote for someone simply because he or she approved of the modern world.  They take all that for granted.  They take the virus clinics and infant clearance and unbelievably great food and long healthy lives for granted.  But the Faulkners vote one single issue:  Will this candidate protect the ancient values of my ancestors and of my group or will he attack my foothold in the past and let the Walter Lockes of the world practice their hellish rituals and desecrations on my helpless infants?”

	“But we agreed on all that ages ago, Larson.  We agreed in . . . I think it was 2067 or 68 . . . to withhold genetic treatment from anyone and everyone who objected to it.  And we adjusted the insurance programs to sort out the financing problems.  You know that.”

	“Sure I do.  But the sides were already chosen during the Faulk flip-flop in 2059.  The sides had become permanent by,” he glanced at the screen again,  “2068.  This struggle is between ‘us good guys’ and the ‘evil Satans’ — it’s not about medical and fiscal details . . . and it never was.”

	He glanced at his watch again and checked to see if his pager was functioning.  “Okay, old buddy.  Here’s what you and I are facing.”  He patted his laptop.  “Brainchild, here, tells me that a group of Faulkners holds a majority on the House International Relations committee right at this moment. They would like nothing better than to enhance their chances of re-election this fall by staging a spectacular victory of good over evil.  You would be perfect in the role of evil.  Let’s not offer them Walter Locke being led away in chains to the Southeast Asian tube station on every channel on the Internet — just before the polls open. Let’s not give them that spectacle — it would increase their political clout in the U.S. during the coming years and that, in turn, would probably spread the Faulkner gospel out into the modern world in general.  

	“Now, my little old motion up there on the judge’s desk was written in a hurry and it misses a lot of useful points on our side.  What I have to do this morning is to get it put aside in favor of another one, a better one, to be written later on in the month.  I need some time here.  I need time to check out sources of information and to come up with something clever to put a spoke in the Faulkner wheel.  So you’re going to hear a lot of jargon and pettifoggery up in that courtroom that will sound like you’re being sold down the river.  Don’t get alarmed.  It’s only intended to make the other side confident and careless.  We need some mistakes here — at least one mistake.  I think I can get it easier right now than later on.”   When a soft chime sounded on his pager he closed his computer and slipped it back in the case.   “Let’s go, tiger.  I want you to look defeated up there.  Real gloomy.  Can you do that?”

	“Are you kidding, Larson?  I couldn’t look any other way right now.”
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Chapter Nine





	Locke put his head back against the cushion and watched the subway’s waffled ceilings stream past in an orderly blur.  It made him think of Rome.  Of the Pantheon.  Yes, that’s where he had first seen that pleasantly systematic pattern on a ceiling.  Nineteen seventy . . . seventy two?  Sometime around then.

	Back in those days he had a passionate interest in history, the history of buildings and houses and how people lived.  The history of how people grew their food.  Yes, isn’t that amazing?  That far back.  He had studied how the Roman Empire had fed itself — from its own peninsular farms and the hot dry grain fields of North Africa and the orchards of Spain and Greece.   He had also studied how the Romans had entertained themselves — the Circus Maximus — the Coliseum.  The human species had always enjoyed conflict — sometimes as a participant, but always as a spectator.  In that respect the Faulkners were following a very old tradition, Locke told himself bitterly.  Larson says they’re trying to throw him to the lions so they could reassure themselves about the soundness of their beliefs.  Well, Larson can make excuses for their behavior until the cows come home, but they’re still primarily entertaining themselves, Greggie old palsy walsy.  This is primarily chromosome-16 behavior.   And it gets worse when the scr-31 gene is inherited from both parents, old palsy walsy.  And if you think those ecstatic throngs in the Coliseum were trying to reassure themselves, you’ve got another think coming, Greggie baby.

	Locke spent the rest of the subway ride to Medical Center thinking of what he was going to say to his family about this morning’s sensational events.  He had counted seven television sensors in the courtroom and he had no idea of how many page reporters there had been in the gallery.  There was no sense trying to guess what tack they would take, they would take whichever tack was the most sensational.  Walter Locke was about to become 57 varieties of public spectacle, most of them sinister and nasty.  It was a terrible thing to put Renée and the kids through.  Now a trip to the southwestern desert that he didn’t begin to understand, apparently shouldn’t even be specific about.  Could Sato’s trouble be as serious as he implied?  The nation could be facing a severe shortage of transport energy.  If so, the media would whip the nation — and the world — into a panic of historical proportions.  He shook his head in bewilderment at how things had developed in so short a time.

	He picked up a go-cart at the Medical Center station and cruised slowly along North Drive before turning down toward the lab.  By the time he arrived, he had rejected four or five possible approaches and retained none.  What could he say to his family?  It just wasn’t a ‘say’ kind of thing.  Worse yet, he was going to disappear into the Arizona desert.  For how long?  One day?  Several?  The knots tightened.

	He was not surprised when the receptionist in the front lobby told him he was wanted in David Wilson’s office right away.   No doubt Wilson had been glued to the screen all morning while Locke had been measured for a detention belt.  He was grateful it hadn’t been put on him, but the measuring certainly provided great theater.  He turned on his heel and went back to the go-cart.  Heading west on Center Drive he mulled over the proper way to deal with the new head of the National Institutes of Health.

	Wilson was the third director in a row who had no scientific credentials.  He had been the majority counsel of the Science and Technology Committee in the House for seventeen years and had helped ram through the continuing appropriations for “special” aging laboratories in the NIH.   Voters were enthusiastically behind the appropriations because they  assumed the results would be to everyone’s benefit.  That was because the Sperling Report of 2043 had been kept a closely-guarded secret.  

	Since Wilson had never failed to carry out the instructions of the Congressmen on the committee, he was trusted — and no one who wasn’t absolutely trusted would be given the directorship of the NIH these days.  It was even rumored that Wilson was on the “special” list, the closely guarded list of those who would receive the life-extending attentions of the congressionally-mandated NIH aging labs when they finally solved the biological problems entailed.

	Shortly after Congress’s anti-aging laboratories had been funded at NIH, Locke had been appointed to the committee that reviewed the special labs’ research, even though he maneuvered desperately to stay off of it.  He had envisioned truly monumental conflicts of interest, moral dilemmas beyond even The Conference’s abilities to solve.  How could he, in good conscience, steer the special labs’ efforts?  If he steered them in the right direction he would not only be in direct violation of Conference rules, he would enable the most corrupt elements of human society to protract their activities into the unforseeable future.  He would make endless life a prize for the earth’s wheelers and dealers, its behind-the-scenes power brokers, its most successful liars.  The Darwinianly driven progress of our species over the past four million years, the promise of reason, of compassion, of understanding, would be completely reversed as personal ambition and public deceit took the place of hard work and diligence in the sweepstakes of survival.  The length of one’s life would come to depend on how many rifles one led or how many voters one misled, not on how efficient one had become in the production of food, clothing and housing.  The predictable result of those selection rules would make even the most optimistic among us shout “good riddance!” to the formerly promising human race.

	And if he steered the special labs’ efforts in the right direction while revealing to the world what they were doing, he would bring about the catastrophe of a frenzied world population with each of its members kicking and screaming, shooting and bombing, to stretch out his life at any cost.   It was easy to see what would become of the promise of our species when the growing population of humankind left everyone standing on everyone else’s head, unable to reach the ground to grow or harvest food.

	But speaking of deceit and greed, what would it mean for Walter Locke to steer the special labs away from promising lines of research when he and the other Immortals owed their very lives to the correct line of research?  Would he be forced by the moral imperative of a human being to help them solve the problem?  Would he be forced by his feelings of guilt to help the politicians who were secretly using colossal sums of tax money in an attempt to prolong lives of squalid mediocrity?  The prospect was appalling.

	As it turned out, all that anguish he had suffered during the weeks before he was called into committee meetings was completely unnecessary.  Unfortunately for the appropriators, the Sperling Report advised close supervision of the “special” labs by the members of the Sci/Tech Committee.  It was the kiss of death — literally.  In 2084 they were further away from Erwin Medford’s key discoveries than they had been in 2043.  Every member of the Sci/Tech Committee was in the habit of sending suggested areas of research to the “aging laboratories” with a covering letter implying that further financial support depended upon the special labs diligence in following up the congressman’s leads.  Since the membership of the committee was continually changing, so were the periodic lists of suggestions sent up Connecticut Avenue, most of them inspired by bits and pieces copied off the Internet by the members’ automatic search programs.  Locke had identified several “Internet leads” over the years, most of them unsigned, chemically illiterate and written in very ardent language, the language of zealots.

	Worse yet, from the congressional standpoint, was the fact that most of the competent NIH scientists had been scattered to the winds by more attractive, and bona fide, pusuits elsewhere.  With private laboratories paying premium wages to qualified molecular biologists, the congressional special labs were staffed by leftovers seeking the permanence of civil service appointments.  

	Happily, however, most of the NIH émigrés were engaged in useful activities.  Some went to the genetic repair labs where inherited health problems were eliminated by recombinant DNA procedures.  Some went to the 21st century’s version of hospitals, the numerous virus labs where viral diseases were cleared up by genetically engineered T cells.  (Bacterial diseases were “cleared” by specifically engineered leukocytes taken in coated capsules at home.)   Some went to the private “descendant modification” laboratories where parents could either have a fertilized ovum designed from scratch or could have changes made to a fertilized egg cell of their own.  

	Although some Conference members had a tendency to sneer at the descendant modification labs as “perfect baby factories”, they were wrong when they did so.  The modification labs were following directly in the footsteps of all the world’s creatures from head-butting impala to nest-building birds to spouse-choosing humans.  From the beginning of life on earth the selection of mates had been made on the basis of genetic qualities that appeared to the prospective parents to enhance their offsprings’ chances of success.  The scornful Immortals apparently never stopped to ask themselves if they would prefer to rear scrawny, retarded offspring whose attempts to succeed in the modern world would be painful for everyone involved.

	Then there were the quack “life extension” labs whose customers were promised indefinite life spans for definite contributions — which had a tendency to amount to most of their annual incomes.  There were numerous laws passed in the 2030s making life extension a criminal activity, but they were all quietly expunged from the Federal Register after the secret Sperling Report suggested that immortalizing members of Congress was the top priority of the nation.  Four years after the report, a Sci/Tech committee staffer noticed that the language in the old legislation could put the entire legislative establishment in prison for terms of up to forty years.  The old legislation suddenly vanished.

	When word leaked out to the general public in the 2050s that immortality was no longer criminal, there was a great eruption of laboratories promising unlimited life-extension for large bundles of cash.  This eventually culminated in Beverly Abbott’s sensational offer in 2077 of a billion dollars for every year of additional life any lab could give her.

	Her death in 2081 triggered a widespread public rejection of the life labs.  Purchased immortality went out of fashion.  It wasn’t even discussed on the most popular nets any more.  Most of the life labs had closed during the past three years.  Locke knew several good people who had returned to NIH from those labs and were engaged in useful research outside the Medford Center.  Some were occasionally nominated to The Conference, but none of them had been elected so far.  He wondered what their reactions would be to discover that what they had sought for so many years had been a fact of life ever since 2006.

	Locke reproached himself for using the go-cart on such a short trip.  It was barely half a mile to the administration building, a good walk, a “morning constitutional” as Harry Truman used to call it.  He could use the exercise and it would be a pleasure to make Wilson wait a few extra minutes.  Locke resolved to arrange more excursions on foot from now on.  Of course, he never did.

	The new “Ad Building” had been built down next to the NIH library, a beautiful setting with the rolling Maryland scenery in the background.  Locke parked the cart around behind the building and used the service entrance.  Since he reached Wilson’s office without going past the receptionist, he was unannounced and had to wait in the antechamber until lawyers, scanners and recordists had been summoned from all quarters of the building, after which he was ushered into the inner sanctum as part of a large group of functionaries.  So many people carried “body recorders” these days, Wilson was unwilling to say “Hello” to anyone without first protecting himself with his legal/electronic phalanx.

	They seated themselves in a semicircle around Wilson’s work station.  The director studiously ignored them, in the time-honored tradition of very important people, and shuffled through the papers in front of him.  After a prolonged period of silence, during which the director had twice looked up and stared fixedly at Locke, he spoke out with the voice known to the millions of people all over the world who watched the video nets.  “You are Doctor Walter H. Locke, head of the molecular biology laboratories of the National Institutes of Health?”

	“Yes.  Hi, Dave.  How are you?”

	“You did, on the twelfth of January, two thousand and eighty-four, direct that the body of Doctor Peter M. Ramsay, employed in the Republic of Laos on leave from the University Research Laboratory of Biology in Cambridge, England, be destroyed by cremation — against the express and lifelong wishes of said Doctor Ramsay?”

	“Not at all, . . . “ Locke dropped the ‘Dave’ as an uncomfortable weight grew in his stomach.  “In fact I was carrying out the ‘express and lifelong wishes’ of Doctor Ramsay when I had him cremated.”

	David Wilson’s face was transformed as he shuffled through the pile of paper in front of him.  He drew out another document.  All the theatricality was dropped as his voice  took on the hard edge of a process server which,  in actuality, was his role at the moment. “And yet,”  he said as he unfolded the document,  “and yet you are summoned by the Superior Court of Pennsylvania to appear in Montgomery County on Wednesday, the twenty-sixth of January,”  the director read from the folded set of pages in his hand, “to answer an action brought against you by Ethel Ramsay, the widow of Peter Ramsay, for malicious destruction and deprivation — inasmuch as you prevented the Ramsay family from carrying out the ‘express and lifelong wishes’ of Doctor Peter Ramsay that he be buried alongside the previous five generations of the Ramsay family in the Gulph Mills Cemetery in said county and state — and which action further seeks damages in the amount of seven million dollars, American, to reimburse the heirs of the Ramsay family for their loss, said damages to be paid within sixty days of your receipt of this summons, which I hand you now as witnessed by my secretary, Elizabeth DiBasio and my communications director, Edward Sullivan.”

	He might as well have added — “and the millions of viewers who will see the edited tape of this performance when it is released to the nets”.

•   •   •

	Locke drove back to his lab in a profound melancholy — all those thoughts about how to approach his family now became wildly obsolete.  Ramsay’s wife!  Why on earth would she claim so bitterly and publicly that Peter Ramsay renounced cremation?  She could never have heard a word of such nonsense from Peter — the appearance of having been cremated was the only way he could continue on in The Conference.  If he ever allowed his real body to be buried, he’d be dead — for good!

	The instant he got into his office he instructed his computer to execute the arrangements it had made to get him to Wellton, Arizona.  He put in a call to Renée.  A knock on his door reminded him that a very welcome visitor was expected about this time of day.

	“Come in, Mark.”  Locke swung around in his console chair and eyed the door.

	When it opened, a man forty years older than the one anticipated stood in the doorway staring at him.

	“I’m sorry, you must have the wrong room,” Locke said.  “Could I have your name, please?”  He swung around and opened his laboratory visitors’ file.

	“Do you want the name I gave them downstairs or something more familiar?” 

	Locke swung back toward the door in astonishment.  “Ollie!  I don’t believe it!  You can’t possibly be here!”

	“Does that mean I have to leave?”

	Locke ran to the door and pulled his friend in toward the window chairs.  “Not a chance!  Not a chance!  But they’re sure to be onto you.  They’re probably monitoring us right now!”

	“Not a chance, as you have been known to say.” 

	Locke’s face oscillated between delight and terror.  “Oliver!  How can you possibly be here?”

	“You will be dismayed to find out, Walter.  You will be truly dismayed.”  Williams let out a huge sigh.  “To answer your question, I sailed out in a two-man skiff at six o’clock this morning . . .  that’s Singapore time, in your time it would be six o’clock yesterday evening.  And I boarded a jet boat in the strait at around noon.  It took me up to Kelang in just under an hour.”

	“What’s Kelang?”

	“Walter, I have never understood how the world’s foremost expert in the geography of enzymes can be as ignorant of the geography of his own planet.  Kelang is the seaport of the capital of Malaya.”

	“Oh.”

	“Well, anyway.  I caught the local tube to Jakarta — that’s the capital of . . . ”

	“I know.”

	“Will wonders never cease!”  Williams tried to be cheerful but failed by a wide margin.  “So from Jakarta I took the multiple tube to San Francisco, as a transit passenger, and thence to Boston, as an entering passenger, from which I took the local tube down to your fair city on the Potomac.”

	“Entering in Boston!  Ollie!  They’ll be on to you right away.”

	“Nope.  Boston immigration is run by a Conference Member.  I notified her over the network before I left Singapore and she had everything all arranged for me when I arrived two hours ago.”

	“A Conference Member!?”  Locke stared at Williams in disbelief.   “Boston immigration is one of us?!”  Again his emotions turned a kaleidoscope on Locke’s face.  “Do you mean to say that we could have avoided all of this trouble by bringing Ramsay in through Boston?”

	“Yep.”

	“Oh, Oliver!”

	“Yep.”

	Now his face suddenly turned to anger.  “Then why didn’t they put that information on the net, dammit?”

	“They did.”

	“It was on . . . ?”

	“Yep.”

	“And we didn’t do a search procedure before we . . . ”

	“Nope.”

	Locke’s anger turned to dismay.  “We are an incompetent pair of culprits.”

	“We are an incompetent pair of culprits,” Williams echoed.

	“I just came down from our great director’s office where he informed me that I am being sued by Peter Ramsay’s widow.  I’m being sued, the NIH is being sued, the US, Laos and Singapore are being sued.  I’m sure you’re in there, too.”

	“Sued for what?”

	“For cremating Ramsay.  She says he expressed a fervent desire to be buried in the family plot.”

	“He never would!”

	“Of course not, she’s lying through her teeth.  But, to prove that, we would have to tell a very interesting tale to a court of law — and I don’t think we will.”

	“Not a chance, as the current saying goes.”  Williams couldn’t believe what he was hearing.  “Who’s the director?”

	“David Wilson.”

	“Is he . . . ?”

	“No.  We’ve got several Conference people here at NIH because of the processing center, but Wilson is definitely not one of them.”  Locke had been tapping out a series of search commands on his Conference computer.  “There it is!”  He slapped the table.  “Can you beat that?!  The head of Boston Immigration is a Conference member.  She’s in a special advisory that was sent a week ago Monday — the third of January!  Can you beat that?!”

	“We are an incompetent pair of culprits.”

	“Well, that bears repeating!”  They both wanted to laugh, really needed a good laugh, but they just couldn’t manage it.  They were in so much trouble that they now realized could have been so easily avoided.

	Williams suddenly sat up.  “Walt.  Whistle up your Conference files and let’s take a look at members’ monetary balances.  What did you say this Ramsay dame is suing you for?”

	“Always the banker, Ollie.”

	“You bet I am.”

	“Seven million dollars — and I’m embarrassed to admit it, but that’s more than my annual salary here at NIH.”

	“Peanut butter, Walter!  Mere peanut butter.  Look up your balance in the Conference accounts.”

	“Oh yeah, that’s true.  I must have a pot full of cash in The Conference.  They never complain when I spend any of it.  Okay, here it is.  It currently stands at . . . my gosh!  That’s a whale of a lot of money!”

	“Come on, don’t keep me in suspense.  How much is the creator of the modern world’s breakfast, lunch and dinner worth as of January fourteenth 2084?”

	Locke swung around at the console and faced Williams.  “Ollie!  I have a balance of ten point eight billion dollars!”

	Williams didn’t even blink at the number.  “That can’t be all of it — pull out the whole account and see where the rest is.”

	Locke scrolled in a daze and almost missed the significant figures.  “Well they have me down for an original contribution at my processing in 2059 of . . . holy smoke! . . . of thirty-two billion!”

	“That’s more like it.  Now what happened to all that dough?”

	“There is a list of assessments since 2059 totaling . . . six point five billion dollars.”

	“Okay.  What else?”

	“And there are lots of directed disbursements over the years totaling . . . fourteen point seven billion.”

	“You certainly have been giving money away at a great rate.  Who’s that all for?”

	“Labs mostly.  And people doing really good work.  It’s a long list.”

	“What’s that line about two-thirds of the way up?”

	“Livermore.  Good labs.  Lots of good work in . . . ”

	“No.  The one just above that.”

	“The Mosquito Unit in Gainsville.  That’s almost a billion dollars over the years.”

	 “Mosquito Unit?  There haven’t been any mosquitoes for over ten years.”

	“Yeah.  And they’re why.  They worked sixty, seventy years on biological enemies of the world’s mosquitoes and finally found just the right ones to wipe them out.  I’m sorry to report, however,”  Locke’s screen now extended halfway to the ceiling, “that the parasites that destroyed the mosquitoes have since died of starvation.  Law of nature, Ollie, law of nature.”  Locke kept turning the trackball.  “Oh and here’s a billion and a half for a string of Barney Shaw’s baby clinics.  I forgot about that.”

	Williams, caught by surprise, almost broached the subject of Barney Shaw.  He finally decided they should work on one problem at a time.

	Locke began to sound like a different man.  He rattled off half a dozen other “directed disbursements” he had given away during the past twenty-five years and finally chortled, “which leaves a net balance of only ten point eight billion dollars, Ollie.  How am I ever going to pay off the Ramsay woman?”

	“You never were very good at numbers, Walt.  Just leave it in my hands.”

	“So I can just handle the whole thing through a directed disbursement and that’s the end of it.”

	“That’s the end of it, all right.  If she’s so anxious to get rich, I guess you can accommodate . . . Hey!  . . . Hey!  . . . Walt!”

	“What?”

	“Look up Peter’s accounts!  Look up Peter’s accounts!  Hey!  You know he was the biggest thing in neuron re-growth back in the twenties — and he perfected that thing named after him . . . ”

	“The Dassault Craniotomy.  Sure.  So what?”

	“So what?  So the long-standing policy of The Conference has been to vest the entire balance of the account to his or her spouse if an Immortal actually dies for any reason.”

	“My gosh.  I didn’t know that.”

	“So what’s his balance?”

	Locke turned back to the terminal.  “It was Henri, right?”

	“I’m not sure.  Look it up under Peter Ramsay.”

	“Yes, here it is.  He has spent a bunch of things and . . . assessments and grants to others have totaled . . . wow! . . . two hundred and eighty million dollars!  And his balance is six hundred thirty-eight million dollars!  Can you beat that?!  Medicine used to bring in a lot of money back in the old days.”

	“Plus sixty years worth of interest since then,” Williams said.  “Okay.  That’s wonderful.  Will your machine respond from where I sit?”

	“Sure.”

	“What’s your cue?”

	“In code?”

	“Yes.”

	“Hootenanny.”

	“God you’re corny, Walter.  All right — — ”   Williams tightened his voice to speak in the completely uninflected tones of The Conference code.   “Hootenanny.”

	“Hootenanny Two,” came the digital voice, “do you have input?”

	“Yes.  It is as follows:  Your shipment arrived on Friday at the appointed time.  It was short twenty-three items.  My accountant tells me the price is nine percent too high.  My warehouse superintendent tells me the shortage is excessive.  Do you agree?  If so, send the rest to receiving dock number 62837 in . . . ” he looked at Locke who formed the name soundlessly . . . “in Pennsylvania,”  he looked at the calendar, “on Wednesday, January twenty-sixth.  Please notify at once if you agree with the quantity and price.  End of input.”

	They sat quietly looking at each other while they waited.  It took three and a half minutes for the reply to come back.  Translated, it told them that The Conference agreed that the inheritance rules should be suspended in the case of Ethel Ramsay.  If her lawsuit against Walter Locke was successful, however, Locke could draw seven million dollars out of Peter Ramsay’s account to pay her off.   After that the remaining six hundred and thirty-one million dollars in Ramsay’s account would be put into general funds.

	Because they needed it, and because they had been cheated out of several good, healing laughs so far today,  they sat and beamed at each other, silently.  It wasn’t the same as a good horselaugh, but it would have to do for the moment.   It certainly was wonderful!  And fitting!  Their only regret was that they could never tell Ethel Ramsay how rich she would have been if she had been willing to be simply Peter Ramsay’s honest widow.

	“Listen, Walter, I’d love to stay and cheer you up with the rest of my grisly news, but I’ve got other errands to do here on the East Coast and then I’ll come back to discuss the real reason I’m here.”

	“Yes, I was wondering why you had come here so soon.  Even with this makeup you have on, it seemed reckless — in spite of our Conference ‘port of entry’.” 

	“Yes, reckless, but necessary.  My rescuers dolled me up with this great facial stuff so I could move around in the States without being recognized.  They have a message they want me to deliver in several places.  This is one of them.”

	“Sounds pretty mysterious.”

	“Oh, it’s just one more of those problems we let ourselves in for when we started this whole thing.”  Williams got up and walked to the door.  “I’ve got two or three days of traveling to do.  I’ll get in touch with you the minute I get back.”

	“Sure thing.  I’ll be glad to see you.”

	“No you won’t, but it can’t be helped.”  Williams left without looking back.

	Locke had followed him to the door and now leaned against it heavily as he relived in his mind’s eye the ghastly, sensational and abundantly televised events of the Arlington Court House and David Wilson’s office.  He went back to see how his travel plans were coming along.  There was a message from Larson.

	The judge had waded through Larson’s new motion, disagreeing with a lot of it but agreeing with just enough to keep him out of a detention belt until his formal extradition hearing.  But there was a serious condition.  Locke would have to remain within 20 kilometers of the Arlington Court House until his case was decided.  

	“Absolutely impossible!” Locke shouted at his office walls.   The hydrogen problem was a thousand times more important than these legal windbags.   “Call Greg Larson,” he told his computer.  The call was answered almost immediately.

	“Yeah, hi.  Who’s this?”  came Larson’s always cheery voice.

	“Walter Locke here.  I received your note about the twenty kilometer restriction.  I can’t work with that.”

	“Wally!  Good to hear from you.  You’d prefer a detention belt?  The judge is going to think we come from different planets — I’ve spent all afternoon claiming the belt would degrade your home life and significantly reduce your ability to carry out your scientific duties.  What changed your mind?”

	“Wait, Larson.  Just go slow for a minute.  Isn’t there something in between?”

	“Not in the U. S. of A., old boy, not in the U. S. of A..  The judge considers you involved in a conspiracy with an international fugitive.  That catalogs you as a runaway, Wally — something you’ve got to face up to.  So how do you want to play it — stick around the courthouse or wear a transmitter?”

	“I’d rather . . . you don’t understand, this whole thing is critical . . . couldn’t . . . ?  Wait a minute!  I have to appear in a trial in Pennsylvania on the twenty-sixth!”

	“Yes.  The judge has arranged for federal marshals to escort you up to the courthouse and bring you back here after it’s over.”

	There was almost a minute of silence on the line before Locke said quietly,  “I’d better stick around, I guess.”

	“That’s what I thought, Wally.  I’ve already told the judge you agree to her condition.”  Larson hung up.

	Locke stared into the blank screen for a long minute.  He looked at his travel plans and realized they would have to be canceled.  He looked at the case Oliver Williams had left in the easy chair.  The case?  He reached for the phone but dropped it immediately.  The clock said Williams was long gone.  Was it important?  Locke opened it and found that it was full of the disguise material provided by the Shanghai people.  Apparently it was his back-up case since everything in it was marked “Duplicate”.  Walter had taken his primary equipment with him.

	After seven grim minutes, Walter Locke had made his decision.  It would be tricky and he had just found out how un-tricky he was.  But it was necessary, and Locke had long ago learned about necessities.  Very few people understood that necessary things have to be done — the normal rules become invalid.  He gave his computer new instructions involving Wellton, gathered what he needed for the trip, and left the office.

	As he drove slowly home in the twilight he realized he hadn’t come up with a single idea of how to help his family deal with those passionate images on the networks.  Now he needed their help in a charade that, like the Ramsay affair, he couldn’t explain.  He coasted down the driveway and parked with his headlights off, just sitting outside the silent house, feeling less a part of the Locke family of Forest Glen than ever in this lifetime.

	He pulled himself out of the go-cart and went to the side door whose sensors turned up the soft exterior lighting and opened the sliding screens before him.  As he went down the crossing hall toward the den he heard the sound of television in the projection room.  A quick glance told him that John was watching a flat screen — the projectors were turned off.  Curious, Locke went in and sat next to him.

	“Hi, Dad!  Isn’t that terrific?  It’s a supernova, going on right now — well, I mean, the light’s just getting to us right now.  This is from the moon observatory and it’s really spectacular!”

	“I’ve never seen one before.”

	“You haven’t?  That’s really something, because I know that all the chemicals that make up life on earth were created in great big nuclear explosions just like that one — in novas and supernovas.  And I know that because I was assigned a terrific holographic tutorial this year — made by that master of molecular biology, Walter H. Locke.”

	Locke almost cried out in pleasure and relief.  A half dozen possible things to say rushed through his tormented mind — and any one of them would have produced unanswerable questions.  He managed to utter a temporizing question.  “Has Claudia seen this shot, too?” 

	“Yeah, she just now went up to her room.  Jerry called and she didn’t want me to hear what they’re talking about.  Teenagers!”

	“I haven’t gotten a chance to ask you how things are going at the club, John.”

	“Really fine, Dad.  I’m something of a celebrity these days.   Because of you, I mean.  The guys are impressed — most of the girls, too.  We all know you’re just trying to shield a friend and we respect you for it.  Those damn Lao wanted to make a big issue about an American who had too much to drink — everybody’s always trying to make us out as dope addicts and drunks.  Looks like you and your English buddy outfoxed them this time.”

	Locke felt baffled but grateful tears start in his eyes.  His son turned away from the screen for a second with a concerned look on his face.  “What we don’t get is this dame who’s after you.  Is she just after money?  Is that what she wants?  We can’t figure it any other way.”

	“Yes, probably so.”

	“Do we have enough to cover it?”

	“Yes.  Oh, plenty, yes.”

	“I didn’t know we were rich.  Wait ‘till I tell the guys!  They’ll  love it!”

	“Well, it’s really not us.  I just have insurance against this sort of thing.”
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Chapter Ten







	Not knowing whether he was being watched was a terrific handicap, one that particularly bothered Locke in his present, rather insecure frame of mind.  Williams’ revelation about the Boston entry point had shaken his self-confidence, never very strong while sneaking around the world, and Claudia’s insistence that her boyfriend Jerry be included in the “Wellton Conspiracy” added to his anxiety.  If his home weren’t being watched, there was no need for Jerry’s role.  If it was, could Jerry be relied upon?

	It was time to stop asking questions.  He had used Oliver Williams’ box of tricks to make himself a convincing clone of the highly enthusiastic boyfriend.  After Jerry left the house in the dark and squeezed down on the floor of his little car, Locke, a convincing double, made a highly visible exit with driveway lights blazing and drove away from the Forest Glen house in Jerry’s car — headed for Silver Spring.

	“I guess I better stay down here, Doctor Locke.  Two of me in the front seat would sure attract attention.”

	“We’re almost at the Metro station, Jerry, you’ll be able to stretch all those kinks out pretty soon.”  Locke decided that the judgment of his beloved “Chloe” had to be trusted all the way.  “I want to tell you again how much I appreciate your help and the use of your automobile tonight.  This is indeed beyond the call of duty.”

	“Not when it comes to those guys trying to throw mud at us, Doctor Locke.  I’m glad to get a chance to help.  I hope someday I can tell people that I tricked those Laotians in all this stuff.”

	Again it was the defense of the tribe.  Locke wished it could be different, but he had greater faith in Jerry’s discretion in that mood than in any other. He left well enough alone — as usual.

	“I’m pulling up across the street from the station, Jerry.  After a minute or so you can easily raise up as if you were fixing something on the floor and drive off as if nothing happened.  Again, thanks.”

	Locke took the Metro to Union Station and lost himself in the crowd headed for the tube.  It was almost nine o’clock and the next ram for San Diego left at ten past.  He stepped up the pace and got himself settled into a seat punctually.  He didn’t want to attract attention.

	By the time the shutters closed and the ram moved toward its plunge to the west coast, Locke was deep in thought about Takeo Sato and the energy revolution of the ‘50s.  After he set up his Parkway Biotics food factories on the sunlit slopes of New Mexico in 2043, news of Locke’s photosynthetic production of “manufactured food” was on all the technical networks.  It caught the eye of the people at Oak Ridge in Tennessee who were reminded of a process they had been working on at the close of the twentieth century for generating hydrogen by means of photosynthesis.  Since hydrogen promised to become one of the primary sources of energy for mobile applications by then, they gave the subject a closer look.  They decided it was a good source of fuel and talked some entrepreneurs into building huge flat-panel synthesizers in Arizona.

	The process pleased everybody.   Photosynthesis takes in carbon dioxide while breaking down water into oxygen and hydrogen — and the oxygen went straight into the atmosphere.  The greenhouse gases were reduced and the growing concern about the accelerated loss of natural forests during the past century was quickly put to rest by the huge increase in oxygen released to the atmosphere by the new synthesizers.  In fact the monthly production of atmospheric oxygen during the second year’s operation of the Oak Ridge plants exceeded what would have been produced by three and a half Amazon rain forests.

	Locke was startled by the sudden recollection that he had committed something perilously similar to his present indiscretion a dozen years ago.  How could he possibly forget a thing like that?   He had probably suppressed the memory — until now.  At any rate it was undeniably true that, when his beloved Parkway plant in New Mexico began to have problems in 2072, he couldn’t talk himself out of going out there and fixing it himself.  What made it ridiculously hazardous was the fact that he was Walter H. Locke and he looked exactly like Edward Mott, the creator of Parkway, who “died” back in 2059.  Fortunately, he was also 33 years old and there was no one left alive who had known him back then — when Edward Mott had looked that young.  But someone had the bright idea of erecting a photographic retrospective of the firm in the lobby and there in the middle of it was a foto of Edward Mott in his thirties.  Locke had hurried his visit to escape identification, using the excuse that he was urgently needed to help the energy plant in Arizona.  That’s when he had met Takeo Sato.

	Locke found himself analyzing what Tak had said about the solar flux through his panels.  He wasted half an hour on it before he realized that Tak had only used that discussion as a way to tell Locke something he didn’t want others to understand.  It might have nothing to do with the real problem.  Locke forced himself to sleep, always a difficult task when he traveled by tube.  He must have needed it, because he didn’t wake up until they announced San Diego.

	He picked up his overnight case, his laptop and Oliver Williams’ disguise case at the platform and signed Jerry’s name to a car rental contract at the exit counter.  It was one of the new “road-runner” models with a range of fifteen hundred miles.  It was also an unobtrusive shade of gray that would blend into the roadway quite nicely.  Emerging from the station just west of Collier Park, he deliberately stayed off Highway 125 and wended his way north along residential streets until he got to Route 8.  There were eleven intersections along the way, eleven opportunities to slow down and watch the headlights behind him, eleven answers to the question:  “Am I being followed?”  The answer had always been “No”, but it gave him very little comfort.  He had no idea what to look for.  In what kind of vehicle might there be people interested in the fact that Walter Locke is breaking federal law — drastically — deliberately?  Who was the enemy and what did he look like?

	Locke was grateful for the mechanical requirements of getting out of San Diego’s city traffic and out on his way to Wellton.  It was midnight when he reached Rios Canyon and the number of fellow travelers had thinned out to three or four other cars in sight at any one time.  He reached the Arizona state line just after one o’clock in the morning and picked up a lot more traffic.  People in Yuma seemed to be out on the highway pretty late at night and it made Locke nervous.  Because there were over a dozen cars traveling along with him when he reached Liguita, he responded to his nerves and pulled off onto old Highway 80 that parallels Route 8 all the way to Mohawk, far to the east.

	Now the night closed in and left him entirely alone.  Within minutes he was crossing familiar roads.  When he reached it he found that Avenue 22E had more houses on it than he remembered from twelve years ago;  Hindman Street was positively urban.  He watched for William Street and turned right.  Two blocks later he spied the all-night diner and pulled up farther down across the street 

	Tak was already there, one of three customers in the little hole-on-the-wall at one-thirty in the morning.  The other two were grizzled “desert rats”, as familiar in these parts as pin-striped suits were in Washington, D.C.

	“I’ll have to ask you to buy the grub, Mister.  I don’t have any dough.”

	Sato turned to look at the young man who had seated himself in his booth.  Irritated and jumpy, he was about to order him to move on when he heard Locke’s voice saying  “It’s all right, Tak, it’s me. I just can’t have any record of my transferring funds from out here these days.”

	Sato was unconvinced.  “Who are you?”  he barked.

	“The guy who shared one of the best meals of his life with you about three blocks from here in 2072.  The guy who had just arrived from New Mexico back then, where he had found that the Parkway panels had deteriorated over the years by almost sixty percent.”

	“Deteriorated how?”  Sato demanded, now beginning to believe in the young man’s true identity.

	“Because the polymers had cross-linked and were scattering light in all directions.  By 2072 those panels were only letting forty percent of the sunlight get through to process my food.”

	Sato reached across the table with a big grin and silently shook Locke’s hand.  “How the hell did you make yourself look like that?”  he asked.

	“An old friend left this stuff in my office.   Right now I really need it.  I’m not supposed to be here — the federal courts would have my hide if they knew I was away from home.”

	“Why?”

	“I can see you haven’t been keeping up with the news.”

	Sato looked tormented.  “Walter, I haven’t even slept these past few days.  The newsnets are a distant memory.”

	“Well then I’m sorry I had to set up this meeting in the middle of the night.”  Locke looked around.  “Particularly here.”

	“Yes,” Sato wondered.  “Why didn’t you just take the tube to Phoenix and let me pick you up the way I suggested?”

	“Because I couldn’t be sure that the Takeo Sato coming through my computer was the Takeo Sato I met here twelve years ago.  This could have been a setup to get me far away from the Arlington Courthouse and arrest me at the Phoenix station.”

	“Why would anyone do that?”  Sato asked.

	“Well if you believe my lawyer it has something to do with the Faulkners.”

	“Oh!  Those guys!”  Sato grimaced.

	“You know these people?”

	“Know them?!  They’re big stuff out here, Walter!  They threatened to blow up my plant back in the 60s.”

	“The 60s!?  That’s before I met you.  You didn’t say anything about threats then.”

	“I’m not surprised — I used to block out all memories of that business.  It hit me hard that these were my fellow citizens, that these were some of the people I was working daily to supply with modern stored energy to run their vehicles and their farm equipment.  And they stood in my office time after time and looked at me with pure hatred in their eyes.  Can you believe that?”

	“I didn’t when my lawyer said so.  But you . . . ”

	“I had to put in a whole new security system.  Had to hire several hundred guards.  We still live with it.  This place is like a bomb shelter.  And the signing in, the signing out, every time you turn around there’s somebody checking on you.  I hate it.”

	“Even now?  All these years later?”

	“Oh, don’t kid yourself, Walter.  Don’t kid yourself.  Sure.  The 50s were the worst.  That was when they were demonstrating all over the place.  Blocking access roads.  Holding up fotos of their sick kids for the newsnets to show the rest of the country.  And when Faulk’s bill was repealed in 2059, it really hit the fan.  Even after everything got straightened out, the hostility stayed in the air around here.”

	“How far around here?”

	“Clear across the country, almost.  East of here.  New Mexico.  The Texas/Oklahoma panhandles.  Their headquarters were in Arkansas.  Still are, as far as I know.”

	“And what do they want, exactly?”

	“Exactly?”  Sato’s voice turned harsh.  “These aren’t ‘exact’ people, Walter.  I’m not sure they know what they want — exactly.  But what they don’t want is change.  What they don’t want is a world they don’t understand.”  He pushed back on the bench and peered out to see if he could be overheard by the diner’s other patrons.  “And just between you and me, Walter, they don’t understand anything that’s happened since the Stone Age.”

	Locke shook his head.  “This whole thing has me as baffled as your panels apparently have you at this moment.”

	“Oh, there’s nothing wrong with the panels, Walt.  I said that just as a way of telling you there was real trouble down here.  I wish it were the panels!”

	“So what is it?”

	“I haven’t the faintest idea!  After forty years of perfect operation, the plants are yielding less and less hydrogen every month.”

	“Sabotage?”

	“That’s what I thought, at first.  But this big security system enabled us to determine for sure that it wasn’t any deliberate thing human beings were doing.”

	“So what about contamination?”

	Sato nodded.  “That’s what seemed likely.  So we cleaned up everything we could think of and we ran a long series of checks on our equipment.  The meteorologists assured us that there was just as much sun energy per year falling on our installations as there ever had been.  The chemists gave all our reagents a clean bill of health.  I’ve been able to do that much on the quiet without stirring up the media.  Then, when I started to suspect the biological parts of the cycle, I put in a call for you and the flies started buzzing all over this place.”

	“What do you mean?”

	“Well, for example, I found people who normally concentrate on their work standing around talking to each other in low voices.   I found a page reporter talking to my secretary yesterday afternoon and he was in my office during my entire conversation with you.  Both conversations.  Somebody must have tipped him off about my message to NIH and that somebody must have guessed it was a request for help.  So, help about what?  I think people are sufficiently aware of the falling yields that they’re getting suspicious.  They think of it as a great news story, but they have no idea what a disastrous effect it would have on our economy and on the international financial markets if the media told the story in their usual fashion.  ‘The sky is falling!’   ‘America is finished!’   ‘U.S. transport comes to a screeching halt!’  ‘The ozone layer suspected.’   ‘Greenhouse gases on the rampage.’  It increases their subscriber list, but it destroys whole segments of the world economy in the process.”

	“You don’t have to tell me,” Locke said.  “I’ve been through it.  I was working on a very rare kidney disease for a clearance lab in ‘79 when two or three of the newsnets notified the world that an NIH biologist had found eighty percent of the lab’s infants would die of nephritis before the age of twelve.  The sensation doubled their subscribers.  They flourished.  But that clearance lab was closed down by an Act of Congress within the week.”

	“Exactly.  And this one would be axed by that same Congress which would then close down the American economy for lack of transport power,” Sato murmured.  “Are you finished with that?”

	Locke had eaten the Parkway meal delivered to him through the booth’s chute and wiped his mouth on the napkin provided.  “Yes.  Let’s get moving.”

	When they were out on the street, Sato asked Locke where he had parked his car.  They went down to pick it up.  “I think we should take both cars rather than leave one standing here all day.”

	“Right!  Where are we going?”

	“I’ve been routing all the data down to a field-site computer in the desert,” Sato said.  “Nobody ever goes down there, and you can run through any analyses you want.  There are spigots there straight out of the working plant so you can take any samples you want.  Go ahead of me down Avenue 29 East.  Go slow.  I’ll catch up with you when I’m sure no one has noticed us.”

	Locke drove over the railroad tracks and dawdled south on William Street until it turned into 29 East at Route 8.  He drove through another built-up area below the highway, one that lasted almost to the Mohawk Canal.  A mile south of the canal the hulking shape of the energy plant appeared, stretching all the way across Coyote Wash as far as Avenue 30 East.  He had gone halfway to the Wellton Hills when he saw Sato coming up behind him.  He pulled over and stopped. The car went right on past him.

	It wasn’t Sato!

	Locke wondered whether the two men in the car had gotten a good look at him.  The window post had hidden part of his face, of Jerry’s face.  He got a glimpse of the passenger turning his head to stare back at him, but the driver kept his eyes on the road.  What were they doing out in this barren part of the planet at this empty time of night?

	He sat motionless (as if that would do any good), and waited for Sato.  It was almost half an hour before he came, moving almost as slowly as Locke had.  He pulled up in front of him after checking to see who it was.

	“Do you have any idea who those guys were?”  Sato asked when he came back to Locke’s driver’s window.

	“Not a clue,” Locke responded.

	“I tried to avoid them as well as I could,” Sato said.  “I sure wish I knew who they are.”

	“And what they’re doing out here.”

	“Our problem now is how to get to the field site without showing them where we’re going.  It would be easy to break in there and download any data they want.  The nets would have a carnival with the stuff in that field site.  But I have a workable plan, I think.  Follow me while I drive further south.”

	“Our headlights will stand out for a mile down here,” Locke said.

	“That’s what I’m counting on,” Sato said.  “There’s a closed garage where we’re going and we can get your car out of sight.  What I’d like you to do is drive right behind me with your lights off.  When I turn off the road to the right, drift down to a stop and wait.  I’ll drive out toward Camino del Diablo and stop, leaving the headlights on and the motor running.  When I get back we’ll drive to the site in the dark.  I’m pretty sure I can find it.”

	An hour later, with his rented car in the shed out back and the aluminum shutters tightly closed, Sato and Locke settled down to work, Locke on his laptop and Sato on the site’s computer.  

	Locke sifted carefully through the chemists’ findings, checking to see whether the energy plant’s nutrient solutions were still properly nourishing the vital bacteria that carried out its work.  

	“Where do you get your water, Tak?”

	“The Gulf of California.”

	Locke was startled.  Salt water!  Straight out of the ocean?!  It had been a routine question but the answer triggered a mental alarm.  Then he realized that salt water wasn’t a problem for the energy plants.  His Parkway process had required the very purest fresh water but Tak’s bugs were originally ocean animals.  They’d be perfectly happy with Gulf water.  “Isn’t that pretty far to go?” he asked.

	“No.  It’s just sixty miles south of here.  We pipe it up directly to make sure nothing happens to it on the way.”

	Tak was right.  His water was ideal.  Locke checked it out carefully to see if it had degenerated at all in the pipeline.

	It hadn’t.

	Or whether the reaction chambers exposed to the sun’s rays had deteriorated with age.

	They hadn’t.

	He worked methodically, following patterns that he had developed over the decades for mysteries like this one.  His most powerful tricks failed, one after another, and he was reduced to using traditional biological methods as old as Otto Warburg and Robert Hill.  He found himself musing about those early twentieth century pioneers, how delighted they would have been with all this equipment, the ability to run every known life process of every known creature through whatever stages he wanted to examine and in whatever environment he thought appropriate.  Wow!

	What was he thinking of?!   He would have been bowled over himself in the 1950s!  When he entered Cal Tech in 1956 the basic structure of life had only been known for three years.  The planar-silicon process of making transistors wouldn’t be invented for another three years — and that was the source of all the miracles that followed.

	It was frequently the case that Walter Locke’s mind was split into one part doing the problem before him and another part running off in some other direction.  While he reminisced about the mid-twentieth century he continued to tackle his very real twenty-first century problem — and that’s when the culprit lifted its head.

	Locke pounced on it.  Tak’s bug was a deep-sea bacterium that loved the severe heat surrounding volcanic vents, and it produced an enzyme, hydrogenase, that was vital to the final stage of the photosynthetic production of hydrogen out here in Arizona.  Since it was, after all, a living creature, it was always trying to improve itself.  In its original form, brought up from the ocean floor by remotely-operated submersibles, it produced the key enzyme that released hydrogen from a molecule with the formidable name of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH).  But the bacterium had found that it could reproduce itself at a much greater rate if it made a slightly less energetic form of that crucial enzyme.  Every form of life on the planet wants to produce more offspring.  And every creature wants to earn its living the easiest way it can.  Tak’s bug had found a way to do both — at Tak’s expense.

  	It had mutated into a different creature altogether!  It was now more efficient at producing itself, but it was considerably less efficient at producing hydrogen.  Two of the world’s creatures were in disagreement over their fundamental goals.  Mankind wanted hydrogen.  The deep-sea bacteria wanted more offspring.  Mankind was going to have to go back to the bottom of the sea and recruit some of the original bacteria to come up to Arizona and operate its energy plants.

	Locke wondered if there was any way to talk the replacement bacteria into keeping their cooperative form indefinitely.  Sure, they could be exchanged from time to time, but what if something happened to their undersea ancestors?  What if they, too, mutated into a form that found a lifestyle more suited to their reproductive tastes and less suited to providing human beings with hydrogen?

	He started doodling with a few possibilities.  He needed a biological environment that would inhibit bacterial mutation.  And inhibiting mutation was a direct violation of a fundamental rule of life — everything that had survived as long as bacteria had survived would be very good at . . . .

	Well, what do you know about that!   He couldn’t believe it!  But it was true.  The technique that would render the Wellton bacteria docile and cooperative was in operation in the third-level sub-basement of his own lab at NIH.  It was one of the first stages in the Medford #1 processing center.

	When Erwin Medford had been devising the complicated series of biological events that would reverse the processes of aging, he was well aware that the world’s other life forms would be happy to take advantage of whatever was going on in the human body during that procedure.  Which definitely included the naturally-occurring bacteria that floated around in the blood stream and crowded the intestines of every living mammal.

	So he had invented a method of fooling bacteria into squandering their genetic improvements on a special group of chemicals he kept circulating in the body throughout the Medford Process.  They shared their DNA plasmids with these Judas goats and then watched while those potential enhancements disappeared in Medford’s filters out in the laboratory.  It was a vital solution to the problem of bacterial contamination of the Medford Process and it would provide an elegant solution to the bacterial problem in the Wellton hydrogen plants.  Their bacteria wouldn’t mutate any more.  They could keep the same batch forever — no matter what their ancestors did down at those thermal vents in the sea.

	Locke started putting his findings into a report for Tak when he realized that he would violate Conference rules if he included the bacterial inhibition technique.  The Medford Process, in whole or in part, was a carefully guarded secret of The Conference — for good and proper reasons.  How could he protect the hydrogen plants from mutation without revealing Medford’s “Judas goat” secret?   Locke didn’t have a clue, but it was an important problem and it must be solved..

	But it could wait until he got back to Bethesda.  Right now it was clear that Tak would have to get some fresh bacteria down at those thermal vents in the sea and replace his “advanced” bugs in the plant.  That would get his yields up and put this particular crisis behind them.  Keeping the new batch from evolving into inefficiency in the plant’s benign environment would have to wait for a permanent resolution of the Medford secrecy problem.

	“Unfortunately we’ll have to get back to my car before daylight,” Tak said.

	“That’s okay.  I’m just finishing up here.”

	“Finishing?  You mean you’ve found something?”

	In some respects, Locke had never grown up.  He still relished the excitement of good news being withheld.  He leaned back away from the shallow desk.  “Yep.  It’s all here in the report.”

	Sato jumped up and came over to Locke’s work station.  “The problem?  Have you got an answer to the problem?”

	As Locke went over the solution in detail, Sato sagged into the nearest chair and closed his eyes.  “Thank heavens, Walt.  Thank heavens.  I didn’t dare hope.  Funniest damn thing.  Because it was unimaginably important, I didn’t dare hope.”  He opened his eyes.  “Isn’t that ridiculous?”

	Locke was about to answer when they heard the voice — loud and near.  Its source must be facing the field site, but they couldn’t understand his words.  It was the other one’s voice that came across clearly.   He must be standing right outside the corrugated aluminum wall.

	“Those tire tracks could have been made days ago.  They don’t prove a thing.”

	“Well it’s a cinch there was another car and it’s a cinch it didn’t come past us.  So where is it?”

	“It might have turned out toward Camino del Diablo with the first one, for all we know.  Why do they think it’s Locke, anyway?”

	“All they said was that it was a tip from here.  Let’s try that door over there.”

	Sato and Locke stared at each other, now really alarmed.  The door to the field site was unlocked.  Sato rose silently and moved over to it.  From their footsteps it became clear that the two men outside had gone over to the shed where Locke’s car was hidden.  Sato put his hand on the latch and waited.  One of the men rattled the shed door — Sato sprang the latch.  His timing was perfect.  He saw Locke’s grateful expression just as the other stranger rattled the lock under his hand.  Sato pulled away quickly and stood motionless in the middle of the room.

	“They’re both locked.  That car went with the other one, I tell you.  He’s still in Maryland.  We’ve come on a wild goose chase.”

	“From now on we follow up every lead.  We’ve got to!  Without Locke we don’t have diddily squat.  You heard the chairman.  He’s the only one people know outside the beltway.”

	“Okay.  For now, though, let’s get outa here.  I’m freezin’.”

	When they heard the sound of a car being backed and turned, Sato lifted the shutter a bit on the west side of the station.  They jammed together to look through the crack and saw the car that had passed Locke earlier go out the access road to Avenue 29 East.  With a sigh of relief they saw it turn right and go up toward the canal.

  	They wasted no time picking up everything they needed inside the field station and taking it out to Locke’s car.  Without a word they drove back to 29 East and turned left down toward the road to Camino del Diablo.  There they found Sato’s car, still quietly running, its lights on, its heater keeping the cab quite comfortable.

	As he opened the door to go over to his car, Sato turned to Locke.  “Whatever this stuff is all about, Walt, I don’t think you should leave town so soon after those guys.  They think you’re in Maryland — so be it.  Come home with me now and tomorrow night you can drive to El Paso when it gets dark again.  Your disguise stuff is so convincing I wouldn’t know you myself.”

	“Sounds good, Tak.  I’ll take you up on it.  We both could use some sleep right now.”

	Sato gave directions to his home up on Antelope Hill and left well in advance of Locke’s rented car.  By the time Locke arrived, Sato had called up the hydrogen plant’s main computer and given it full instructions for the acquisition of a fresh batch of bacteria and for its replacement in the reaction cells.  His wife Miyamoto had set up breakfast for both of them.  They had hardly touched their food when their heads slumped down on the table in deep sleep.

	Shortly after noon, they were both awake again.  Sato drove Locke out to the storage plant and showed him how they saturated the blocks of porous carbon with hydrogen to produce the energy cells that powered almost everything that moved in the modern world.  They went up to the top of Radar Hill 443 and saw the vast arms of the energy plant stretching south to the Mexican border and north almost as far as Route 10, out beyond the horizon.  The sight refreshed them both.  Worn-out by the excessive stress of recent days, they welcomed something this big that was making their world function the way it should.  They were both responsible for keeping some part of the world functioning properly.  They usually enjoyed the endeavor.

	That evening, after an early dinner at Antelope Hill,  Locke drove to El Paso and took the tube to Union Station.  He took the Metro up to the Forest Glen station and walked home — a late visit from Claudia’s boyfriend Jerry.   The stickers on all his luggage proclaimed them the property of Jerry’s club in Silver Spring.�















Chapter Eleven



	His face washed and his identity restored, Walter Locke returned to his office bright and early the next morning to tie up some loose ends.  He finished the final report to Phil Werner on the resisting babies and began a request form to The Conference to consider his predicament with Takeo Sato’s bacteria and to make recommendations on using the “Judas Goat” technique without revealing its underlying technology.  He reflected on how fortunate it was that Erwin Medford was due to visit him at any moment.

	Locke was caught up in those thoughts when a knock came at his office door.  “Come on in, Mark,” he said, without thinking.

	Oliver Williams opened the door and walked tentatively into the room.  “You keep saying that.  Is it some kind of a code?”

	Locke turned and smiled.  “No.  No, not really.  I seem to do it to everyone these days.”

	Locke left the console and joined Williams over at the window.  “You’ve come at a good time, Ollie.  I’ve just finished a complicated jigsaw puzzle and I need a break.  Could I interest you in a Toledo Fizz?  I don’t think you have them in England.”

	“I never heard of it, but it’s exactly what I need at this particular moment.”

	Locke chose two glasses of his favorite carbonated drink from the menu screen and they soon poured out of his new multiple-spout machine.  “Having a bad day?”

	“No more than could be expected, I suppose.  Everyone has a different reaction to this problem and I don’t even know what my own reaction is any more.”  Williams took the cool glass from Locke and settled back into his recliner.  “Incidentally, when you said ‘Come in’ just now, did you mean Mark Enders? — who used to be Erwin Medford?”

	“Yes.  Mark Enders drops in frequently to chat.”

	“Oh, Walter, I envy you that!  How I envy you that.”

	“He is a very charming young man.”

	“Young?”

	“Mark Enders is twenty-two years old.  And engaged to a delightful girl who lives just across the street from here.”

	Oliver Williams sat chuckling and shaking his head in wonderment.  “This Conference business is going to put me in the loony bin for sure.”

	“The loony bin!  My God, Ollie, the loony bin.  When did you pick that up?”

	“Well that’s what we called it back in the forties — — that is, the nineteen forties.”

	They both needed a good laugh and they worked it for all it was worth.  But, like all good things, it had to end.

	“So what’s all this mystery about, Ollie?”

	“Yes, right.  Down to business.”  He took another sip.  “This Toledo thing is great, Walt.”  He put the glass in its holder and pushed back until he was almost prone.  “Walter, the Shanghai people have had a troubling visit from Fred Benson.”

	“Fred Benson?  Do I know him?”

 	“Yes, as Barney Shaw?!”

	“Barney?  What’s he doing in China?”

	“A lot of things we’ve never heard about, I guess.  Including, in this case, trying to talk the Shanghai Center into going public”

	 “What do you mean by ‘going public’”?

	“Just that.  It turns out Fred Benson is determined to bring The Conference into the open, to give the process to the world, to set up centers on every street corner, to help every country set up its own processing network, to immortalize everyone on earth.”

	 “Oh, they must have misunderstood, Ollie.  That doesn’t sound like Barney.”

	“No it doesn’t — although I don’t know him half as well as you do — but it certainly doesn’t sound like anyone who has performed all the amazing biological miracles Barney Shaw has.”

	“We’d better stick to ‘Fred Benson’ or we might make a mistake in public.”

	“Yes, you’re right — the usual discretion.”

	“I really can’t believe all this.  Could there have been a communication problem?”

	“No, unfortunately.  My friends from Shanghai speak perfect English and they used basic Conference code.   Barney . . . Fred didn’t mince words with them.  He said that The Conference had until July to make up its mind and then he would publicize the entire business, including the precise location of all of the centers he knows about — and apparently he knows about a lot of them.”

	“Yes, I’m sure he does.  But this is very serious, Ollie.  Why haven’t they put all this on the net?”

	“Because he’s Conference.  He reads network advisories.  Anything distributed through normal channels would be in his hands at once.  It would only aggravate him if we filled the air with alarms over the insanity of Fred Benson.”  Williams held up his empty glass and Locke took it, along with his, over to the new dispenser.  He was back at the window, handing Williams his glass when there was a knock on the door.  They both broke out in laughter.

	“Okay, Walt.  What are you going to say?”

	“I am a creature of habit, Oliver Williams.  I will say,”  he raised his voice, “Come on in, Mark.”

	A cheerful looking young man with tousled brown hair stuck his head in the door looking very puzzled.  “The last thing I expected to hear in this office was laughter.  And it sounds genuine.”  Enders closed the door after himself and came toward the window area.  “That’s sensational, Walt!  I call that resilience of the highest order!”  He finally saw Williams deeply lodged in his recliner.  “Do you get the credit for this?”

	“Not really.  In fact . . .”  Williams started laughing again.  “In fact, you do.”

	Now Locke joined in — and the relief they had both been striving for came in great gasping shouts of hilarity, complete with streams of tears.

	“I don’t know what was in those glasses, but I sure could use some myself.”

	Locke chortled all the way to the machine and back again — until he put the glass into its socket in Enders’ arm rest.  Somehow, with that commonplace act, it all stopped.  Williams stopped too.  Their faces immediately took on the look Mark Enders was expecting when he walked in.

	“I sincerely hope that was as restorative as it sounded.  Walt really needs as much of that as he can beg, borrow or steal.  Hi,” he waved at Williams, “I’m Mark Enders.”

	Williams waved back.  “Hello, Mark.  I’m Oliver Williams, a friend of Walt’s from across the ocean.”

	“Oh, yes.  You’re the other one — the one who helped Walt clear up the Ramsay thing.  In fact, you actually did it, isn’t that right?  You went to Laos.” 

	“I plead guilty,” Williams said.

	“Well, we’re all in your debt, Oliver, and I’m delighted to see you, but aren’t you running an enormous risk entering the US with everybody on the lookout for you?

	Locke and Williams almost burst out again, but this time they controlled themselves long enough to explain to the founding father of The Conference that a member of his clan was in control of immigration in Boston.

	“I will never get over the way this thing has spread around the world!  Beyond my fondest dreams.  They find out they’ve been selected.  They come to a center.  They are processed.  They join The Conference.  They participate.  They learn about the purposes of immortality from the standard documents that they download off the Conference net.  They contribute to Conference studies and work projects.  They are just the intellectual beings I wanted to create in the first place . . . and with the exact capabilities . . . and they don’t need a single word from me.  They don’t need anything from me.  They understand.  They understand what they’re supposed to do and why and how.”  He squirmed around in his chair to face them and shook his finger.  “If you ever needed proof that the human species is a single entity with a shared purpose, this whole business of The Conference is it.  I didn’t even know about the Boston lady.”

	“Neither did we,” Locke said.  “We had to find out from some Conference members from Shanghai.”

	Enders shook his head.  “For one thing that’s a problem — we don’t have the day-to-day information we need.  But for another, it puts a limit on our capability, on the capability of The Conference.  We improve our judgment over time, and we add to our experience, but neither judgment nor experience is worth much if we don’t know the facts.”

	“There’s a project in England that’s trying to work out the bugs with occipital plates,” Williams said.

	“Yes.  They’re called “gyro plates,” added Enders.

	“Do you mean the occipital plates we use here during processing?”  Locke asked.

	“No,” said Enders.  “The occipital plates we use during age reversal are on the outside.  These ‘gyro plates’ are mounted on the inside of the skull.  They have to establish a close spatial correspondence between specific neuronal areas of the brain and the patterns on some microchips mounted on a plate that’s shaped to fit the contours of the brain.”

	Locke was skeptical. “How can you connect up to them if they’re on the inside?”

	“By radio,” Williams said.  “The plan is to connect the plate up to a tiny two-way radio set inside the skull and then run a short flexible antenna down under the skin at the back of the neck.  The microchips will read the brain patterns and transmit them out via the radio.   When they want to send signals to the brain they transmit those signals to the same antenna and the radio will amplify them and put them on the microchip array.”  Williams sighed.  “All these things can be done if they can ever get the gyro gizmo itself to work properly.”

	“It’s a tough job,” Enders sighed, “but it sure would be great if they can get it going.”

	“Telemetry to where?”  It was all too new to Locke for him to see the whole picture. 

	“Directly to a computer that can transmit back to the plate,” Williams answered, “back to that same antenna.  That way you can search a data bank, calculate the answer to some problem, or print out whatever you’re thinking about at the time.”

	“Direct mental connection to a computer.”  Locke was fascinated.

	“Or whatever,” Enders said.

	“Whatever?”

	“Yes.  They’re also considering command and control of machinery, of vehicles, of communications equipment — for example a dozen people from various countries could communicate with each other through automatic translators.   And they’re also thinking of connecting the plate to our lapel phones.  People wouldn’t be walking down the street talking on the phone all the time.  Have you ever been on Connecticut Avenue during the business day?  There are a hundred phone conversations going on at the same time — and it’s bedlam.  But with these occipital plates you’d be connected directly to your phone and you wouldn’t have to talk.  It would restore peace and quiet to our busy city streets.”

	“Yes,” said Locke.  “I think New York is about the worst.  Ever since they built the weather roofs over the streets you find yourself walking through a tunnel with hundreds of people chattering away on their phones.”

	“Same thing in Frankfort,” said Williams.   “And Tokyo.”

	“Well, there are lots of problems, of course,”  Enders said.  “The brain swells and changes shape when we sit down or stand up — in fact with each breath we take.  You couldn’t use an external plate with an active person.  We get away with it during processing because we servo our external plate to a person who’s hardly moving for the whole 800 hours.  But to help an active person’s memory and connect him directly to really huge sources of information, we’d need an internal plate that compensates for all that shifting around.”

	 “And I gather the English project is trying to keep the plate’s geometrical registration to the brain steady by constantly changing which electrode corresponds to which neuron — is that it.”

	“Yes, Walt, that’s my understanding.  Do you know how they’re coming, Ollie?”

	“They told me they were on the verge of success.  But you’ve got to remember that I am handling a large part of the financing.  Technical people always lie to bankers.”  

	Now Enders got a chance to loosen up with a laugh.  “No truer words were ever spoken, I’ve done a lot of that myself.  And it will cost a lot of money if they are successful — and if the Conference decides to fit all of its members with those plates.”

	Williams cleared his throat and turned to the distasteful development that brought him to America.  “Mark, it’s really a good thing you’re here right now, because I was asked to come to the US to notify people that Fred Benson has threatened to give the Medford Process to the general public.”

	 Enders was startled, then shook his head.  “Again and again and again,” he moaned.

	“This has happened before?”  Locke asked.

	“Less often than we should have expected,” Enders replied.

	“I never heard about a case like this,” Williams said.

	“Oh it’s usually hushed up and dealt with off the network.”  Enders’ sigh was a rather painful one.  “And it almost invariably ends up with someone being born again and I ask myself once more if we are a real solution for the world or have we become just one more problem.”

	“Well let me assure you that opening the Medford Process to the world isn’t the solution to any problem.  You technical types sometimes lose sight of the nature of your own species.  Just go into public life for a couple years — and banking is public life — and you’d realize that if  the Medford Project ever became known, every fat-assed bureaucrat, politician and tinhorn Napoleon would storm the laboratories with his private goon squad or public army and seize whatever he thought would make him immortal, including the last of Walt’s delicious Toledo Fizzes — and I find these absolutely delicious.  Am I good for another?”

	Locke ordered three more of his special sodas and distributed them among his now silent and thoughtful visitors.   His first sip was enough to revive both Williams’ spirit and his voice.  “What we’re discussing here is the most powerful drive in nature — not just human nature, the nature of every creature alive.  This is fundamentally what all life on earth is about.  You take this outside that door and the world explodes into a frenzied mob whose thoughts have nothing to do with the future of mankind or the ‘goals and purposes’ of the human race or any other damn thing.  They are consumed with their personal thoughts about the inevitability of death and they act with the desperate panic of someone who sees a way to avoid it.  There is no science, no philosophy about extending life indefinitely.  It is the domain of emotions, the realm of the survival instinct.  And there’s nothing more important than the survival instinct.  If nature doesn’t manage to install a more powerful drive to survive in your species than it does in some competing species, your species goes extinct.  Darwin doesn’t care if you can count backwards ten times faster than anybody else and if you can add and subtract with the speed of light, you’ll only be a memory unless you can scramble more frantically for a handhold on life than the other creatures who want it as much as you do.  That’s what The Conference represents to those teeming billions of people on the other side of that door.  Nothing more.”

	The room fell silent.  The end of Williams’ statement found each of them looking in a different direction and they held their gaze as they prolonged the thoughts they hoped would bring some part of the answer.  The three of them together added up to four hundred and twelve years of magnificent progress.  Their lives had been fulfilled many times, over many decades.  And now the circumstances of the moment demanded that they render an accounting of those long lives and the unprecedented privilege that made them possible.

	They were groping.

	“I thought at first that Czarnecki had the answer.”  Enders said.  He sat up in his chair.  “And I still do.  At least it is a major reason for The Conference.”

	“The Imbalance of Learning,” Locke murmured.

	“Oh, yes.  Even I remember that,” added Williams.  “What was she saying in that paper?”

	“That learning about ourselves was reasonably efficient, but learning about the rest of the world took too long.”

	“She did some experiments with small children, didn’t she?”

	“Yes, even babies.  That’s where she got her early data.  She measured the number of times they tried to grasp objects in their cribs and found that they repeated the exercise about two hundred and fifty times a day.”

	“And sitting up.  That was almost a hundred times a day.”

	“Trying to walk, I remember, was about ten minutes between falls.”

	“Lots of practice, lots of learning,” Locke said.  “The shorter the time a lesson takes, the faster you master the subject.”

	“Yep.  Until you go to school.  Then you start dealing with other human beings, at a slower pace.”

	“Getting into fights in the school yard,” Enders said.  “They only went through that a couple times a month.  Some of them never did.”

	“Long time between lessons.”

	“And a long time before they learned how to deal with aggressive kids, with self-defense, with other people’s anger.  They knew real well how to walk and talk, but they didn’t know how to live with other human beings.”

	“The more ‘external’ the subject, the longer the time between lessons,” Williams said.  “Things like falling in love.  You don’t do that a couple times a month.”

	“Nor things like watching nations go to war,”  Locke added.  “Something like twenty years between lessons.”

	“She estimated that it would take more than forty years for you to live through a complete cycle of national mood, of any kind,” Enders said, “of becoming warlike, of attacking producers, of attacking consumers, of seeing religion as the answer, of seeing religion as the problem.  She found that the fashionable beliefs of large countries had been swinging like a pendulum from generation to generation for centuries.  She pointed out that the proper technique for walking upright or grasping objects never changed, but the most popular fashion of how to live in peace with each other or with the country next door — that changed with each generation.  They had only ‘attended school’ on subjects like that once or twice in their lifetimes.  Nobody was sure what worked and what didn’t.  Those issues were decided by ‘conventional wisdom’, by what ‘everybody was saying’.  And so we just kept swinging back and forth from one extreme belief to the opposite belief.”

	“What impressed me most in that paper was the section on child raising,” Williams said.  “and how long it takes to discover how your child-raising techniques work out.  At least thirty years, maybe more.  By which time you are finished raising children.  Not the best way to run a school.”

	“Leading her to the conclusion,” Enders said, “that we will never be able to know and understand the most important things in life well enough because their lessons are too infrequent.  There is too long a time between experiences.  We can’t reinforce them the way we do the more common things.   Which is the rationale for The Conference.”

	Locke glanced over at Enders.  “When did you come across that paper?”

	“It was in 2004.  I was working on ways to reverse the biological effects of aging and I sat in the lab in the middle of the night and asked myself why I was doing it.  Well, off course Ollie’s reasons came to mind first — I just wanted to stay alive, it was the survival instinct, the Darwinian mechanism.   And I thought how unfair it would be if I succeeded and only used the knowledge to grant myself immortality.  What about the rest of the human race?  They wanted endless life just as much as I did.”

	Enders pushed his reclining chair back almost to horizontal and retrieved the memories of eighty years ago.  “But then I remembered Jasny Czarnecki’s paper in the East European Review and the possible benefits of this whole scheme started taking shape.  If we could give a group of people almost as much experience in the turmoil of human behavior as they would normally get in walking and talking, they might become a source of ideas and wisdom that the human race could tap for its most important needs.”  He sat up and faced them both.  His voice took on a note of entreaty.  “It really works extraordinarily well in a lot of cases.  You’d be amazed at the things we’ve been consulted on over the years.  Every nation in the world uses us, even if they deny it in public.”

	True as that claim was, Enders was depressed by the thought that yet another crisis of exposure had come to The Conference and that it would probably compel them to make use of the same distasteful solution as all the others.  He took another plunge in the hope that this one, an admired friend, was different.  “Fred just doesn’t seem like the type to go off his rocker on a thing like this.”

	“He certainly doesn’t,” added Locke.

	 “What possible motive could he have?” Enders asked.

	Williams sighed and looked out the window.  “Oh, he explained that very clearly to my Chinese friends.”

	“So what was it?” Enders demanded.

	Williams turned from the window and faced his companions.  “To end the intolerable reality of death on our planet.”
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Chapter Twelve



	Enders and Locke stared at Williams incredulously.  He might as well have announced that Benson had just taken a flying saucer to a different universe.  It was Enders who finally put aside his subjective feelings for Fred Benson and addressed the practical issues.  “How deeply is Barney . . . I mean Fred involved in the day-to-day operations of Shaw-Hayden?”

	“Very deeply I’m afraid, Mark.”  Locke’s gaze was still on Williams, as though waiting for him to tell them both it was all a joke in poor taste.  “The staff is full of competent biologists, but someone has to reject dumb suggestions and lay out future areas of investigation.  That’s Fred.”

	“How does he deal with them?”

	“Over the net — exclusively.  We always felt someone would recognize him if he showed up in person.”

	“So they haven’t seen him,” Enders remarked.  “That could be very helpful,”.

	“Why is that important?”  Williams broke in.  “There are plenty of   ‘perfect baby factories’  in the world.”

	“Not as competent as Shaw-Hayden,” Locke said.  “And the others depend on Shaw-Hayden for advice in complicated cases.  We want that advice to be top notch.  When a ‘descendent modification laboratory’ is incompetent, it causes a lot of grief — both for the parents involved and for the rest of us, actually.”

	“Yes it does,” Enders added.  “The info nets are full of reports of failed ‘modification’ experiments.  One of these labs recently made an attempt to mature a kid in six years — and what they got was a cretin.  And another one tried to accelerate the development of the brain — and caused an endless series of tumors, few of which could be destroyed by modern recombinant DNA techniques.  And just now  I see that the attempt to modify hemoglobin to permit people to live at high altitudes has resulted in every one of them dying from acidosis.”  He clasped his hands together in mute powerlessness.  “Those things cost us, Oliver.  They cost our civilization.  More and more people are saying ‘Enough is enough!  Do away with the descendent modification laboratories altogether!’  Pretty soon the politicians will start to listen.”

	“And that’s just what gripes me the most,”  Williams roared.  “The arrogant nerve of some people!  Just who the hell do they think they are?”  Seeing the startled expressions on his colleagues faces, he quickly set out to explain himself.  “What I mean is . . . well, look at it this way:   There are these two parents.  They live someplace . . . in a city . . . thousands of kilometers away.  And out there near where they live are some biologists who’ve spent their entire lives learning about the molecules we’re made out of.  So these two parents — who aren’t related to us and who’ve never heard of us — they go to that descendent lab and give them an ovum and some sperm.  They tell the scientists what they desire.  The scientists fix things up and do their best to give the parents what they want.”  His voice got at least ten decibels louder.  “Now this is a matter involving just those people in that single room at a descendent lab.  We out here haven’t spent a single minute worrying about their problems or learning how to give them the child of their dreams.  We aren’t going to spend a single minute helping them raise that kid and we aren’t going to spend a single dollar if anything goes wrong.  They sign insurance waivers —  every one of them.  Did you know that?”

	“Yes, I did,” said Locke, now aware of the source of Williams’ distress.

	“And yet we are members of an insolent species of animal that says to the world:  ‘Since I was born within the same borders as these people, I am in control of their descendants.  I, some palooka from Poughkeepsie, am in control of their babies.  I can get laws passed that say they cannot do this or that.  I can sick the cops on them if they want to do things differently than I would have done if I were in their place.  If a brief thought flutters through my otherwise unoccupied mind that this is not what I would have chosen to do, it is unethical and immoral and illegal for them to do it.  Permission denied.’  I cannot imagine another species of life on this planet that would put some airhead in Poughkeepsie in charge of the lives of an entire hereditary succession in Denver.”

	“The modern countries agreed with you in the 40s, Ollie.  From about 2042 to 2050  they all passed legislation that kept meddlers out of other people’s business.  They realized that voters who find themselves in the majority want to expand their authority to get control of every detail of everyone else’s life. The fight against ‘totalitarian democracy’, they called it.  Remember?   But we have a new generation now, and each generation wants to believe the opposite of the one before.  We’re facing a set of people in need of a pretext to get back the old power over other people’s lives.  We certainly don’t want to provide them with it.”

	“Walt’s right,” Mark chimed in.  “If we are going to save ourselves from ‘totalitarian democracy’, we’d better avoid any ‘super baby’ sensations on the nets after Fred is born again.  We need to provide an adequate replacement for his competence somehow.” 

	“Why do we have to replace him,” Williams asked.  “He’ll be Barney Shaw again.  He’ll remember all his biological tricks.  He can just pick up where he left off.  Take over as head . . . whoops.  Problems.”

	“Yes, lots of problems,”  Locke said.  “He’s 39 years old.   He is Barney Shaw — every DNA test in the universe would prove that he is the Barney Shaw who died at the age of 70 nineteen years ago.  He would also sound like a raving lunatic since he would have no memory of the world since 2065.  Whatever media sensations on the newsnets Mark is worried about would be chicken-feed compared to Barney’s re-emergence in 2084.  That’s just the sort of thing you and I were faced with when poor old Peter Ramsay was killed.  Only worse.”

	“Well it’s a cinch we can’t discuss this problem on the usual Conference net,” Enders said.  “It’s going to be impossible to arrange dialogues with Fred listening in.”

	“Fortunately not,” Williams said.  “Our Shanghai friends anticipated that problem.  They worked up a separate code that I’ve been handing out to the people they asked me to contact.  It’s high time I downloaded that into your computer, Walt.  You’re supposed to distribute it to the people listed at the beginning of the file.”  He walked over to Locke’s console.  “How do you read micro-opticals into this thing?”

	•  •  •

	 Since there were other people walking by, Marsden and Weintraub continued to the end of the hallway in silence. “You’ll probably never have to get to the Center on your own,” Weintraub was saying, “but you might as well know how, just in case.”  He waited for her to catch up and then pushed the button to summon the only elevator on that side of the building.  When it arrived, they went in, turned around, and stood watching the corridor.  “When you’re satisfied no one is coming, push the ‘close door’ button and hold it in,” he said.  “With your other hand push the buttons for floors 3 and 7 at the same time and hold them in.  The door is now locked shut and the authorization sequence has started.  Keep holding those three buttons for twenty seconds.”  He turned and grinned.  “It sometimes seems like an hour.”  There was a soft buzz from behind the panel.  “Now let go of all three of them — you have five seconds to do that — and then press 2 and 6 for another twenty seconds.”  Since he was practicing what he preached, there was another buzz and the elevator started to descend.  The floor indicator reached ‘Basement” and stopped, but the elevator kept moving.  They went down a further two floors and the door quietly opened to reveal a corridor almost exactly like the one they had just left.

	“Back where we started?” Marsden teased.

	“Well in one sense, yes.  This is where Conference members are returned to their ‘starting points’, if you want to consider the end of childhood a starting point.”

	Marsden was too tense to make a wisecrack.  She was scheduled for the day after tomorrow and the whirlwind pace of immortality’s approach was a lot more momentous than anything her previous life had prepared her for.  She felt the way she had the day she entered college, back in the old days when adolescent hordes descended on a group of buildings to learn what humanity had learned over the past three millennia.  She had been scared then, but nothing to compare with this.  How could she have been so unnerved by the importance of what was going to take place amid Northwestern’s imposing stone buildings?   That was child’s play compared to this.

	Weintraub sent the elevator back up to its normal floors and followed Marsden down the hall.  “It’s the next door on your left,” he said.

	Marsden threw open the door and walked in.  She was soon backing out again.

	“What’s the matter,” Weintraub said, concerned.

	“He’s naked!” she replied.

	“Oh, yes.  Quite necessary, you know.”  Weintraub took her elbow and gently ushered her into the small amphitheater overlooking the processing floor.  He sat down next to her and leaned forward against the glass partition.  “There are millions of chemical reactions going on in his body — actually, not so many right now because he’s within a few hours of finishing up.  But for most of the 800 hours of processing, there are enormous numbers of reactions taking place, some of them taking energy from the body and some of them supplying  energy to the body.   He would never be able to keep his temperature constant by natural means, so we handle that with those infra-red lamps you see around the walls and ceiling.  His temperature is being measured by his body’s radiation of heat — and we’re supplying his thermal needs with those lamps.”

	“Will I need all those tubes . . . running in and out?”

	“Oh yes indeed — and another one.  When you’ve gone back about twenty years, you’ll start menstruating.  We not only have to keep you flushed out, but we get several valuable measurements from menstrual fluid that we don’t get from men.  You’re a privileged sex,” Weintraub smiled.

	“That’s nice to know,” Marsden replied.  “And yet I can’t get pregnant in the usual way.”

	“I see you’ve been reading your briefing file — good for you.   Some people go through their complete processing before reading a line — their whole lives are a surprise to them afterwards.  Yes, the problem with ova hasn’t been solved yet.  I wonder whether we ever will solve it.  We restore your ovaries in fine shape as hormonal entities, but we don’t know how to restore your original ova.  They are, after all, very complicated pieces of stuff.  But we can sequence a perfect new ovum for you out of your basic DNA — with any modifications you want the child to have.  And we can arrange a ‘normal’ pregnancy, if you don’t want to go to a fertility clinic.  The whole thing amounts to ‘the usual way’ — if you want it.”

	“Do you do many of those?”

	“Indeed we do!  In fact, since ‘53, when we really got these techniques perfected, the number of ova sequenced here at Medford #1 has climbed to . . . well, to give you an idea, the sequencers down here on this floor now spend almost half the time generating new ova for Conference members — that is, half the time they aren’t engaged in processing.”

	“How does a birth from a tailored ovum work out with quotas?”

	“National quotas?  It counts as one ‘natural’ child, unless you specify something weird.”

	“Weird?”

	“Well, we’ve never had a birth-control inspector question any of our tailored kids, no matter how smart they were or how perfect physically.  They’ve always figured that a healthy set of parents could have had such a kid by normal means.  But if you ask us for a child that will grow to a height of eight feet by the age of ten, you’re going to have a tough time convincing an inspector that you didn’t go to a ‘modification’ clinic.  The birth-control laws limit you to one genetically-engineered “super baby” in your lifetime, but you can have two normal babies before you reach your quota.”

	“You can process the normal ones through a clearance lab, can’t you?”

  	“Oh, yes indeed!,” Weintraub answered quickly.  “Good health is a national goal.  It is overpopulation the inspectorate is trying to avoid.  It’s a voluntary system, but they’re really tough.  Although a Conference baby with unusual characteristics looks like any ordinary infant at birth, its extraordinary attributes are going to show up at some age or other and you’ll have to convince a federal inspector that your child was the natural result of your DNA mix with your husband.   But if they determine you’ve had an engineered baby, that’s your quota, your family is complete.  Now, if you have also had a normal one, they will issue a declaration that you have exceeded the quota and you’ll get a one-way ticket into the Third World.  I must say, though, that although Conference members invariably specify hot-shot kids at the upper limits of human potential, we’ve never had one charged with being engineered — yet. ”

	 “Well that’s reassuring.  What about the rest of those tubes down there?”

	“Well, the alimentary canal must be constantly flushed — and measured,” Weintraub continued.  “That’s crucial.”  Then he motioned to the smaller transparent tubes going back and forth between the subject’s body and the machinery that crowded the room.  “Those others are blood and urine — blood going both ways, of course.”

	“I guess I was embarrassed because he’s so young,” Marsden said.

	“You should have seen Hugh when he came in for processing.  You can’t imagine the difference.”

	Marsden looked at the liver spots on her wrinkled hands and wrists.  “Oh, I can imagine, all right,” she said, unconsciously pulling her arms further up the sleeves of her uniform.

	“Hugh was supposed to be finished this morning and you were scheduled in tomorrow, but we found an RNA that didn’t belong to him and we had to get rid of that — quickly.  As soon as the computer pronounces him safe and sound we’ll bring him out and set things up for you.”

	Marsden found that the more they talked about it, in Weintraub’s matter-of-fact way, the less overwhelmed she felt.  She was beginning to feel a part of everything, as though she belonged in this fantastic world and it belonged to her.  She clung tightly to that impression for the rest of the day.

•  •  •

	“We’ve gotten two hundred fifty-one responses through the Shanghai code,” Enders said, “and so far no one knows where Fred Benson is.”

	“If he goes to ground and stays there, we have a terrible problem.”

	“We have another problem,” Locke said.   “A critical one.  And this too is one of those ghosts that keep coming back to haunt us.”

	“What’s that?” Mark asked.

	“The Oak Ridge Hydrogen Plant in Arizona has been losing its conversion efficiency.  I went down there and found a mutated bacterium.  It’s a little creature that is supposed to produce hydrogenase, but it got to be more interested in producing itself.  That was the source of their falling production.”

	“Do you think the Sahara plants will develop that problem?”  Williams asked.

	“Yes, I do.  I’ll notify them over the public net so all interested parties know that the solution is to get fresh bacteria from the original sea-floor habitat and replace the mutated strain.  That will get the Arizona plant up to speed again, but they could be back in trouble as soon as those bugs mutate again.”  

	Locke came back to his seat and leaned toward Enders.  “Which brings me to a nasty moral problem for The Conference.  You see, I’ve found a long-term solution to the hydrogen-producers’ problem and they might need it.  We all might need it.  If those bacteria down by the ocean-floor vents start mutating, the hydrogen plants won’t have any replacement bugs to fix their process.  We’ll start running low on hydrogen.   Production plants based on old-fashioned technology will have to be built.   And they’ll be a lot more expensive.”

	“So publish it, Walt.  What’s holding you back?”

	“It’s part of the Medford Process.”

	“Oh, God!  Not again!”

	“What are you guys talking about?” Williams asked.

	“Walt can’t reveal the solution without giving the scientific community a valuable clue to our methods of age reversal.”

	“And that’s happened before?”

	“Yes.  It was about 2060 or 61, I think.”   Locke sighed.  “We didn’t come up with any bright ideas back then and I don’t know whether we will this time.  And this time it’s even worse.  It’s the third-stage environmental stabilization in Mark’s technique.  It is vital to the whole process and its publication would catapult a dozen quacks closer to the whole system.”

	“Not to mention the fact that people would wonder how Walter Locke could possibly know that it works without a very long series of experiments — none of which he has previously reported.”

	“And its disclosure is explicitly forbidden by Conference rules —  I could be expelled for publishing it.”

	“Come on now, guys,”  Williams complained.  “Can’t we keep the problems down to one a day?”

	“This one has nasty moral implications too, Ollie,” Locke said.  “When we know something as valuable as Mark’s ‘Judas goats technique’ for stabilizing a colony of bacteria, our failure to publish it deprives other scientists from using a very clever biological method to make their medical therapies safer or more successful.  That bothered us a lot in ‘61, but this particular procedure could make a lot of medical and surgical techniques completely safe.  It is a devil of a problem.”

	Mark Enders stopped pacing and made a decision.  “Let’s see if The Conference can solve one of its own problems, Walt.   Write it up in the new code and distribute it.  Ask people to figure out a way to get this information into the right hands without leading the generals and the politicians too close to my technique.  I don’t have a clue how to do that, but maybe somebody can come up with something.  That’s what The Conference is for, after all.”

	“We won’t have anything to protect if Fred finds a hole in the ground and carries out his threat the first of July.”

	“I agree.  That’s the first priority right now,” Locke said.

	“I’d like to suggest an expanded version of this meeting,” Mark said.  “Paul Eichelroth is due in Washington next month and so is Edna Parsons.”

	“Isn’t Parsons always in Washington?” Williams asked.

	“You’d be surprised how seldom she is,” Enders replied.  “Now with Paul and Edna, together with the knowledgeable people we have right here at NIH and other labs in the area, we could put together a pretty high-powered group to attack the Benson problem.  We could combine Parsons’ sources with Paul’s business knowledge and Ollie, your banking connections, to find out where Fred is and then figure out how to proceed from there.”

	“Good luck to all us virtuous children!”  Williams said.  “I think I’d better leave first.  I have less excuse than either of you for being here.”  He went to the door.  “Oh, Walt.  I’ve been meaning to thank you.”

	“For what?”

	“For having me Shanghaied in Singapore.  If it hadn’t been for  that, I’m afraid my life would be extremely uncomfortable right now.  You saved my bacon, good friend.  I have a long memory for such things.”  With that he patted his make-up into place and swung out through the door.
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Chapter Thirteen



	Despite the Benson emergency, which could destroy The Conference altogether, its members spent the next four weeks arguing in the new Shanghai code about:

1.	the location of new processing centers

2.	the setting of a new Conference quota

3.	the election of Helmut Graf.

	 Locke was getting frantic about this preoccupation with things he considered secondary while the entire endeavor to apply human intellect to human problems was in imminent danger of destruction.  Another thing that was in increasing danger of destruction was Walter Locke.  The Lao had failed to get the question of his extradition taken up by the UN, but the State Department was pushing the matter in federal court with all of the facilities of the government behind it.  No one seemed to care what happened to Locke — the Justice Department (currying favor with Congress), the NIH (where David Wilson was in bureaucratic control) or The Conference itself (where its internal arguments occupied all of its time).

	Locke fought against his growing paranoia without much success — until a larger picture started to emerge from the growing contention on the net.  This morning, after a busy weekend around the house, Locke logged on as soon as he was alone in his office.  There had been progress.   The three separate arguments had merged into a discussion of the basic purposes of The Conference.  Only the Germans still clung to the Graf discussion, camouflaging it under a general argument over eligibility for admittance.

	It wasn’t the first nationalistic controversy The Conference had endured, there had been one last year involving Tatsumi Matsumoto.  It was just like this one:  His fellow nationals mistook political achievement and popular renown for Conference eligibility while the rest of the membership stuck to the basic requirements of creative intelligence, empathic rationality and broadness of view.  Everyone knew, tacitly, that Matsumoto’s ideas had never and would never deviate from the least common denominator of his countrymen — that’s why he was revered in Japan.  He had been the voice of a nation for thirty-eight years — and a decent voice, indeed, but an original thought had never fluttered through Tatsumi’s head and it wasn’t likely to do so after Medford processing.  He was finally rejected — more or less amicably — but it was uncomfortable to have another “national” candidate so soon afterwards.

	Helmut Graf confronted The Conference with a very different problem, but one that was just as difficult as Matsumoto’s had been.  Graf was the creator of the world’s transport system, the developer of the tube-boring system that was named after him.  There was no question of his originality or the breadth of his intelligence — he had solved more problems, and more varied problems, than anyone else alive.  He had correctly reasoned that rock or clay or soil of any nature was bound together by molecular forces that could be disrupted by photons of precisely the right wavelength.  He had developed powerful free-electron lasers that disintegrated whatever was in front of them and converted it into a cloud of dust that could be vacuumed out of a tunnel without a single human being in the vicinity.  He had designed the “chord tube”, a tunnel drilled straight through the earth between two cities.  Instead of following the contour of the earth’s surface, the “chord tube” bored in a straight line between two surface points.  A passenger or freight car placed at one end, therefore, fell by gravity toward the center of the planet until it reached the midpoint and then it coasted up to a stop at the other end.  Very little energy was needed to propel the cars (called “rams” in a Graf tube) and that propulsion was accomplished by evacuating the air in front of the ram and leaking it back into the tube behind it.  At such reduced air pressure the resistance was minimal and the speed was maximized — usually reaching 3000 kilometers per hour.  The only limitation to the system was the thickness of the earth’s crust, the lithosphere, which was about 100 kilometers deep.  Boring a tube any deeper than that meant going into the semi-molten layer beneath the crust — which could lead to disaster if the plastic mantle shifted and broke the tube while a ram was running in it.  A chord going no more than 100 km deep had a length of 2244 kilometers and this, then, was the longest single jump a Graf tube could make.

	The various tube transport companies had constructed a latticework of tunnels that included all the major cities of the world and allowed a passenger to go swiftly from any point on earth to any other point in less than eight hours.  Completely immune from weather conditions on the surface and accessible in the center of cities through terminal structures no bigger than a department store, the Graf Tubes had replaced virtually all other long-distance means of transportation.

	That alone would have established Graf as the world’s pre-eminent engineer, but he had gone on to solve a problem just as basic and even more convenient when he drastically miniaturized his equipment and developed the “minitube” system in use throughout the modern world.  Small versions of his transcontinental tubes were bored between warehouses and other distribution points to every house and apartment in the region they served.  Deliveries of food (now almost exclusively Locke’s molecularly designed food) and packages of every conceivable description traveled swiftly to their destinations without disturbing activities on the surface.  People had stopped buying houses that were not “on the tube”.  Real estate agents had stopped showing them.  Minitube companies worked night and day to include every house and potential building site in their networks.

	So Helmut Graf was a world-class hero — there was never any question about that.  Unfortunately, he was also something else — a world-class bigot.

	The great majority of Conference members were decent people who responded to decent instincts, and they had lived long enough in human society to control their behavior in public in the interests of other people’s feelings.  What bothered them about Graf was that he had not learned to control his public behavior and he had no interest in doing so.  He was an honest man.  He valued the qualities of human ability and achievement above all other attributes and never hesitated to say so.  He had no use for the great majority of mankind and he said so.  He felt nothing but contempt for the slow-witted, the lazy and the loutish — and he said so.

	Not that the members of The Conference were hypocrites. Their prolonged experience of the real world and its real problems made them essentially immune from the false show of admiration for the least common denominator so prevalent among public figures. They weren’t beating their breasts and declaring how utterly unprejudiced they were, how saintly their instincts, how beautiful their souls.  They knew in their hearts that they admired ability and had spent their lives working hard to increase their own.  They were, for the most part, meritocratic.

	But The Conference had simply learned to be polite in public.   They were not rejecting him because of any fundamental disagreements with his value judgments, but because they could not reconcile Graf’s public contempt for a majority of the human race with The Conference’s vocation on behalf of that race.  It was their belief that a personal sense of duty had to come before the public venting of one’s private feelings.

	As a consequence, Helmut Graf was 69 years old and not a member of The Conference.  As each year brought him closer to ineligibility, the argument got more heated until now it flooded the net with pros and cons, mostly from his countrymen, but also from elsewhere around the globe.

	All of which had exasperated Locke in weeks gone by as Fred Benson’s deadline kept getting closer.  The “first of July”, he had said.  Turn over the Medford Process to the world by July first or he would make public everything he knew about The Conference.  That’s what they should be worrying about, not membership matters that could be handled by a committee.

	Locke had even forgotten about his personal jeopardy during the continuing struggle over “secondary” matters.  But the matters hadn’t been so secondary in recent days — the discussion was broadening.  Now there were groups who wanted to increase the maximum number of Immortals and who therefor proposed to build more processing centers.   These groups wanted to open up a second center in Frankfort and a second center in Honolulu  this year.  Where the money would come from was never made clear.  What was clear to them was that, with the additional processing capacity those centers would provide, the quota could be raised to over 14,000.

	Locke saw the same questions repeatedly raised on the net that Nu Hai had asked him here in his office five weeks ago.  Again and again it was explained that Conference members had to be reprocessed every fifty years or so and that it would be foolhardy to create more members than the existing centers could re-process.  It would not do to invest a couple centuries in a member who would then die for lack of facilities.

	Nu Hai’s impatience with the pace of the Medford process was also repeated on the net — to be explained once again by one of the  biologist members, sometimes Walter Locke.  He now began to sound like an English Prime Minister at Question Time — “I refer the member to the answer I gave on Wednesday, the ninth of February last”.

	But the discussion recurrently veered off the particular into the general question of the basic purpose of The Conference.  Were they fulfilling their original intent?   What specifically was that intent?  Should membership include this or that special type of person?  Should wives or husbands of members be given special consideration for membership?  What about children?  As Locke waited for his guests to arrive, he asked himself many of the same questions.

	At eight thirty, Phil Werner get there with good news.  “Walt, I came over early because I have enough data on the ‘resistant’ kids to be sure your body temperature factor is the answer.”

	“That’s great, Phil.”

	“We’ve stabilized them all at the optimum, which turns out to be thirty-six point nine degrees, and we haven’t had a single rejection in twenty-three days.”  Werner sat on the shelf of Locke’s console — which was solidly built.  Locke concluded that was a good thing since Werner weighed in at close to one hundred fifty kilograms.  “I was going to phone you about it last week but I wanted to test their chromosome-11s in arthritic guinea pigs first.  We got the results this morning — every test animal was free of arthritis.  I can’t tell you how grateful I am, Walter.”

	“I can’t tell you how wonderful I feel about those results, Phil!  You never know with one of these things.  You can walk right by the answer a hundred times and never see it.  There’s no guarantee.  I was not even looking for that factor when I stumbled over it.  It’s just a beautiful, beautiful feeling.  Thanks for bringing it to me, Phil.”

	“What can you tell me about the problem Fred’s bringing to us, Walt?”

	“Not much, I’m afraid.  Insanity is something I just don’t understand.  I know Fred as well as anyone in the world does,  and when he is looking at a biological jigsaw puzzle — something like your ‘resistant babies’, for example — he is the most logical guy on earth, thinking everything through to the end, rejecting spurious ideas without a second’s hesitation.  Yet here we have Fred ignoring all the horrors of a worldwide stampede to live forever — driven by survival instincts stronger than any rational mind can master — and he has apparently refused, repeatedly refused, to see reason on the subject.  He isn’t even paying attention to how few human beings can be reprocessed in a reasonable time.  He is just pushing ahead with a single idea the way the Faulkners used to.  Remember them?”

	“Oh, do I ever!”  Werner replied.

	“I had a very queer duck remind me of that period just last month and I haven’t been able to get it out of my mind since.”  Locke turned off his wall screen and went over to the dispenser.  “We’ve come a long way, Phil, a very long way.  But sometimes it seems we’ve made no progress at all — not in the way we think, anyway.”  He turned back toward Werner.  “Can I offer you something?”

	“Yes!  One of your special whats-its-names, please.”

	“That can only mean a Toledo Fizz, Phil.  I know your technical jargon like a book.”

	“I was called before Faulk’s Committee.  Three days in a row.  Called on to justify ‘gene doctoring’.  For three days.”

	Locke turned and stared at Werner.  “You, Phil?  I don’t remember that at all.  It doesn’t seem possible.”

	“Hans Placher was my name.  It was my birth name, born in West Germany.  That was when there was a West and an East.”

	Locke didn’t notice the cold beverage spilling over the top of the glass.  “Placher!  Yes.  Oh my!  You had a batch of embryos go wrong on you.  In Los Angeles, wasn’t it?”

	“Close enough.   Next door.  Glendale.”

	“Implacable Placher! The mad scientist!  Oh, Phil.  I never knew what your name was back then.”

	“I don’t advertise it.  I never think of it.  I haven’t . . . in maybe twenty years.”

	“I’m sorry I brought it all back to you, Phil.  I’m really sorry.”

	“No!  It’s unhealthy to force that sort of stuff out of your consciousness.  It’s very unhealthy.”  Werner took the Fizz in both hands as if it were a lifesaving remedy.   “I was processed the next year and I told myself that I would not suppress the memory of what had happened in front of that committee.  I really meant it.  I was so determined.  So resolute.  It’s ironical that they called me ‘implacable’ on the nets.  I’ve been running like a scared rabbit ever since.”

	“I remember now.  Faulk needed a whipping boy,” Locke said.  “That was the year before he pushed the ‘exception law’ through Congress and the entire financial world was furious with him.  What he was trying to do was to convince the voters that a merciless cabal of crazy scientists wanted to make freaks out of them — wanted then born with two heads, six legs, eyes in the middle of their foreheads, all the usual stuff.”

	“2050.”

	“Yes.  2050.  And he came damn near bankrupting the Unified Health Insurance System.  I guess it did come within six months or something . . . ”

	“Oh, it certainly would have gone down the drain if Congress hadn’t restricted coverage to those who got cleared of genetic defects in childhood.  But none of that mattered to the voters.  Senator Joseph Faulk would still be winning elections if he were alive now.”

	“I’m sure you’re right,” Locke said as he sipped his cold beverage on the winter’s coldest day so far.  The knock on the door announced Paul Eichelroth and Oliver  Williams.  While they were wrapping up a conversation of their own, Locke leaned toward Werner and whispered urgently.  “Talk to me about all that stuff in the 50s the next time we get a chance, will you Phil?  I really need to know more about it . . . and I need to understand it better.”

	“Sure.  Okay.  It will be easier now that the ice is broken on it.”

	“So tell me all the good news I’ve missed the past couple weeks,” Eichelroth boomed.

	“What we’ve got is exclusively bad, Paul.  We can’t find Benson.”

	“What do you mean you can’t find Benson?   We have someone in the International Tracking Agency, don’t we?”

	“Yes, but the ITA can’t find him either.”

	“How did he pull that off?”

	“It can be done,” Williams said.  “The Shanghai people did it for me in Singapore.  And they got me out again, too.”

	Eichelroth shook his head.  “Now isn’t that just typical?  You can make a system as elaborate as you want, but someone will find a way around it.”

	“It just takes time,” Werner added.

	“And you have to remember,” Locke said, “that Fred knows all the details of The Conference’s arrangements.  He may be holed up in one of our own refuges for all we know.”

	“Well, that’s the first priority, then,” Eichelroth said.  “We’ve got to find him.  Where he is determines everything we do.  When does Edna get here?”

	“Actually, she should be here now,” Locke said.  “I hope there isn’t any glitch in her coming.  I agree with you, we’ve got to find Fred and talk to him ourselves — directly.  I won’t feel right about anything until we do.”

	Oliver Williams answered the next knock and brought in Mark Enders, looking like a visiting student. Locke’s phone started blinking.  “I hope that isn’t Edna,”  he said.  He called across the room.  “Phone.  Answer.”

	“Hi, Walt.  It’s Hiram.  Did you call?”

	“Yes.  Can you come up here, Hi?  We need your geographical expertise.”

	“I’m tied up with a visitor right now,  but . . . ”

	“Is he Conference?”

	“Yes she is.”

	“Well you know what the topic is.  It is THE topic.  Use your judgment on whether to bring her along.”

	“Right.”  Weintraub hung up.

	The multiple conversations were making so much noise the next knock went unanswered.  Edna Parsons didn’t have the patience to knock again and she simply went in, shaking the snow off herself.   “Sorry I’m late, but your snow awning caved in over near the subway station.  Those go-carts of yours aren’t very good at plowing through snowdrifts.”

	Eichelroth was the logical official greeter.  “Good to see you, Edna.  Do you people across the river have better awnings?”

	Parsons simulated shock.  “You know I can’t answer that question, Paul!  It might disclose budget matters.”

	The group laughed at CIA’s constant cloak over anything involving money.  Parsons was given one of Locke’s specialties and a comfortable chair near the corner.  “Okay,” she said.  “We’ve got a colossal mess on our hands and a guy we can’t find with the most expensive locating system in the world.  So we have to look in unusual directions.  Does anyone know whether Benson has contacts with a  non-Conference immigration official?”

	The murmured “No” was unanimous.

	“Does anyone know of a fair-sized boat Benson owns . . . maybe owned before the 2080 registry?  One that could operate over a thousand kilometers of open sea?” 

	Again the murmured “No” was unanimous.

	“Okay.  We’ve got one report he’s dead — we always get some of those, it comes with the business — has anyone any information that could lead to that conclusion?”

	Before anyone could answer, Weintraub’s knock came at the door and he was hailed in.  Weintraub opened the door and stepped back into the hallway to let a strikingly beautiful young woman enter before him. “Go right ahead in, Helen.  You know Walt and Phil, but I don’t think you’ve met Edna Parsons, Oliver Williams and Paul Eichelroth.  Everyone — Helen Kensington.”   Since he had been speaking in code from the time the door had closed behind him, it was abundantly clear that his companion was Conference.  Phil Werner glanced over his shoulder and said “Hi, Helen.”   Enders popped out of his chair and said “Hiram never introduces me to people, Helen.  I’m used to it by now.”  He shook hands.  “Hi, I’m Mark Enders.”  Walter Locke was still staring.  “Walter, you’re staring,” Werner said.  “Not polite, you know.”

	“My God, it’s Joan!” said Locke.   “Joan Marsden!  Why didn’t you ever tell us you were a knockout?”

	“I didn’t think it was pertinent to my Conference duties,”  Kensington said.

	“No, no.  No!  No, not at all.”  Locke was hopelessly flustered.  “No,  Certainly not,” was all he could get out.

	Eichelroth walked over to Kensington and shook hands.  “From what Phil tells me, this is a historic moment, Helen.”  He turned to Enders.   “Mark, we have here seventy-eight years of Medford #1.  Helen is the most recent Conference member processed at NIH and I was the first.  You can see how much your system has improved with time.”  During the laughter, Parsons shook hands and got filled in on The Conference’s newest member.  

	Eichelroth picked up the thread.  “Now that everyone’s here, let me summarize.  Fred Benson has threatened to expose The Conference, in detail, if it doesn’t publish the Medford Process for the world’s use by July first.  Fred has talked to three different groups, they all agree about the specifics of his threat and that he is adamant about his deadline.  The Conference hasn’t formally voted on its reaction as yet, but it is a forgone conclusion that it will decide Fred must be born again, one way or another.  Now the problem:  As of this moment, no one knows where Fred is.  No one.  Which makes this entire crisis and any Conference decision concerning it moot.  We are in as bad a spot as we have ever been since the start of this project.  Our present task is to lay out a plan of action that has a chance of succeeding within the next three months.  It may seem premature, but I think we should agree here and now what form of rebirth we will recommend to The Conference when it votes.  Phil?  You’re the expert in that department.”

	Werner shifted his bulk around to face the entire group.  “To refresh your memories, the feature programmed into all of us during processing is triggered by the gene ctc-206.  This gene works only on Conference members and it removes all memory acquired after the first processing of the subject.”

	Weintraub saw a problem.  “What about the preliminary interviews, Phil?  If things go right, I don’t erase any memory of those.”

	“Yes, I forgot.  That loophole was recognized back in the early days and the formula was modified to extend memory loss to ninety days before processing.”

	Werner gave Locke’s computer voice instructions to put the information on ctc-206 up on the wall screen.  “Then there are the universal memory-deletion genes.  You are all familiar with the criminal ones, tgs-481 and gca-73.  The courts in every modern nation now prescribe tgs-481 for incorrigible criminals.  It deletes all memory accumulated since the age of eight.  The original assumption was that a habitual criminal would indeed be ‘born again’ by this means.  Having adopted a life of crime at an early age, he could now start all over again with a clean slate and grow up a law-abiding member of society.”

	“And it works,” Locke put in.  “There are several recent studies that show hardened criminals turned completely around after tgs-481.”

	“That’s not our problem,” Eichelroth said.  “If Fred is given 481, he will show up in the world as Barnard Shaw with an eight-year-old mind and an accurate memory of his birthplace, his parents, his sister, his school chums and his teachers.  With all the questions raised by those early memories, someone will surely measure his intact DNA and check it against the International Register.  Your life has been mangled in an effort to keep that from happening with a relatively obscure physician, Walt.  Just imagine what would happen if it involved the modern world’s leading descendent adjuster.  That’s a very public and emotional topic”

	Werner continued on the subject of being born again.  “I would assume Paul is urging the use of gca-73 to avoid those problems.  That particular gene was developed in Belgium to handle incorrigibles who turned out to be genetically disposed to criminal action.  It removes all memory and leaves the subject with motor-cortex and cerebellar control alone.  It has been completely successful in terminating crime, but it leaves, of course, a severely retarded person.”

	“Remember,” Locke said.  “This is applicable to genetically predisposed criminals.  Benson certainly isn’t one of those.  It can be assumed that he has fallen into this nonsense in recent years — I never heard any of this from Barney Shaw.  What about this new psychiatric eraser apn-47, Phil?”

	“Yes, it has been thoroughly tested in Europe and it is beginning to show up here in the States.  It removes memories subsequent to the early twenties.  I think the median age is twenty-three.”

	“That doesn’t sound very useful,” Parsons said.  “If I remember correctly, psychological problems are based on memories of early-childhood.”

	“Yes,” Werner said.  “This gene was developed to handle severe trauma in later life, Edna.  Terrorist activities.  Death of children or spouse.  Rape.  Violent assault.  Stuff like that.”

	“I see.”

	“It seems to me,” Locke said, “that moving Fred Benson back to his early twenties would ‘reset the clock’ so to speak — give us a chance to talk to him and see what’s troubling him.”

	Parsons protested.  “He would still know everything, Walt.  He would know enough to destroy The Conference in any ten-minute period — something he has already threatened to do.”

	Oliver Williams was becoming exasperated.  “Why make such a big deal about all this?  It happens every day, thousands of times.  Every third-time offender in the criminal justice system gets gca-73.  We act as though Conference members are so special it takes days of argument to decide what to do with them.”

	“It’s not that so much,” Locke responded, “as it is a question of who we think we are.  The criminal justice system is five hundred years old and comes down to us through the minds of tens of millions of people.  Human will and human sympathies have been able to change it throughout that entire period.  We take a lot on ourselves when we rely on the knowledge of a few thousand people over a number of decades and sit in judgment of others to this extent.  It goes to the motives and honesty of The Conference itself.  It’s not all that easy, Ollie.

	“Yes,” Parsons said.  “The question that hasn’t been asked here — and should be — is about our motives.  Are we trying to ‘shut Fred up’ because he is threatening to do something the entire human race would view as ‘wrong’ if they knew all the facts?  Or are we trying to shut him up out of self-interest, the desire to go on living forever?  You ask tough questions, Walt.  Please don’t go into politics.”

	Eichelroth broke his silence.  “The problem is not what we here or The Conference in general is proposing.  The problem is what Benson is proposing.”

	Since people were stretching their necks to the limit, Eichelroth went over and sat on the window sill.   “Think about this for a minute.  In the winter and spring of 2006, Mark here made the crucial breakthroughs in the chemical reversal of aging.  His process was complicated to a ghastly degree.  It required stupendous computer capabilities to measure what had been miscoded and even greater capabilities to design the retrovirus-protein combinations that would correct the defect.  Trillions of defects repeated trillions of times — takes 130 billion dollars worth of our most advanced technology 800 hours to manage it.”

	Eichelroth paused to let a contrasting image of the world form in his mind.  “Now suppose the problem had worked out very differently.  Suppose Mark had found that a simple enzyme, a combination of two or three amino acids, a chemical costing a dime a gallon, was the answer.  Suppose immortality, or the reversal of, say, 60 or 70 years of aging, cost less than a dollar, and you could make it out of commonly available ingredients extracted from sea water.”

	He fixed them with an unblinking stare.  “What kind of world do you think we’d be living in today?”

  	When no one spoke, he continued.   “We’ve had three generations since then.  With our species’ natural increase and with the death rate reduced to zero by this dime-a-gallon eternal life elixir, the population of this planet would be,”  he looked down at the calculation he had already started on his pocket computer,  “106.5 billion people today and 2 trillion 268 billion by the middle of next century.  Land would be in such short supply the world would be in a continual state of war.  The wars could not be modern, they would have to be wars of attrition on a huge scale — just to keep the world’s population stable.  And when we reached the saturation point, the quality of life that two and a quarter trillion people could squeeze out of the earth’s rapidly depleting resources would get closer to abject poverty each year — — and their survival would only be possible if they murdered every infant born on this planet for the rest of eternity!”
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Chapter Fourteen



	Everyone had something urgent to add to what Paul Eichelroth had just explained and therefor, as it sometimes happens, no one said a word.  Finally Edna Parsons, who was on a tight schedule, broke through the silence to get their business transacted.  “I’ve had some identification kits made up.  Take one for yourself and pass the extras out to anybody else who might be able to get near Benson.  There are several photos of Benson and his closest associates, lists of his homes and favorite vacation spots, various other data we thought might be of use and . . . Phil?  Did you bring the chip analyzers?”

	“Yes.  There are about a dozen here for you to refresh your memories and there are over a hundred on Walt’s desk along the wall.”

	“Be sure you know how to use them before you take any action in this affair.  It is standing Conference policy that no one can be born again without an immediately preceding DNA analysis.  Hiram?  Would you brief Helen?  What about you, Paul?  Have you ever used one of these?”

	“Not for a long time.  I’ll sit in with Helen.”

	They passed as much information back and forth as they could think of at the time and then, as quickly as it had assembled, the conference in Walter Locke’s office dispersed.  The oldest and youngest members of The Conference went down the hall to Hiram Weintraub’s office.

	“Is this what they call a ‘microchip DNA analyzer’, Hi?”

	“Yes.  It’s not a new invention by any means — they were working with early versions of these back in the twentieth century.  But this model is really a beauty.”  They reached Weintraub’s office and found an analyzer set up on his workbench.  “What we have here is a microchip in most respects identical to the one that memorizes numbers and letters in your computer.  But here we’ve provided little electrified pads instead of bit registers and we have flooded it with a complete mixture of ribosomes, the building blocks of the DNA molecule.  Connect this analyzer to your pocket computer and then put the sample to be analyzed in here.”

	“What should we use for a sample,” Helen asked.

	“Oh, just about anything that comes off the unknown subject.  Root hairs are great, the upper part of cut hairs are not.  Skin cells are okay — remember, we are continually shedding them, so any handkerchief or piece of cloth that has been rubbed on the subject will be full of skin cells.  Saliva, fine.  The results of a sneeze, great.  Blood is the best but Benson knows that, too.  Poke around for a blood sample and your adventure might be over.”  He turned to Eichelroth.  “Is Fred a violent man, Paul?”

	“I don’t know.  The times I’ve dealt with him were all so formal and full of numbers I never got a chance to find out.”

	“Well it always pays to be cautious, I suppose,”  Helen said.  “So after you get your hands on a reasonable sample, then what?”

	“Okay.  You put it in here and press this slide over to close the opening.  Moving the slide releases polymerase enzymes into the test chamber and triggers DNA replication.  After about 8 or 9 minutes — call it 10 — look through the magnifier here and push this illuminator.  If the whole field, or most of it, lights up, you have a useable sample.  If not, try the whole thing over again with a new sample.”  Weintraub drank some water from a glass on his bench and Helen wondered if he ever made a mistake — the bench was full of flasks and glasses and jars with everything known to the biological world in them. 

	“Then the analyzer will start talking with your computer.  What kind do you carry, Helen?”

	“A 3206.”

	“Fine.  That'll work fine.  Anything beyond a 2400 will drive the chip.  Paul?”

	“Same thing — a 3206.”

	“You guys are okay, then.  Well, if the field mostly lights up, you have over ten million copies of the subject’s DNA on your chip.  The analyzer knows this and will inject an enzyme, called a restriction enzyme, that will break each DNA molecule at a specific set of ribosomes along its length.”  Weintraub turned away from the analyzer and faced his guests.  “The DNA fragments created by those breaks are unique to each one of us.  That’s what made forensic DNA identification possible.  We get these chunks from our two parents and each one of them is different and that makes us all the more different.  The lengths of these specific fragments reflect the unique properties of our individual genetic inheritance.”

	“How does it tell us the sample is from Benson?” Eichelroth asked.

	“The DNA fingerprints of every Conference member are stored in the analyzer.  If it comes up with a match, which takes about thirty seconds, it will report that fact on the screen of your computer.  If it fails to match your sample to a Conference member, it will ask you if you want to proceed with an identification.  If, for any reason, you want to know the identity of the test subject, call Phil Werner’s computer in code and download the analyzer’s results into it.  Phil’s machine will call Geneva and ask for a match.  He does routine checks all the time — nothing suspicious about that.  A whole lot less suspicious than you phoning into Geneva with a pocket machine.”

	“His modem number?”  Kensington asked.

	“In the analyzer.  All of us are in it.  You can actually use your analyzer as a communicator if you want to.  We threw that in because someone might need a non-Conference identification.”

	 “Where will you be from now ‘till July, Hiram?”

	“Right here, Paul.  I’ve got three research projects running through to the end of the year and so I’ll be useless in the search.  Sorry.”

	“Helen?”

	“In England.  I’ve rented a little place in Madingley, near Cambridge, because I want to do some work with a clinic at the school.  I doubt that I’ll do much traveling in the normal course of events, so I’ll be available.”

	“Fine.  I’ll be in Asia until late in the year.  That’s probably where he is, but who knows at this point?  Remember.  Any contact is in the new Shanghai code until this problem is cleared up.”

•  •  •

	If Hiram Weintraub expected to be swamped with work in March and April, he had nothing on Walter Locke.  Locke had wasted another two days in the Arlington Court House while Larson and the assembled forces of the United States of America fought over what to do with his body.  He had been subpoenaed by the Superior Court of Pennsylvania to appear in Montgomery County even though he agreed to pay Ethel Ramsay’s demand for compensation in full.  That had wasted another two days before it was finished.  Word had later come over The Conference net that a member looked into Ethel Ramsay’s finances and found that she had lost the family’s savings through speculation in the stock market.  She had had to leave Florida because she couldn’t pay the rent any more.  And the $7 million she got from Locke had already been largely used up paying back debts.  Oliver Williams was delighted with the news.

	To make matters worse, the heavily engaged Walter Locke had been summoned to David Wilson’s office for three segments of  “What’s New on the Nets” and a primetime feature about the arrogance of molecular biologists.  His moral scruples against the use of the gca-73 gene to reduce someone to a mental vegetable were wearing thinner every time he was forced to waste hours of his life with the publicity-mad director.  His work suffered and he had to slow down the pace of his research.  Mistakes by Walter Locke would have resulted in crippling disorders and wrecked lives all over the world.   He couldn’t take chances.

  	But interruptions and government threats were nothing compared to the shock he received on the morning of March twenty-seventh as he turned on his go-cart to leave home.  He had left the car’s computer on and it promptly lit up with a full scale warning of top-priority news.  When he asked for the display he was stunned to see a notification that congressional investigators had uncovered a secret life-extension laboratory — built with government funds — and Congress was sending the Chief Usher and the Capitol Guard to seize it.

	He decided to drive to NIH via Connecticut Avenue to see if there was any unusual government traffic coming up toward the Institutes from the capitol.  There wasn’t anything in sight but he might have missed it — they might already be at the Molecular Biology Laboratories.  The question was how to find out without being caught up in the net.  He turned at Jones Bridge Road and skirted the Institutes through the residential districts below its southern edge.  He couldn’t detect anything out of the ordinary and turned up Old Georgetown Road to get a good look at the beloved gray hulk of his laboratory.   At first the sun shone in his eyes, but as it became shadowed behind the MBL he saw everything in its normal state, no unusual vehicles parked outside, no unusual uniforms visible on Center Drive.  He stayed on Georgetown and parked at Cedar Lane.

	The car’s computer had been flashing a notification of accompanying video while he was driving past NIH and now he switched it on.  It was a gorgeous satellite view of a late-afternoon coastline with three jetboats pulling rapidly away from shore.  Locke blinked and turned up the sound.  The announcer kept referring to something called the “Chagos Archipelago” without ever mentioning where it was.  He identified the boats as having been commandeered by the Chief Usher of Congress and the camera zoomed in to show more Capitol Guards than Locke knew existed.

	In the Chagos Archipelago?  Is this some kind of elaborate hoax?  Somebody had to be paying big bucks for that satellite, especially one with a ten-thousand-to-one zoom capability.  When the logo of a midwestern news channel was flashed on the screen, that question was answered.  It was no hoax.  But it was still incredible.

	The continuing pictures of fast boats filled with Capitol police in seemingly distant waters reassured Locke enough to restart the go-cart and pull down West Drive to the lab.  The newsnet picture on his computer showed very little daylight left, which placed them over a hundred longitude degrees to the east.  They must be out in the Indian Ocean.  Looking for a life-extension laboratory!?  That sounds nuts.  There isn’t anything out there!  Believe me, boys.  I know.  Locke decided the report was a mistake.  It had to be.  No one could set up an authentic life-extension lab in a place he had never heard of.  It just wasn’t done.

	After lunch, when he was alone in his office, he asked his computer for the complete report.  The lab, it turned out, had been secretly working for a group of senior naval officers on the island of Diego Garcia in the Chagos Archipelago.  Which was indeed in the Indian Ocean.  A picked research team had been skimming off other Navy budgets for the past twenty-three years and had sent glowing reports back to the Navy Department asking for more money.  They weren’t getting anywhere, but the Navy didn’t know that.  Neither did Congress .

	The satellite switched to infra-red and tried valiantly to show the Chief Usher rounding up everybody on the island and seizing all their equipment, but it lacked many details and Locke lost interest.  It was just another fake lab run by another set of quacks.  Locke hoped none of them were from the National Naval Medical Center across Wisconsin Avenue — that would focus attention far too close to NIH.  He checked in again after dinner at home to find the island of Diego Garcia buttoned up tight in the thin light of dawn.  No one was allowed near the laboratory and the little bobbing boats from the newsnets were being warned away from the coast.

	Locke kept looking for information about the phony lab without success — until April fifth.  It was on April fifth that the Sci/Tech Committee scheduled hearings on the subject — and that made the entire picture crystal clear.  The committee would never have held hearings if there had been any possibility of the laboratory’s being useful.  Diego Garcia had apparently achieved no capability at all.

	What had started out for Locke as a personal fright of monumental proportions quickly turned into a hilarious national circus as the admirals were called before the Sci/Tech Committee one after another.  Members of the committee scrambled for the microphone to express their horror at the duplicity and sinfulness involved in this dastardly attempt to use the people’s money for their own personal longevity.  How could the admirals stoop so low?  Locke went back to his biology projects with a light heart and stopped answering Wilson’s phone calls.

•  •  •

	Kensington was more scrupulous about answering the phone.  And she made a lot of people grateful for that fact.   One Thursday morning in May, it was Paul Eichelroth calling from Perth.  He asked her to switch her laptop over to the Shanghai code and look at The Conference’s 08:30 GMT report on 25.5.84.  Kensington enjoyed the fact that the world’s universal time, GMT, Greenwich Mean Time, was the same as hers here in Madingley, so she knew that the Conference report was only thirty minutes old.  She quickly tapped in the search pattern and saw what they had been waiting for.   Flashed up on her screen was the highlighted news that Fred Benson had been found!

   	Approximately.

   	Maybe.

	Kensington and Eichelroth “talked” for over an hour.  That amounted to just thirty minutes of actual conversation because neither one of them had memorized the Shanghai code and each had to type in normal Conference code and have their computers translate it for transmission over the satellite circuits.  It had to be assumed that Benson could be looking at anything over The Conference net.

	Being the kind of people they were, that thirty minutes was as good as a day and a half would be for others.  They did not waste time.  Neither of them advanced information unless they were sure of it.  Neither of them assumed the information on the net was completely accurate.  Was Benson one of the people on the thirty-eighth floor?  Everything pointed to it.  Was “everything” pointing in the right direction?  Who knows?  Careful safeguards must be used to ensure that it was Fred Benson.  A carefully designed trail must be left that would inform The Conference of what had happened, but that trail must not arouse the suspicions of the civil authorities.

	When they had finished, Kensington started packing.

•  •  •

	Kensington rode up the escalator to the great square at its summit and marched straight ahead toward what she thought was the Avenue Franklin Roosevelt.  She found herself staring instead at the rebuilt side of the Petit Palais, which had been damaged by the terrorist bomb that destroyed the Grand Palais in 2067.   Kensington, then Joan Marsden, had never been to Paris in her first life.   Indeed, she had never been out of the United States.   But that sacrifice of nineteenth century beauty to twenty-first century depravity had distressed her almost as much as it had the stricken Parisians.   They had agonized for years over how to replace their beloved Grand Palais and they had ended up using the site as the Paris Tube Station, the most gracefully designed terminal in the world.

	Kensington realized immediately that the Petit Palais should not be in front of her. Her memory told her that she needed to go in the opposite direction to get to Roosevelt.  Those hurried minutes in her three-room cottage in Madingley memorizing maps and names and directions were paying off — even more so as the beauty of the city distracted her when she got deeper into it.

	It was hard to believe that she had been on the phone with Paul Eichelroth just forty-five minutes ago and she was in the center of Paris already at quarter past eleven.  Europe was a great advertisement for Graf tubes. 

	Europe was also crowded.  There were plenty of chauffeured cars left in front of the station, but not many self-driven go-carts. Kensington flashed a dazzling smile at the middle-aged man ahead of her and was offered one of the last go-carts with a flourish.  “Gosh!” she thought, “that sure is fun after all these years”.

	Now she had to concentrate.  To get to her ultimate destination beyond La Defense would be easy, to get to her first stop near the Porte de Clichy would be another matter altogether.  The Old City was beloved by residents and visitors alike, but it was a difficult place for a stranger to navigate in.  The gentle digital voice of the go-cart guide kept telling her to keep to the right for a turn that was coming up  “. . . right . . . now”  . . . but Helen hadn’t been able to push her way over there yet.  By the time she got into the right lane for the turn into Batignolles it was time for her to make the left turn toward Clichy.

   	She saw a lot of the Old City before she arrived at the Rue Pouchet.

	The supervisor of the home-care center answered the door herself and ushered Kensington into the old fashioned office paneled in dark wood — real wood!  Having assured the lady she would prefer to converse in English, Kensington pressed on with her business in order to keep to the schedule.  “Are you certified by the city government or the national government,” she asked.

	“The national, Mademoiselle.  We are inspected six times a year.”

	“And a report filed?”

	“Yes, Mademoiselle.”

	“And you say the next report will be on the first of June?”

	“Yes, Mademoiselle.  A week from today.”

	“Splendid.  My uncle is 39 years old, mentally retarded, but in perfect health. I will be bringing him to you within the next few days and I will buy a permanent endowment to cover his expenses.”

	“Yes, Mademoiselle.  And his name is?”

	“I don’t know his name,” Kensington said.  Seeing the supervisor’s bewilderment, she added, “I won’t know his name until I bring him.  You see, he keeps changing the name he likes best.  I’d prefer to have him start out here with his favorite name.”

	“Oh, I see,” said the relieved manager.  “Yes.  Yes, I quite agree.”

	Kensington asked herself how she had become such an accomplished liar.  Must be the daily practice of living an entirely new life.  Eichelroth had been right when he chatted with her last month — there are some people to whom lying comes naturally.  Having been assured that she could bring her unnamed uncle to the home at any hour of the day or night, Kensington set out on the great adventure of finding her way around Old Paris again.

	There are no covered streets in Paris as there are in so many cities today.  Even in the New City beyond the river the motorist and pedestrian are expected to brave the elements along with the birds and the squirrels. Kensington welcomed the almost empty streets of a midday city preoccupied with its two-hour lunch and found her way to Neuilly without a single wrong turn.

	The contrast between Neuilly and New City was greater than any place else on earth.  One could see the skyscrapers rising across the Seine while still driving through the leafy boulevards and side streets of nineteenth-century Neuilly.  At the other end of the bridge her little go-cart was plunged into a twenty-first century metropolis extending up and down the river and far enough inland to swallow up the former university city of Nanterre.  The old Law School in the center of the compound was still used for those taking examinations, but the rest of Nanterre had been converted into Manhattan — without the roofed-over streets. 

	The hotel was called André Doucet after the name of the street that led up to its grand front entrance.  Kensington was impressed.  She knew it had thirty-eight floors, since her quarry was somewhere on the thirty-eighth, but she hadn’t expected it to be so massive.  It must be two blocks square!  If that translated into a hundred rooms at the top, she might not make her June first deadline at the home in Clichy.  She parked her go-cart at a charging station and watched as it registered her arrival.  Next stop, the concierge.

	“What is the biggest tip you ever got in your life, monsieur?” she asked.

	The insatiable instincts of a Parisian concierge drove his “memory” up to fifteen thousand francs.

	“So you would not get into any trouble if you claimed that a grateful guest of the hotel tipped you that much?”

	Beginning to worry, the concierge shaved the figure down to eight thousand to make his explanations to the management more feasible.  The modern world was very hard on concierges.  The times his grandfather had told him about!  — those times gone by when people carried money in little pieces of anonymous paper which could be slipped under a desk pad or inside an unmarked envelope — all those heavenly days were gone now.  In the modern world money could be transferred only by electronic means from one central account to another.  There was only one BankNet.  Records of every penny transferred were publicly available anywhere in the world.  Anyone wishing to investigate a fiscal matter was amply free to do so.  It was outrageous!

	“Well I will transfer eight thousand francs to . . .” she looked at him questioningly.

	“To Guillaume Ferney, my dear Mademoiselle,”  smiled the concierge.

	“. . . if he will take me to the head of Room Service with a recommendation for employment.” Kensington said.

	“Employment, Mademoiselle!  For eight thousand francs I’ll recommend marriage!”

	“You’re far too kind, Monsieur Ferney,” Kensington said as she straightened up from the transfer screen.

	Two legitimate guests were left standing at the counter while Kensington was whisked off to the second sub-basement of the Hotel André Doucet.  She interrupted M. Ferney’s flowing introduction to quickly come to terms with the service head.

	“I assume you don’t need any extra help in your department at this time, is that right?”

	“Yes, Mademoiselle.”

	“And, in any case, you don’t want to make me a temporary employee to serve the long-term English-speaking patrons on the hotel’s thirty-eighth floor, is that right?”

	“Yes, Mademoiselle.”

	“And you would get in serious trouble if I gave you two hundred thousand francs to put me in that job, is that right?”

	 “Yes, Mademoiselle.”

	“But you have a relative or a trusted friend to whom I could safely give that much money if you changed your mind about employing me, is that right?”

	This time the response was delayed — by the astounding figure that had come under discussion and by the manager’s frantic mental search for a trustworthy relative.  Suddenly his face lit up.  “It is a most surprising coincidence, Mademoiselle!   My wife has a cousin who owes us a great deal of money.  She is a sculptor, or so she thinks.  She hasn’t sold a piece of her work in over twenty years...”

	“But if I were to buy one of her statues for two-hundred thousand francs . . . ”   Kensington interrupted.

	“That would be perfectly legitimate, Mademoiselle,”  the manager said with anticipation.

	“Then let’s get to it,” she said.  “I’ll leave the choice and disposal of the statue up to you.”

	“Mademoiselle!”  the frightened manager exclaimed.  “There is no crime in what you intend?”

	“No crime.  No theft.  No damage  . . . to the hotel.   No event that will involve you in any way.  Do I have the job?”

	“You most certainly do.  And if you have acquaintances who also wish so earnestly to work at the André Doucet, please tell them they have a friend in me,” he said.
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Chapter Fifteen



	Kensington was pleased with herself for getting into the room-service business in time for the luncheon rush.  But she could tell from the call screen that there were eighty-two rooms on her floor with God knows how many people in them.  This thing began to look mathematically impossible.

	The first call from the thirty-eighth floor was a simple ice bucket and tongs.  No Benson.

	The second was a complicated four-course meal for two in which she got the wine wrong.  Fortunately the service elevators were very fast and she got back with the correct wine in time to head off any complaints.  Still no Benson.

	It went on like that for lunch and dinner until a very tired Helen Kensington staggered down to her own room on the twelfth floor and fell into bed.

	Friday started out even worse.  Everyone in the hotel wanted a continental breakfast and they wanted it right away.  Fortunately, over half of them specified Walter Locke’s new “designed” food which Kensington could have in process on her cart as she zoomed up to the top floor.  The rest, however, wanted the traditional formula of café au lait, croissants and confitures as soon as their eyes opened and Kensington had a very busy two hours before ten o’clock arrived.

	But it did arrive and the calls stopped coming and the guests had, in the main, left the hotel — when room 3871 buzzed down for a complete old-fashioned breakfast with bacon and pancakes drowned in maple syrup.

	Kensington had to ring twice before the door opened just a crack to let the occupant verify what his view screen had already told him.  Kensington flashed the smile of a dazzling twenty-year-old and the suspicions in room 3871 were dispelled.  The headache, however, was not dispelled and Benson turned away from the door immediately after letting Kensington in with her heated cart.  As he came back from the medicine cabinet he was swallowing four neo-aspirin capsules with a glass of water.

	The table had been set up days ago near the floor-to-ceiling windows on the northwest side of the building.  Through the transparent lace curtains she could see the stately geometric beauty of Maisons-Laffitte in the background while a sightseeing boat left long triangles on the placid surface of the river as it cruised slowly up toward Paris Old City.

	Her head was not nearly as calm as the Seine as she set the table and unpacked the food.  A flood of thoughts, suggestions, arguments and considerations rushed through it in a disordered jumble.  Then there were the specific decisions she had arrived at with Paul Eichelroth the day before.  

	“Why?” Helen thought.  “Why did I wait until I was here in Benson’s apartment before reviewing all this stuff?  God how dumb!”  	Fortunately the “busy work” with the food kept her from feeling any panic.  By the time she had him seated at his late breakfast and his coffee poured, she was very much in possession of her feelings.

	There wasn’t much question this was Fred Benson, despite the fact that he was registered as Edward Taft.  As Kensington’s mind calmed down, she came back into possession of her forty-five years of experience analyzing human beings.  The questions and topics that would give her the information she needed popped up automatically as they had five mornings a week in her birth lifetime, facing a classroom full of the younger specimens of this species.

	Fred Benson, who had spent a long night composing interminable explanations and justifications of his world view at the computer, was not in a hurry for her to leave.  It wasn’t that he made advances.  It was company he needed — a companion who spoke his native language with the same accent.  He asked her many questions about that accent, about who she was and where she had grown up, about what she was doing in Paris working for room service at the André Doucet, about her plans for the future.  Kensington was amazed at how little lying she had to do, the general structure of her life was not likely to arouse Benson’s suspicions, she only had to avoid being too specific in case he was up to date on new members of The Conference.

	As a result of his hung-over condition and her natural gift of rapport, Kensington spent the next three and a half hours chatting with Benson/Taft at the breakfast table, occasionally feeling in her left-hand apron pocket to be sure that the ctc-206 was still there.  She doubted very much that she would use it.  The ctc-206 would merely send 

Fred Benson back to Barney Shaw’s seventieth year.  The chemical age-reversal Shaw had received in 2065 had included such a response to this specific “designer gene”.  With median American life expectancies running at ninety-two years, he would have a longer and healthier life than either he or his fellow citizens had been able to expect back then.

	But she had spent hours on the phone with those whose judgments she trusted discussing the hazards of sending Fred Benson back to Barney Shaw’s seventieth year.  There was not only the uproar that would be caused by the appearance of an unwitting Shaw in the midst of 2084’s world, but the questions to be answered concerning Shaw’s thought processes and temperament.  Eichelroth kept bringing people back to the point that a man of average intelligence could not behave as stupidly as Fred Benson was behaving.  Until they knew and understood Benson’s motives, they could not enjoy the saintly sentiments expressed by those who recommended ctc-206.

	Which was why Kensington also checked out the right-hand pocket in her apron to see whether the gca-73 was still there.  As for proving Benson’s identity, Kensington had dozens of opportunities to get samples for DNA analysis during the constant activity of setting up his breakfast and clearing away the dishes.  She was able to select a perfect specimen when Benson found a piece of gristle in his bacon and spit it into his napkin.  Kensington won points as the world’s best waitress when she immediately whisked away the soiled napkin and replaced it with a new one.  

	Benson was impressed.  

	Benson was also analyzed.  Kensington had set up her equipment in the complicated heating table of the service cart.   She was now entering instructions into the computer to run a DNA test.  There was a small problem when it flashed up a query on its screen asking her whether she wanted the pig’s DNA or the human’s DNA but, when it was all finished, Benson/Shaw came out of the analyzer with a perfect score.

	As for his score in the Kensington test, it shuttled back and forth between high and low until they got off on the purpose of twenty-first-century life.  She made dozens of approaches to that productive subject, getting more information by the minute, until she stood up and offered Benson some more neo-aspirin capsules for his persistent headache.  When she brought them back from the medicine chest in the bathroom, Benson looked very carefully at the capsules.  He prided himself on being a very cautious man.  The gca-73 was in the water.

	It took less than twenty minutes for the gene to work, primarily because it had to deal with only a single type of cell.  It was tailored specifically to enter the usually closed neurons of the central nervous system and, once there, it had a very simple job to do.  Avoiding the cerebellum, motor cortex, medulla and anything that controlled Benson’s ability to coordinate his body’s activity, it was removing all the memories, temperamental and otherwise, that had modified that brain since his third year of infancy in 1997.  Fred Benson was on his way to becoming a happy camper for the rest of his physical life.

	At long last he regained complete consciousness and turned to look at her.  “Hello Eddy,” Kensington said.  “How are you feeling?” 

	“Want to go home,” Edward Taft pouted.

	“Of course you do, Eddy, and we can go home right away if you remember one single thing.”

	“What?”  

	“You have to remember your name, Eddy, or the people at home won’t like you.” 

	“Why?”

	“That’s just the way they are.  Now remember that your name is Eddy Taft.  Can you say that?”

	“I ‘member Eddy Taff.”

	“Very good, Eddy.  Very good!  Now they’ll like you at your new home.  They’ll like you very much.”

	Kensington looked around the room carefully to see if she had to fix anything up.  In order to avoid giving the least impression of wrongdoing, she had gone to a great deal of trouble to leave a clear trace of Helen Kensington from England to this room. She had registered each of  the money transfers from Paul Eichelroth’s account in her own name.   The central computer, following Eichelroth’s instructions, had accepted them.  Now she was bringing the public trip of Helen Kensington to a satisfactory close as she took “Edward Taft” by the arm and steered him down the corridor to the elevator.

	Making a great display of the hired hand tending to a wealthy invalid, she signed Taft out at the desk and paid up his bill in full from Eichelroth’s account, again countersigning it with her own name.

	Since the movement of all the hotel’s vehicles was centrally monitored, there was no point trying to hide her trip to the confinement home in Clichy.   She took her time maneuvering through the Old City on her way to the Rue Pouchet and ushered the happily chattering Benson through the main hall to the heavily paneled office.  When the manager showed up, Helen Kensington introduced her “Uncle Ed” and sat in silence while he was interviewed for the first time in his new home.  When it came time to sign the official papers and make the very large transfer of funds to the home, she signed in Edward Taft under the identity he had established for himself and transferred the money from Eichelroth’s account, signing her own name “Helen Shaw”.  She repeated a third time that Edward Taft had been staying at the André Doucet Hotel until this very day.

	The movements of Helen Kensington, having no significance, were soon buried on an optical disk of enormous size in a government storage cellar in the suburbs.  The record of “Helen Shaw” having brought little Edward Taft to the home in Clichy was available, however, for any visitor to examine   Those Conference members who were assigned to verify the fact that Barnard Shaw was born again on the twenty-sixth of May, twenty-one hundred and eighty-four had ample official records to guide their inspections.  They also had “Little Eddy” himself available for interviews.

	The Conference eventually sent three sets of inspectors to the Rue Pouchet, but its first priority was to get a report from the group that had carried out the rebirth.  Paul Eichelroth took responsibility for producing that report and he asked the principals to meet at NIH on the ninth of June.  By that time he expected to be finished with the intricate details of finding Perth enough funds to build the first Medford processing center in Australia.  They wouldn’t be ready until 2086, but it would be a welcome addition to The Conference with so many members appealing for expansion.

	It was decided to have the meeting over in Philip Werner’s office in the old Virology Building because a national convention was being held there and the seven Conference visitors would attract less attention in the crowd.  Walter Locke walked over with Hiram Weintraub and Mark Enders just as Edna Parsons arrived.  She gladly hid herself in the group since her presence would be a little hard to explain.  They had just settled in when Oliver Williams and Helen Kensington quietly knocked.  Paul Eichelroth came in, a bit breathless, a minute later.  Phil Werner offered them refreshments but when they saw the chaotic assembly of Erlenmeyer flasks and crayon-labeled containers filled with body parts and cloudy liquids on his bench, they lost any trace of thirst.

	“It’s appropriate this meeting is being held in my office,” Werner said.  “I was one of those who nominated Barney Shaw for processing in the first place.  And I was one of those who nominated him to be born again last month.  He was one of the people I most admired in this world — in the good days.  When he and George Hayden founded Shaw-Hayden in ‘43 I almost left my own ‘Placher Institute’ in Glendale and came east to join them.  I wish I had done just that.  Maybe all the trouble with the Faulk Committee could have been avoided.  

	“But enough ancient history.  I just want to say that the way things were handled with Fred Benson won my admiration all over again.”  He searched out Helen Kensington in the scattered group.  “That was masterful, Helen.  If I hadn’t met you when you were seventy years old I wouldn’t have believed it possible.  Anyone who could charm the socks off  Medford #1 the way you did could certainly handle the French nation with ease.  Paul?  Do you want to start us off?”

	“Yes, Phil, but I’d like to hear from Edna first.  I’ve been out of the mainstream for several weeks.  What have you heard about Conference reactions, Edna?” 

	“Largely the same as Phil’s.  People who can remember the Harrington rebirth or — worse yet — the boondoggle with Trivandrum, are sending accolades over the net.  The only exceptions are those who think Ted Benson/Barney Shaw was insane.  They point out that the Conference rules call for treatment in a psychiatric institution, not drastic memory removal with gca-73.  That group looks like about eight or nine percent of the members.”

	Eichelroth stood up in the corner.  “What should I put in about that, Helen?”

	Kensington gave a point-by-point review of her three-and-a-half-hour talk with Edward Taft.  She explained the purpose of her questions and the significance of his responses.  It amounted to a new textbook on the subject and, indeed, was informally used as such after Eichelroth’s lengthy report came out.  “So Barney wasn’t in the least crazy,”  she ended.  “He was the type of human being that is determined to have his own way, whatever it was and however he had to have it.  I used to get at least one of those in every class I taught.  They're no surprise.  Why do you think we humans have had so much trouble down through the centuries?  Wars. Terrorist attacks.  Continual struggles over this piece of land or that puddle of water.  You can call it self-assertive or bull-headed, depending on your feelings, but having his own way was more important to Barney than any other consideration on this earth.  I finally concluded that the extra 20 years The Conference had already given him since he was processed was all it ever owed him.  And since that debt was paid, the gca-73 was the proper choice.  It removed any possibility of his creating an international stir with claims of being Barney Shaw and it further removed the possibility that Barney’s temperament would lead him back to something just as destructive as his ‘end of death’ crusade.”

	The group showed the rush of elation that comes after one of its teammates hits a  home run.  Some members were almost ready to consider taking up Werner’s offer of refreshments, but a second glance at the bench made them think better of it.  They chatted in little clusters to catch up with activities here and there around the world and then leaked out of the office in the direction of the subway.  Ruth Parsons took Kensington under her wing to give her a tour of the capital in general and Langley, Virginia in particular.  Werner and Locke were earnestly talking to Mark Enders over by the window.  As Eichelroth headed for the door they motioned him to stay.

	Enders got to his side first.  “Paul, in your birth life you were a historian and, as I recall, that was a factor in wanting you in The Conference.  Well, I think we need a historian right now.”

	“What’s up, Mark?”

	“I guess you could say the Faulkners are up,”  Enders replied.

	“Oh, them!”  Eichelroth didn’t sound too concerned.

	They had rejoined the others and Walter Locke, the most concerned man on the planet, told Eichelroth what Larson had explained to him at the courthouse.

	“Oh, yes,”  Eichelroth said, “they are pretty upset these days.  But what Larson doesn’t know is that I’m one of the people who upset them.”

	“You?!”  Werner was the only one to find his voice.

	“And a few others.  We started circulating the ‘Division’ proposal a year and a half ago when it became clear the Faulkners were really not able to live in the modern world, even if they had wanted to.  It just wasn’t in the cards.”   Eichelroth searched his memory for details.  “Everybody we asked to study the matter came back with the conclusion that it was malicious and inhumane to keep trying to force the Faulkners into adopting modern ways — of thinking, of living, of raising their kids, of dealing with their neighbors, of looking at the universe.  In fact one study proved conclusively that we were violating their civil rights — within the full meaning of the law — and we could all be sent to jail for teaching modern biology and modern tolerance to the Faulkners and some other groups who felt more or less the same way.”

	“I never heard about this,”  Locke said.

	“No.  We kept it all pretty quiet.  We didn’t want to stir them up unnecessarily while we were looking into the matter.  The reports we circulated in Congress were handled almost like classified documents.  And the White House, in fact, stamped one of them ‘Top Secret”, which gave us a laugh.  But it was no joke — and now it has turned into a full-fledged movement, both in the legislature and the executive.”

	“What has?”

	“The Division.  We are planning to divide the world between them and us.”

�









Chapter Sixteen



	All Mark Enders could do was repeat Eichelroth’s words  —  “between them and us?”

	“You haven’t been keeping up with your reading, Mark.  You’ll find most of the documentation about this subject in The Conference net under ‘The Division’.”

	Walter Locke finally found his voice as well.  “You are planning to force people out of the country?”

	“Oh my God, no!  There isn’t any force involved.  That’s what we’re trying to remedy.  As it stands now, the modern people of the democracies are in the majority and they have the votes to keep on forcing the twenty-first century down the Faulkners’ throats whether they like it or not.  That’s force.  And that’s what we’ve been doing to these people since the middle of the eighteenth century.  It has really been cruel, Walt.  Just think about it a while.”

	“What do you mean by ‘division’, then?”

	 “The plan so far is to offer everyone the homeland of his choice.  For those who cannot live without the old-fashioned ideals of universal culture and uniformity of thought and behavior, we will try to arrange a territory or a set of territories where they can have their drug laws and censorship and all the other features of their ideal world.  Then they can rule it to their hearts’ content.  Our studies have found that those same people suffer emotional torment today from living in nations with genetic engineering, virus clinics, cloning and molecular food,”  Eichelroth nodded toward Locke.    “We think we know how to set up territories, within their own countries, where they can be free of these abominations.  We call the two kinds of territories Modern and Traditional.”

	“Modern and Traditional.”  Mark Enders was still repeating.

	“What about the people already living in a region that gets declared Traditional?”  Werner asked.

	“If they prefer to live in the Modern world we will re-locate them in it.  If they want to give the Traditional world a try for a while, so be it.  They keep their options open forever, really.  All any of the inhabitants of a traditional territory need to do if they decide they want to go ‘modern’ is to pass an examination that shows they can function productively in the Modern world.”

	“But this ‘division’ is just what Lincoln gave his life to avoid,” Locke pointed out.  “It is what we fought a civil war to prevent!”

	“That is exactly right,” said Eichelroth.  “And since everyone who has been working on this project thoroughly admires Abraham Lincoln, that particular fact has caused a state of perpetual anxiety among us.  As the proposal now stands, the Modern constitution will rule in the Traditional territories whenever individual rights are concerned.  Modern law can intervene on behalf of a mistreated citizen and free emigration is permitted.  But in every other aspect of territorial life the Faulkners can govern by religious law or Druidical conventions or instructions from aliens in UFOs if eighty-five percent of that region’s residents vote for it in a referendum.”

	“Does this thing make economic sense?” Enders asked.

	“The most recent paper I’ve read on the subject concludes that it does,” Eichelroth replied.  “It also points out that what we are proposing would have been completely impossible before the middle of the twentieth century, since we used to live off a primarily agricultural economy.  What has made the Division possible is the fact that modern technology provides a living for ten times the number of people engaged in production.  Twentieth-century agriculture can easily provide for the Faulkners in their territories — and any other economic problems they run into can be readily solved by imports of equipment or techniques from outside.”

	“But I still can’t shake off the fact that you’re proposing the balkanization of the world!”  Locke said.  “This is the very opposite direction humanity has been taking for a hundred years!”

	“Yes it is.  That is certainly true.  And we should be ashamed of ourselves.  Our majorities have been acting like a bunch of bullies in the school yard.  They are beginning to realize it, however.  I’m happy to say that most of the world’s nations have largely signed on to the ‘Division’ — at least in principle.  This isn’t just the partition of the United States, but of over seventy percent of today’s modern nations.  And I must admit that this does mean the creation of a bunch of small Balkan states, each hostile to its neighbors and, indeed, hostile to the outside world.  If nationalist warfare were still possible, this proposal would be insane.  But with the existing system of arms control, I don’t see any re-emergence of a problem along the lines of the Balkans.”

	“It’s still ‘division’, Paul, just as your plan is called.  It is a division of the human race between ‘them’ and ‘us’.  And that’s just what we have been moving away from.”

	“Exactly!  And moving toward a universal planetary despotism.  That’s right, Walt.  We have been telling people to accept the magnificent scientific advances of the modern world or get off the planet.  There are entire regions on this earth where that is an unbearable torment.  An unbearable torment.  What purpose are we serving by forcing them to accept our view of paradise at the point of a gun?  The concept of a uniform world is merely the old tribalism of Neolithic times transplanted into the minds of today’s bureaucrats and politicians.”

	Eichelroth had been sitting down too long.  He continued talking now while pacing back and forth between Phil Werner’s open windows and the computer console around which the group was clustered.  “You say the word ‘division’ as though it were an obscenity, Walt.  But our species has undergone two fundamental divisions in its evolutionary career — and each of them has improved our lot beyond measure!   You have to look at the basic picture of who we are and where we came from.  Until about fifteen million years ago we all belonged to the same species of ape in central Africa — all of us living in trees in lush rain forests with plenty of food and very few enemies.  No Division.  No separate nations.  No ethnic groups.  We all looked the same and swung from branches the same way and ate the same fruits.   

	“But then there was a division.  A tremendous division.  It happened when the crust of the earth heaved up in the eastern half of Africa and raised it high above the rest, dividing the continent into two different regions.  Those humid air currents that used to provide our heavy rains cooled off as they hit the rift and they dropped most of that moisture into the valley before they came to us..  Up on the eastern plains, our part of that species of ape watched the jungle die out and leave clumps of thin forest here and there with grasslands in between.  The plains were filled with swift predators and scattered food.  The best way we could find to get around and to escape predators was to scamper on our hind legs from one clump of trees to another.  It kept us alive.”

	Eichelroth looked longingly at Werner’s flasks but thought better of it, the subject of survival was fresh in his mind.  “Aside from keeping us alive, our new trick of tottering about on our hind legs freed up our forelegs for other uses.  Eventually, on the ends of those forelegs, we developed new uses for our hands.  And that initiated a whole lot of changes, in our lifestyle and in our bodies, that eventually wound up creating what I see before me here in this office —  two-legged apes with very clever hands.

	“So that was the first division.  We had been divided from our western brethren — still swinging from the branches down there in the western rain forests.  The tremendous change in our environmental circumstances had created two very different sets of animals:  our ancestral apes climbing trees in the age-old way and the two-legged apes that had evolved in the grasslands up to the east.  Two-legged apes that developed the ability to turn sounds into language and scratches in clay into writing.  But two-legged apes that still had one important characteristic they had inherited from their ancestors:   ‘monkey see, monkey do’.  They made their way in life by imitating what they saw others of their own species doing.”

	“The Harcourt Thesis,” Werner mumbled.

	“Exactly,” Eichelroth said.  “Jacques Harcourt wrote his famous book on the role of mimicry in human evolution over forty years ago, but people in general didn’t recognize the importance of what he was saying until the last ten years or so.  He traced everything we did for the past two million years to an ability to watch somebody else make a hut out of palm leaves or put a thatched roof on a house or spin vegetable fibers into thread  —  and then do it ourselves sometime later.    ‘Monkey see, monkey do’.

	“And we mimicked nature.  We learned about fire from naturally occurring forest fires, we learned about bridges from fallen trees across streams.  Harcourt showed how the civilizations of Mankind launched themselves by imitating whatever was successful in our predecessors or the natural world around us — whatever was clearly visible and straightforward enough to be copied.  

	“And we kept on doing that, down through the centuries, each group copying from the others, until two or three hundred years ago, when the second rift was created in the conditions of our life, another major division in our species, the rift between what we could see and imitate in our surroundings and what we could not see with our eyes but could only visualize in our ‘mind’s eye’.

  	“There’s your second division, Mark.  That’s the one that created the modern world and made it so intrinsically different from the natural worlds of mankind. That’s the world that sputtered around in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, finally got going in the eighteenth century and exploded in the nineteenth century.  That’s our world.  This one.”

	“Yes,” Enders said, “but it was sputtering even before then — some Greeks in classical times and some others in centuries later on.”

	“Exactly.  And the fact that the Anatolian Greeks could ‘see’ geometrical laws and atoms and the semantical rules of nature tells us that it wasn’t some magic potion that the human race drank in the eighteenth century, but it was a latent capability that had always been there and was now getting used.  But used only by some people in some places.  It was the second division of our species because, while most of the world continued moving along at a thatched-roof pace, our world, the modern world, changed drastically and fundamentally.  The sight of hordes of men cutting stone and piling it up to make buildings was replaced by machines pouring concrete and powerful cranes lifting steel beams that went soaring into the sky.   The drudgery of men and animals hauling loads across the landscape became the work of steam engines, then trucks, then airplanes, then Graf tubes.  Fighting deadly diseases with the silly potions and sucking leeches of yesterday’s medicine men became the re-arrangement of molecular dislocations by today’s scientists.”

	Eichelroth stopped pacing.  “And none of those things could be imitated by seeing them in action — there wasn’t anything to see.  There weren’t any thatched roofs to copy, no logs to put across the stream.  The methods and tools of the modern world were thoughts, not primitive movements that could be copied by watching them a few times.”

	He laughed at a sudden memory.   “Back in the last century, some stone-agers in New Guinea built imitation airplanes out of sticks and leaves to ‘attract’ the wonderful cargo planes that flew overhead.  They hoped that their artificial ‘bird machines’ would bring modern cargoes to the clever tribesmen.   But it didn’t work — the world was no longer a world of imitation.  The functioning of the things around us is no longer visible, no longer self-explanatory.  The self-evident world we had inhabited for four million years was gone!  It was replaced by an environment of impenetrable mysteries.  The Faulkners recoiled in horror and created for themselves a set of mysteries they felt more comfortable with, a world of  magical forces and evil spirits.  Electricity and asbestos and alar and dairy-cow steroids terrified them.   Radon, nuclear power and the very chemicals of our carbon-based existence on this planet became their ‘devils’.  If they could avoid these perils by forcing them out of modern life, they thought they could live forever.  But let a puff of secondary tobacco smoke drift in the window, let someone use a cellular telephone in the go-cart next to them, and they’d be dead in their beds before morning.”

	There was a loud noise in the corridor.  Phil Werner went out to investigate and found that a six-wheeled cart carrying a heavy distillation assembly had tipped over. No one was injured but the apparatus was seriously damaged.   “You see, Paul,”  he said when he returned, “the hazards of life are all around us.”

	“And they’re frightening,” Eichelroth said, “they’re really frightening.  When we didn’t know what had happened out there, we were anxious about it.  Well, the Faulkners are permanently anxious about this entire world we’ve forced them to live in.  And since most of us realize that we are far more secure with respect to basic survival than we were a century ago, we’ve had a tendency to ridicule them about their fears instead of trying to shield them from that constant anxiety.”

	“We can’t psychoanalyze eight percent of the population, Paul.”

	“No, but we can provide them with a world that doesn’t scare them, Mark — and that’s what the Division is all about.”

	“Wow!” said Locke.  “That certainly is a colossal proposition to wade through in a single morning.”

	“Yes and it can’t be done,” Eichelroth said.  “Believe me, I tried to do it in ‘82.  It takes a couple months to set up all the pieces, even the ones you already know about, like descendent modification.  Or cloning.  Or baby batches — but they’ve largely disappeared since the rigorous family-size legislation.”

	“Yes, but I see the king of Burma had dodecatuplets last year.  He had cloned embryos implanted in twelve women, so now he has twelve decendants just like him.”

	“And did the world come to an end, Phil?”

	“Can’t say that it did, Paul, but we now have thirteen too many of that particular specimen.”

	The group laughed, but it showed by its restlessness that it was time to break up.  Phil Werner said what they all felt.  “We haven’t accomplished what we started out to do, but I guess this ‘Division’ stuff is more important than local Faulkner politics.  I have to agree that it stirs up a lot of anxiety, and probably anger, among them when we force our world down their throats.  No matter how benign our intentions might be, they would still see it as force, as the ‘dictatorship of the majority’.  I think we should talk again, though, after we know what’s happening.    We can do it over the net now, since it is safe again.”

	They all agreed and left the office at intervals.  Mark Enders waited outside the front entrance and walked Walter Locke over to his office in the Molecular Biology labs.  “I should have told them about a rumor floating around the university these days,” Enders said, as they walked along Center Drive.  “The distinguished senators from Massachusetts, both of them, slipped a requirement into the budget-authorization bill for Walter Reed Hospital that the first proven genetic-engineering technique for IQ enhancement must be made available to members of Congress on a priority basis.  I wonder if the Faulkners would protest about that.”

	“I certainly wouldn’t,” Locke said.   Senators certainly need IQ enhancement  more than any other living creatures.  But I’d prefer honesty enhancement.”

	“Always the dreamer, Walt.  Always the dreamer.”

	“Actually, there have been IQ boosters tried, here and there,” Locke said.  “Not in the United States, but in other countries.  I know of a prime minister who had an occipital plate implanted — with a radio link to the government’s main computer.”

	“Already!  We aren’t even close to that sort of thing yet!”

	“So he found out.  He went stark, staring mad and jumped out of a fourteen-story window.”

	“Well I sympathize with his unique aspiration to be a knowledgeable politician, but I’m afraid somebody sold him a bill of goods.”

	“Hyper-salesmanship has been one of the problems, but another one is competition.  The Albanian soccer team was pure nationalism — and nobody can figure out who to be sorry for.”

	“That’s something The Conference is working on,” Mark said.

	“What is?”

	“The status of clones.  We have all agreed we don’t have any right to tell the Albanians they can’t clone their world-champion soccer player into as many copies as they see fit.  But who is what at the border?  All the passport regulations and the strict immigration rules these days center around individual identification.  The clones are only nine years old now but what happens when they want to play as a team in foreign countries?  Who is any one of them?  No earthly way to tell.  No DNA test, no physical measurement of any kind.  No photograph in a passport.  The problem is mind-boggling.”

	“How wonderful it is to replace the problems of World War Two with eleven Albanian clones.”

	“World what?  Oh, World War Two.  The one you started.”   Erwin Medford, now a student of history named Mark Enders, had always found it fascinating that Locke had originally been born on September 1, 1939.

	Locke grinned at the young student whose brilliant work at the turn of the century had solved the complex problems of age reversal.  He held his office door open for him.  The first thing he saw when he turned around was his computer screen reaching almost to the ceiling flashing “attention” calls.  They both went over and started reading down the wall in reverse order, finding nothing of any importance in a single report.  “Now there you are, Mark.  There you are!  I set up that browser just last week to filter out all this nonsense and it has leaked back in again.”

	 “Shouldn’t have,” Enders said.  “It isn’t working right.”  He tapped a few new instructions into Locke’s browser program and told it to review the material again.  The list went three-quarters of the way up the wall.  “That’s crummy, Walt.  Let me see if . . . hey!  Your browser doesn’t have an alias function.”

	“What’s that?”

	“It’s your only protection against the modern world.”  Enders shut down the program and turned around.  “Get rid of this thing, Walt.  Download Dick Hoover’s browser off The Conference net and activate the alias function.  Then when these clowns change their names and addresses, the program will observe one disappearing and the other popping up and assign it an alias.  It will still filter it out under the new name but keep looking for the types and categories you want.  Enough of this!”  Enders gestured up at the wall screen which was just now fading down to black.

	“I really thank you, Mark.  This is the third or fourth time you’ve saved my bacon with computers.  I just don’t get the hang of them.”

	“Nonsense!  You work miracles with your carbon-based program.  I’ve seen you do it.”

	“Oh, that.  That’s not computers.  That’s chemistry.”

	Enders started to laugh and suddenly stopped.   “Actually, Jacques Harcourt pointed out something like this in that book of his.  It might be part of the explanation of the Faulkners.”

	“What’s that?”

	“Remember what he said about our developing speech about two hundred thousand years ago — about the change in our spinal attachment to the head that opened up room for the larynx?”

	“More or less.  What do you have in mind?”

	“Harcourt pointed out that we have been passing on information to each other at a high rate ever since then.  

‘A dangerous animal is coming this way.’   

‘There are poisonous snakes in that cave.’   

‘The volcano has started to smoke.’   

	One person sees it, he tells another, the two of them tell many others.  Pretty soon almost everyone ‘knows’ what originally was seen by only one.”

	Locke didn’t have to ask Enders what he’d like to drink, he had never once passed up a Toledo Fizz.  As Locke handed him the bubbling glass, Enders was saying,  “So he took us down through the centuries and showed how this natural process had informed mankind until, about five thousand years ago, we expanded our power to pass along information by inventing written language, then six hundred years ago, we speeded it up again with printing. Two hundred years ago, radio.  A hundred forty years, television.  Then satellite communications.  Harcourt pointed out that the exponential increase in the various processes we use to inform each other had put us in instantaneous touch with every nitwit on the planet.  Every simpleton.  Every neurotic.  Every gabby nincompoop.  What threatens the species today is the fact that there is a tremendous amount of misinformation in the system.  Most of what is spoken and written today is sheer nonsense.  To repeat what one hears on television or downloads from the Internet is to decrease the human race, to despoil civilization, to trash the human mind.  And it comes to us through four hundred and thirty channels — at last count.”

	Locke chuckled.

	“And I’m only counting those in English,” Enders added.

	Locke laughed.

	“So what we could say is that a Faulkner might just be someone who has a lousy browser,” Enders concluded.

	Locke was having difficulty catching his breath.  It wasn’t just the way Enders presented Harcourt’s case as it was the welcome relief he felt from the depth of his personal resentment toward the Faulkners.  “Mark, you are always the greatest cheerer-upper in the world.  I wish you would move in here and never stop talking.”

	“Oh, Walt!  I forgot to tell you — a friend of mine is meeting me here at . . .”  Enders squirmed around in his chair to see the clock,  “at right about now.”

	“Does he know his way around NIH?”

	“Well yes, she does.  She grew up in Huntington — right across the road over there.”

	“Oh, it’s Liu Ning!”

	“Give the man a cigar!”

	“She’s coming over from home?”

	“No,  She’s been at some seminar at the university.  You know Walt, this new system is a hundred times better than the one we went through in twentieth-century colleges.  Liu Ning is a colleague at Georgetown — not what we used to call a co-ed back in the adolescent boot-camp days.”

	“My gosh, we are getting nostalgic here.”

	“Yes we are but, as you know, I’m glad those days are gone forever.  It certainly is nice, working with Ning on the same project.  I can remember the old days — dates and socials and bull sessions.  They were not the way to find out anything about someone you . . . might get serious about.”

	“Serious?  Well that’s splendid, Mark!  I didn’t know things had gone that far.  And I agree with you — doing the world’s real work with someone is certainly the best way to find out whether you want to keep on doing the world’s real work with that someone.  Is ‘Ning’ short for something else?”

	“No, that’s her whole name, her whole first name.  But she puts it last, in the old way —  Liu Ning.  Her family got in the habit back in the 1900s and just kept it up because of all the data bases that registered them as Liu something.  I’ve never met them but they sound terrific.  That’s where we’re going when Ning gets here.  We’re going to walk over home for lunch.”

	“You are old fashioned, Erwin Medford!  She’s taking you home to be scanned by the family!  Wow!”

	Enders was very pleased.  “Isn’t it wonderful?  But she’s the most modern human being on the planet, Walter.  You wouldn’t believe what she has figured out in twenty years.  I bet she scores up in the 700s on everything by the time she’s old enough to be considered . . . “

	“Careful, Mark.   Careful.  It’s a bad idea to go down that road.  You know that.  The worst possible idea.”

	Enders’ face froze as he realized what he had been doing.  “Yes.  Yes, you’re right.”  

	The two old friends were silent for long minutes.  

	“I’ve never done that before.”  Enders sank back into the depths of Locke’s best “body chair” and looked worried.  “Thanks for catching me, Walt.  I guess we can blame it on nostalgia.”

	“Well I’ve done it myself, more than once.  With Renée.  It’s hell on earth!”

	“I can easily imagine.  It will be up to The Conference, after all.  And if I start this sort of thing I can bring some real heartache to our whole family — if Ning will have me — if we have a family, or . . .”

	Enders stopped his verbal wandering when the approach tone sounded softly at Locke’s console.  Enders was at the door by the time Liu arrived.  He ushered her in and she said hello to Locke.

	“It seemed like I interrupted a gloomy conversation,” Liu said.  “Was it?”

	“Yes.  We were talking about college education.”

	“College?”

	“Yeah.  It’s history, sort of.  Walter was saying that back in the old days we . . . they used to educate people differently — in huge gangs of adolescents that gathered . . . ”

	“Oh yes, I’ve read about that.  They used to sit in big rooms and listen to somebody talk.  They spent years just doing that, didn’t they?”

	“That’s right,” Locke said.

	Liu looked puzzled.  “But my technology-history program tells me they had computers back then, which makes it a little difficult to understand what their problem was.  Why did they go long distances away and sit in big rooms?”

	“Well that’s how it started in the twelfth century,” Locke answered.

	“And they didn’t fix it up until the twenty-first!?”

	“That’s about the size of it.  It takes Homo Sapiens a long time to adjust to new conditions, I guess.”

	“Why?”

	Enders jumped into the conversation.  “It happens when it involves millions of people.  As long as most of them aren’t unhappy about something, it stays the same — they’d rather keep tradition instead of risking something new.  But if they are really suffering — I mean a clear majority of them are really suffering — then they’ll give something new a try.  Back in the 1900s there weren’t enough people who realized they were suffering.  They were  — but in ways they didn’t understand yet.”

	“Where’d you read that?”  Liu asked.

	“Oh . . . it must be . . . well I assume it’s in our education program somewhere,” Enders sputtered.

	“Not the part about the majority of people suffering and all.”

	“No.  No . . . I think that’s in another program.”

	Fortunately for Enders, Liu dropped the subject of his sources of information.  “It’s hard to imagine hordes of students going those long distances to find something out.  When I want to understand something, I switch in a memory bank and talk it over with the person who discovered it, or invented it, or figured it out, or . . . ”

	“. . . or someone who can explain it better than the original inventor,” Locke said.

	“Right!  Is that who was talking in those big rooms?”  Liu asked.

	Locke laughed.  “No! Not by a long shot!  Most of those talkers were either dull tools or they were making up facts to fit their own half-baked notions of the world.”

	“But then why . . . why go thousands of miles away to do such a silly thing?”

	“Aside from the inertia,” Enders said,  “it was the primary way people like us met each other.”

	“People like us?”  Liu laughed.  “There should have been a law against it!”�













Chapter Seventeen



	Locke craned his neck to follow Enders and Liu out the front door and down toward Lincoln Street.  They were holding hands.  	The sight of them took him back twenty years to his younger days with Renée, their long walks along the Charles River, their marriage and the birth of Claudia, then John.  He wanted to stay with the pleasant memories of the ‘60s — wanted to ask himself, the young man of the 2060s, what he thought of the “Division”.  And what about Walter Locke as a young man of the 1960s?  What would he have thought of splitting the country into antagonistic pieces?   Locke longed to sit down over at the window and talk with his idealistic antecedent of a hundred thirty years ago about this stunning plan to split the citizenry into separate worlds with contrary sets of goals and aspirations — one looking to a divine creator for its guidance, the other looking to the human mind to serve as creator.

	Eichelroth claimed that guidance from a “divine creator” was a fiction, that religious ethics and moral laws were merely fig leaves covering the tribal prejudices and primitive superstitions of those intellectually or emotionally incapable of functioning in a world of free human beings.  He claimed that the prominent Faulkner leaders were cynical opportunists riding on the easy persuasion of a limp-witted rabble.  What would Locke’s young man of the 1960s have thought of that kind of talk?

	So much had happened since then.  The world had changed so drastically.  America had changed so profoundly.  How could he get in touch with himself across so many decades?

	Locke opened his mind and let the ideas and arguments, the words and the phrases from that long-lost time float back into it.  How little we understood ourselves back then.  How little we exercised the power of speech to communicate our knowledge and how much we used it to express our emotions.  How careless we were during the process of forming beliefs and, once formed, how violently we forced them on everyone else.  Mankind would never have achieved its present level of knowledge in that environment.

	The modern people of the world had transformed public opinion several times since then.  They had been forced to pay attention to their motives, to understand each other rationally, to stop demonizing each other.  They had been forced to understand the past and the present in order to move ahead into the future.

	No, that young man so long ago wouldn’t have understood the first sentence Locke spoke today.  With a sense of estrangement he had never felt before, Locke realized that each year that separated him from himself at any age had piled up thoughts and experiences that separated his mind now from his mind then.  He would get no comforting conversation with his younger self — of the 1960s or of the 2060s — about the puzzling problems of 2084.  He would get no useful insights.  The realization severed him from the comfortable roots of his own past that he would like to consult on this troubling afternoon.  But whatever century Locke preferred to be living in, he had pressing duties right now in the 2080s — he had five urgent flags on his screen.

	The first two were connected.  The Oak Ridge Hydrogen Plant in Wellton, Arizona was calling to discuss long-range plans and The Conference was informing him it had a solution to the problem of revealing Medford’s bacterial stabilization process.

	He read the Conference instructions first and found an elegant answer to his question.  He was to go to Wellton himself with a ten-liter supply of the Medford stabilization brew — with all of the confidential parts prepared beforehand.   Since Tak needed, at most, a milliliter of the concoction, he would have thousands of times more than he would ever require.  The Conference would put the existence of the stabilizer out on the Internet and publicize the fact that Wellton had plenty of it.  NIH’s agreement with Wellton would specify that they must make it freely available to one and all — thus the needs of the medical and biological communities would be met without revealing any details of the Medford process.

	Locke put a carefully worded version of that proposition into an e-mail to Tak, telling him that he could expect another visit from Jerry.   He  deleted two flags.

	The third one was from Shanghai.  Oliver Williams was helping his new-found friends finance a processing center that would be named Shanghai #2.  He had several technical questions about costs and specifications.  It took Locke about twenty minutes to send him the answers.

	The fourth involved arrangements being made to substitute the advice of several Conference biologists for the advice Fred Benson used to give the Shaw-Hayden descendent modification laboratory.  Locke had volunteered his area of expertise to the group whose members were scattered all over the world.  They were setting up a conference code that would enable them to receive Shaw-Hayden queries collectively and get a chance to discuss them before settling on a Conference answer to the problem.  Since Benson had always consulted over the net and hadn’t visited the laboratory in person, the plan would work out quite well.

	The fifth was from the State Department.  Locke read it with a growing sense of irony — State wanted his help with a development project in Burma.  His emotional maturity prevented him from saying “drop dead!” — so he had to force himself to work on the problem.  It turned out that the US had built a huge nuclear power reactor near Yangon in the south of Burma and a high-tension line was under construction to take the electricity up as far as Mandalay in the north.  Some property owners along the route were stirring up local resistance to the transmission line by telling everyone they would die of cancer from the electric fields.  Would Locke send State technical facts to refute the provocation?

	Locke asked his computer how many times he had provided that answer — it turned out to be 76.  He called up the standard response and added a bit of color to demonstrate (at least to himself) that he bore State no hard feelings.  He drew a picture of the radiation around the line.  It carried 500,000 volts — that meant 5,000 volts at ground level.  Since the frequency in Burma was 50 Hertz, that 5000 volts was spread over a distance of 3000 kilometers.  He drew a picture of a Burmese peasant standing directly under the power line.  The radiation put two thousandths of a volt across the peasant’s shoulders.  That two thousandths was spread over a hundred thousand cells from shoulder to shoulder, which inflicted Locke’s peasant with a radiated voltage of two hundredths of a microvolt across each cell in his body.  Since each cell was generating eighty-five thousand microvolts across its own membrane by natural processes, the radiation was adding or subtracting less than a millionth part of the natural bio-potential of a Burmese cell.

	Locke drew a little cartoon to sum up of all these numbers.  On one side he drew a picture of a human cell being bombarded with the radiation from an electric power line.  On the other he drew a picture of a little boy throwing a ping-pong ball at Grand Coulee Dam.  He put an equal sign in between the two drawings and hoped the Burmese got the point.  With a strong sense of ambivalence, Locke put the whole thing into an NIH report and sent it off to the State Department.

	Feeling he had given The Conference ample time to deal with his problem with Laos, the Department of State, the Congress of the United States,  the “Return to Morality” movement and a judge in the Federal Court of Northern Virginia, Locke punched his computer over to Conference code and typed out an inquiry about the status of The Conference’s solution to Walter Locke.  It was late afternoon when the answer came.

	“After due consideration of the material factors affecting the legal problems of Walter H. Locke  (c.f. Peter Ramsay death and aftermath), it is the consensus of The Conference that Locke be placed in emergency processing status pending the outcome of his extradition hearing, as yet unscheduled.”  The stilted language of the formal Conference pronouncement went on to say that Locke’s next persona and all its particulars must be chosen now and, if an attempt was made to extradite him, he would be taken at once, by confidential Conference means, to whatever processing center in the world was free or nearly free, to convert him into someone else.  

	Locke sat as if hypnotized — staring at the tidy print and double-lined borders of the Conference “solution”.  

	A while later he typed in the necessary instructions to Takeo Sato to prepare him for the delivery of the disguised Medford solution.  He warned Tak obliquely not to reveal his arrival to anyone at Wellton.  They still had no idea who had notified the two men who had been looking for Locke outside the field station.  He called Claudia to see if Jerry could drive over tonight and do a repeat performance.  When she said he could, Locke prepared to go home.  He saved everything to disk and shut down his computer, then started for the door.

	He was putting his glass back in the fluid dispenser when there was a solid knock on it from the other side. Locke jumped and called “Come in”.  The opening door revealed Phil Werner.

	“Oh, Walt.  I’m glad I caught you. Did you happen to read the Conference suggestion for supplying Medford’s bacterial stabilization technique to any researchers who need it?”

	“I’m on my way out there now, Phil, but don’t tell any non-Conference people about it.  The courts have tied me to the local area — within twenty kilometers.  I’ll have to sneak out there to do this job.”

	“Really, Walt, this business with Ramsay is becoming a monster!  Have you seen the Conference plan to deal with that?”

	“I’ve seen it.”

	 “Well that solves everything.  You should . . .”

	“That solves NOTHING!”  Locke shouted.  “NOTHING!”  He threw the glass across the room where it shattered against the leg of a table.

	Werner was taken completely by surprise.  No previous encounter with Walter Locke had prepared him for a display of emotion anywhere near this intense.  “What’s happened?  What is it, Walt?”

	“What’s happened?”  Locke went back to his desk and calmly sat down as if shattering glassware were a daily part of his routine.  “I’ll tell you what’s happened.  The Conference has decided to kill off Renée’s husband and wipe out the father of our children.”  He was talking again in his everyday voice.  “My kids see every detail of my legal problems on the net every day, so now The Conference wants to clear all the problems away by killing off their father.”

	Locke casually went over to get himself another fizz, then came back and looked out the window.  “Claudia . . . John . . . Renée”   He turned to face Werner.  “These people mean the world to me, Phil.  The Conference is preoccupied with its own business and doesn’t give a damn about the human aspect of all this.”

	Philip Werner’s face displayed horror and sadness in equal proportions.  “Walter!  Oh God, Walter!  I might be responsible for this.”

	“You, Phil?  Not by a long shot.  It’s just these world statesmen who see human problems from synchronous orbit —  my family doesn’t mean a thing to them.”

	“No, Walt, I mean it.  It was that day when we talked about my being called before Senator Faulk’s Committee — when we talked about my being Hans Placher.     Remember?   The mad scientist.  Implacable Placher?”  Werner’s huge bulk seemed to shrink back into the corner next to the door.  “During those hearings the intensity of Faulk’s attack worried The Conference and they decided to put an end to it.  They processed me the next year and I became Philip Werner.”  He turned a pleading face toward Locke.  “Oh, Walt!  It was such a marvelous relief!  It solved so many problems!  I thought it would do the same for you.  I put it on the net as a suggestion.  For all I know, this Conference decision is my fault.”

	Locke said nothing.  He sat rigidly staring at Werner as decades of thoughts and memories tumbled through his brain in a random sequence.   He had no mind left over to form words to comfort his tormented friend.  The age of reason, of self-understanding!  He certainly failed that test.  “Of course this would look like a reasonable solution to Phil Werner,” Locke thought to himself.   “What am I thinking of?   Synchronous orbit!  Rubbish?  That’s paranoid!   These are just people trying to get me out of a jam.  What do I expect from them?”  He was  ashamed of himself and resolved to think this whole mess through at the first opportunity.

	In the meantime Locke made a stumbling apology for his ill temper, explaining to Werner his own preoccupations.  When the explanations were finished, Locke thanked him for trying to solve his problems with the law.  Werner went away in reasonably good spirits.

	With enough daylight left to show off his performance, Locke made a noisy exit and drove home via the very public Beltway.  When he got to Forest Glen he put the NIH go-cart in the garage and closed the door.  Inside the house, conspiracy saturated the air.  Even level-headed Renée took Locke upstairs to help him with his disguise.  From the doorway, Claudia provided expert advice while John kept a lookout downstairs for the real Jerry.  When he arrived, they ate hand-snacks in the dark and then executed their well-rehearsed departure scene to go to the Metro.

	Since both tube and rental car people had seen him in San Diego and El Paso, Locke took the direct route to Phoenix this time.  He played the young lad visiting his retired grandparents, asking directions to Sun City, conspicuously driving straight out Route 10 as shown on the map in his touring car, but then turning south on old Route 80 to head for Antelope Hill.   Miyamoto had waited up for him — Takeo was collapsed on the sofa after one of his fourteen-hour days.  They put the carefully padded flasks of Medford solution in the huge Sato refrigerator and she chatted with Locke until his adrenaline ran down enough so he could get to sleep himself.

	In the morning the three of them sat at the breakfast table and tried to solve the puzzle of the day.

	“I ran checks on everyone I could think of,”  Sato was saying.  “You remember that reporter who stuck to me like glue when I called you about the drop in output?”

	“Oh indeed I do,”  Locke answered.  “He almost made communication impossible.  I’m glad you thought of the panel and food business.  I don’t know anything else that would have been clear enough to break through all that nonsense.”

	“Close call,” Sato said.  “Well, he checked out okay.  A legitimate page manager.  Eager to get hold of a big story.  Apparently put two and two together himself.  So he’s not our man.  I haven’t been able to find out what that guy meant when he said it was a tip from here.  What did he mean by ‘here’?   Wellton?  The plant?”

	“Then there was that car at the bottom of the hill,” Miyamoto said.

	“Yes!  We had some excitement around here after you left the last time,”  Sato said.  “Miya kept seeing this blue and white touring car on Avenue 35.  Just parked on the side of the road facing our house.  Sometimes two guys in it, sometimes one.  I asked the local police to check it out and they turned up two people.   From Arkansas, of all places.”

	“They said they were tourists,” Miyamoto volunteered.

	“Yes.  It was unfortunate the sheriff sent his deputy.  He didn’t ask any of the questions he should have asked.  We know their names and home addresses but, without making them account for themselves, we really can’t fit them into any picture.”

	“Well that’s certainly excitement,” Locke said.  “I wonder if they were the same two we saw out at the field station.”

	“So do I.”  Sato shook his head.  “But I’m afraid we’ll never know.  And why Arkansas?”

	“It’s a long way from home,” Miyamoto said.

	“Was there any commercial tie-in?” Locke asked.  “Energy suppliers?  Dealers?  Something to do with the plant’s troubles?”

	“Nothing like that.  One is a farmer and the other is a veterinarian in Little Rock.  And remember, it was you they spoke about — as if their interest was more in biology than in hydrogen.”

	“The only external connection I found,” said Miyamoto, “was that the guy named Larrimer, the veterinarian, used to work for a senator.”

	Sato smiled.  “Miya is the family computer whiz.  She can really make those things sing when she gets going.  She did most of the searching.  We have legal entry into almost every data bank in the country — because of the plant.”

	Locke put down his spoon and looked intently at Miyamoto.  “Do you happen to remember which senator he was working for?”

	“No,” she said, “but the computer certainly does.”  She spoke out some programmed phrases and asked the name.  The computer answered in a mechanical voice that it had been Senator Joseph Faulk of Arkansas.  She asked when.  The voice said from 2054 to 2060.  She asked how old Larrimer had been.  The voice said he started at the age of 25 and left Faulk’s staff when he was 31.

	“That would make him 55 today,” Locke said.  “Does that fit what the deputy found out?”

	“Yes, he’s the one, all right,” Miyamoto said.  “Does that explain anything?”

	“It helps,” Locke said.  He gave them a warmed-over version of Larson’s thesis on the Faulkners, but he still wasn’t clear in his own mind how he himself fit into the picture.

	“It all adds up to trouble, Walt.  If these guys mean you harm like your lawyer says, then they’d be tickled to death to find you out here in Arizona.  Without asking Miya to work it out on her miraculous machine, I’d guess this is farther than 20 kilometers away from Arlington, Virginia.”

	Sato’s jest broke the spell and they worked out some plans to deliver the Medford solution to the proper places without putting Locke at risk.   There was no remote field site this time — Locke would have to go into Wellton itself to access the plant’s central bacterial reservoir.   He had slept all night in his Jerry disguise and it had become uncomfortable over the cheekbones.  Locke took off the tight vertical strips and left them in the disguise case.  “After all,” he said.  “No one out here knows what Jerry really looks like.”

	They used Locke’s rental car and drove to Wellton on the canal road.  When they arrived at Quail Trail, Sato told Locke to pull in behind the Palo Verde side of the huge plant and park inside a closed delivery area.  It meant walking a half mile further, but they felt more anonymous this way.

	The plant overwhelmed Locke.  Nothing in his Parkway works was as mammoth as this.  Nothing had to be so full of safety devices to avoid explosions.  The hydrogen that was piped over to the energy-cell plant was liquefied at minus 254 degrees Celsius and handled exclusively by triple-jacketed plumbing the whole way.  Temperature sensors were everywhere.  Meters kept announcing their latest readings to a redundant set of computers in the control area down at the end of the corridor that he and Sato were entering at the moment.  They stopped short of the signs pointing down to the Control Room and entered the reservoir room.

	Here Locke was more at home.  The new bacteria had arrived and they were happily assembling enzymes to break down NADPH into hydrogen, CO2 and water.  Locke prepared a one-milliliter syringe and nodded to Tak to open the series of airlocks that led to the main reservoir.  When he was sure that an adequate volume of the concentrated solution had entered the bio-stream, Locke nodded again and Tak closed the airlocks to seal everything up tight again.

	They had agreed that the “world supply” of the reagent would be at its safest in the refrigerated area across the hallway and Tak helped with the shock-proofed bottles.  When Locke asked him if he minded having biologists coming here to supply themselves with the stabilizer, Tak explained that he and his associates were delighted with the prospect.  They felt cut off from current research out here in the desert.  Their function as a dispensary would put them in recurrent contact with those at the cutting edge of their fields.  

	Sato asked Locke to hold an impromptu seminar for his biological team on the proper care and handling of the stabilizer.  They gathered in the conference room near the entrance to the plant and enjoyed themselves thoroughly.  Eighteen in all, they asked questions until well after lunch.

	At long last, a very hungry Takeo Sato and Walter Locke took a plant go-cart to the best traditional eatery in the region — over on Avenue 24E.  One half of Sato’s coded message to Locke, it lived up to its reputation as an exceptional place to eat and Locke was sorely tempted to arrange for samples of its meals to be sent over to the Parkway labs in New Mexico.  There they could be analyzed and duplicated and made available to the whole world in tablet form.  He finally succumbed to sentiment and decided that the Avenue 24E chef should be left in personal possession of his secrets — that his marvelous fare should not be duplicated at the greasy spoon down on 10th street.

	After hours of reminiscing over three glasses of the delicious cool beer made on the premises (another test of Locke’s sentimental will power), Sato and he took the go-cart back to Locke’s rental car at the loading dock.  They took the canal road again and headed back east toward Antelope Hill.  In the early winter twilight they saw a car approaching them with its headlights off, then on, then off, then on again.

	“That’s Miya’s car, Walt.  Stop up there at the side of the road.”

	The car with the blinking headlights crossed the road and parked in front of them, this time with all its lights off.  Miyamoto came up to the passenger side and Sato rolled down the window.  “They’re back,”  was all she could say — she was quite out of breath.

	“The two from Arkansas?”  Sato asked.

	“Yes,” Miyamoto said.  “Different car.  Same guys.  They’re parked in the same place.”

	“I’ll get the sheriff on this right away,” Sato said, picking up the car phone.

	“No, no!  Don’t do that,” Locke said, just stopping him in the middle of dialing.  “I could never explain who I am or what I’m doing here.  My federal restraining order is on all the nets.  If your sheriff got any notion of who I really am, he would have to arrest me.”

	“You’re right.  You’re right.  You’re right,”  Sato said.  “I must say, Walt, this patriotic subterfuge of yours for that friend in Laos has given you a hell of a lot of trouble from your own country.  We ought to close down Washington and start over again somewhere else!”

	“The farther one gets from Washington, the more one hears exactly such sentiments, Tak.  The idea sounds better to me every week.  But what are we going to do right now about our Arkansas travelers?”

	“I can get your stuff and bring it to you,” Miyamoto said, “but you’ve got to put back your complete disguise.  Can you do it here in the car?”

	“I think so,” Locke said.  “I’ve had enough practice by now.”

	“When you come back from the house,” Sato told Miyamoto, “keep your eyes on the rear-view mirror.  If those guys follow you, give us a ring on your car phone and we’ll go back to the plant.  Do you know that loading dock on Palo Verde?”

	“Yes, I remember it.”

	“We’ll park in there and walk up to the front entrance.  If they follow you, go to the front and have some plant guards bring Walt’s stuff inside.  Then drive back home as if nothing had happened.  Keep us informed if they follow you home.  If they do, it’ll make it easier for us to get to . . . ” Sato hesitated.

	“Tucson, I guess,” said Locke.  “It’s the only place they haven’t seen me before.”

	“And if they don’t follow me?” asked Miyamoto.

	“If they stay here at the plant we’ll have to give them the slip the hard way.  We can get out to Mohawk Street without being seen from the plant.  I guess we can do it that way.  The important thing is to keep each other informed about that car.”

	“Walt,” said Miyamoto, “there’s the laptop, the brown valise and your disguise case — is that all?”

	“Yes, Miya, that’s the whole bundle.  If we don’t see each other tonight, I want to thank you a great deal for all you’ve done — both in searching and in evading.”

	“You’re welcome,” Miyamoto smiled.  “When it comes to gratitude, we have far more reason for it than you do.  Good luck tonight.  And good luck with all of this nonsense!”

	“Thanks, Miya.”

	She disappeared as soon as she left the driver’s window.  It was getting dark fast.

	Sato and Locke were sitting in the car with the heater on, talking biology, when Miyamoto’s voice was heard on the phone.  “I’ve got all your stuff, Walt, but the Arkansas people are following me back to the plant,” was all she said.

	“Thanks,” said Sato to tell her they had heard.

	Locke switched on the car and swung across the road to turn around.  They made it back to the enclosed dock well before Miyamoto and her attendants paraded up to the visitors’ parking area in front of the plant.  Sato had already arranged to have Locke’s things brought in.  Miyamoto wasted no time going back east toward home.

	When they were halfway to the dock with their burden, Miyamoto’s voice told them on her lapel phone that the Arkansas car had remained at the plant and its occupants were out walking around.

	“We can’t get out of here unless we know where they are,” Sato said.  “We’ll have to do it a different way.”  By the time they got to Locke’s car, he had figured it out.  “Look, Walt.  You’ll have to leave me here and go to Tucson on your own.  I’ll go up to the intersection and keep a lookout in both directions.  When I can be sure they won’t see you, I’ll say so on the phone and you can make a run to Mohawk.  Take Los Angeles Road over to Avenue 31 and you can duck down to Route 8.  It’ll turn into Route 10 down past Casa Grande, but stay on it.  It’ll take you right into Tucson.  You don’t have to check in the car at Tucson,” Sato said as he put Locke’s things into the back seat, “just leave it in the lot and they’ll check it in for you in the morning.  That’ll give you seven or eight hours before anybody will really know you’ve been here.  You’ll be snug in your bed by that time.”

	“Thanks, Tak.  I really appreciate everything you and Miya have done for me.”

	“Thank you, Walt.  You saved an ungrateful country from one hell of a mess.”  They shook hands and Sato disappeared as suddenly as Miyamoto had.  It was almost fifteen minutes before Sato’s whisper came over the phone.  “They’ve zigged.  It’s time for us to zag.  Good luck, Walt.”

	Locke was on Route 8 in less than five minutes, cruising at the speed limit to shorten his exposure time while not attracting any police attention.  He made good time to the Tucson tube station.  How many of his precautions at the station were necessary, Locke didn’t know, but he didn’t enjoy the tension.  He kept telling himself that his pursuers were a hundred kilometers away at the hydrogen plant, but it didn’t have any effect until he got off the Metro at the Forest Glen subway stop in Bethesda, Maryland.  When he had trudged over to Glen Avenue he saw a car out in front of the house, but he had developed confidence in Williams’ disguise kit by now.  And anyway, he was inside the 20-kilometer limit.  With the side entrance flooded in light and the sound of his entire family coming from the inside, Walter Locke went in to a hero’s welcome from his fellow conspirators.
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Chapter Eighteen





	Locke’s safari was very successful.  The biological community clamored for Medford’s stabilizer and Locke chaired a seminar at NIH in August to discuss the new laboratory procedures that the stabilizer had made possible.

	Liu Ning and Mark Enders were married in September and went off to visit Oliver Williams in Shanghai.  It was Ning’s first chance to see China and she was enthralled.  Mark had been there three or four times before but feigned complete ignorance.

	Renée had started another book about the emotional roots of twentieth-century Communism..  She was fortunate in the fact that the microchip had been developed by the time the Communist archives were opened in the late 1900s, so everything had been scanned and preserved.  Renée never lacked for reference material, wherever her inquiries took her.

	Claudia completed three more courses of medical school and went up to Baltimore to sit for examinations at Johns Hopkins.  Next year she would begin laboratory and clinical studies and would spend her weekdays at Hopkins.

	In August John suddenly abandoned history as his major field of study and devoted every waking hour to music composition.  He disappeared from the living quarters and chained himself to his computer in the basement.  Composing music in the twenty-first century did not end with a score, as it had in previous centuries, it continued on to the production of the finished music, complete with orchestration and the sounds of each instrument.  Although informal groups of musicians still played traditional instruments in public, most music was generated at the computer from start to finish — as was the case with motion pictures.  John, who had never created a piece with more than twelve instruments, yearned for the day when he would be competent enough to put together a complete symphony orchestra with music good enough for people to want to listen to it. 

	He had, by accident, stumbled across one of his father’s secret passions.  From the time of his first adolescence, Walter Locke had wanted to be a musician (in the old-fashioned sense of the word).  He wanted to play the piano, then the guitar, then the clarinet.  He wanted to play in a small group, then a student band in college, then a civic orchestra of good reputation.  Nothing had come of any of it — he hadn’t devoted enough time to give himself the necessary skill.  It left a void.  A definite void.

	He was now vicariously living his lost youth through John — not the first time that has happened in this world.  He asked him to “play” his music for him at every opportunity and John shyly complied.  Fortunately, some of it was good enough to be proud of.  Both of them took advantage of that fact.  They were proud.

	Some of it was even good enough to play in public.  John Locke’s club provided music each month before a live audience at the University of Maryland in College Park.  In September, his father had been in the audience when one of his compositions was well received.  After that, the two of them listened to his music with the possibility of a public performance always in the back of their minds.   In October John came up with a stunning piece for woodwinds and strings and they both looked forward to the concert later that month.  The stage was set for disaster.

	Locke worked late at the Institutes the evening of the concert and realized he would have to hurry to get to College Park by eight thirty.  Just as he was about to leave, the phone rang and John told him the concert would be in the larger hall over in Greenbelt.

	At least it sounded like John.

	Locke left in a hurry — too big a hurry to think about where he was going.  He was familiar with the big hall in Greenbelt;  he had been there several times over the years.  It was closer to the beltway than the College Park hall and he would make better time getting there — but he would also exceed the 20-kilometer limit by about 2 kilometers.

	Locke had taken his own car, a Norelco 386, and had made good time up to the Parkway and off onto Beaver Dam Road.  The first hint that something was wrong was when he saw no outside lights around the hall and very few cars in the parking lot.  There were two cars, however, and they had been waiting for him for over an hour — waiting for the miniature radio beacon fastened to his front grill.  When the heavy green car swung around in front of him, Locke had to slam on the brakes to avoid a collision.  By the time he realized the green car’s action had been deliberate, the red car was up against his rear bumper, pinning him to the spot.

	The men were all in civilian clothes.  One of them identified himself as a US marshal, another as a deputy sheriff from Virginia, another as a state policeman from Maryland.  The other two said nothing and stayed at the wheels of their automobiles.  Locke was handcuffed and taken to the big green car for a very uncomfortable drive to Arlington.  At the short-term lockup across the street from the Arlington courthouse he was booked and placed in a cell.  He was given permission to phone his lawyer, but was allowed no other calls.

	By the time he found Larson, Locke was almost hysterical.  He reported the evening’s events in short gasps separated by urgent requests that Larson get him out of this place immediately.  His lawyer was, as usual, nonchalant.

	“Wally! . . . Wally! . . . Wally!   It’s just politics.  It’s what made this country great — getting elected.  Now, leave all the worrying to me, will ya?”

	“Getting elected has nothing to do with . . . ”

	“I’m looking at the screen right now, Wally.  It’s already on the nets.  ‘Criminal biologist tries to flee jurisdiction of Virginia court.’  It’s the best run-up to the election they could hope for.  They’ve got a picture of you — did you notice who took it?  If it was an officer of the court, we can make an issue of it.”

	“Picture?  . . . My family will see it.  Everybody will see it.”

	“It’s not enough to do the trick, Wally old boy.  They need to flash a picture to the nation of the criminal biologist Walter Locke being led to a tube station in full restraints — led to international justice at the hands of Laos’ heroic prime minister, champion of the little people.  Without that, they’re sure to lose seventeen seats next month.  And they’ll never get that picture ‘cause you are never going to leave Virginia.  I’ve got so many motions, stays and continuances filed with the courts right now the Faulkners have lost track of which one is being argued on what date.”

	“But my family . . . ”

	Larson’s voice dropped an octave.  “I’ll get in touch with them right away, Wally — tell them what this really amounts to.  I’ll try to reach them before they read this piece about a criminal biologist skulking through an unsuspecting America.”  Larson chuckled.  “These guys are hiring writers, by God!  Professionals.  They never used to be so eloquent.  I better call Renée right away.  I’ll get back to you when I’ve talked to her.  There are things I should explain to you— things that’ll brighten your day.”  As usual, Larson hung up without waiting for a reply.  He was back on the phone with Locke in six minutes.

	Through some mysterious psychological chemistry, Larson’s voice had a calming effect on Locke, a very welcome one at the moment.  “Hello again, Wally.  It’s a great relief the Faulkners have played their last card tonight — I can finally explain all this to you now.”

	“Now?  Why not before?”

	“Well, you’ve got to keep in mind, old buddy, we live in a pretty fancy electronic age.  We never know who’s listening.”

	“They’re almost certainly listening right now.”

	“Too late, Wally.  Too  late.  The die is cast, as the saying goes.  The motion I filed last Thursday keeps you glued to that cell for the next thirty days.  No restraints.  No transportation.  No press conferences.  Nothing whatever in public.  You are incommunicado, old friend — which is absolutely ideal.”

	“I don’t understand a bit of this.”

	“I know you don’t.   I know.  Let me give you the whole picture and you’ll see it all in glorious Technicolor.”  Locke could hear the keys clicking on Larson’s computer — then his voice came back.  “This whole affair has been directed toward the elections two weeks from tomorrow.  My political sources told me six months ago that the Faulkners would lose seventeen congressional seats in November unless something really spectacular saved their bacon.  And I figured they couldn’t afford to lose anything like that many.”  More clicks.  “Yes, here it is.  A loss of only nine seats would cost them decisive influence on the Foreign Relations committee, the Government Operations committee and the House Ways and Means committee.”  More clicks.  “Fourteen seats and they lose every committee in both houses.  So seventeen is the end of the road for the Faulkners.”  Larson’s voice grew louder as he turned away from the computer.  “Well it’s been a horse race these past few months and we’ve won, old boy.  All my maneuvers have been intended to buy time.  They mostly centered on what court and what set of prosecutors has “standing” in this case — you know, who has the right to drag old Walter H. Locke out into the arena full of lions.  For the last four months I’ve kept them worried about the Supreme Court.  They knew that it would take another year to decide if it got referred to the Supreme Court, so they wasted all their time trying to counter my moves in that direction.  Which gave us a clear field to tie this thing up in the local courts until after the election.  Which we’ve done.  When Congress convenes in December, your case will be dropped like a hot potato and the record will be expunged to avoid any further embarrassment.  From then on you can forget this whole business.”   Larson chuckled.  “Once the new Congress deals with the Locke affair, it won’t even be history.  It never happened.”

	Locke couldn’t speak.  After all his torments over The Conference solution, Greg Larson comes along with an answer that keeps him with his family, that wipes his record clean, that restores his reputation and that lets him stay alive as Walter Locke.  He cleared his throat and uttered some disjointed words to express his gratitude.  	Larson waved them aside.  “Enjoyed every minute of it!  Really, I did.   Oh, incidentally, Wally, your dear friend David Wilson, the valued chief of NIH, is a dues paying member of ‘Return to Morality’.  Remember those two from the State Department who pushed for your extradition in court?  They are both members.  It’s a Faulkner group.  Can Wilson get his hands on anything incriminating?“

	“What do you mean?”

	“Look, Wally, let’s level with each other.  I know you snatched Ramsay’s body to protect his good name — and his family’s good name.  That bastard in Laos would have had a circus with the ‘raving drunk foreigner teaching our medical students the wicked things of the modern world’.  I know that.  What his wife did in Pennsylvania was a travesty of justice and you paid heavily for it.  It must have taken your life savings to keep her mouth shut down there.  You have no idea how much I respect you for that.  In fact, I volunteered to defend you for precisely that reason.  Now if you have any papers or computer records that could help Wilson and his Return to Morality clowns make a circus out of your predicament, tell me what to do and I’ll be glad to help.”

	“I’m glad you thought of that, Greg.  There are several things in two different files that he could use to make things messy for me.  I’d be very grateful if you would clear them off the disk in my office.  Just run ‘list files’ and it will be obvious to you what I’m talking about.   The rest of my stuff is in an unbreakable code that would be worthless to Wilson.”

	“Consider it done, old buddy.  How do I get in?

	Locke thought for a moment.  “Do you remember the last time we met face to face?”

	“Yes I do.”

	“Do you remember what time you told me to meet you?  You were having dinner at a friend’s house.”

	“Yes I do.”

	“Take thirty-four away from the time . . . ”

	“Right.”

	“. . . and add seventy-three to the street number of your friend’s address . . .”

	“Right.”

	“And break the whole thing up into two-digit numbers.”

	“Got it.”

	“That’s my entry code,” Locke said.  “You are already registered for admission to the building as my lawyer, so you can give your real name to the front guard — and you’re in.  I’m really grateful for all this, Greg.  You have no idea how grateful I am.”

	•   •   •

	Mark Enders could make jokes about poor browsers creating the Faulkner movement, but he was dead serious when it came to keeping his own browser in good condition.  On Tuesday morning it woke him up with dreadful news concerning Walter Locke.  Arrested!  And being held incommunicado in a Virginia jail.  He hurried over to the Institutes and met Philip Werner in the lobby.  “Walt is in terrible trouble, Phil.  Come up with me and let’s see what The Conference can do for him.”

	Werner operated the system keyboard while Enders used the voice input.  It took them about ten minutes to put the standard notifications on line, after which they could do nothing but wait.  In the meantime, Enders scanned through Locke’s files to see if there was anything in the clear that might make additional trouble.  It seemed all right.

	“This is more than anyone should be asked to endure, Mark.  Walt is already upset about The Conference solution to his legal problems.  Terribly upset.”

	“Why is that?”

	“Because they have decided to re-process him back to twenty years old if the court tries to extradite him.  They’ve put him on emergency processing status to give him first call on any free center if it becomes necessary.  That’s why all this stuff was on his coded disk about a new persona.  They’re going to whisk him away and convert him into someone else if the legal stuff gets sticky.”

	“So why does he object to . . . oh!  Renée and the kids.  How could I be so dumb?”

	“Renée and the kids.  I didn’t think of it either — and I’m maybe responsible.  He’s very broken up about it, Mark.”

	“Of course he is.  Of course he is.  We keep letting this Conference stuff get in the way of our personal lives.  It’s a lot to ask of any human being, Phil.  We want long-term experience and we want people who have seen it all a dozen times.  Great.  But we’re not robots.  We’re flesh and blood.  So are our families.  And our families mean the world to us.  Liu Ning has certainly taught me that.  The two of us talk constantly  about our future.  Not my future or her future.  Ours.”

	“I’m on my second lifetime and I still forget the fundamentals,” Werner said.

	“I’m on my third and I forget,” Enders lamented.

	“Your third?  Oh, of course.  Looking at you in your twenties makes it hard to keep in mind that you were born in . . . in . . .”

	“1960.”

	“Right, 1960.  So you started all this when you were 46 years old.  And if I remember correctly, your early writings said you wanted mostly historians in The Conference — but it hasn’t worked out quite like that.”

	“Not by a long shot.  The first one was an historian.  Then a few more later on.  I think we have a total of three hundred and a little.”

	“Out of ten thousand.”

	“Out of 10,272.  Yes.”

	“Is it a big disappointment for you that there are so many scientists in The Conference?   Not historians with the long view?”

	“Yes it is.  Well, maybe it’s not.”  Enders shook his head.  “It’s hard to say.  These big changes in profession that many of us have made are due partly to our need to establish a completely different identity after processing.  A new profession helps us establish a new identity.”

	Enders turned his chair around to face Werner.  “But when it comes time for us to choose the new profession, we start thinking of the attractions of a completely different field — one we’ve always wanted to try.”  Enders was silent for a while.  “Sure, it’s a disappointment,” he said at last.  “Sure it is.  Maybe our original ideas would be better served if people stayed in the same field and accumulated immense stores of knowledge and experience in that field alone.”  Again he lapsed into silence.  He turned back to the computer console.  “Maybe we’re missing out, I don’t know.  The Conference has promised to do a study on this business of choosing professions, but you know how much they despise restrictions.  They’ll never come down against free choice.”

	“I certainly like the philosophy we have now,” Werner said.  “It stands to reason that we know our own inclinations better than . . . ”  Werner’s face went from alarm to dismay.   His eyes widened.  His mouth continued on without making an audible sound.  He was facing the windows and slowly watched the big armchair turning toward them.  When it got far enough around, he saw Greg Larson, whose eyes were also widened beyond normal limits, regarding them in  astonishment.  Enders glanced at Werner, then whirled around to stare at Larson.  No one spoke until Larson finally found his voice.

	“We never imagined there was another group,”  Larson said in wonder.
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Chapter Nineteen



	Werner and Enders sat mute as Larson spoke quietly in the dimly lit office.  “I’ve heard members of MSF mention the possibility in private,” Larson said.   “There’s even a written prediction in some planning document.   I’ve read it, but I can’t remember the title.  It assumes that another immortal group will spring up in the future, but nobody took it seriously.”  Larson pushed back in the chair and began to relax.  “We are a myopic species of animal, gentlemen.  A myopic species indeed!”

	Philip Werner managed a few words.  “May I ask . . . ask who you are, sir?”

	Larson smiled.  “Forgive me.  You must be even more amazed than I am about this.”  He found his legs and went over to the console area.  “I’m Greg Larson.”  He shook Werner’s hand.  “And you are?”

	“Philip Werner is my name, Mr. . .  Lawson? . . . Larson?”

	Mark Enders came to life.  “Greg Larson?  Of course.  You’re Walt’s attorney, aren’t you?”  He stood up and shook Larson’s hand more warmly than the bewildered Werner had been able to.  “I’m Mark Enders.  I’m a student at George Washington.”

	“And the founder of The Conference, Mr. Enders — I guess I should call it The Conference of Immortals.  I have even more trouble than Mr. Werner thinking of you as 124 years old.  You’ll have to give me a bit longer to absorb all this, Mark Enders.  I am familiar with The Conference, of course — everyone in public life is.  I never for an instant guessed that its members were quite so elderly, however.  Wise, yes.  Learned, indeed.  But well along into their second century, not hardly.”

	“What did you mean when you said you ‘never imagined there was another group’?”  Enders asked.

	“I am forbidden to divulge that information, Mark Enders, forbidden by the strictest edicts.  But the circumstances are extraordinary, so if you will give me a few minutes on your computer, I shall ask my superiors what they will allow me to tell you.”

	Enders stepped away from the console chair.  “Remember, it’s very early in the morning.”

	“For my superiors it is early in the afternoon,” Larson said as he accepted the chair.  The minute Larson began to send out his query it was obvious that his organization used a cipher to communicate.  Since ciphers were routinely broken by modern computers, Enders decided he would have to warn Larson of the risk he was running  — if things worked out between their groups.

	It was over twenty minutes before Larson’s apprehensive leaders decided that full disclosure was the best approach to this remarkable situation.  Their perception of The Conference was that it was honest and fair.

	“So that’s it, Gentlemen.  The secretary-general says ‘full disclosure’.  Do you want to ask questions or shall I give you an ad-lib chronicle?”

	Werner couldn’t stand the suspense.  “Who are you?  Where are you?”

	“We have been calling ourselves Médicins Sans Frontières since 1969.”

	“Doctors Without Borders,” Enders said.

	“Yes, that’s us, but the name has become incongruous today since less than a third of our membership consists of doctors.  We have now retreated to the initials MSF.   We are based in Paris.  We have expanded into lawyers, teachers, economists, entrepreneurs, industrialists — whatever people need, wherever people need them.  A lot of our work is in countries that are trying to climb up into the twenty-first century, but I was sent to the United States to help a very benevolent biologist out of a legal jam caused by a thoroughly corrupt Laotian politician with whom we are very familiar.”

	Werner and Enders exploded into relieved and delighted chatter. Mark Enders was finally given the floor.  “How did you get selected to defend Walt?”

	“We have been responding to Conference calls for assistance for many decades, now.  When it showed up on the net, we answered immediately.”

	“But you are French?”

	“Yes.”

	“You have no accent.”

	“No.  I have an occipital plate instead.”

	Enders was astonished.  “You have perfected the mobile plate?”

	“I haven’t heard it called that, but we all have one installed.  It is vital to the work we do.  I am talking at this moment through the laptop computer on your very comfortable chair by the window.  My thoughts are in French, they are transmitted to ‘Brainchild’ over there, which translates them into colloquial American, then transmits them back to me, or rather to the plate inside my skull, and then my spoken words are formed in the usual way in the speech center and the motor cortex.”

	“We’re still working on that problem,” Enders said in admiration.

	“We haven’t had these things very long.  I believe the first implants were made in the late 60s.  By 2075 we all had them.  They permit us to go anywhere we are needed and perform at maximum efficiency.  We can speak any language the human species has concocted — Greek, Chinese, Uzbek, Lingala.  And just as important, we have the human species’ entire store of knowledge ‘in our heads’, in a way.  You see, if ‘Brainchild’ doesn’t have the information I need, it transmits that fact by satellite to the home office where the answer is researched and transmitted back — unless security is required.  If the communication must be enciphered, we are forced to resort to the keyboard, as you have just seen.”

	Enders made his decision.  “Mr. Larson, there is a serious problem with your secure communications.  Ciphers don’t hold up against today’s technology.  Your messages may be intercepted — perhaps are already being intercepted — by people who could mean you harm.”

	Larson was shaken.  “Then I can’t even notify the secretary-general of the danger.  A nasty problem, Mr. Enders.”

	“We can certainly help out there.  Who is your secretary-general?”

	“Dr. Marie Boudron at the Sèvres Research Laboratory.”

	Enders switched the console over into Conference Code and gave it the location of a friend in Pasteur Institute #2.  He was at lunch, but another Conference member was present in his office.  Enders asked him to get in touch with Boudron at the number Larson gave him and warn her of the problem — also to assure her that the problem could be solved.  He volunteered, on his own initiative, to give MSF all the Conference assistance it needed to redesign its communications to make them secure. When the message was received and understood, he signed off.

	“I am indeed grateful, Mr. Enders.  I have no idea who might wish to expose us or otherwise damage us — but I have no doubt such people exist.  Kaysone Sivongkham, the Prime Minister of the Lao Republic, can surely be counted among their number.”

	Philip Werner had postponed his questions as long as he could.  “How old are you, Mr. Larson?”

	“I am being told by ‘Brainchild’ here that I was ninety-seven years old in September.”

	“And when were you last processed?”

	“We receive treatment every three years to remove the biological effects of aging.  The huge changes that you and Mr. Enders were discussing are far beyond our means, as yet.”

	“And who chooses you to begin those treatments?”

	“We are nominated by a 12-man council whose members have been with MSF since the twentieth century.  I was selected in 2032 at the age of 45.  I am still 45.”

	“How many members do you have?”

	“Brainchild says there are over three thousand of us.  I should explain that there are many tens of thousands of Médicins Sans Frontières, but the Council chooses just a small percentage to stay the same age.  They haven’t decided how long to keep this up or on what criteria.  It has really been an impromptu affair for us and we have not envisioned as grand a role for ourselves as The Conference.  We only intend to make our organization as useful as we can and let all the establishment details work themselves out as we go along.”  Larson searched the faces of his astounded companions for a moment.  “May I be permitted a question now?”

	“Yes, yes.  Of course,” Enders said.

	“Mr. Werner asked you . . . I’m sorry, I assume it is Dr. Werner.  I assume as well that you are Dr. Enders.”

	“Yes, it’s Dr. Werner.  But no, it’s not Dr. Enders — yet.  Why don’t you just call us Phil and Mark?”

	Larson was relieved and delighted.  “And I am to be ‘Greg’.”

	“Have you had breakfast, Greg?”

	“No, nor dinner last night — I’m starved.”

	They all sat down to a variety of meals while Larson explained what he was doing in Locke’s office.  He had cleared Locke’s computer according to his jailhouse instructions, but then he had fallen asleep.  When Werner and Enders first entered the room he had awakened but did not make his presence known.  He was embarrassed about his deliberate eavesdropping, but his dinner companions brushed him off — intense curiosity was their trademark.  Their curiosity extracted the fact that MSF had begun to process some of its members in 2027.  They were selected by profession — the professions needed to guide the group in carrying out its mission.  It’s mission, Larson repeated, was to help.

	“We have found our ‘special’ members quite valuable in this respect.  Long experience has served us well many times that I know of personally.”

	“You say you have existed since 1969,” Enders said.  “That’s almost forty years before The Conference started.”

	“But MSF didn’t know how to reverse aging back then,”  Larson said.  “All it knew was how to deliver modern medicine where it was needed.  And it was certainly needed in Biafra.”

	“Biafra?”

	“A particularly able and well-educated ethnic group in Nigeria tried to win its independence from a primitive and brutal state.  During the civil war, the government used medicine as a weapon, along with machine guns and cannon.  Some French doctors who were trying to patch up the wounded were outraged when the French Red Cross played politics with the government, responding to the horror like bureaucrats rather than caregivers.  So they formed Médecins sans Frontières as an independent association of volunteer medical personnel who would go anywhere, anytime, without being under the discipline of a political outfit.”

	“I’ve been wondering about discipline,”  Werner said.  “You are arresting the aging process in over three thousand of your members.  With virtually every human being on the planet willing to hand over his entire fortune for additional lifetime, how have you managed to keep your members from selling the information that you exist?  They could get billions of units for it.   How have you been able to keep your immortality secret for so long?”

	“I too have wondered about this — and I don’t know the answer.  The Council has never revealed its selection criteria, nor does it say much about its day-to-day operations.  It can be said, however, that if money were important to someone in MSF, he or she would be working for the wrong organization.  The salary of a member while on a field assignment is equivalent to 750 twentieth-century dollars per month — in world exchange values, of course.”

	Werner was astonished.  “Seven hundred?  In the field!  What about in the home office?”

	“Well there is no compensation at all when we are home— we work at our normal jobs.  We only get paid while we are on assignment.”

	“Where does the money to operate MSF come from?” Enders asked.

	“Again, I don’t know specifically.  But it is from private donations of people all over the world.”

	“What you have described is a remarkable phenomenon,” Werner said.

	“And, at the same time, a very ordinary one,” Larson replied.  “If Mark tripped over this low table here and hurt his head, you would immediately apply everything you know to restoring him to complete health.  You would do this without asking me or the receptionist downstairs or the American government or the United Nations.  You would do this because you are a human being and because you know how to help.  That is who we are.  We are human beings who know how to help.”

	•  •  •

	The next time Greg Larson was in that office, a rowdy party of Walter Locke’s friends and colleagues was in full session.  Toledo Fizzes were flowing like water and toasts were being made every few minutes — a toast celebrating Locke’s release, a toast quoting the official apology of the US government for the misbehavior of its various agencies, a toast to the reorganization of Congress, a toast to the absence of David Wilson — and many toasts to Locke’s skillful and successful attorney, Gregory M. Larson.

	The office was full of cavorting holograms — dancing figures projected in three dimensions by several laser generators perched on shelves here and there around the room.  The dancing holograms and the delightful music were composed for the occasion by John Locke.  A great deal of attention was being paid to Claudia and John by Institute staffers who had never met them.  Throughout the festivities Walter Locke never left Renée’s side — they had been separated for too long under too painful conditions.

	Many of the guests were not Conference members, which hampered conversation to some extent, and Locke drew Larson aside long enough to ask him to stay after the party for a private chat.

	Renée had to go up to New York in the morning to meet with her publisher — she left before midnight to get a good night’s sleep.  Claudia and John had already gone home.  When the others had left, Enders, Weintraub, Locke and Larson settled down in the window chairs for a last fizz

	“When you were getting my legal problems cleared up, Greg, you gave me credit for acting out of personal loyalty to Peter Ramsay.  I couldn’t tell you the truth about Ramsay then, but I can now.  You see, we have several vulnerabilities in The Conference and one of them is that our DNA stays the same from lifetime to lifetime.  Ever since the World Register opened in Geneva, we’ve had to go to extreme lengths to avoid having our DNA sequenced.  If they look it up in the Geneva register, they will find out that we are someone else and that we have no business being alive.  It raises nasty questions.”

	“They actually did look up Ramsay,” Enders added.  “We all hunkered down and waited for the avalanche, but the embarrassment in Laos over the UN statement condemning Sivongkham and his son made the Lao drop the whole matter.  After that I think Geneva assumed the Lao had done a sloppy job of sequencing and they dropped it too.  Anyway, the whole thing has blown over.”

	“Until the next time,” Locke said bitterly.

	“It sounds like an area we should be collaborating in,” Larson said.  “After all, we have a very similar problem.   When our children grow up and our relatives die, we look rather suspicious celebrating our forty-fifth birthday for the forty-fifth time.  It would be a lot better for us, too, to change our DNA.”

	“That’s right,”  Enders said.  “You ought to get in touch with Boudron and set it up, Walt.”

	“Already done,” Locke said.  “That’s why Phil couldn’t come to the party.  He’s in Paris, at the Pasteur Institute, working with the people Greg is talking about.  Nobody seems very optimistic,  but . . . who knows?”

	“I’m delighted we’re working together on it, Wally,”  Larson said.

	Weintraub grimaced and looked at Enders who decided it was time for a small change in Larson’s computer programming.

	“Greg, I think you should tell ‘Brainchild’ that the preferred nickname for a Walter who has five Ph.D.s is ‘Walt’ — in case you run into another one in your worldwide adventures.”

	They laughed comfortably and Larson issued the appropriate instructions to his laptop.  He stopped in the middle and asked “Five, you say?  — but fewer gets ‘Wally’, right?”  Again the small group enjoyed a quiet laugh.  “And, what is far more impressive to a Frenchman, Doctor Walter Locke, is that you are the genius named Edward Mott who invented our whole food technology in the early years of this century.  Isn’t that what you told me, Mark?”

	“That’s right.  Parkway Biotics.”

	“Well I’ve got to tell you this, Walter Locke.  I had a Parkway chateaubriand last night that was dazzling.  Indescribable!  Black truffles. Cèpe mushrooms.  Better than any old fashioned version I’ve ever had.  If you keep that up, you will no longer be in MSF’s debt, deeply or otherwise.”

	 “I’m glad to hear that we have the same value system, Greg.”

	Larson laughed, then grew serious.  “What still mystifies me is The Conference’s value system.  How does it choose its members?  What skills does it seek?  What traits of character are important in its selections?”

	“There really aren’t any,” Enders said, “at least not written down.  I suppose each member has a personal list of preferences — of character and skills — but it doesn’t show up in voting patterns.  Do you see any, Hiram?  You’re the first one to interview new members.  Do they fit into a pattern?”

	“No, they seem to vote on each nominee independently — no particular professions.  Nothing I can see.  I’m going out to Nebraska next week to talk to a guy who digs irrigation trenches for Faulkner farmlands.  He himself is a modern, but he keeps the old-fashioned farmers out there supplied with de-salinated water from a huge plant near the Gulf of Mexico.  I have to assume Conference members feel we need more understanding of Faulkner types.”  Larson and Locke exchanged knowing glances.  “I can’t see any other motive.”

	“So you do not choose your members by reputation or eminence?”  Larson asked.

	“Not at all,” Weintraub responded.

	“What about politics?  Does The Conference look for particularly sensible people?  People who don’t let their emotions rule their judgment?”

	“That’s a good question —and I’m not sure I know the answer.  But I’m sure most of them are thinking about that.  We do have responsibilities, after all.”

	“Would they choose Einstein?”

	“Probably.”

	“But in his later years his work didn’t amount to much.”

	“That’s no problem, we restore to about 20 years old.  At that age Einstein had the ability to surrender to the compelling logic of experimental results.  That’s the mark of a good physicist.  He could be doing first-class work if he were alive today.”

	“In physics, maybe, but have you ever read his pronouncements on other subjects?  His ideas were juvenile — even when he was an old man.”

	“Well yes, you’ve got a point there.  Actually, we have some questions in the interview that test for that.  We can’t afford to have political scatterbrains among the Immortals — that’s just the opposite of what we are intended for.  And there were many great scientists who were excluded on precisely those grounds.  For all I know you might be right about Einstein.”

	“I would think, Greg, that MSF’s criteria would leave it more vulnerable to scatterbrains than we are,”  Enders said.

	“Oh, it does!” Larson answered.  “They give us quite a bit of trouble.”  He sighed and smiled at Enders.  “We are primarily interested in idealism.  We want people who care enough about the idea of humanity that they are willing to tear themselves up by the roots periodically to go help people they’ve never even met.”  His smile turned rueful.  “We get some really wild ones that way — but they aren’t chosen for age reversal.  Those of us who have been chosen  have to behave ourselves or we won’t be continued in the process when we get old.  That seems to keep them from going too far off the deep end.”

	Their parallel worlds were so fascinating, each group to the other, that they talked on into the night and realized what time it was only when sunlight entered the office and sent them off  home.   All except Walter Locke who curled up on his huge sofa and went to sleep beyond the reach of the slanting rays of the sun.

	•  •  •

	Two weeks later, Philip Werner had returned from Paris and he stood outside Locke’s office door and hesitated.  He was sure he heard Locke say “Come in”, but there seemed to be a lot of noise in the office and he couldn’t be sure.    When he opened the door, he found himself in a lunatic asylum.   A lavender giraffe on ice skates glided gracefully past in front of him as a bright green octopus floated by over his head.  The room was full of unlikely creatures in impossible colors doing ridiculous things to intensely disorderly music.  In the midst of this cacophony, Walter Locke was bent over his computer in deep concentration.  Werner decided his good friend had broken under the strain of these past months.  He was trying to decide on the best approach under the circumstances when Locke finished what he was doing and turned to see him.

	“Phil!  What a nice surprise.  Come in and tell me how things went in France.”

	Werner stepped out from behind a giant butterfly to shake Locke’s outstretched hand.  When Locke noticed the sound level was too high, he told his computer to drop it about thirteen decibels and went over to his dispenser.  “Can I offer you a fizz?”

	“No thanks, Walt.  I would like a Perrier cerise, however.”

	“A Perrier cerise!  Wow!  You’ve gone completely cosmopolitan.  What has happened to our dear old Philip Werner?”

	“A lot.  A whole lot.  You will be amazed and delighted at what has happened to me.”

	Locke handed Werner his cerise.  “Talk — or I won’t give you any more exotic European drinks.”

	“You will grow old with your family like a normal human being.”

	Locke’s face froze in the middle of a grin and melted into serious anticipation.  “Keep talking.”

	“That isn’t all.  That isn’t all.”  Werner sipped his cerise.  “From now on we will be able to change our measurable DNA when we are processed.  We will look like different people afterwards.  As far as the world can tell, we will be different people.  We will never have to worry about a DNA match again.”

	“Is this true, Phil?  Is this really true?”

	“It is true, Walt.  We’ve checked it over and over again.  It is an outgrowth of the system used by Médicins Sans Frontières to reverse aging in three-year increments.   We couldn’t believe it — the solution was right under our noses.  And it works.  It leaves the central nervous system untouched — the brain, the hormonal systems, even the respiratory center — and it changes the musculature, the digestive system, the skin . . . it changes everything available to the outside world when it takes a sample to measure DNA.”

	They sat in silence, reliving the past, thinking about the future.  At last, Werner spoke, talking chiefly to himself.  “The Conference didn’t figure out how to separate the various systems because our method is so different, so unconstrained.  The Medford process changes everything involving a given enzyme at once, whatever system it belongs to.  The MSF method was only intended to clear up the chemical changes of three years’ worth of aging, so they approached the problem system by system.  That makes it trivial to modify the DNA in the external systems and leave everything unchanged in the internal systems.  We’ve already done it successfully with two MSF people and it can be phased in to our method with no trouble at all — just some changes in the software and a different schedule of sampling, that’s all.  Can you beat that?”

	“No,” Locke said, his voice barely audible, “no, I certainly cannot beat that.”  He turned toward Werner and spoke out intensely,  “It is simply marvelous, Phil.  Just marvelous.  And what did you mean about growing old with my family?”

	“Just that, Walt.  Instead of jumping back fifty years, we can just borrow the MSF technique and clear up a few years of aging every once in a while — keep you with your family until the ‘normal’ time for you to go.  I think most husbands and wives — even more so, most fathers and mothers — will prefer this ‘trimming’ process in the later years of a persona.  I know damn well you will.”

	“Positively, Phil, positively.”  Locke couldn’t stay in his chair.  As he paced restlessly around the room he periodically swooped over to Werner’s chair and patted him on the shoulder.  “I don’t see how I can thank you enough, Phil.  What can I do?  There isn’t a thing to compare with this pair of miracles.”

	Werner laughed.  “You’ve solved so many of my problems in the last ten years I’m still in your debt, Walt.  Remember earlier this year — my little ‘resistant’ kids who will never develop arthritis?  I’m sure they would consider their safety compares quite well with our new DNA disguise.  I know Mark would agree.”

	“Where is Mark, by the way?”

	“He stayed over there.  After he converted their cipher system into a more reliable code, he started working out a method of teaching it to them using their ‘mobile occipital plates’.  What I heard of it from my colleagues sounded really clever.  I think we’re going part way toward repaying them for these ‘miracles’ we’ve been discussing.”�



















Chapter Twenty



	When the morning ram from London pulled to a stop and opened its doors, the Cambridge Tube Station filled with people asking directions to the testing centers at the university.  A tall youth in his mid twenties uncoiled himself from the conformal seat, ducked his head as he left the ram and directed himself knowingly toward the go-cart terminal on the north side.   He performed a familiar ritual as he eased his right leg into the go-cart first and them folded the rest of his body in after it.  Seated at last, he directed the vehicle to take him to an address in Madingley, a few kilometers up A45 from the city.	When he got there, the front yard was full of people, young and old, talking in excited voices, helping each other with back packs and shoulder packs and eagerly anticipating a full-day hike in the countryside. The young man pushed open the cart’s canopy just as an elegant matron in her sixties came out of the house to greet him.  She helped him unravel himself and smiled at the awkward spectacle.

	“I’m trying to think what particular enzyme you remind me of, Walter.  Your upper body is folded like ferroperoxidase, but your legs look more like beta transcriptase.”

	“All right, Helen, rub it in.  You’ll never let me forget that you made the right choice in ‘84 and I made the wrong one in ‘21”

	“You left out the fact that I warned you in ‘16 or ‘17.   I think it was ‘16.”

	Locke was dumfounded.  “That’s right!  I completely forgot.  You did warn me.  But I liked the idea of being tall — really tall.  And by the time I finally got processed, I had forgotten you said not to ask for too much height.  Where were you when I needed you?”

	They laughed at each other as Kensington began to introduce Locke to her husband, her children and her grandchildren milling around in front of the cottage.  Kensington’s voice sounded forced.  She didn’t look as carefree as her words suggested.

	When the hikers had tightened all their straps and marched off in the direction of Bedford, there remained only one other person in the yard, a small man in his seventies seated at a table piled high with the excess baggage the backpackers had discarded when they heard how far they were going to walk.  “I want you to meet our newest Conference member,” she said aloud, “he’s due for processing at the end of the week.”  

	The wiry little man stood up and introduced himself.  “Jim Grampian, Doctor Locke.  I can’t get over meeting you here like this. I can’t get over it.  Walter Locke. You look like a kid, but you must be twenty years older than I am.”

	“A good bit older than that, Jim.  I was originally born in 1939.”

	Grampian kept shaking Locke’s hand as his eyes widened in amazement.  “A hundred and . . . and eighty . . . and eighty-seven years old?!”  Now his head was shaking too.  “No wonder Helen wanted you in on this.  We’ll need all the experience we can find on earth to cope with this thing.  I’m so glad you’ve come!  I can’t tell you how glad.”

	Locke had been speaking vocally since he arrived, but now he used his implanted occipital plate to ask Kensington what all the mystery was about.  She immediately warned him to wait until they were in the house before transmitting any more of his thoughts.  They communicated vocally about ordinary matters while they gathered the hiking equipment and went indoors.

	Locke wasted no time after the door closed, but he continued to speak vocally.  “What’s going on, Helen?  First your message tells me to say nothing to anybody and come right away, then you make us talk out loud, which is a sure way to be overheard.  What’s wrong with the plates?”

	“I’m not exactly sure, Walt.  Our plate transmissions are certainly being intercepted, but I don’t know how.  Or why.”

	“But you’ve switched to the plate yourself.  If they’re being intercepted . . . ?”

	“Not in here.  I’ve had this cottage heavily shielded against radio waves — nothing we say can leak out of here.  But I’ve done experiments to establish the fact that any transmission from an occipital plate anywhere else is picked up . . . by somebody.”

	“Somebody?”

	During the conversation, Kensington had gone over to her electronic console along the north wall.  “I have no idea who, but I can show you how good the interception is, if we’re not too late.”  She connected a wide-band scanner to the antenna on her roof and set it to a specific range of frequencies.  At first they heard a jumble of conversations, of go-carts being sent here and there, of people driving home from night jobs ordering breakfast in their household canteens.  Then the scanner caught a faint signal at the top of the frequency band and raised the volume automatically.  They heard their earlier conversation clearly.  

	WALTER  LOCKE:  “What does he mean by ‘cope with this thing’, Helen?  . . .  cope with what thing?”    

	HELEN  KENSINGTON:  “No, no, Walt.  Not over the plates.  Stop transmitting.  Wait until we’re inside.”

	WALTER  LOCKE:  “Why?”

	HELEN  KENSINGTON:  “Just do it, okay?”    

	WALTER  LOCKE:  “Yes, sure, right.”

	Kensington switched off the receiver and turned silently to face Locke.  “My scanner found that frequency about three weeks ago.  It comes from a geostationary satellite on our meridian over the equator south of Ghana.  My equipment traced a confirm response from another satellite parked at about forty degrees east.  Don’t ask me what it means.  I don’t think it’s The Conference.”

	“Crucial,” Locke said.  “And yet the repeat transmission identified each speaker with a computer-generated name.”

	“Which makes it all the scarier,”  Kensington said.

	They sat facing each other in silence — Grampian and Locke on the sofa, Kensington still seated at the console.  

	“Coming on top of Grampian’s discovery,” she said, “this eavesdropping business overloads my ‘coping’ capacity by a mile.   I sure hope you can get us off dead center here, Walt.”

	“An unfortunate choice of words,” Grampian murmured, half to himself.  They were speaking vocally to include him in the conversation.

	Locke groaned.  “All right, Jim.  What’s it all about?”

	Grampian looked anxiously at Kensington and asked, “Wouldn’t it be more complete coming from you?”

	She waved her hand aimlessly in the air and said, “Tell your part.  I’ll talk later.”

	Grampian moved down to the chair next to Locke’s end of the sofa and spoke in a needlessly quiet voice.  “Well, Helen came up to Edinburgh to interview me for The Conference.  I, of course, didn’t know why she was there and I thought she was primarily interested in my work.  So I took her into the lab and showed her what I considered the most interesting things . . . ”

	“Interesting!” Kensington snorted.

	“Yes, well, I didn’t know what they meant back then.”  Grampian gripped both arms of his chair like a witness at a capital trial.  “I showed her some unusual bottles of drinking water that had been drawn from the municipal reservoirs of Inverness  and Aberdeen many years ago.  A graduate student had used them to set up an experiment on a long-lived species of bacteria.  You know the sort of thing:  how fast do they grow in each generation;  how accurately do they reproduce in later generations — long-term data.  Every five years a student or faculty member would draw a sample and check the bacterial DNA to see what mutations had occurred.  And we got some very useful information out of those . . . .”  Grampian abruptly stopped talking when he realized he was avoiding the subject.  “It was my turn this year and I almost missed seeing the viruses.  Even when I did, they didn’t make much of an impression on me, but my computer program told me that it had never seen these specific viruses before and so I showed them to Helen.

	“Well, she didn’t take any particular notice either, at first.  But when I scrolled through some of the DNA sequencing we had done on them during the previous year, she became quite interested and asked me for reprints.  I gave her a full set and a few cubic centimeters of each sample and we left the lab.”

	Kensington broke in at that point and speeded up the account.  “That was two months ago.  I brought the samples back here to Clare Hall and asked our microbiologists to run them through our standard identification programs.”  She absentmindedly sipped water out of a glass on the console counter.  “And it created a panic.”  She looked down at the glass with distaste.  “That was three weeks ago.  They had just finished analyzing the samples and they immediately quarantined the entire laboratory.  They were furious with me and demanded to know where I got the samples.  I had to lie through my teeth to quiet things down.  I told them the samples were part of a carefully isolated scientific experiment and apologized for not warning them about their dangerous nature when I handed them in to be analyzed.”

	“So what were they?”   Locke was getting impatient.

	“Modified versions of a brain-destroying virus that wiped out the inhabitants of eight Pacific islands during the last century.”

	Locke stared at her in silence.  What she was saying didn’t make any sense.  His research institute in Russia received hourly reports of any health problem anywhere in the world.  Admittedly, he only downloaded them once a day to his office computer, but he certainly hadn’t been notified of any epidemic on the scale implied by two Scottish reservoirs full of a fatal virus.  “You’ll forgive me if I express my doubts about that analysis,” was all he finally said.

	“They are both characterized by long-term incubations.”

	Locke became uneasy.  “What do you mean by long-term?”

	“Decades.  Over two decades for the Inverness.  Probably the same for the Aberdeen.  And they spontaneously morph from DNA virus into a retrovirus that promptly disappears into the cells of mammalian brains.”

	Locke said nothing.  His silence came from shock, not skepticism.

	“Our first question was how long this stuff has been in the water — as DNA,” Kensington said, “and we don’t have a good answer to that.   This experiment in Jim’s lab started in 2106, just twenty years ago last February. The monthly quality checks back then would never have picked up viruses as elusive as these, much less sound the alarm about them.  Things have changed a bit since the middle of 2108.  The public health people have been doing routine polymerase productions and screening them for the most dangerous configurations.”

	“Since 2108?  You mean since the Lake Erie attack.”

	“I assume that was the incentive,” she said, “but these viruses wouldn’t respond to a normal polymerase screening anyway.”

	“What?!”  Locke stared at Kensington.

	“Their replication process is very complicated, Walt. Certainly too complicated for a routine polymerase.”

	“So these viruses were put in the reservoirs some time before the experiment started,” Grampian said, “in 2106.  They have been in the water supply for at least twenty years and we have no way of knowing how much longer.”  

	Kensington nodded.

	 “We may already be too late, Helen.”

	“Yes,” was all she said.

	“Do you have those sequences on this computer?”

	Kensington swung around and worked the touch plate for a few seconds.  When the lines of genetic code appeared on her screen, she abandoned the console chair, signaled to Grampian and the two of them left the room.  

	Locke linked to the computer through his occipital plate and began asking it to search for a variety of specific combinations.  They were all unfamiliar and he had to check his memory several times during the procedure, but he eventually had the organic tinkertoys of both viruses centered on the cottage wall screen.  He sank back on the sofa and stared at them with an unusual emotion — unusual, that is, for Walter Locke.  He normally viewed all lifeforms with impartiality.  Each had come through a fierce gauntlet of circumstance and environment over the eons, adapting as necessary and finding whatever food, shelter and procreative companionship it needed to ensure the survival of its kind.  He felt all the earth’s lifeforms had taken the same chances his own species had taken and they had earned their right to exist just as much as humans had.  

	But there was a difference.  These molecules scrolled up on Kensington’s screen were not the class of viruses that terrorists had poured into Lake Erie in 2108.  The Lke Erie viruses had signaled their presence immediately and made most of the people whose water was drawn from the lake terribly ill by the following morning.  Half had died.  Half had recovered to varying degrees.  That particular struggle between species had been a desperate one, but it had been a clean battle in the open.  Each species had a chance to put up a fight in a declared war.  It had been a legitimate case of survival of the fittest.

	But these two creatures on Helen Kensington’s wall screen reproduced their kind by stealth and deception.  And they did so by destroying the one mammalian organ that ranked at the top of Locke’s value system — the brain.  And they left no survivors.  They sneaked into the body under the disguise of a legitimate lifeform.  Then they sneaked into the target organ without being detected and they spent years infecting every cell of the cerebral cortex without the slightest trace of their existence.  And when the time finally came for them to reproduce, they destroyed the brain completely, destroyed every cell, destroyed every human being whose body they had entered.  To Walter Locke that made a difference.  This wasn’t a contest.  This was genocide.  These two lifeforms were clearly  planetary enemies of the human species.

	Kensington and Grampian walked in just as Locke finished his analysis of the strange new viruses.  	

	“What about the other water supplies?”  he asked.

	“We’ve just been on the phone with Jim’s people.  They’ve found one or both strains in all eight of the Scottish reservoirs.”

	It took several moments for Locke to regain his rational mind.  An entire country under sentence of death — the home of his distant ancestors —  a country he deeply loved.  Finally, he asked, “What about England?”

	“We’ve only had Helen’s quick enzyme test for a few days, Walt.  We haven’t had time to go out to the English reservoirs with it.  But yesterday we bought every brand of bottled water that comes from English springs and found the virus in all of them.  And it is certainly in the tap water here in Cambridge.”

	“You can’t keep doing this on your own,” Locke said.  “You need to enlist the English authorities to run a survey of the reservoirs.”

	“No bureaucrats, Walt.”

	“Why not?”

	“Panic,” Grampian said.  “We would have to explain why we want the water tested, and the first instinct of a bureaucrat is to get publicity to increase his bureau’s budget, and when the media got a whiff of that sensation, the public reaction would tear this island apart.  People killing each other to get on the tube or a boat or anything that would take them off the island.”

	“Once they’ve taken a drink of water, it would be too late to go anywhere else,” Locke said.  “And for all we know it is in everybody’s water — Europe, Asia, the Western Hemisphere.  Everywhere.”

	Grampian caught his breath.  Kensington stood speechless at the parlor door.  They watched Locke roll up his sleeve and lay his arm across an end table.  “I haven’t taken a drink of water since I arrived in England.  You better draw blood and look for your virus.  It’s something we need to know.”

	Kensington left the room and returned with a blood-sample kit.  Grampian, who hadn’t shaken off the impact of Locke’s suggestion, numbly moved away from the door to let her pass.  She sat down immediately and slid the needle into Locke’s left ulnar vein.  When she took the sample over to her technical console the only sound in the room was the faint click made by the automatic processing instruments as they transferred Locke’s blood from one analysis to the next.  Locke and Grampian had been looking at nothing at all while this was going on, but when the results began to appear on Kensington’s wall screen they moved over behind her and eagerly scanned the flashing alphanumeric symbols.

	The message was clear.  There was not a trace of the virus in Locke’s bloodstream.

	“Where have you been these past few days?”   Kensington’s voice sounded calmer than her thoughts.

	“Well we can rule out Russia — I drank a full glass of water there this morning.”  Locke searched his memory.  “I was in Italy three days ago and I stopped in to see Fidesz in Hungary — it’s on the same tube.  We need to know how fast this virus hides itself in brain cells.”  Locke put his own previous work on the screen and asked a few questions.  The answers scrolled onto the screen in contrasting colors.  “So that means we would no longer be able to detect it in my bloodstream after about fourteen or fifteen days.  Which rules out France — I worked a full day at Pasteur just last week.  And I took a local tube to Frankfort on the way back to have lunch with Koch, which rules out Germany.”   He looked up and said, “That’s all of the recent traveling, but it’s a pretty fair indication that continental Europe’s water supply is clean.”  A contradiction occurred to him.  “How have you been able to prevent panic among the people who are already making tests for you?”

	Grampian came out of his trance.  “They’re all students and colleagues of mine who were involved in a big batch of routine experiments.  It was easy to just slip this one in.”

	“We’ve been keeping them away from the inside workings of the instruments,”  Kensington said, “by having them made here in the repair facility at Clare Hall. The Edinburgh people just handle the samples and then read off the numbers.  Jim has been able to tell them plausible lies about what the numbers mean.”

	“To survey the reservoirs down here in England, we’ve had the Clare Hall workshop assembling duplicates of Helen’s instruments,” Grampian said, “and we’re going in now to pick them up.”

	“Can you get bottled spring water from any foreign nations that we haven’t cleared through my blood analysis?” Locke asked.

	Kensington called up the microtube menu and told it swiftly, through her plate, which nations she wanted to examine.  It came up with two brands from the U.S., one from Sweden, another from Chile and an expensive one from Australia.  She ordered them all.  When the standard electronic tunes announced the arrival of each in turn, she drew a cubic centimeter from its flask with a syringe and injected it into the analyzer.   They sat quietly listening to the soft clicks of her instruments.  She signaled the results to them with a shake of her head.  They were all negative.  That ruled out most of the world, but the question remained:  was there any clean water in England?

	“We’ve got to get going, Jim.  Did you call for a car?”

	“Yes.  I’m afraid it will be a standard go-cart, Helen.  Its range is just 500 kilometers.  We’ll only be able to swing by half of the reservoirs.”

	“Where did our bottled water samples come from yesterday?”

	Grampian went to the canteen and asked for the week’s order file.  He called them out as they flashed on the screen.  “Swindon.  Brecon. Taunton.  Kendal.  Lichfield.  That seems to be all.”

	“Every one of them in the West Country,” Kensington said.  “We’ll survey the East.  How far is it to go straight up to York through Doncaster and then swing back down through Hull and Norwich to Hadleigh . . . .”

	“That’s the whole 500, Helen.  We won’t get anywhere near the London reservoirs.”

	“And if we survey London and the south, we write off the northeast,” Kensington said.

	“That’s what it looks like.”

	“Better do London and the south coast,” Locke put in.  “You can cover the northeast some other day.”

	Kensington hated the choice — and the need to make it.  “So be it.  Let’s put all this gear out in front and be ready to go as soon as the car gets here.”   She turned to Locke.  “Well, Walt, now that you’ve seen them, what do you think your chances are?”

	“Of killing the rascals?  One hundred percent.  No problem about that.  I can find a compound that will latch on to these beasts and stop them dead in their tracks.”  He turned away from Kensington’s console.  “The problem will be to find one that won’t kill all of us just as quickly.  I won’t know anything about that until I download my human simulator program from the mainframe in Novosibirsk.”   He looked troubled and despondent.  “I can tell you, Helen, that this looks very bad.  These aren’t natural viruses like the ones that wiped out your Pacific islands.  They didn’t fall together randomly over the millennia.  These are deliberate modifications of those two strains, modifications that make them look more like human RNA than the originals did.  And if they look too much like us . . . well, anything I cook up to kill them will be very likely to kill us,.”

	The gloom lasted until Grampian came back inside.  “You’ll never believe this, Helen, but a Phillips Strathmore has just pulled up in front.  I looked at its route screen and it was, indeed, sent to us here at your address.  Can you beat that!  A Strathmore will do four thousand kilometers easily.  We can sample every reservoir in the country and still have more than half our charge left.”

	Kensington shook off Locke’s message and absorbed as much of Grampian’s enthusiasm as she could manage.  “Great!  Let’s get going, then.  We’ll probably be back by Thursday, Walt.  I hope you can find a magic bullet for us by then.   A safe one.”

• • • 

	The big Phillips electric pulled away from the cottage within sixty seconds and, once Grampian had set the coordinates of the reservoir outside Doncaster into the car’s route computer, he and Kensington were free to unpack the water analyzers and get them sorted out.  As the roomy Strathmore pulled off toward A604 to pick up the northern artery, they set up the car’s built-in shelves and started lining up instruments, carefully labeling them with the names of their designated reservoirs.  There was room for three sets across the back and one more on each side.

	It was almost time for lunch when they drew near Doncaster on the A•1 and realized, for the first time, that they could not approach its reservoir under the control of the Global Position Satellites.  It was directing them to the nearest shore, the side toward Barnsley, and that beach was crowded with people at picnic tables and a nearby restaurant.  They would have to go around to the northern side where a small forest went right down to the water’s edge.

	“Do you know where the manual steering control is on this car, Helen?”

	“It’s been years since I was in one of these things, Jim, but they are usually under the dashboard.  Feel around for a little trackball.  You can pull it free and set it up anywhere in the car.”

	“Yes.  Here it is.  I’ll put the local map on the screen.  Can you figure out where we should turn?”

	“I guess our best bet is A•635, Jim.  Turn right when you come to it.”

	When they found a secluded path leading down to the reservoir, they parked the Strathmore on the opposite side of the road and walked down to the edge of the trees.  Neither of them mentioned it, but they both recognized it as a perfect spot to introduce toxic biologicals into the region’s water supply.  Were they following in the footsteps of  someone else — two decades earlier?  If so, who?  And why?

	Grampian tapped in the coordinates of the York reservoir the instant they returned to the car and the vehicle promptly executed a tight U-turn and headed back down toward A•1 to go north.  To his astonishment he began to hear the soft clicking of Kensington’s instruments behind him.  He turned to see her tap the final instructions into her analyzer as she took advantage of a miracle of automotive engineering — moving swiftly along the back roads of South Yorkshire, the Strathmore compensated so perfectly for the uneven roadbed that there was no trace of vibration inside it.  She had spilled a single drop of a reagent on the shelf next to her analyzer and Grampian noticed that it sat motionless on the flat surface as they sped through the countryside.  Go-carts give you a pretty comfortable ride, but this Strathmore was far beyond his experience in the frugal economy of the Scottish north.

	It was twelve minutes before she spoke.  All she said was “both” and they returned to watching the landscape roll silently by outside the windows.  When they turned off on A•64 to approach York from the west, she began to load the second instrument with the necessary reagents.

	The reservoir at York was far more open and populated than Doncaster had been.  They drove manually around the basin until they found an unoccupied picnic site.  Grampian rushed to get a sample while Kensington drove the big car off in an innocent direction, returning only when she saw him walking back with the syringe tucked inside his shirt.  This time she found only one strain of the deadly viruses in the water supply.  Had their predecessor of two decades ago faced the same open-to-the-public problem?

	What had started out as a hopeful search for clean water was rapidly turning into a grim task that they were carrying out only through a sense of duty.  They had stopped gazing at the countryside and missed the fact that the Strathmore hadn’t gone east toward Hull but had returned to A•1 and was going north at over eighty kilometers an hour.  It wasn’t until Kensington noticed that they had just turned off on A•66 at Scotch Corner that she sounded the alarm.

	“What coordinates did you set for Hull, Jim?”

	“Twenty-seven minutes west and . . . ”  he looked outside.  “Hey!  What’s going on?  This is the A66.  Put that map back on the screen, Helen, and . . . .”

	“We’re not even close, Jim.  The GPS must have malfunctioned.  We’re headed for nowhere — fast.”

	“I’d better get us back under manual control.”

	Kensington’s intuition told her they should let the Strathmore go where it had been sent.  They needed all the information they could get and their results so far were nothing but dismal.  She talked Grampian into leaving the car under satellite control.

	Once again it left the main highway, this time taking back roads past Staindrop to a village called Copley.  They didn’t need to read the signs along the Gaunless River to know where they were — and why.  The reservoir stretched all the way to Hamsterley Forest where it was fed by two more rivers on its eastern shore.

	“This wasn’t on our chart,” Grampian said.

	“No it wasn’t.  And those signs are falling apart.  This lake hasn’t been used for years.  Can you put a query through to London from here?

	“I think so,” Grampian said.  “How should I phrase it?”

	“Just ask if the Copley reservoir is still in use — or ask them when its water was tested last.”

	They sat silently watching the screen until the answer came up.  The last year in which the reservoir’s water quality had been tested was twenty-one seventeen — nine years ago.  Abandoned in twenty-one nineteen.

	“That’s why it wasn’t on our chart,” Kensington said.

	“But it doesn’t explain why we’re up here in nowhere land.  Or why the car brought us here.”

	“Where did you get this car?”

	“The usual rental place next to the tube station in Cambridge,” Grampian answered.

	“You said at first we’d have to make do with a standard go-cart.  Did they tell you that?”

	“Yes, now that you mention it.  They said they didn’t have anything else.”

	“So where did this come from?”

	“I don’t have a clue.  Any more than I know why it brought us up here to a reservoir we didn’t know about.”

	“Yes, for example.”

	They got out of the car and sampled the water without subterfuge — there wasn’t a living soul in sight.  They sat quietly in the stationary car until the analysis was completed.  Both strains of the virus were in the reservoir.

	“I had hoped this one would be different,” Grampian said.

	“Yes.” Kensington said.  “Let’s get going.  We’ve got a lot more to test.  Hull is next?”

	“Yes,” said Grampian as he tapped in the coordinates — again.
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CHAPTER  TWENTY-ONE



	Locke decided to change the direction of his attack.  The modifications that some unknown human terrorists had pasted on these viruses had to be compatible with the intricate survival mechanisms that the viruses had accumulated over the several hundred million years of their existence.  When the earth was warmer, they had to withstand heat.  When the mammals they fed on grew larger or started eating different food, the viruses had to evolve with them.  What restrictions had that evolutionary history imposed on the changes that could be made to these lifeforms?  Could he use the viruses’ evolution to search out the modifications that had baffled him so far?  Could he unravel those modifications by approaching them in this roundabout way?   

	He had written a powerful species-simulator program over a century ago and had used it to advantage several times since then.  Three hours ago he had downloaded it from Novosibirsk and had since covered the wall screens on both sides of the room with chromosomes.  His antagonists had yielded nothing — nothing useful in his search for limitations, nothing useful in his search for a chemical fragment to latch on to the deadly viruses and render them harmless.

	But now he had changed his direction of attack again.  Instead of looking at the biological properties of their prey, he had started looking into the ever changing properties of the viruses’ opponents:  the immune systems of earth’s mammals, the defense mechanisms these viruses had to overwhelm or evade in order to survive and multiply.

	They were very strange creatures, these self-destructive viruses.   If humans behaved like these microscopic bits of life, they wouldn’t exist any more.  They would have evaded destruction by wild lions by changing themselves into caterpillars when attacked.  They would have protected themselves by changing every one of their families and their relatives, changing all of their children and grandchildren, all of their progeny down to the Nth generation into caterpillars, then by eating up all the grass and leaves that the lions’ prey animals needed to stay alive, which would deprive the lions of their food and thus, eventually, destroy their attackers.  The fact that they had begun the process by destroying themselves would never escape the notice of human beings, but viruses had no counterpart of notice.  They did what worked.  They did not mull things over afterwards.

	And so the genocidal DNA viruses, these earthly lifeforms that could survive in lakes and forests and deserts, turned out to be suicidal as well.  They entered the bodies of their chosen prey animals in order to replicate themselves, to endow the future earth with specimens of their kind.  But when attacked by the mammal’s immune system, they converted themselves from DNA viruses into RNA viruses.  They converted themselves from authentic lifeforms into lifeless chemical tools, clumps of weak organic acid and ribose sugar that could not survive as RNA molecules for ten seconds in the earth’s lakes and forests and deserts, but could only prevent their immediate disintegration by cowering inside the brain’s glial cells.  These organisms, capable of reproducing their kind for a million years, deliberately changed themselves into retroviruses, impotent parasites of the metabolic processes of a foreign species’ brain, of its ability to think and reason.  And that left the question of how the DNA form of these viruses managed to come down through the millennia to threaten the existence of the world’s mammals.

	Locke suddenly realized that was impossible.  These deadly viruses could not survive that way.  When the last survivor of the DNA viruses had attacked one of the earth’s mammals and extinguished itself, there would be no offspring to carry on its line!  Retroviruses could not independently reproduce themselves.  The RNA form that they converted themselves into was an eternal death sentence.  They made themselves extinct!  What Grampian and Kensington had found in the reservoirs was impossible!

	Unable to sit still any longer, Locke left the sofa and went to the console.  He absentmindedly scanned various sub-routines of his species program and became aware of the sound of rain on the window behind him.  When he turned to look out at the weather he found that it was too dark to see.  Where had all the time gone?  He realized that it had gone into searching for the evolutionary secrets of an organism that could not evolve.  He had misled himself.  He had spent the day wandering around in a meaningless labyrinth.

	Returning to his starting point, Locke ran through the behavior of the reservoir viruses when introduced into the human body.  Everything went according to expectations.  Nothing new turned up on the wall screens.  He powered up his species-simulator program and began to look again at other mammals, but there was no change in the computer-simulated struggle between the viruses and the immune systems.

  	It took over twenty minutes for him to see his mistake.  He had left the human reactions active.  The viruses in his computer were using human immune enzymes to convert themselves to RNA in the bodies of guinea pigs, rabbits, horses and sheep.  He had left the human door open to them in his artificial simulation — a door that would never be open to them in the natural world.

	Locke immediately started the tedious process of removing human enzymes from his program.  Since so much of the basic chemistry of life was shared among nature’s creatures, it was a slow and grueling procedure.  Most of his time was spent correcting new mistakes that had taken the place of old ones.  But there was progress.  It had already become obvious that the viruses, originally a minor affliction in all mammals, had now been tailored to the human immune system and its virulence increased a thousand fold.  Locke finally established that neither virus changed from its DNA form into its retrovirus form when attacked by the immune systems of mice and rabbits.  So what about the other mammals?

   	Locke carefully examined the interplay between a sheep’s immune system and the reservoir viruses.  He painstakingly displayed the two sets of chemistry on opposite walls of the silent room.  The sheep corrections were quite different from the ones he had used for rabbits — so many chromosomes were unique to each of the two species, so many . . . .

	The front door of the cottage burst open and a dozen wet hikers charged into the small room, shaking their raincoats and whooping in pleasure to be in out of the downpour.   Locke was clapped on the back by three large human beings and asked questions about his tinkertoy screen images by nine small human beings.  Helen’s husband and their two grown children were delighted to see “one of her students” laboring away in the house without supervision.  Her grandchildren were delighted to see the new games the “student” had invented for them and wanted to start playing them right away.  They operated in relays from various other rooms where they were changing clothes, drying themselves with wet towels, and returning to the living room to talk to the young visitor.  Locke’s efforts to concentrate also operated in a relay between interruptions.  He found himself at one point putting back the enzymes he was supposed to be removing, at another time exchanging antibodies between rabbits and sheep, then making a new set of mistakes while trying to undo the damage done by the first one.

	He began to sense a tightness in his chest he hadn’t felt since the worst days of the last century.   Trying to hold his concentration on the screen and to relieve his anxiety at the same time, Locke reached up onto the small shelf above the computer where Helen’s husband had thoughtfully placed a glass of fresh water.  He put it down momentarily while he tapped in another instruction — there was so much noise in the room that voice input was out of the question.  The calculation was made so rapidly he didn’t have time to return to the glass.  He tapped in another instruction.  The computer began a long series of regression analyses which gave him time to relax for a few minutes.  He sank back in his chair and once again reached for the glass.

	It was at that moment that he saw, for the first time, what he held in his hand.  His first reaction, barely suppressed, was to drop it.  His second reaction, not at all suppressed, was an intense feeling of guilt.  A very strange kind of guilt.  Here he was with all the energy and the enthusiasm of life surging around him in that room, and he was concealing his private, essential knowledge of death, of their own impending death.

	He went over in his mind again the rationale for his silence.

They had fallen victim to the viruses when they took their first drink many years ago.

Knowing about it would not enable them to help themselves in any conceivable way.

He could not reassure them about his chances of finding a solution.  He had failed to do so. 

Revealing the catastrophe would burden them with the same obligation of silence he himself endured.  One careless word from any of them would place the responsibility for all the people who would die in the resulting panic on them, not on the unknown terrorists who had gone to such lengths to annihilate the inhabitants of the British Isles.  Breaking his silence wouldn’t do any of Helen’s loved ones a favor.



	When several members of the group offered him food, Locke realized he was hungry.  He was also attracting attention with his lame excuses for refusing anything to drink.  Reluctant to interrupt his search, he nevertheless decided to break off long enough to see to his basic needs.

	Glancing quickly at the list of foreign bottled water Kensington had tested, Locke tapped his orders into the microtube menu to avoid being overheard — a penniless young graduate student would not have acquired fancy tastes so soon in life.  When three bottles of “safe” water arrived a few moments later, he put them on the top shelf behind some boxes of detergent.

	He then typed in orders for “water only” food tablets from Parkway and used his cache of foreign water to prepare his late lunch.  He knew that the household’s amino acid solutions were made up with tap water containing the deadly viruses, he carefully avoided that kind of food.

  	The feeling of guilt refused to go away.  Locke had always relished knowledge;  for the first time in his life he hated it.

	The group was reminiscing about its adventurous day, which automatically excluded Locke.  They left the strange, uncommunicative student to his studies and gathered around the fireplace on the other side of the room.

• • • 

	Despair filled the luxurious Phillips Strathmore as Kensington and Grampian sped west on A27 toward Southampton.  Tired, hungry and appalled at the unending series of lethal water supplies they had tested throughout the afternoon and evening, they both wanted to stop for the night but neither wanted to open a conversation that would review the day’s activities.  It was when the soft voice of the car’s annunciator told them a motel/restaurant was coming up just east of  Fareham that they glanced at each other and made the silent decision to abandon their futile search for a few hours.  Kensington gave the appropriate instructions and they felt the car slow three miles further, pulling into an attractive overnight stop.  They didn’t exchange a word in the restaurant, they fell on their beds in the attractive suite of rooms, then went heavily to sleep and endured a series of nightmares until dawn.

	And while they slept, the satellites that Kensington had discovered three weeks ago were transmitting to each other the fact that there was no information to transmit.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    Have received no communications from you in default / alert time period.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    No conversation has  been intercepted from the vehicle since 16:34 hours.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    Execute intercept-test procedure and report.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    Test successful.  Link functioning properly.  There simply has been no conversation.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    Very well.  Remain on station and report first indication of conversation.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    Confirmed.

• • •

	Locke wanted desperately to talk over his baffling problem with colleagues in Novosibirsk and he repeatedly reached for the network key.  And each time pulled his hand away.   There was no way to phrase his questions without revealing what had happened in the British Isles.  He had never felt so inadequate before, and so alone.  Before he realized what he was doing, he deleted the work he did that morning and found himself starting all over again from the beginning.  Repeating work was a waste of time.  He couldn’t afford to waste time.  He needed to exercise more discipline.  He fought a growing sense of panic and forced it back down to a reasonable sense of urgency.

	It took over an hour, but he finally managed to get himself under control again.  The familiar patterns of his species program were coming back to him and he was wielding its searchlight with greater confidence.  He started over again from the premise that those who had modified these viruses could not do anything that violated the original inheritance of either one of them.  He put those restrictions into his complicated program as a set of boundary conditions.

  	It took him three hours to be sure he had it right.  In the meantime the cottage had grown silent and all the hikers had gone home or gone to sleep upstairs.  The rain had stopped and the night sky was clear.  With the earth’s heat radiating into space, it grew much cooler.  Locke went outside from time to time to clear his head and stare up at the rest of the universe — all of it governed by the same physics and chemistry that ruled here on earth.  There must be thousands of orbiting planets out there, he told himself — teeming with life, with DNA, with all the nutrients and toxins the carbon atom could support.  Given similar struggles for survival between their life forms, had every one of them produced a species with the ability and viciousness to devise genocide on a scale this large?

	He was barely aware of it, but his first effective poison scrolled up out of the anti-virus program just before midnight.  When he ran it through its paces he found that it completely destroyed the virus found in the Inverness reservoir and it detoxified the one from Aberdeen to the point that even a vaccination was unnecessary.

  	Now for the hard part — to see what effect his “defense” had on the healthy human body.   He set up his new test program and fed in the virus antidote with barely suppressed excitement.  It sailed through test after test and left human physiology untouched until he reached the long list of vital enzymes that make the human chemical factory work.

  	It started going wrong from the first trial.  It went on for the next seven in a row, blocking the enzyme activities that we call “life”.  It was devastating.  It turned off over a third of the vital functions needed to provide and regulate energy in the human body.  He wasted hours running through the deadly reactions — long after the anti-toxin had proven a failure.  The hypnotic bond of witnessing so much failure held him captive into the early morning.

	When Kensington and Grampian returned at noon they found him sound asleep on the sofa while everyone tiptoed through the parlor to avoid disturbing him.  Had they but known it, they could have driven screaming fire trucks across the room without waking him.

	Kensington put Locke’s work up on the south screen to see what he had accomplished.  She couldn’t make any sense of it at first, but then his destructive “solution” began to emerge and she turned to see if he was having nightmares.  Locke was a picture of complete exhaustion.  His nightmares would have to wait for him to wake up.

	She and Grampian unloaded the car and arranged their reservoir samples on the long bench in Kensington’s back study.  Each vial was carefully marked, in case they ever became significant, and all of the testing equipment was decontaminated with strong anti-viral solutions.

	Kensington noticed a box of music cubes and thought of Locke’s nightmares.  On impulse she searched through the box and took one of its cubes out to the console in the living room.   Locke’s eyelids were starting to signal his awakening as she adjusted the sound system’s controls through her plate.  The music started just seconds before he opened his eyes.

		Kensington went over to the canteen and brought back three cups of Parkway tea, one of them made with foreign water.  They sat quietly sipping it as the music floated into the room.  Moving to the sound with effortless grace, holographic ballerinas performed perfect arabesques facing the couch, each stretching out an arm toward the little group in time with the music.  When the selection ended, Kensington turned off the cube and sat warming her hands over the teacup.

		“Thanks, Helen.  I forgot that I sent that to you.  I made cubes for all of the old NIH people and other special friends.”  Locke gazed at the empty space where John Locke’s creations had appeared.   “He died three years ago.”  Locke’s face composed itself as he looked up.  “There is more than one way to be immortal, I guess.”

	A while later Kensington collected their cups and reported the results of the reservoir tour.   “I’ve seen your stuff on the computer, Walt.  Do you have any fresh ideas to try out?”

	“Not a one.  Nothing.  I’ve got to talk to my group, Helen.  Some of them know more about this type of thing than I do.  But even with those who don’t, just tossing it around among ourselves could suggest a new mode of attack.”

	“Have you worked on both strains?”

	“Yes.  I’ve chased both of the original animals back down the evolutionary highway until I understand them pretty well.”  Locke looked bleakly at the computer console.  “Better than I understand the people who modified them and put them in the water supplies.”

	Helen Kensington sat up straight and stared at Locke.   “But that’s just it, Walter.  That’s where we should be looking.   We shouldn’t be chasing the chemistry.  There are a thousand ways the molecular stuff could be done.  We don’t have time to run down every one of them.  We should be looking for who could do work like this.  There can’t be more than a dozen groups in the world working on this weird stuff.   Maybe half that.  I can’t think of more than two, myself.”  She stood up and looked at the computer console.  “Is everything on this screen saved?”

	Locke caught her mood and almost shouted.  “Yes.”

	“We have a complete archive of biological research papers at Clare Hall,”  Kensington said.   She stood in front of the computer and operated it through her plate.  The wall screens exploded into lines of subjects, titles and names.  With each key word she entered, the lines thinned out.

  	Until there were only eight left.   

	Locke pulled the formulas for the two DNA viruses out of his program and entered them as key words.  He had come over behind Kensington and saw past her shoulder that the eight entries were being deleted one by one.  At last there was a single group identified on the near screen and he heard Kensington gasp.

	“Abalkin.  Yuri Abalkin.  I remember that work.  It was done at Oxford in the 90s.”

	“I didn’t think Oxford did much scientific research.”

	“No, not much.   Abalkin was an exception.  A genius, really.  He set up the Elton Lab in Trinity College and started looking for a cure for long-term sequellae of . . . of brain viruses!”   Kensington turned and looked at Locke.

	“See if he’s still there,” Locke’s voice was tense .

    	Kensington asked for a current staff list.  “No,” was all she said.

  	“What about the rest of his group?  Are any of them still there?”

 	Kensington scanned the list.  “No.   That’s strange.  Most of them would be in their fifties by now — full professors.  And yet I can’t find any of them listed anywhere.”

	“All right, we’ll chase that later,” Locke said.  “What about published results?  Do they tell us anything?”

	Kensington ran through several local search procedures and finally turned to the Global Index.  The screen came up empty.  “Walter!” she said.   “None of his articles are listed.  Not even abstracts.  That’s odd.  I’m sure his name is Abalkin.  Is there anyone in your group in Novosibirsk you could ask about this without stirring up too much idle curiosity?”

	“Oh, I wouldn’t risk starting rumors in Russia, Helen, it’s a national addiction.”  Locke went to get a new bottle of Argentinean spring water.  When he returned he stopped drinking with a sudden thought.   “But Sergei doesn’t gossip very much.  In fact not at all.  Yes. Sergei Kulikov would be pretty safe.  What’s a good way to put the question?  Some bland, insignificant words.”

	“Lie a bit.  Say that you ran into some of Abalkin’s work over here.  Looks interesting.  Does Kulikov know where you could find Abalkin — to ask him some questions?”

	“That sounds routine enough.  Do you have everything on your machine saved?  I’d like to use your communication program.”

	Kensington made the necessary changes and nodded.

	Locke spent the next half hour chasing down Sergei Kulikov and discussing the matter with him through Kensington’s interpreter program.  It wasn’t as complete as Locke’s own interpreter back in Novosibirsk, the latest slang and some Siberian idioms were missing, but the final results were clear and unmistakable — neither Sergei nor any of the colleagues he could contact had heard from Abalkin for ten or twenty years. Everyone remembered him as a brilliant investigator and most of them were surprised they hadn’t seen his work in the literature since the turn of the century.

	They sat in the living room looking at each other blankly.  They had exhausted the normal sources everyone used to get such answers.  What now?

	“I’ll have to go down there and talk to people in private,” Kensington said at last.  “I met several senior people at Oxford while we were setting up the Virtual Worlds project.  They’re regular troops, they’d answer questions.  This all looks like somebody scrubbed the open sources.  The backroom sources might still exist.”  She turned to Grampian.  “Jim.  How do you feel?  Your health, I mean.”

	“Fine as always, Helen.  Why do you ask?”

	“I need you down there.  You’re officially in England on academic business, so you won’t attract comment if you suddenly show up in Oxford and move around a lot.  But if I make hotel reservations and set up formal interviews in my own name, people will be curious and start asking questions.  I need you to cover for me.”

	“I’ll be glad to do that.  Don’t give it a second thought.”

	“But it means you’ll have to postpone your processing for a week or two.  That’s why I asked how you feel — physically.”

	Grampian smiled.  “Don’t give that a second thought either, Helen.  We’re dealing with something far more important than turning me into a child like Walter Locke here.”

	“Is my family interfering with your work, Walt?  I can always set you up at Clare Hall.”

	“No.  They’ve got used to me now.  They think of me as part of the furniture.”

	“Good.  I find they make a pleasant setting for really tough work.  They provide just enough real world to remind you that it still exists.”  Kensington went into the first-floor bedroom and packed both suitcases while Grampian busied himself on the phone making reservations at the Randolph Hotel.  She scribbled out the name of a promising contact every once in a while and he put in a call to each one of them without mentioning Kensington.  They both finished at about the same time and took their things out to the car.  Grampian typed their destination into the trip computer and the gleaming Strathmore soundlessly moved off toward the A 10.  They were going to arrive at Oxford in style.
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CHAPTER  TWENTY-TWO



	Unconsciously avoiding his work at the computer, Locke wandered into the canteen and scrolled through its varied menus.  The dishes made with household amino-acid solutions sounded delicious but those solutions had been made with local water laced with the virus that currently threatened the populations of England and Scotland.   Locke forlornly turned to the water-only menu and scanned for the third time its tasteless offerings.  They were designed primarily for small children and those adults who could only tolerate bland diets.  He ordered a couple he hadn’t tried yet and used an American bottled water in one of them and the Swedish water in the other.  It didn’t help.  They both tasted like wallpaper paste.  He headed disconsolately back into the living room.

	Deprived of Abalkin’s technical reports, Locke had to make do with the published papers of other biologists working in the field.  There was usually enough cross fertilization in a narrowly defined subject to give abundant hints about the missing piece in the puzzle and he soon had an outline of the approach to late sequellae viruses of the central nervous system being used by most investigators in the 2090s.  The field was a nightmare of failed theories.  Due to the intrinsic nature of the phenomenon, no laboratory experiments could be performed in a reasonable period of time.  Every theoretical approach had to be tested by inference from the few short-term experiments that could be done.  But what did the inferential experiments really mean?  Some very heated disagreements arose at the turn of the century and some teams of investigators had stopped talking to each other during the 2100s.

	Was that the reason Abalkin’s papers had been deleted from the technical literature.   Had it been professional opposition?   Never in Locke’s memory had such a thing been done.  It was pure sacrilege.  And it didn’t answer the question of Abalkin’s whereabouts or where the members of his team had gone.  He had a hard time keeping his mind on chemistry with those nagging doubts about human behavior lurking in the background.

• • •

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    There is activity involving our vehicle.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    What time did it begin?

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    At 17:35 hours.  It is on the A•10 heading southwest.  Going to London probably.    No.  It just turned off on the A•505.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   Read out  the trip computer and find out where they’re really going. 

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    I can’t.  They seem to have reprogrammed the trip computer in some way.  I can’t read it out.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:     Deliberately !?!

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:      I have no proof that it was deliberate, it may have happened accidentally when we sent them to that unregistered reservoir in Copley.    but unfortunately there is one indication that they are  cognizant

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:     What indication?

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:      Every time they go into the house in Madingley the carrier frequencies from their plates fade out.  I have been unable to intercept from inside that house for over two weeks.  I cannot believe that is a coincidence.  It indicates to me they have shielded the house.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   That could be very bad, you know.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:     Yes.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    Well, right now we have this problem with the trip computer.  Get someone on that as soon as you can.   Get the computer  reprogrammed sometime when they are away from the car.   In the meantime, keep me informed of their movements.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    confirmed.



• • •



	Kensington and Grampian were approaching the ring road around Oxford before they realized how hungry they were.  They decided to eat at the Randolph but considered it a bad idea to draw attention to themselves by pulling up in front of it in a big new Strathmore.  Grampian canceled the automatic route master and tweaked them off the main thoroughfare on to Pusey Street before they came to the hotel.  They turned into the relatively anonymous Pusey Lane and parked in front of an ornate private house for camouflage.   They ate ravenously of the Randolph’s gourmet cuisine, suppressing their guilty thoughts about Locke’s plain water menu.  

	Kensington designed an appointment schedule for the next day that provided a fairly plausible explanation for her unexpected appearance with Jim Grampian.



•   •   •

	“Doctor Grampian.  Doctor Kensington.  I’m sorry we had to meet in my private quarters, but we share the research office with two other groups and it is being used for a conference today.”

	“Since we are primarily interested in your personal recollections, Doctor Bekker, that won’t be any problem at all.”

	“Personal recollections?”

  	“Yes.  Doctor Kensington and I have run across an unfortunate gap in the Global Index that no one in Cambridge seems able to fill.  It concerns Yuri Abalkin, who did his most important work here at Oxford in the 90s.  Do you remember him?”

	“Yes, indeed.  He was a whirlwind, that fellow.  We used to have lunch up at the Cherwell Boathouse on occasion.  Yes.  Now I remember who you are,  Helen Kensington.  That’s where I used to meet you back in the old days.  At Cherwell.”

	“That’s right.  I was busy setting up the Virtual Worlds project.  You consulted for us a couple times.”

	“Excellent stuff, that.  We haven’t done as much with it as you folks have in Cambridge, but it is the wave of the future or I miss my bet.”

	“That’s where I used to meet Abalkin.  I don’t remember ever seeing his laboratory.  Is he still working here?” 

	“Oh, no. I don’t think he’s still clinking test tubes in these parts.  In fact I haven’t seen him in an eternity.  Not since that business with the . . . what was it called?  It was that nut group from London.  You remember, Kensington.  They used to march along the Bayswater Road, back and forth all day, tying up traffic, thousands of them.”

	“You mean ‘The Truth’ people?   ‘The Eternal Truth’?”

	“That’s the bunch.   Luddites, in my opinion.  Just a gang of obsolescent yokels who wanted to spin the earth backwards to the twenty-first century.  The twentieth, for all I know.”

	“But what was Yuri Abalkin doing with those people?  He certainly wasn’t a Luddite.”

	“No, no.  He didn’t join ‘em.  It was some kind of fight over . . . let me think.  He took them to court.  That was it.  He charged them with stealing his research results or something like that.”

	Grampian and Kensington exchanged glances.  She pressed on, anxiously.  “Is any of his work still going on in the Elton Lab?”

	“In Trinity?  No, I wouldn’t think so.   My recollection is he moved his work somewhere else.  The whole project.  Just after the turn of the century.”

	“We hoped to find out where he went.  Was there anyone close enough to his group to keep track of it?”

	“I can think of a couple people who were a lot closer than I was.  Let me see if the university roster can help us.  Yes.  Here they are.  Both still here.  I’ll print out their particulars.”

	After expressing their thanks, Kensington and Grampian made their exit and dashed down Beaumont Street toward the sixteenth-century bulk of Trinity College.  Both of Albakin’s acquaintances had retired from research and taken up positions as tutors in Trinity College.  Kensington led the way past several familiar traffic hazards as they crossed the broad expanse of St. Giles and went through Balliol’s passageway into the inner court.  Inquiries at the porter’s desk informed them that both tutors were undoubtedly having lunch at this hour but they were welcome to wait.  Instead they decided to return to the exceptional food at the Randolph and therefore asked the porter to inform the two women of their phone number at the hotel.   

	They were pressing their fingers on the print plate to pay the price of a delicious “light lunch” when the first call came in.  It was the chemist who had worked in the Elton Lab with Abalkin and her voice was full of curiosity as she made an appointment to see them.  They dashed back to Trinity and easily found her rooms — Kensington had lived just down the short hallway from them in 2094.

	She had left her door open and saw them coming through the hall.  “Hello.  Doctor Kensington?  I’m Patricia Hays.”

	“Thank you for phoning us back so fast, Doctor Hays.  May I introduce Doctor Grampian?  James Grampian from Edinburgh?”

	“Jim, please, Doctor Hays.  I am universally Jim.”

	“Splendid.  I much prefer Pat, myself.  You two will be Helen and Jim.  Okay?

	“A•OK, Pat.”

	“Oh, my goodness.  My glossary tells me that’s an old space-launch thing from the U.S..  Twentieth century, in fact.”

	Kensington was too startled at first to follow through properly.  “You certainly have a good memory, Pat.  We hope you can remember . . .”   She stopped talking as she “heard” a distressed thought cross Hayes’ mind for making such a careless statement about her glossary.   Kensington transmitted one of her own.  “Are you Conference, Doctor Hayes?”

	It was Hayes turn to be startled.  “Why, yes.  Yes, I am. I assume that question could only have come from a Conference member.”

	“You have no idea how helpful that is going to be, Pat.  Or how important.”  They were shaking hands again as Kensington reached over and grasped Hayes by the elbow.  With Hayes going first they exchanged biographies and Kensington asked a dozen questions about the Elton Laboratory and Yuri Abalkin.  Their soundless conversation took forty-three seconds in all.

	“You’re talking through your plates, aren’t you?” Grampian asked.

	“Yes.  Sorry,” Kensington said, speaking aloud.

	“No, no.  I think it’s fascinating.  Really fascinating.  Then you must be Conference, Pat.   How wonderful.  And how fortunate!   You not only can be a tremendous help but you can communicate with Helen at high speed.  Talking through your plates, I mean.  I’m looking forward to it.  They say it’s very fast.”

	“Jim Grampian is scheduled for immediate processing in one of the Cambridge centers,” Kensington explained to Hayes.  “Yes it is, Jim.   About fourteen times faster than vocal.”

	“It’s hard to imagine such a huge difference,” Grampian declared.   “I would have guessed that thought is thought.  I figured it would take as much time to think something silently as it would to say it.”

	“That’s what most of us expected, but it turns out that we have been gearing down our brains for centuries to match the speech rate — looking up sounds in the speech center, setting up a breathing pattern that would let us make the sounds, tightening up the larynx and shaping the tongue.  The whole thing took time to do and we slowed down our thoughts to match it.  Now with the plates, conversation doesn’t involve all that huffing and puffing, so we can just let loose and think.  It took us almost ten years, last century, before we realized how fast we could feed pure thoughts to each other through the plates.”

	“That’s part of the advantage,” Hayes noted, “but the plates also connect us directly to The Conference data base — and that puts us in touch with all the information that has accumulated throughout time.  You’ll be astonished at the change in your thinking process when it takes place without any missing pieces.  I found hundreds of mistaken ideas in my head during the early years with the plate — ideas I had counted on to do my work.  They were wrong because I had been overlooking this or that piece of the picture.” 

	 “You can follow our conversation better, Jim, if we put what we say to each other up on Pat’s screen.  You won’t be able to see data-bank stuff but you’ll be ‘inside’ the discussion.”

	“Sounds like a good idea,” Hayes said.

	Grampian moved down to the end of the room so he could see the screen better and Kensington went over to sit across from Hayes.

	“You’re being Conference enables us to tell you what this is all about, Pat.  Otherwise we would have been talking in circles and wasting time.”  Even though she had known about the viruses in the water supplies for three weeks, Kensington found it difficult to put it into words again.   She had known Walter Locke for forty-two years and yet it had been tough enough to discuss it with him.  Now with Hayes it seemed like she was inflicting pain on an innocent bystander.  But they needed her best efforts to search for Abalkin, so Kensington pressed on with her review of the information they had acquired thus far.  When she was finished, she looked over at Grampian and waited for him to catch up on the screen.  “Did I leave anything out, Jim?” she asked.

	“Not that I caught.  No, Helen.”

	Patricia Hayes sat with her hands folded in her lab.  “Those damned maniacs!  It must be them.  It must be those damned maniacs.”  She looked up at Kensington with a startled expression.  “But how?”  She remembered Grampian and threw the next question across the room toward him.  “How could they have got that much information out of the lab?  I don’t think any of us could have put all the pieces together to produce something like this.”  She turned back to Kensington.  “You say it enters the body as a straight DNA virus and converts to an RNA inside the cell?”

	“Yes.”

	“There weren’t more than two or three people looking into that kind of thing.”  She suddenly turned around and spoke to the phone.  “Call Marya Starkov.  Execute a full-area paging program.”

	“Starkov,” Kensington said.  “That’s the other name Bekker gave us.”

	“Good for him,” Hayes said.  “He’s got one of the best memories around this place.  Marya and I are the only staff people left from the Elton Lab, as far as I know.  And I think she helped out the RNA group for several months.  She should know how much information the crazies turned up with.”

	“Oh, yes,” Grampian chimed in.  “The lawsuit.”

	“We never went as far as a formal lawsuit.   Yuri had to give up the idea.  It hadn’t occurred to any of us, but if we had taken the matter into court, we would have had to put everything into the public record.  In order to prove that the ‘Eternal Truth’ had taken data out of the lab during the night, we would have had to make almost all of the DNA-RNA transition data public.  That would have made the information available to every terrorist outfit in the world.”

	“It has gone even further than that today,” Grampian said.  “All of the papers and reports from Elton have been removed from the Net.  None of the results nor the people who worked on them are cited in the international records.”

	“Oh we did that long ago.  We searched through every data bank we could find and deleted any mention of our work — right after this lawsuit debacle.  We suddenly realized that what we were doing was wonderful science but awfully dangerous.  We had discovered that our fascinating biological chemistry would be extremely deadly in the hands of fanatics.

  	“And now it has happened.  It’s what you have found in the reservoirs.  All that hard work — and now the Truth people have wiped out the lot of us.”

	“Can you be sure it’s the Truth people?” Kensington asked.

	“No.  But who else?  We’ve kept those records under wraps ever since the Eternal Truth broke in and photocopied the stuff in Marya’s lab.”

	“Then can you tell me why in the world those people would attempt to kill everybody on this island?”

	“Yes, I probably can.  Yes.  I can see this whole thing coming out of the partition.”

	“What partition?”

	“I see you keep yourself well-informed on current affairs.”

	Kensington was a little disconcerted, but only a little.  “I’ll bet you spend just as much time in the lab as I do — and just as little reading the newsnets.”

	“Yeah.  You’re right.  I only know about this stuff because it raised a tremendous storm around here.  One of the regions they demanded would have included Wiltshire, Berkshire and Oxfordshire.  That would have put this entire region under the governance of atavistic imbeciles.”

	“Demanded?”

	“As one of their “Traditional” territories.  When the partition between modern and traditional was being sorted out, the Truth types demanded over a third of the land mass of Scotland, Wales and England.”

	Kensington recalled a deeply serious conversation she had had with several colleagues at the National Institutes of Health in Bethesda.  She reviewed some of the general reference works in her browser on the subject and brought herself more or less up to date on the division of the world between those who could function in its modern form and those who could not.  “Yes,” she said at last.  “I see how that could lead to a lot of trouble.”

	“Well, no one was going to hand over that much of what we had created during the past four centuries.  They were laughed out of court — here and almost everywhere else.  And they were furious.  They made apocalyptic threats.  And they just about completely disappeared from public life.”  Kensington could see Hayes swiftly review the troubled times and their aftermath.  Then she said, almost inaudibly, “Until we found evidence that they had been breaking into two or three of our labs here at Oxford.  We hadn’t taken them seriously before that.  We thought of them as just a bunch of inept crazies.  Then we started to worry, in a general sort of way.”

	“Have you kept The Conference informed of all this?”

	“Oh yes. Since the winter of 2106.  That was when Yuri closed the lab altogether.  I felt it was my responsibility as the only Conference member associated with the project to send in a report.  I didn’t raise a formal alarm, though.  And now I think I should have.”

	“Well, The Conference certainly should have recognized the danger on their own since then.  That was twenty years ago.”  Kensington saw her own words on the screen and turned suddenly toward Hayes in distress.   “Pat!  I haven’t told The Conference about Grampian’s viruses!  How could I be so stupid?”

	“Are you sure?  Not a word?”

	“Not a single word.”  She stared at Hayes and silently asked to use her computer.  Hayes just as silently said yes.  Kensington recited the information concerning the reservoirs into The Conference net.  When the screen caught up with the end of her report, Grampian said  “Tell them about the car taking us up to the old reservoir near Copley.  The one on the Gaunless River.”

	“Oh, yes.  Another mystery.  Our trip computer did an override on us and drove the car up north to an abandoned reservoir that we hadn’t even known about.  We sampled it and found both viruses.  We have no idea why that computer . . . .”

	“Did you say Copley?”  Hayes asked.

	“Yes,” Kensington said.  “It’s up in Durham.”

	“Oh we know where it is, all right.  That’s right in the middle of England’s biggest Traditional territory.   That’s where the Eternal Truth went in 2106, when Yuri and most of his Elton team left Oxford.”

	“Left Oxford for where?”

	“I don’t know.  They just disappeared.  I hope Marya can shed some light on that aspect of things.”  Hayes turned toward her screen and looked for a message notice.  “I wonder why she hasn’t answered my page?  Perhaps she is in a Council meeting.  They’d never break into one of those with a routine page.”

	“Council?” Grampian asked.

	“Yes.  Oxford is governed by the Hebdomadal Council and Marya is on it.”  Hayes finished looking up the University diary and nodded her head.  “Yep.  That’s where she is.  She’ll get the page when the meeting breaks up.  Meantime, let’s see what we can piece together from what we each know.”

	They had been assembling a comprehensive history of the research effort and its disastrous sequel for an hour and a half when the door burst open and an exceptionally vigorous little woman was in their midst.  Introductions took barely ten seconds as Marya Starkov leapt from Kensington to Grampian, introducing herself.  She sat in the only other vacant chair and closed her eyes as Hayes produced a well-organized verbal condensation of the problem.  Shortly after Hayes finished, Starkov opened her eyes.

	“Yes.  That could only be the Truth people.  The set of genes that permitted transference from DNA to RNA in the cell was kept in my safe and no other.  How often I’ve wished that we had spent a little extra money for a decent safe!  But let me caution you all.  This information must be kept out of the public domain.  Can you imagine the deadly panic it would cause if many people knew about this?!”

	The three Conference conspirators breathed a collective sigh of relief.  They assured Starkov that they were aware of the danger.

	She barely listened.  She was back on her feet pacing from one side of the room to the other.

	“Copley is the key.  That’s right where they went and it has to be where they set up their lab.”  Kensington started to ask about the lab but didn’t get out a word before Starkov spoke again.  “How can you explain the peculiar behavior of your automobile?  This sounds like someone programmed that part of the itinerary into your trip computer before they ever delivered the car to you.”

	“That’s what we think . . . “  Grampian began to say.

	“But no one could have predicted the start of the itinerary that you punched in yourself.  It’s all very strange.  And the strangest part of it is that it should have taken you to the one reservoir that touches on a Traditional Territory.  The thought process revealed here is similar to our own thought processes regarding the Truth people.  It parallels us item by item:

	“One.  The Truth people stole the virus data.

	“Two.  They fled to the Copley territory.

	“Three.  That kind of virus starts showing up in reservoirs.

	“Four.  It would be sensible to check that reservoir first.

	“BUT, Five!   Yes, Five!”  Kensington had tried to speak again but was too late, Starkov rushed ahead .  “That is just the point.  THAT is just the point.  The point is they have poisoned their own reservoir.  Their OWN reservoir!  And they would not do such a thing unless they had previously perfected an ANTIDOTE.  But of course!  How could I be so dull witted?  They have an antidote.  They have given it to all the members of Eternal Truth and they have sentenced every other inhabitant of this island to death.  What a lovely bunch!  That is certainly an eternal truth about the human race, you can take it from me.  That is one aspect of our species that never got selected out of our genes.  Why?  Because it didn’t interfere with our survival.  We are a vicious piece of equipment.  A vicious piece of equipment.”

	They sat in Patricia Hays’ small suite of rooms in Trinity College and plotted their next move.  They would have to mount an expedition to Copley to find the laboratory of the Eternal Truth and to get their hands, somehow, on the antidote to the fatal viruses.

	“Yes, of course.  The Strathmore is out of the question,” Kensington said.   “We want to attract as little attention as possible.”

	“From what I’ve heard,” Grampian said, “there are both Traditionalists and Modernists mixed together in these territories.  How are we going to know which is which?” 

	“That won’t be a problem,” Starkov said.  “Just look for beards or baldness — they never use any of Beverly Abbott’s genetically engineered products.  Their fingernails are still growing, broken off in jagged patterns. They refuse to send their newborn infants to clearance labs and they refuse to go to any genetic clinics themselves.  So look for overweight and underweight adults, wheelchairs, eyeglasses.  And look for old people.  You’ll see wrinkled skin and white hair, liver spots on hands and face. Ask them directions to someplace.  Poor memory.  Slow thought processes.  They stand out a mile in this day and age.”

	They left Oxford just after noon on Wednesday and drove up to Leeds in the Strathmore.  Exchanging their conspicuous car for a seventeen-year-old Mazda super go-cart, they drove the rest of the way north in poor comfort but good camouflage.  They pulled into Copley at six in the evening and found a suite of rooms in the town’s only hotel.  They still hadn’t decided on their cover story.

	“The conscientious factory builders sounds best to me,” Kensington said.

	“So we say we’re going to build a modern factory in the region, which first of all explains why we are looking all over the place for suitable buildings,  and then we say that we are extremely anxious not to interfere with any traditionalist homesteads or farmland.”

	“Right.  Acknowledging the fact that we’re Moderns means we don’t have to try to disguise ourselves as Traditional types.  They’d trip us up for sure.  Marya is the only one who knows anything about their religious beliefs or customs.”  Kensington went into the sitting room where Starkov was poring over the local maps.  “You ought to brief us on the Truth types as much as you can, Marya.”

	“Yes.  Is there enough furniture in here?  We can have tea.”  When the group had pushed the two end tables together and settled down to the English habit of ingesting heated water in a cold, damp country, they held a seminar on the Eternal Truth.

	“It starts with a story in the Bible,” Marya explained.  “The one about Abraham, who responded to God in total obedience when challenged to sacrifice his son on a stone altar.  This total obedience to God is a big thing in the Truth.  Try to work that into any questions you ask.  It’s a trademark.

	“Another thing is the Last Day, both as a promise and a threat.  On the Last Day, of which only God knows the hour, everybody will stand alone and will have to account for his deeds.   Refer to our factory as a deed that we’ll have to answer to God for on the Last Day.  That not only gets us identified as people who believe part of the Eternal Truth doctrine, but makes us allies in preserving the old ways.

	“And Predestination should be a help, too.  That little gem says God is not only responsible for guiding some, but also for not guiding others and allowing them to go astray or even leading them astray.  It has the ‘them and us’ flavor we should use to get in close around here.  Try to remember which one you are.”   She smiled.

	“And keep your eyes peeled for likely looking buildings,” Starkov concluded.  “These old stone houses here in town are not likely locations for a laboratory.  Look for substantial high-voltage power supplies leading into a building.  Look for people going in and out at all times of day.  I sure wish we had satellite coverage of this area.  We can’t be everywhere at the same time.”

	Kensington and Hayes immediately agreed, through their plates, that they should arrange such coverage from The Conference.  Hayes excused herself for a few minutes to go into her bedroom to transmit the necessary request.

• • •

	Thursday morning was full of strange experiences.  All four of them felt like tourists in a century long past, choking from the exhaust fumes of passing automobiles with internal combustion engines, dodging delivery vans bringing raw food and consumer goods to old-fashioned stores, bombarded with noise coming as much from inside the houses as on the crowded streets — from radios and televisions and boom boxes blaring at top volume the raucous shrieks of a hundred years ago, delivered at the sexual rhythmic beat of the human basal ganglia.  And over seventy percent of those they encountered exhibited inexcusably poor health — of skin, of eyes, of gait, of labored breathing.  They saw mental retardation, senility, inherited blindness, deafness and malformed limbs.  By mid-afternoon they were anxious to retreat back into their hotel suite and order Parkway food at the only place in town it was available.

	After they had compared notes they discovered some progress in their quest. Starkov had struck up a conversation with one of the drivers of a food van and, using her comprehensive knowledge of traditional beliefs, had gained his confidence.  He told her, over the worst cup of coffee she ever tasted, that he had to waste another hour before making his major delivery in Wolsingham, about sixteen kilometers north of Copley.

	“They won’t open the gates at any other time up there,” he complained.  “Real snotty.  Think they’re the cat’s pajamas.  Let in well-nigh a dozen people while I’m sitting there but, would they open the gates for me?  Hell, no.”  He drank another full mouthful of the pub’s unpalatable coffee and gestured at the half empty booths.  “Well, I’d rather sit in this flea bag where it’s warm than shiver in the cab of my truck while they make up their mind which hand on the clock is pointing at which number.”

	Upon hearing Starkov’s account, Hayes made another trip into her bedroom to order up satellite images on her laptop.  There were several old brick buildings on the east side of Wolsingham that were identified in the legend as abandoned steel works.  Nothing else in the vicinity fit the delivery man’s story.  She memorized the street names, switched off the screen and returned to the sitting room.

	Having relayed the information to Kensington via plate transmission, she suggested they take an evening drive up that way and see what they could find.  Since silent communication is a great aide to forming audible consensus, the idea quickly caught on.  They gathered their briefcases and left the hotel in the cramped Mazda, driving slowly to attract as little attention as possible.

  	Grampian and Kensington recognized the Hamsterley Forest as they skirted it on the narrow gravel road, but they soon found themselves further north than they had gone in their previous excursion.  They were almost through Wolsingham before they knew it and it was only Starkov’s voice in the back seat pointing out the factory buildings off to the right that told them they had arrived.

	The failing light was both a navigational hindrance and a welcome cloak as they approached the seemingly vacant brick buildings at the Mazda’s lowest current settings.  The car itself made no sound at all, but the road’s crushed-stone surface crackled noticeably as they got closer to the chain-link fence. They finally coasted to a stop near the rear of the largest building and sat silently for a few minutes.

	They looked for surveillance cameras around the perimeter but realized they could easily fail to notice them.  They worried particularly about infra-red security cameras since the darkness was no help at all against them.  The total silence and the deepening murkiness brought with them an uncomfortable tension.  Their lives in the modern world made them aliens in this domain.  The day’s sights and sounds had deepened that alienation.  They wanted to open the windows to relieve their confinement, but that would make it unsafe to talk — too high a price to pay under the circumstances.

	Grampian had packed two pairs of night-vision binoculars and shared them with Starkov who was on the side facing the building.  No one spoke during the meticulous inspection until Starkov muttered  “Look at that phone line.  See it going up the side and then off the roof to those poles?  Can you see the poles from the front seat, Jim?”

	“Yes.  Quite clearly.”

	“Where do they go?”

	“They go off to the left and I suppose they join the utility lines along the main road to Stanhope.”

	“That could be a big break for us,” Starkov said.

	“I brought a complete set of wiretap gear,” Kensington said.

	“And we have that fake wood foam in the trunk,” Hayes said.  “We ought to be able to hide any leads to the tap.”

	“So that sounds like the right first step.  Agreed?”

	“Yes.  Let’s get out of here.”

	Kensington eased the little car back out to the road as quietly as it had arrived — waiting until they were well away from the factory buildings before she turned on its headlights.  While Grampian carefully followed the path of the telephone line from pole to pole, she drove toward the marble quarries in Frosterly, finally slowing down at a heavily forested patch on the right side.  With negligible traffic and a clump of trees intruding out into the wide shoulder, she decided they could operate there without being seen from the road.

  	The four car doors opened the instant she stopped as her companions went about their tasks with surprising efficiency.   Patricia Hays, clearly the most athletic of the group, prepared to climb the pole and waited for Grampian to unpack the light probe she intended to attach to the phone line.

	“Wait a minute, Jim.”  Hayes took one of the light-amplifying binoculars off the back seat.  “Look at that line!  That’s not an optical fiber.  That’s an electrical line.  They’re using twentieth-century phones up here.”

	Grampian looked where she was pointing and nodded.  “Sure looks it.  In which case we’re lucky this kit includes a current probe.  And I wasn’t even going to bring it.”

	He packed the optical equipment back into the trunk and brought Hayes an “easy-wrap” coil with ten meters of barely visible wire attached to it.  She had just started up the pole when headlights were seen approaching from the direction of Frosterly.  The road, the roadstead and the surrounding fields were completely dark by then and the only visible light came from the eastbound vehicle.  Hayes froze in place and tried to look like a utility pole.  It worked.  The small truck passed by without changing speed.  Hayes continued on up to the wooden crossbar supporting the telephone line and carefully wrapped the coil in place.  Pulling a slim aerosol can out of her back pocket, she followed the thin leads back down the pole, covering them with fake wood foam.

	By this time Starkov and Kensington had set up the phone-tap transmitter in the forest and strapped it to a gnarled tree.  With the rest of Hayes’ wood foam they made the entire installation invisible to anyone passing by without a magnetometer.

	Back in the car and headed for Copley, the group was strangely silent despite the success of its efforts.  The factory complex had looked so empty, so abandoned.  It was the only place supplied with adequate electric power to keep a laboratory going, but the absence of any sign of  human occupancy made them all wordlessly pessimistic.

	Not so in the morning.  Starkov woke up before the alarm clock sounded and went immediately to the receiver in the sitting room.  There was no activity at that moment but the memory cube had over a dozen recent conversations on it.  She had only listened to three of them before it became very clear that they had found what they were looking for.  Two were orders for biological materials from the vicinity of Edinburgh to the north.  One was a reply to someone’s request for “salvation potions” to be sent south to Bristol.

	As the others woke up, they straggled into the cheerful, sunlit room and hunched over the recorder, listening to the commerce of annihilation, listening to requests for “half a liter of retribution” or “fifty doses of salvation”.

	“Why are they still ordering supplies of virus?” Kensington asked.  “Do we agree that’s what ‘retribution’ means?”

	“No doubt,” said Starkov.  “And there are four orders for it — from all over England.”

	“And another thing,” Hayes added.  “There are two strains of virus, but they never specify one or the other.”  She was examining the detailed chemistry of both strains on her laptop when she decided to bring Walter Locke up to date on what they had learned.  She transmitted to him in Conference code the location and external communications of the Wolsingham laboratory and asked him if there was any significant difference between one strain or the other.  He soon answered that the first strain had an amino acid called Tryptophane in its outer covering.  That molecule had a complicated ring attached to its triple-valence carbon, which made it slower to synthesize and somewhat more expensive.  It had been replaced in the second strain with Histidine.  No ring.  Faster formation.  Simpler bonds.  It had cut twelve percent off the production cost of the virus.  They had apparently switched from the Tryptophane model to the Histidine at some point and now supplied only the less expensive strain.

	She passed that information to Kensington via plate and the two of them sat gloomily listening to the others’ exultant conversations while pondering the cost-cutting efforts of the Ultimate Truth up the road in Wolsingham.
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CHAPTER  TWENTY-THREE





		The battered old pick-up truck had been repainted five or six times and looked like it had scabies as each layer peeled off in its own random pattern.  Trailing a thin blue plume of burnt oil, the truck went through Copley at its top speed of thirty-five kilometers per hour, making so much noise it attracted no attention at all.  The young men in the front seat tried to attract just as little attention as they drove through on the Woodland road going north toward Wolsingham.  Traffic was almost non-existent at the dinner hour and they worried that people out in the countryside might notice them now that the old blue Mazda had joined them in their safari to Hamsterley Forest.  They slowed down to twenty kilometers per hour to quiet down the ancient internal-combustion engine and let the fuel-cell Mazda cruise silently past them toward the slowly flowing brook known hereabouts as the Bedburn Beck.  When they approached the narrow stone bridge over the stream they saw the Mazda pulling off the road about twenty meters beyond it.  They immediately braked to a stop and looked for a good place to park on this side of the bridge.  Backing and filling, they managed to get behind a thin stand of trees off to the left where they cut the engine in the hope that it would start up again promptly when it was needed.

	Pat Hayes appeared at the driver’s window and tapped on the glass.  Jim Grampian opened the door and jumped out.  Walter Locke had already come around the truck and was standing at the roadside looking up toward Wolsingham.

	“Helen wants to know how long this spray of yours is effective, Jim.”

	“We know it lasts twenty minutes, that’s for sure.  I used it during the shipment we photographed last week and we spent over a quarter of an hour looking for the box of vials.  By the time we had the fotos and sealed the box back up, the driver had been sitting in his cab staring straight ahead for twenty minutes, easily.”

	“Okay, that sounds good enough.  We won’t have any trouble this time — we’re replacing the whole box.  So have you two decided to stay with the truck or are you just going to block the bridge and abandon it?”

	“No, we’ll stay,” Locke said as he came back from the road.  “We’ll get out and start explaining our trouble to the driver and then you come up and spray him through the window.  He’ll have to open it to hear what we’re saying.”

	“How much time before he gets here?” Grampian asked.

	Hayes listened to her watch.  “Twelve minutes.  Are you warm enough?”

	Grampian grinned.  “I wouldn’t have been last month, I can tell you that.  But we twenty-year olds have a high metabolic rate.  Keeps us warm in the rawest weather.”  He was enthusiastically enjoying his post-processing body.

	All four of them were now in contact through their occipital plates and using Conference code to keep their communications secure.  It was a simple matter then for Hayes and Kensington to serve as lookouts further up the road and keep Locke and Grampian constantly informed.  It was dark enough now to see headlights a kilometer away and they settled in to wait for the day’s final shipment of “salvation” from the Wolsingham plant.

	When Hayes sighted the rocking beams of headlights on the uneven road, she worried, as usual, that it might be a passing car instead of the Ultimate Truth’s delivery truck.  Nevertheless, she gave the word and Grampian swung out of the parking place, swerved across the bridge, and effectively blocked it to all traffic.  They waited tensely for word from the Mazda that it was the correct vehicle.

	It was.  Belching great gray clouds of unburned fuel, the truck swung into sight and approached the bridge at full speed.  Grampian and Locke realized the folly of their decision to stay in the cab as it appeared for a long moment that the driver would be unable to stop in time to avoid a collision.  Fortunately he brought his closed van to a standstill just a meter away from the passenger side and Locke jumped out to begin their deception.  He had launched himself on an unintelligible explanation of the situation when Hayes suddenly appeared at the open window and sprayed the driver with a quick-acting drug that blocked the functioning of the brain’s hippocampus, thus eliminating his present-time perceptions and all memory of current events.

	Jim Grampian had hopped in through the other door and removed the ring of keys from the old-fashioned ignition.  He met Locke at the back door while Hayes kept track of the driver.  The second key they tried turned out to open the door and Grampian started handing cardboard boxes out to Locke.  A quick look was all it took to distinguish standard lab supplies from the box of small bottles with rubber stoppers.  They soon had the right one out on the roadway.  Locke ran back to their own rust bucket to bring the duplicate carton with the same cheap vials and the closest copy of the rubber stoppers they could find on the market.  They had spent all week preparing it.  With a few parting glances they assured themselves the two boxes were identical and they restored the truck’s cargo to its undisturbed appearance.   Locke decided to carry their precious cargo on his lap for the trip back to Leeds and told Hayes over the plate they were ready to go.  They backed their truck off the bridge and parked alongside the road with the motor running, waiting for the all-clear from Hayes.

	She had taken the key ring from them and put the ignition key back in place, leaving the driver to sort out what had happened according to his own imagination — or lack of it.  When he began to make purposeful movements again she informed them and they pulled back on the road and left.  Hayes and Kensington left their hiding place in the other direction and went around the long way back to Leeds via Westgate and Barnard Castle.

	They rode back to Madingley in the smooth comfort of the Strathmore, having stored the carton of antidotes in a cushioned refrigerator in the trunk.  On their arrival,  the cottage became a scene of frenzied activity as some bottles were carefully stored, some emptied into Kensington’s analyzers that fed data into Locke’s computer programs, and some taken by Hayes and Grampian to the waiting laboratories at Clare Hall.  The next two days were tense and anxious as the results came out of their equipment with painful slowness.

	But, nevertheless, the results came.  The outer coating first, as Locke translated it from the instrument code into his universal organic code.  That coating was tailored to give the antidote entry to the interior of the brain cells.  That’s where the long-term RNA virus was lurking.  That’s where it would initiate its destructive modification of the cell’s proper functioning when its long wait was over.

	For several more hours the outer coating was all they had been able to determine from their examination of the fluid in the little bottles. Then the various enzymes that were coded by the antidote began to emerge from Kensington’s apparatus and from the analyses being done at Clare Hall.  Those enzymes would assemble a counteractive nucleic acid to modify the deadly virus into an inert molecule whose activity would be forever blocked.  The mechanism gradually came clear to Locke as he manipulated each branch of the complicated tinkertoy on Kensington’s wall screen.  He celebrated aloud with each piece of the puzzle that fell into place but moaned with embarrassment as it became clear to him that he should have been able to design this antidote himself.  His efforts were frequently punctuated by a sudden “Of course!” or a groaned “You idiot!” as the second day drew to a close.  Grampian and Kensington were at the university laboratories transmitting data as it came out of their instruments;  Hayes stood behind Locke, searching the screen for answers and understanding.

	Their understanding of the chemistry involved was complete by dinner time — their understanding of the human beings who had committed this monstrosity would never be complete.  When they told their colleagues at Cambridge the formula was deciphered and that they knew how to synthesize the molecule, the question of motive was the first to emerge.  The answer never did.

	But unanswered questions didn’t interfere with antidote production in the basement of Clare Hall.  By the middle of the following week they had twelve hundred liters of concentrated solution, enough for the whole world twice over.  Since Locke’s analysis indicated that the virus would soon conclude its dormant period, they were anxious to dispense their counteracting agent as fast as possible.

  	Perhaps because he was the youngest and most vigorous of the group, Grampian inherited the problem of rapidly and reliably distributing the remedy.  He had decided to find out whether The Conference had any facilities that could handle the task.  He set up a transmitter on the top floor of a building on Green Street and tuned it to the most secure Conference frequency he knew about.  As far as its technical properties were concerned, he could have accessed the Green Street link from his normal occipital plate anywhere within two kilometers, but he had carefully arranged for a shielded coaxial cable to be strung across from Clare Hall so that nothing he said could be intercepted.

	From his office on the third floor of Clare Hall, Grampian was just finishing a detailed description of the problem to The Conference when Kensington walked in.  She waited until he was finished and asked him why he was wearing out his vocal chords with Conference business.  He had barely begun to explain when she nodded.   Ever since Kensington had discovered the satellite transmissions two months ago, the small group had developed a grim paranoia about secure communications.

	“Forget I asked,” she said, in some embarrassment.  “Are they going to help?”

	“Hard to say, they’re still mulling things over.  I’ll tell you this, Helen, when you put the whole project together, it’s a very tough job.  We only had to sample reservoirs on a statistical basis to find out how widespread the viral exposure had been.  But now we have to be damned sure we reach everyone in this part of the world as soon as possible.”

	“Maybe we should arrange a backup method of our own.”

	“I’ve been working on that, but it’s still a bit chancy,” Grampian said.  “I’ve asked the bottled-water people how long it would take for our ‘special mineral water’ to get through their storage warehouses and out to the consumers.”  He leaned back and rubbed his tired eyes.  “Surprise, surprise!  They really don’t know.  I’ve got to use them anyway.  They’re the only channel I have to reach those who passed through this region and drank the viruses during the past couple decades.”  He opened his eyes and leafed through a notebook on his desk.  “Hayes and Locke have dosed fifteen reservoirs around this neck of the woods and that’s less than one percent of the Scotland-Wales-England system.  This is not a job for a bunch of amateurs.”

	Kensington was alarmed.  “Is there anything I can do, Jim?”

	“Yes.  Keep thinking about possible solutions.  I can use all the ideas anyone can give me.”

•  •  •

	

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   I’ve got a maximum priority for you.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:     Well, well.  I Haven’t had an M•P in years.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:	    They’re asking whether you have a list of our people in the English government — particularly in public health and the emergency services.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:   No, I don’t.  But I know who does.  What are they after?

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   People who can order flights of emergency electrojets and negotiate overflight rights everywhere in the world.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:   That’s even crazier than the last boondoggle they dreamed up.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:    Not crazy.  It’s that reservoir business.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:   Reservoir?  Oh, you mean . . . 

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   Yes.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    I’ll get on it right away.  Where do things stand with that . . . thing?

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   I gather that’s going to depend on you now.

		ZERO DEGREE RECEPTOR:    I’m signing off.  Good-bye.

		FORTY DEGREE BASE:   Good-bye.



	With Kensington fulfilling her teaching responsibilities, which she had been neglecting for months, and with Grampian glued to his command-post office to keep the distribution going at full speed, it fell to Hayes and Locke to do the group’s field work.  The medium sized airfield a few kilometers northeast of the town, long neglected because of the Graf tubes, had become the pivot of their operations during the past week.  Unimaginable numbers of electrojets had settled down almost silently on its cement aprons as a motley assortment of vans and trucks streamed along the single approach road to bring their vital cargoes from the busy laboratories of Clare Hall.  Each dose was bottled in an impact-resistant container with a soluble stopper — clearly marked with the latitude and longitude of the body of water into which it must be dropped.  During the early days the plasma-driven hovercraft had made short trips into the English countryside, but now the intervals between their appearances at the landing site grew longer as they delivered their vital antidotes at greater distances.

	The airport wasn’t large enough to receive the big disaster-relief transports that were making deliveries on the other side of the world, therefore many flights from Cambridge were making the short hop up to Norwich’s huge twenty-first century airdrome where fixed-wing behemoths, one hundred forty meters long, were carrying complete squadrons of electrojets in their cavernous holds, together with the containers of antidote they were to drop in faraway nations.  The fact that all but two of those countries had given the English scientists permission to drop their mysterious chemicals into the national water supply was a tribute to how far the world had come away from the old mistrusts and hatreds that the species of Man had developed during its first two hundred thousand years.  With knowledge flowing freely across all political boundaries and with living standards derived entirely from modern productivity rather than ancient conquest, the fear and opportunism of past centuries counted for nothing in human calculations.

	Because back-room officials in every nation had to be briefed in full about the need for these puzzling overflights, the Dons of Clare Hall were to receive hundreds of gifts and expressions of gratitude during the following years.  Only the cognizant few knew enough to write  “Attention:  Helen Kensington” on their packages.

•  •  •

	“The recognition isn’t important to me anyway,” Hayes was saying.  “Except within The Conference.  And they all know about it.”

	“You almost got more recognition than you bargained for, Jim.  How did you get out of that predicament over in Belgium?”

	“A member of their staff was Conference, Helen.  I never got a chance to tell you.  Abalkin was sure I was a Truth type trying to get my hands on some more deadly details of his work, and he would have zapped me right then and there.  The poor guy has lost all tolerance toward members of the human race and I can’t honestly blame him.”

	“Were you able to tell him we had solved the antidote problem for his whole breed of viruses, Jim?”

	“Not then, Walt, he was too shaken when he learned I wasn’t Ultimate Truth and he had come so close to destroying me.  The next day we had lunch together and I told him everything you wanted me to.  He was really delighted.”  Grampian shook his head.  “But I hate to think what would have happened if  Shirley hadn’t picked up what I was thinking.  She realized I was Conference and shouted to Abalkin that she knew me and I wasn’t ‘one of them’.  Close call.”

	“She knew you?”

	“No, no.  Not at all.  But she quickly asked all the necessary questions through the plates and I gave her enough information to make the whole thing credible.”

	Kensington felt mischievous.  “May I ask how old this lifesaver of yours is?  And is she married?”

	Grampian smiled.  “Somewhere in the mid sixties.  She and her husband have five grandchildren.  I have resolved to go back to Liège and take her away from all that.”

	“You see what I told you, Walt?  The products of Cambridge #3 are head and shoulders more lively than the ones you turned out of your old Medford centers.”

	“Careful Joan.  Remember.  You’re one of them.”

	Grampian looked up in surprise.  “Joan?”

	“Meet Joan Marsden, Jim.  One of Medford #2’s finest alumnae.”

	 “I’ve always been glad that I chose such a distinguished English name.  Joan Marsden was all right for an American, but it doesn’t hold a candle to Kensington over here.”

	Grampian was astonished.  “You are an American?!”

	“Well, that’s a good question, Jim.  I was born an American, but you’ll have to ask somebody else what I am now.”

	“I’ve never thought of you as anything but a centuries’ old Englishman . . . Englishwoman.”  Grampian stood up and paced nervously across to the long sofa in the middle of the room.  “You say I can keep the same name permanently,” he said without turning to face them.  “But I may want to change it to something more pleasant.”

	“You have carte blanche in that department — particularly here at Cambridge.”

	“Do you think, Helen . . . ” Grampian began, then stopped.

	“Think what?”

	He turned around, sat on the couch, and looked at his hands.  “Would it be tactless for me to take Oliver Williams for my name?”

	Kensington and Locke stared at Grampian and then at each other.  Even without plates they came to agreement.  “No, Jim, it would not,” Kensington answered.  “We were two of Ollie’s best friends and we would like to have another Oliver Williams on the planet with us.”  She tried some weak humor.  “Just stay away from hotel fires — would you do that for us?”

	There wasn’t much laughter.  And they all agreed on James Grampian’s new name.  Pat Hayes, who had never known Williams except by reputation, went over to the sofa and shook hands.  “Hi, Ollie.  How have things been going?”
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Chapter Twenty-four





	They were a bit late leaving Madingley, but the road was clear and they arrived at the university in plenty of time.  After dropping the new Oliver Williams off at Magdalene to consult on a new project, they parked Kensington’s car next to the River Cam and walked the rest of the way to Clare Hall.  Surrounded by seventeenth century buildings, the New Laboratories were resplendent in black glass and stainless steel — so antiseptic looking that Locke kept using the shoe-cleaning machines in the lobby that were intended for bad weather.  He usually attracted puzzled glances.

	When they got to Kensington’s sixth floor, she had to attend to a bit of bureaucracy and told Locke to turn left beyond the elevators.  True to form, he followed his curiosity and turned right.  There were several experimental rooms along the corridor in that direction, rooms that were equipped with simulated Graf-tube rams, fake fuel-celled go-carts, home furnishings and a variety of everyday objects — each occupied by an experimental subject going through what appeared to be everyday activities.  Most of the subjects were in their teens, two were young adults, one was a middle-aged man dressed in the rumpled clothing of an academic — the last room on his side was empty.

	A life-long ‘molecule’ man, Locke was not accustomed to observing objects larger than a few microns in a scientific laboratory.  He could make no sense out of these huge rooms full of  human-size objects doing ordinary things.  When Kensington called him on his plate and gave him directions to her office he arrived full of questions about the strange rooms.

	“Oh, so you’ve been looking at the virtual rooms?  Good!  I’ve been wanting to tell you about that.  I consider that project the most significant work going on anywhere in the world these days."

	“What are they doing in there,”  Locke asked.  “It looks grotesque.”

	“Yes, I suppose it does,” Kensington said.  “What they’re doing is living in a different world than the rest of us.  In fact the whole business is called the ‘Virtual Worlds Project’.  The people here at Clare Hall are mostly behavioral scientists and they spend a lot of time figuring out how human beings learn — all of which appeals to me because I was deeply involved in early childhood education in my birth life.”

	Locke smiled.  “Oh yes, I remember.  I remember the first day when you came in looking for . . . gee, that’s too bad, I’ve forgotten.”

	“Hiram Weintraub.”

	“Sure!  Hiram Weintraub.  I’ve lost track of him.”

	“He’s back in Italy,” Kensington said.  “Not Sicily, this time, but Sardinia — he likes islands, I guess.  He’s setting up the new medical laboratories in Oristano. We’ve always been good friends and we keep in touch.”

	 “But tell me about this Virtual Worlds Project.”

	 “It started back in ‘93 when some ‘virtual reality’ experts joined our team here.   They perfected a technique that eliminates the need for a confining headset.  Remember those virtual-reality headsets?  They were like huge goggles on a helmet that covered half your head and weighed a ton.  It was pretty difficult to believe you were anyplace else but inside one of those contraptions when you ‘went virtual’ with a headset.

	“But with this new technique you just have to be in a special room with carefully phased laser-projectors that completely control what you see and hear and feel around you.  The projectors put you into a computer-generated world — which means any world that we program into the computer.”

	Kensington seemed very pleased that Locke had brought up her favorite topic.  “Now it seemed to me that, if we developed this virtual-reality chamber into a place where people could live for several days or weeks or months, they could experience what human beings have never in history been able to experience — a different world than the existing one — a different planet with different rules following a different path than the one unique world we live in.”

	“Sounds like a great video game,” Locke commented.

	“Oh, no, no, no.  Not a bit of it!”  Kensington searched for words.  “You’ve got to understand, Walt, that a serious problem with the world is that there is only one of them.  One world to grow up in.  And live in.  One world that we all have to live in.

	“It makes some very important questions unanswerable, Walt.  Unlike most other things, we can’t learn from experience when we wonder what our world would be like if . . ..  We can’t change the world and then wait to see how it comes out.  Up until now it took huge masses of people to change the world according to some least common denominator idea and then we all had to live with it — no matter what!  But it becomes a different world when it’s changed in any significant way — and then it’s too late to learn anything!  We’re stuck with it!  Once you’ve found out that your great idea was a lousy one, you’re stuck with the results.  The whole thing is a one-way street.”

	Kensington searched for the right words.  “You can’t remember when you were a kid during your birth life, Walt, but think of the very small children you’ve watched since then.  If a toddler is learning to walk, and it asks itself what would happen if it swung its feet forward in a different way than the old sequential left-right, left-right, it gets an immediate answer — it falls on its face.   If it wonders how far it can lean over on its chair, it gets an immediate and unambiguous answer —  it falls off.   As a result, most people learn how to walk and sit on chairs quite accurately — their experience with the gravity vector is clear, it is consistently correct, there is no nitwit telling them that gravity goes up instead of down, that it vanishes if they mutter certain incantations, that it depends on how they comb their hair, that carrying a certain placard and shouting in the street can alter gravity in some way.

	“But most other things,” she continued, “aren’t as clear as gravity and they don’t let us try out our ideas as much as we need to.   We can’t try a dozen different ways to live our lives.  We can’t have ten simultaneous careers to see which one we like best.  We can’t marry ten different people and see how each one of them works out.  And we can’t radically experiment with our town, our nation or our world just to see how things come out in the end.  By the time we find out, it’s too late.  We’re living in a different world, and most of what we learned in the first world is obsolete.

	“We’ll be a much wiser species of animal when we can try out whatever world we can dream up, Walt.   We’ll be able to pose really important questions and quickly find ‘real world’ answers to them.  And some of those large questions,” she said, “are crucial to our further successful existence on this one real planet.  Most of today’s ecology fanatics could profit from a virtual-world capability.  The ones that want to return to the bucolic “good old days” could spend a year or so in the 18th century and see if they do, in fact, prefer it.  Great shrieks of anguish would be thereby avoided and this world would be much better off —  whether they come back from the other century or stay in it.  We can afford the virtual rooms a whole lot better than we can afford shrieks and placards and bombed out laboratories.”

	  “Yes,” Locke said.  He was standing at the office’s ultramodern windows, looking pensively down at the people hurrying from place to place six floors below.  “I’ve got to admit that this whole thing sounds like a valuable new dimension of experience.”  He turned back to Kensington   “So how are you coming along?”

	“Quite well, if you ask me.  But it’s hard work.

	•  •  •

	The dreary winter weather was only a memory as Kensington and Locke parked her go-cart next to the cottage and started to go inside.  The sunshine was too inviting, the wakening variety of nature in the back garden too appealing to abandon.  They stayed outside and strolled into the world of plants and birds and insects behind the Madingley house while they talked Virtual Worlds.  She reviewed what they had found out — both at Cambridge and later at Oxford.

	“I’d like to show you some data, Walt.   It is remarkable.  It’s on my computer inside and, for crying out loud, let’s switch over to plate talk and stop exhausting our vocal chords.” 

	They strolled back through the garden and went inside where Kensington switched on her equipment and sent it off looking for some specific reports she had received from North America and Korea.  Locke pored through them with great interest at first and then he seemed to grow dispirited.  It drew Kensington’s attention.  Ever since she got her occipital plate installed, she had never been able to resist ‘listening in’ on the emotions of other immortals.  She kept flicking back and forth between the reports on her computer and what Walter Locke’s plate was telling her about his feelings.

	 “I sense anxiety, Walt.  Is there something the matter?”

	“No.  No.  I’m not . . . well, it’s nothing, I guess.”

	“So what’s nothing?  Nothing of importance or nothing you can talk about?”

	“Oh, no.  It’s really very ordinary.  It’s the most ordinary thing you can imagine.”

	“So . . . ?”

	“It’s where the hell are we going?!”

  	Kensington guessed that Locke was having a conversation with her that he had often had with himself.   She ‘listened’ intently to the thoughts and emotions registering their patterns on his plate.

	“There has to be a point to it all.  And I keep . . . once in a while . . . I think we’ve lost it.  I don’t see it anymore.  The goals we had.  The stuff we were striving for.  We always had sickness and hunger and . . . we always had problems that made us feel each day had a purpose.  I had a purpose.  And I know damn well you did.  And Mark and Hiram and everybody I knew —  they were hard at work on something that really mattered — questions that needed answering or . . . well, that’s it . . . that’s really it . . . the problem is we don’t have any questions anymore.  We’ve come to the point where all our questions have been answered . . . and I hate it . . . and I fear for our species when it has no further purpose in life, no problems, no unanswered questions.”   Locke had been looking at his hands.  He looked up at Kensington and howled  “How can you be smiling?”

	“I guess it’s because I’m a ‘people’ person and you’re a ‘molecule’ person.”  Kensington laughed softly and felt Locke relax.

	At that moment the door burst open and Helen’s husband came trooping in with three of their grandchildren.  They all waved greetings to Locke and kissed Helen before sprawling out on the floor to play a game.

	Kensington saw a perfect opportunity to explain herself to Locke.  “Walter,” she said through the plates,  “come over here by the sofa and act like you’re showing me one of those printouts.  Without being too obvious, look past me at the kids on the floor.  Remember now, they are members of the species you fear has run out of questions — they are the creatures that have no further purpose.”

	Kensington turned half sideways so she could see her grandchildren as well as Locke could.  “We’ve perfected this world a hundred times over, Walt.  The discovery and use of fire.  Bronze tools.  Then iron.  Then aluminum.  And now we use silicon to make our tools — tools small enough to feed into our bodies through our veins.  And we have it made!  Boy, do we have it made!  But that’s where these kids are starting from.  The perfected universe that we are handing these kids is their starting point!  Our world is the primitive foundation from which their questions begin.  They take all of Walter Locke’s old stuff for granted. They’re looking into the next world that humans will inhabit.  They’re asking the questions that come next.”

	Kensington smiled at Locke as he gazed at the children on the floor.  “Whenever you decide all the questions have been answered, Walter, just look into a child’s eyes and see how wrong you are.”



	The End
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